ISSN: 2320-8694

Journal of Experimental Biology And Agricultural Sciences

VOLUME 11 || ISSUE III || JUNE, 2023

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India[HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in) All rights reserved.

JEBAS

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Peer Reviewed - open access journal Common Creative License - NC 4.0

Volume No - 11 Issue No - III June, 2023

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences (JEBAS) is an online platform for the advancement and rapid dissemination of scientific knowledge generated by the highly motivated researchers in the field of biological agricultural, veterinary and animal sciences. JEBAS publishes high-quality original research and critical up-to-date review articles covering all the aspects of biological sciences. Every year, it publishes six issues.

JEBAS has been accepted by SCOPUS UGC CARE, INDEX COPERNICUS INTERNATIONAL (Poland), AGRICOLA (USA),CAS (ACS, USA),CABI – Full Text (UK), International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), SHERPA – ROMEO; J gate and Indian Science Abstracts (ISA, NISCAIR) like well reputed indexing agencies.

> [HORIZON PUBLISHER INDIA [HPI] http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/]

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief

Prof Y. Norma-Rashid (University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur) editor.in.chief.jebas@gmail.com

Co-Editor-in-Chief

Dr. Kuldeep Dhama, M.V.Sc., Ph.D. NAAS Associate, Principal Scientist, IVRI, Izatnagar India - 243 122 co_eic@jebas.org

Managing - Editor

Kamal K Chaudhary, Ph.D. (India) jebasonline@gmail.com

Technical Editors

Hafiz M. N. Iqbal (Ph.D.)

Research Professor, Tecnologico de Monterrey, School of Engineering and Sciences, Campus Monterrey,Ave. Eugenio Garza Sada 2501, Monterrey, N. L., CP 64849, Mexico Tel.: +52 (81) 8358-2000Ext.5561-115 E-mail: hafiz.iqbal@my.westminster.ac.uk; hafiz.iqbal@itesm.mx

Prof. Dr. Mirza Barjees Baigis

Professor of Extension (Natural Resource Management), Department of Agricultural Extension and Rural Society, College of Food and Agriculture Sciences, King Saud University, P.O. Box 2460, Riyadh 11451, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Email: mbbaig@ksu.edu.sa

Dr. Mukesh Kumar Meghvansi

Scientist, Bioprocess Technology Division, Defence R & D Establishment, Gwalior-474002 Email: mk_meghvansi@yahoo.co.in

Dr. B L Yadav

Head – Botany, MLV Govt. College, Bhilwara, India E mail: drblyadav@yahoo.com

JEBAS

JEBAS

Dr. K L Meena Associate Professor – Botany, MLV Govt. College, Bhilwara, India E mail: kanhaiyameena211@yahoo.com

Dr. Yashpal S. Malik ICAR – National FellowIndian Veterinary Research Institute (IVRI) Izatnagar 243 122, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh, India

Associate Editors

Dr. Sunil K. Joshi

Laboratory Head, Cellular Immunology Investigator, Frank Reidy Research Center of Bioelectrics, College of Health Sciences, Old Dominion University, 4211 Monarch Way, IRP-2, Suite # 300, Norfolk, VA 23508 USA Email: skjoshi@odu.edu

Dr.Vincenzo Tufarelli

Department of Emergency and Organ Transplantation (DETO), Section of Veterinary Science and Animal Production, University of Bari 'Aldo Moro', s.p. Casamassima km 3, 70010 Valenzano, Italy Email: vincenzo.tufarelli@uniba.it

Prof. Sanjay-Swami, Ph.D. (Soil Science & Agril. Chemistry),

School of Natural Resource Management, College of Post Graduate Studies in Agricultural Sciences, (Central Agricultural University), UMIAM (Barapani)-793 103, Meghalaya, INDIA Email: sanjay.nrm.cpgsas@cau.ac.in

Chiranjib Chakraborty, Ph.D.

Professor, School of Life Science and Biotechnology, Adamas University, Kolkata, India Email: drchiranjib@yahoo.com

Jose M. Lorenzo

Centro Tecnológico de la Carne de Galicia Ourense, Spain Email: jmlorenzo@ceteca.net



Assistant Editors

Dr Ayman EL Sabagh

Assistant professor, agronomy department, faculty of agriculture kafresheikh university, Egypt E-mail: ayman.elsabagh@agr.kfs.edu.eg

Safar Hussein Abdullah Al-Kahtani (Ph.D.)

King Saud University-College of Food and Agriculture Sciences, Department of the Agricultural Economics P.O.Box: 2460 Riyadh 11451, KSA email: safark@ksu.edu.sa

Dr Ruchi Tiwari

Assistant Professor (Sr Scale) Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Immunology, College of Veterinary Sciences, UP Pandit Deen Dayal Upadhayay Pashu Chikitsa Vigyan Vishwavidyalay Evum Go-Anusandhan Sansthan (DUVASU), Mathura, Uttar Pradesh, 281 001, India Email: ruchi.vet@gmail.com

Dr. ANIL KUMAR (Ph.D.)

Asstt. Professor (Soil Science) Farm Science Centre (KVK) Booh, Tarn Taran, Punjab (India) – 143 412 Email: anilkumarhpkv@gmail.com

Akansha Mishra

Postdoctoral Associate, Ob/Gyn lab Baylor College of Medicine, 1102 Bates Ave, Houston Tx 77030 Email: akansha.mishra@bcm.edu; aksmisra@gmail.com

Dr. Muhammad Bilal

Associate Professor School of Life Science and Food Engineering, Huaiyin Institute of Technology, Huaian 223003, China Email: bilaluaf@hotmail.com

JEBAS

JEBAS

Dr. Senthilkumar Natesan

Associate Professor Department of Infectious Diseases, Indian Institute of Public Health Gandhinagar, Opp to Airforce station HQ, Lekawada, Gandhinagar, Gujarat - 382042, India Email: snatesan@iiphg.org

Mr. Ram Bahadur Khadka (Microbiologist)

Assistant Professor (Pokhara University) Crimson College of Technology (CCT) Butwal-13, Rupandehi, Lumbini Province, Nepal Email: rambahadurkhadka00@gmail.com

Prof. A. VIJAYA ANAND

Professor Department of Human Genetics and Molecular Biology Bharathiar University Coimbatore – 641 046

Dr. Phetole Mangena

Department of Biodiversity, School of Molecular and Life Sciences, Faculty of Science and Agriculture, University of Limpopo, Republic of South Africa Private Bag X1106, Sovenga, 0727 Email: Phetole.Mangena@ul.ac.za ; mangena.phetole@gmail.com

JEBAS

Table of contents

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances – An Update 10.18006/2023.11(3).444.461	444 — 461
Potential benefits of <i>Glycyrrhiza glabra</i> (Liquorice) herb, its chemical make-up and significance in safeguarding poultry health: Current scientific knowledge 10.18006/2023.11(3).462.478	462 — 478
Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry 10.18006/2023.11(3).479.499	479 — 499
Role of IGF-1 in goat semen freezing: A Review 10.18006/2023.11(3).500.505	500 — 505
Sources, blood concentrations, and approaches for reducing exposure to lead: A critical appraisal on lead poisoning 10.18006/2023.11(3).506.519	506 — 519
Potential benefits and therapeutic applications of "Panchgavya" therapy (Cowpathy) for human and animal health: Current scientific knowledge 10.18006/2023.11(3).520.533	520 — 533
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on tuberculosis management in India: A Brief Overview 10.18006/2023.11(3).534.541	534 — 541
Allelopathic effects of the invasive plant Wedelia (<i>Sphagneticola trilobata</i> L.) aqueous extract on common beans (<i>Phaseolus vulgaris</i> L.) 10.18006/2023.11(3).542.549	542 — 549
Agro-morphological characterization of selected varieties of vegetable cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.] in Burkina Faso 10.18006/2023.11(3).550.562	550 — 562
Isolation and characterization of chlorpyrifos-degrading bacteria in tea-growing soils 10.18006/2023.11(3).563.571	563 — 571
The Impact of Elicitation on Potato (<i>Solanum tuberosum</i> L.) Production, Enzymatic and Antioxidant Activity in Nuevo León, Mexico 10.18006/2023.11(3).572.580	572 — 580
Impact of <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Bacillus subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus,</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> Oral Infusions on Cognitive Memory Decline in Mild Cognitive Impairment 10.18006/2023.11(3).581.592	581 — 592
Ovarian Gene Transcriptional Responses To Antidepressant Drugs (Imipramine And Fluoxetine) In Female Wistar Rats 10.18006/2023.11(3).593.597	593 — 597
Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy 10.18006/2023.11(3).598.611	598 — 611
Pluronic F-127 hydrogel for stem cell research: a bibliometric analysis using Scopus database 10.18006/2023.11(3).612.624	612 — 624





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances – An Update

Kaaviya A V^{1†}, Hridya P^{1†}, Diya Prasanth^{1†}, Abernaa D^{1†}, Harisankaran P S¹, Hari Sankar C R¹, Nithin S Rajan¹, Karthik S¹, Adinan J¹, Abhijith K S¹, Rohith Krishnan¹, Shopnil Akash², Ruhul Amin³, Sandip Chakraborty⁴, Hitesh Chopra⁵, Abhijit Dey⁶, Anil K Sharma⁷, Mahmoud Alagawany⁸, Kuldeep Dhama^{9*}, Deepak Chandran^{10†*}

¹Amrita School of Agricultural Sciences, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India – 642109. ²Faculty of Allied Health Science, Department of Pharmacy, Daffodil International University, Daffodil smart City, Ashulia, Savar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh

¹Faculty of Allied Health Science, Department of Pharmacy, Daffodil International University, Daffodil smart City, Ashulia, Savar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh ³Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Assam down town University, Panikhaiti, Gandhinagar, Guwahati, Assam-781026, India

⁴Department of Veterinary Microbiology, College of Veterinary Sciences and Animal Husbandry, R.K. Nagar, West Tripura, Tripura, Pin-799008, India

⁵Department of Biosciences, Saveetha School of Engineering, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Chennai – 602105, Tamil Nadu, India ⁶Department of Life Sciences, Presidency University, 86/1 College Street, Kolkata-700073, West Bengal, India

⁷Department of Biotechnology, Maharishi Markandeshwar University (Deemed to be University) Mullana-Ambala-133207, Haryana, India

⁸Poultry Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Zagazig University, Zagazig 44511, Egypt

⁹Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh, India – 243122

¹⁰Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Kerala, India

[†]Authors contributed equally

KEYWORDS

Natural feed additive

Antibiotic alternative

Cinnamon

Essential oil

Poultry health

Received – May 28, 2023; Revision – June 25, 2023; Accepted – June 29, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).444.461

ABSTRACT

According to the Food and Agricultural Organization, global poultry output increased from approximately 115 million tons in 2016 to around 136 million tons in 2023. Poultry production has increased significantly with the dramatic uptick in meat and egg demand. Feed accounts for between 65 and 70 percent of total production costs, making it the largest chicken industry expense. This is why it's important to maximize the transformation of poultry feed into feed with a high biological value while taking as many steps as possible to protect feed quality and reduce feed costs. The use of feed additives in poultry feed has recently gained popularity and has been essential to increase feed efficiency and growth rate, which typically leads to reduced costs. The meat's texture, consistency, and nutritional content are all improved, and its shelf life is lengthened as a bonus. Feed additives are a fantastic tool for boosting a

* Corresponding author

E-mail: drdeepakchandran24@gmail.com (Deepak Chandran); kdhama@rediffmail.com (Kuldeep Dhama)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved.



Gut microbiota

poultry farm's bottom line. For example, cinnamon (*Cinnamonum verum*) is often used as a traditional feed supplement. Rather than antibiotics, the poultry industry could benefit from using cinnamon as a natural antibiotic replacement, which would benefit animal welfare, consumer health, and the bottom line. The performance index, feed intake, FCE performance, and weight growth of poultry can all be improved by including cinnamon in the feed at varied concentrations. The digestive health and intestinal microbial population of hens are enhanced by a diet containing bioactive components of cinnamon. Cinnamon essential oils' popularity stems from their many valuable features, such as their ability to increase gastric enzyme synthesis and other biofunctional benefits. This review focuses on the possible advantages of cinnamon as a natural feed supplement for chickens, particularly about their intestinal microbiota, blood chemistry, nutrient absorption, gene expression, and immunology.

1 Introduction

Improvements in chicken farming have come a long way in recent decades. The Food and Agriculture Organization reported that the global poultry output increased from 115 million tons to around 136 million tons in 2022. This trend is being driven in high-income nations by the increasing popularity of white meats as a healthier and more convenient alternative to red meat (Buttar et al. 2022; Mitra et al. 2022). Lower pricing for poultry meat relative to other meats contributes to the increased trend in low and middle-income countries. For instance, the average annual rate of increase in India's poultry meat consumption (in 1000 metric tons) from 2013 to 2022 is depicted in Figure 1. Chicken will be the most common source of protein among meats, accounting for 47% of total consumption. The Economic Survey 2021-22 reported that India's

domestic egg production increased from 91 eggs per year per capita in 2020 to 122.11 billion eggs in 2022, making India the third-largest producer of eggs and the eighth-largest producer of meat globally. The feed cost is the primary barrier to the profitable production of broilers (Hashemi et al. 2010). In India, 58% of the feed market is devoted to poultry. The current demand for chicken feed in India is around 22 million tons (Habib et al. 2021; Chandran et al. 2022). Maintaining feed quality while cutting feed costs to achieve optimal conversion of animal feed into feed of high biological value is a top priority (Thirumalaisamy et al. 2008; Chandran 2021; Rajan et al. 2023).

Feed efficiency and growth rate can be improved, and therefore savings on feed can be expected when nutritional supplements are incorporated into chicken feed (Abd El-Hack and Alagawany



Figure 1 Average annual rate of increase in India's poultry meat consumption (in 1000 metric tons) from 2013 to 2022 (adopted, modified and updated from: Statista Research Department)

445

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

446

2022). Moreover, it enhances the meat's flavour, tenderness, shelf life, and nutritional value. Profit margins for the chicken industry have been greatly helped by the widespread availability of nutritional supplements (Rajan et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2023). Research on the efficacy of traditional and potential herbal remedies in maximizing livestock and poultry production is being conducted in many countries. Phytochemicals and bioactive ingredients in plants and medicinal herbs have revealed multiple beneficial applications in promoting animal and poultry health and enhancing production performances, as well as found promising for safeguarding human health (Dhama et al. 2015a; Abdelli et al., 2021; Hartady et al. 2021; Seidavi et al. 2022; El-Sabrout et al. 2023; Zebeaman et al. 2023). These provide vital nutrients, act as potent immunomodulatory regimens, and possess antioxidants, antimicrobial and other activities, also suggested as alternatives to antibiotics and play supportive / ādjunctive roles in the current scenario of emerging antimicrobial and drug resistance (Dhama et al. 2014; Dhama et al. 2015b; Yadav et al. 2016; Dhama et al. 2018; Tiwari et al. 2018; Kuralkar and Kuralkar 2021; Uddin et al. 2021; Parham et al. 2020).

Antibiotics are commonly used to speed up the growth of chickens and other fowl (Ali et al. 2021; Habiba et al. 2021). However, antibiotic use is not generally promoted because of the detrimental

Kaaviya et al.

implications of these residues in products; thus, the creation of a reliable and efficient antibiotic alternative is necessary, as reported by Hashemi et al. (2010) and Farag et al. (2021). Thus, natural ingredients have been investigated as potential replacements for synthetic substances in producing safe and healthy human meals. Spices and other herbs have been used to incorporate alternative medicines into animal feed (Habiba et al. 2021). Traditional fish meals, bone meals, and other plant-derived items like peanut or soybean meal, used in poultry diets, have become prohibitively expensive in developing countries. Rising raw material costs and increased human competition mean that even though these food ingredients are readily available, they are not nearly enough. Finding alternative feed sources to reduce feed prices has become critical (Swain et al. 2014; Prakash et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2022).

Antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) are used as a common practice for treating gut infections and mitigating the negative effects of stress on chicken digestion. However, as public awareness grows about antibiotics' negative impact on human health, as does the prevalence of bacterial resistance, and as concerns grow about food safety, measures have been taken to limit antibiotic incorporation in poultry production (Alagawany et al. 2020; Abd El-Hack and Alagawany 2022). To combat this problem, scientists and businesses are looking at feasible



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

alternatives to AGPs, such as dietary therapies that boost the microbiome and general health of chickens without resorting to antibiotics. Potentially replacing AGPs, phytogenic feed additives (PFAs) have entered the market and show significant promise in the poultry sector. The immune system, health performance, and stress response are all boosted in chickens exposed to heat stress, for instance (Ali et al. 2021; Prakash et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2023).

Additionally, there has been a rise in the demand for leaner poultry, which has prompted scientists to focus on developing safe growth promotions and carcass modifiers. To that end, PFAs have been investigated as potential replacements for AGPs and growth modifiers in producing healthy and safe food. Several PFAs contain natural antioxidants that increase poultry products' longevity, quality, and marketability. With their therapeutic characteristics, phytochemicals found in herbs and spices have gained attention as potential replacements for AGPs. The poultry industry was pleased with their availability, natural safety, and lack of chemical residue. Natural plant compounds have been shown to have therapeutic benefits in animals, including an aperitif, an increase in digestive enzyme secretion, immunity stimulation, killing bacteria and viruses, and acting as an antioxidant. Potentially beneficial to poultry, cinnamon is one of the most potent PFAs (Prakash et al. 2021a; Prakash et al. 2021b; Kumar et al. 2022; Kumari et al. 2022).

Ceylon cinnamon, or cinnamon (Cinnamomum verum), is a spice derived from the bark of a tree in the Lauraceae family (Jakhetia et al. 2010; Arain et al. 2018). It's a staple seasoning in kitchens throughout the globe. In the agricultural sector, cinnamon has the potential to replace antibiotics, boosting health, food security, and the bottom line for commercial chicken operations. Adding cinnamon to broiler feed, even in small amounts, positively affects the birds' growth, supplement consumption, and feed conversion efficiency (FCE) (Chowlu et al. 2019). Therapeutic potential in cinnamon includes its ability to aid digestion and stimulate hunger (Taback et al. 1999), kill bacteria (Chang et al. 2001), neutralize free radicals (Singh et al. 2007), and reduce inflammation and acid reflux (Singh et al. 2007; Jakhetia et al. 2010). The potential benefits of cinnamon's addition to chicken feed in terms of health and nutrition are shown in Figure 2.

This review focuses on the possible advantages of cinnamon as a natural feed supplement for chickens regarding intestinal microbiota, blood chemistry, nutrient absorption, gene expression, and immunology.

2 Chemical composition and bioactive compounds in cinnamon

Many resinous substances, such as cinnamaldehyde, cinnamate, cinnamic acid, and other essential oils, make up cinnamon (Senanayake et al. 1978; Alagawany et al. 2016). The chemical composition of different parts of cinnamon is presented in Table 1; key bioactive compounds responsible for the functional characteristics of cinnamon are shown in Figure 3. Cinnamaldehyde, created by oxygen absorption, gives the food its pungent smell and taste. Cinnamon's colour darkens over time, and the amount of the resinous ingredient likewise rises (Singh et al. 2007). Cinnamon contains a variety of essential oils, including trans-cinnamaldehyde, cinnamyl acetate, eugenol, L-borneol, L-acetate-bornyl, betacaryophylene, E-nerolidol, alpha-cubebene, alpha-terpineol, caryophyllene oxide, terpinolene, and alpha-thujene, (Tung et al. 2008; Farag et al. 2016). Procyanidins and catechins are present in cinnamon bark (Nonaka et al. 1983). The primary chemical components responsible for the aroma and other biological functions include cinnamaldehyde, trans-cinnamaldehyde (Cin), and eugenol (Chang et al. 2001). According to Marongiu et al. (2007), cinnamic aldehyde from C. zeylanicum has anti-tyrosinase activity. According to recent studies, cinnamaldehyde and cinnamon powder, alone or

Part of the plant	Bioactive compound	References	
Leaves	Cinnamaldehyde: 1.00 to 5.00%	Saeed et al. (2010); Abd El-Hack et al. (2020);	
	Eugenol: 70.00 to 95.00%	Ali et al. (2021)	
Dork	Cinnamaldehyde: 65.00 to 80.00%	Second at al. (2010): Abd El Heak at al. (2020)	
Dark	Eugenol: 5.00 to 10.00%	Saeed et al. (2010); Abd El-Hack et al. (2020)	
Root bark	Camphor: 60.00%	Saeed et al. (2010); Abd El-Hack et al. (2020)	
Fruit	trans-Cinnamyl acetate: 42.00 to 54.00%	Saeed et al. (2010); Ali et al. (2021)	
	and caryophyllene: 9.00 to 14.00%		
Buds	Terpene hydrocarbons: 78.00%		
	alpha-Bergamotene: 27.38%	Saeed et al. (2010); Habib et al. 2021;	
	alpha-Copaene: 23.05%	Ali et al. (2021)	
	Oxygenated terpenoids: 9.00%		
Flowers	(E)-Cinnamyl acetate: 41.98%		
	Trans-alpha-Bergamotene: 7.97%	Rao et al. (2014); Abd El-Hack et al. (2020)	
	Caryophyllene oxide: 7.20%		

Table 1 Important bioactive compounds present in different parts of sinnamon

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 3 Key bioactive ingredients in cinnamon that contribute to its beneficial effects

in combination with other essential oils, have a variety of advantageous benefits on chickens. Among these results is a rise in feed consumption (Al-Kassie 2009), more excellent growth rates and meat of higher quality (Sang-Oh et al. 2013), increased output and effectiveness of feed (Kamel 2001; Al-Kassie 2009; Isabel and Santos 2009), elevated intestinal and pancreatic lipase activity (Kim et al. 2010), increased production of breast flesh (Isabel and Santos 2009), protection against *Escherichia coli*, *Enterococus faecalis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, epidermal Staphylococcus, Salmonella sp., *Helicobacter pylori* and *Vibrio parahemolyticus* (Taback et al. 1999; Chang et al. 2001; Chang et al. 2008) are reported.

3 Impact of cinnamon on digestion and absorption of nutrients

Cinnamon is now legal to use as a PFA in poultry feed. To improve the health, growth, carcass quality and carcass features of chickens, including bioactive chemicals such as essential oils, cinnamaldehyde, and phenolic compounds in chicken food is necessary (Ali et al. 2021). Studies have shown that the bioactive compounds present in extract of cinnamon are efficient enough to slow the process of digestion in the small intestine to augment the efficiency of utilization of nutrients (Baskara et al. 2021).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Cinnamon's bioactive components have potent antimicrobial, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and free radical scavenging effects and inhibit NF- κ B activity to minimize NO production. Broiler chicken research shows that cinnamon and its essential oils are antimicrobial and antioxidant (Zhu et al. 2020). In addition, cinnamon oil is effective as an anti-inflammatory, anti-fungal, antipain, and antioxidant. Concurrently, the bioactive chemicals in cinnamon can inhibit the growth of pathogenic germs in the intestines of chickens while encouraging the expansion of commensal bacteria (Lin et al. 2003).

When fed properly, broiler chickens benefit from a higher feed efficiency (FCR), greater body weight growth (BWG), and better health. Feed utilization can be enhanced, and growth-restricting metabolic and digestive disorders can be mainly avoided by stabilizing the gut microbial environment and stimulating the release of digestive enzymes (Bento et al. 2013). Cinnamon oil may influence intestinal mucosa and pancreas digesting enzyme release, according to chicken research (Bento et al. 2013; Zhu et al. 2020). Furthermore, cinnamon's bioactive components influence lipid metabolism via mediating fatty acid transport in broilers' intestines. Cinnamon oil aids digestion by stimulating the production of digestive enzymes and facilitating nutrient absorption (Garcia et al. 2007).

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

Additionally, the gut morphology and integrity protection provided by cinnamon oil may increase nutrient absorption. One study found that the cinnamon-fed group absorbed more nutrients than the control group (Devi et al. 2008). Cinnamon oil supplementation in the broiler diet increased duodenal and jejunal villus height (VH), villus surface area, and nutrient absorption and digesting efficiency. In addition, increased mucosal digesting enzyme activity is associated with a higher VH, leading to better nutrient absorption. Cinnamon oil's antioxidant properties are responsible for improving VH (Mehdi et al. 2018; Zhai et al. 2018). Digestion generates reactive oxygen species (ROS), which act on the intestinal mucosa and shorten intestinal villi but are bound by antioxidant enzymes (Windisch et al. 2008). One manner in which cinnamon oil safeguards the intestinal villi from oxidative damage is by elevating the activity of these antioxidant enzymes. The antimicrobial properties of cinnamon oil enhance intestinal morphology (Chowdhury et al. 2018).

Poultry benefit from cinnamaldehyde because it stimulates their digestive function. Cinnamaldehyde helped broiler chickens break down their food more efficiently by stimulating saliva production. This, in turn, stimulated the production of digestive enzymes in the pancreas and intestines. Cinnamon tannins have been found to

improve poultry health and nutrition by precipitating proteins in the intestine (Zeng et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2022). Groups given cinnamaldehyde supplements saw dramatic increases in their nutritional, amino acid, and crude fat digestibility. Cinnamon oil supplementation in broiler diets enhanced protein digestion by stimulating gastric production of hydrochloric acid (HCl) and pepsin (Platel and Srinivasan 2004; Redondo et al. 2014).

On the other hand, broiler chicks fed 200 ppm of an essential oil extract containing oregano, pepper, and cinnamon did not exhibit any changes in nutritional digestibility (Hernandez et al. 2004). Improvements in nutrient absorption and a return to a more normal state of gut ecology have been observed in hens treated with cinnamon oil (Jamroz et al. 2003; Mountzouris et al. 2011), which may be due to the terpenoids in cinnamon. Phytobiotic growth promoters that remained active throughout the digestive tract enhanced nutrient uptake changed intestinal histomorphology, reduced microbial load, and raised host immunity. Since it encourages the production of digestive enzymes and bile acid, it makes food and fat seem easier to break down. It also affects the digestive process by mediating interactions between feed and digestive enzymes (Zhai et al. 2018). The impact of cinnamon on nutrient digestion and absorption is summarized in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Potential impact of cinnamon on nutrient digestibility and absorption

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

4 Impact of cinnamon on body weight gain

It has been the subject of numerous scientific investigations into the effect of cinnamon and its derivatives on poultry diets. Researchers found that adding cinnamon essential oil to broiler feed led to a greater weight increase than giving the feed to broilers without any added cinnamon (Al-Kassie 2009). Consumption of cinnamon products at the rate of 2g/kg similarly enhanced the weight of chicks (Toghyani et al. 2011; Shirzadegan 2014). It has been shown by another group of researchers (Lee et al. 2003) that female broilers who consume cinnamon oil and its byproducts don't gain weight, but they do drink less water. Adding cinnamon products at a rate of 0.5-2 g/kg, as shown in the study of Koochaksaraie et al. (2011), did not affect body weight or broiler growth. The body weight of broilers does not change during the sale period when they consume 0.5 to 1 mL/kg (Symeon et al. 2014). Alternate strategies have concentrated on improving health and immune system function by decreasing the number of pathogenic bacteria and modifying the gut microbiota composition to increase output. Essential oils improve feed efficiency and growth performance by influencing immune function, regulating intestinal microflora, stimulating the production of gastric enzymes, and promoting antimicrobial and antioxidant properties. Though the inclusion of cinnamon in poultry diets has been shown to have no direct effect on body weight, few researchers reported that cinnamon has a positive impact on the birds' overall health and wellbeing, particularly their intestinal health and immunity, both of which contribute to increased growth and production (Saeed et al. 2018; Abo-Ghanima et al. 2020). In broiler chickens under heat stress conditions, it has been found that there is a significant improvement in the gain of body weight by feeding cinnamon powder (Khan et al. 2022).

5 Impact of Cinnamon on feed conversion efficiency and feed intake

Cinnamon oil has improved poultry immune systems, reduced feed consumption, and improved feed conversion efficiency; however, studies have reached conflicting conclusions. Three studies have confirmed this effect (Mehdipour et al. 2013; Sim sek et al. 2015; Torki et al. 2015). Poultry fed a meal containing 200 ppm of an essential oil blend of thyme and cinnamon performed better in terms of feed efficiency and feed intake, as reported by Al-Kassie (2009). Broilers fed a diet containing 500 ppm of essential cinnamon oil outperform antibiotic-treated groups in terms of feed conversion efficiency, according to Ciftci et al. (2009). However, it was reported that using cinnamon oil in the diet decreased the feed conversion rate (Sim sek et al. 2015). Torki et al. (2015) found that layers fed a diet containing zinc and cinnamon oil had a worse feed conversion rate when exposed to chilly stress. Antibiotics can be reinstated with organic acid and essential oil, as shown by the fact

that the feed control rate increased after two weeks when poultry were given either enramycin at 125 ppm or a mixture of cinnamaldehyde (500mg/kg) and calcium formate. Broilers fed 200 ppm of an essential oil extract containing oregano, pepper, and cinnamon did not exhibit any changes in feed conversion efficiency during weeks 2 and 3, as reported by Hernandez et al. (2004). In broilers under heat stress conditions, it has been found that there is a significant improvement in the intake of feed and feed conversion ratio by feeding cinnamon powder (Khan et al. 2022).

6 Impact of Cinnamon on gene expression profiling

Gene expression profiling is one of the most cutting-edge methods for understanding the genetics behind complicated features like residual feed intake (RFI) in chickens and other animals (Izadnia et al. 2019). The genes and processes that contribute to complex traits in chickens have been categorized using RNA sequencing and next-generation sequencing technologies, which have been widely used to study molecular genetic pathways (Erfan and Marouf 2019). For example, by manipulating gene expression in chickens for up- and down-regulations, 121 and 279 previously identified genes were revealed to be involved with RFI and growth rate, respectively (Izadnia et al. 2019). Quantitative trait loci (QTL) analysis revealed the down-regulation of genes involved in feed efficiency features (Ali et al. 2021). In a study conducted by Tabatabaei et al. (2015), a chicken who received E. coli injections in addition to dietary cinnamon extracts (100-200 mg) showed significantly lower expression levels of nuclear factor beta (NF-B) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a). Another study found an upregulation of gene expressions of cationic and neutral amino acid transporters in birds fed with encapsulated cinnamaldehyde (Yang et al. 2021).

7 Impact of Cinnamon on Immunomodulation

The delicate balance of diet, bacteria, and mucus necessary to maintain the gut's immune system properly functioning is not easy. The phenolic components in cinnamon have free radicalscavenging properties; therefore, eating cinnamon can help keep your skin looking young. Multiple studies (Ciftci et al. 2010; Simsek et al. 2013; Alves-Santos et al. 2020) support this notion. Consuming cinnamon regularly increases the beneficial bacteria in the gut, which protects against disease and offers essential nutrients. As a result of their bacteriostatic properties, short-chain fatty acids inhibit the growth of pathogen-causing bacteria, increase the colon's absorption surface by stimulating cell division, and attempt to halt the production of new bile byproducts. Cinnamonaldehyde has been found to reduce the production of inflammatory cytokines in cells stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (Habiba et al. 2021). The expression of critically important mRNA in epithelial cell inflammation is also suppressed in response to these cytokines. Chickens' resistance to disease is improved by

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

cinnamonaldehyde, which contains antiinflammatory effects (Dawson et al. 2003; Pannee et al. 2014). The antigen and immune response pathways are involved in cinnamon's immune regulatory actions (Lillehoj et al. 2011). Improvements in intestinal immunocompetence and an increase in IgA content in chickens fed cinnamon essential oil were reported by Kettunen et al. (2006). Increased serum immunoglobulin was seen in broilers fed a cinnamon diet (Sang-Oh et al. 2013). The serum immunoglobulin M (IgM) concentration increased in hens after being fed cinnamon essential oil for 42 days (Yang et al. 2019), and the MDA concentration dropped after just 21 days.

8 Impact of Cinnamon on blood biochemistry profile

Blood biochemistry is a useful diagnostic tool in both human and veterinary medicine for determining the effects of the environment, diet, and treatment. The positive effect of cinnamon oil in reducing the level of sugar in the body is evident. Both the albumin-to-globulin (A/G) ratio and total cholesterol levels were affected by the cinnamon-derived PFAs. PFAs derived from cinnamon could lower cholesterol levels in consumers' favourite meat, increasing its appeal (Chandran 2021; Krauze et al. 2021; Kumari et al. 2022). The effects of cinnamon on chicken blood biochemistry, however, are inconsistent. There is a notable impact on blood biochemistry

using cinnamon essential oil, cinnamon powder. from cinnamaldehyde, or any combination of these, as chicken feed additives. Total protein content, hemoglobin, RBCs and WBCs increased in chickens given 200 ppm of cinnamon essential oil as supplemental feed (Al-Kassie 2009). The heterophils/lymphocytes ratio and cholesterol concentration both decreased. Cholesterol and malondialdehyde (MDA), total saturated fatty acid, and alanine aminotransferase activity were all found to be decreased in chickens fed 1000 ppm cinnamon essential oil, while unsaturated fatty acids, omega-6 fatty acids, catalase activities and blood phagocytic activity were all found to be increased (Ciftci et al. 2010; Prakash et al. 2021a, b). Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity, antioxidant capacity, catalase, and corticosteroid levels were all enhanced after 42 days of supplementation with cinnamon powder in chickens (Mehdipour and Afsharmanesh 2018). Blood levels of uric acid, malondialdehyde, and lactate dehydrogenase were all lower in heat-stressed Ross 300 broiler chicks fed cinnamon powder (Kanani et al. 2016). Poultry fed a diet containing 7.5g of cinnamon powder per kilogram of body weight experienced a reduction in the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio, suggesting that the spice may have a calming effect (Naderi et al. 2014). These results were accomplished because cinnamaldehyde is an antioxidant that prevents ROS from damaging the liver. Figure 5 shows how cinnamon changes the biochemistry of poultry blood.



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

451

Adding cinnamon essential oil to broiler feed increased HDL cholesterol and decreased triglycerides and LDL cholesterol (Faghani et al. 2014). When added to chicken feed at a dosage of 0.8%, cinnamon has been shown to decrease total protein, lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, plasma cholesterol, and blood glucose concentrations in birds (Najafi and Taherpour 2014; Kumari et al. 2022). Blood sugar levels were lowered and the proportion of antibody-positive controls increased when cinnamon powder at a concentration of 1.0% was added to the chicken feed (Hossain et al. 2014). Torki et al. (2015) found that adding cinnamon and zinc to the diets of broilers exposed to cold stress reduced the animals' triglyceride and blood glucose levels. A lower blood cholesterol concentration was observed when ground cinnamon was added to the food of broiler chickens at 250 and 500 ppm (Gopi et al. 2012). The plasma lipid concentrations of broilers were not noticeably affected by the addition of cinnamaldehyde to their diet (Lee et al. 2017). The use of the medium and highest doses of cinnamon (0.1 and 0. 25 ml/l) resulted in a beneficial increase in the concentration of low-density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 1 and acetylcholinesterase as well as a decrease in the level of cholesterol and hyperphosphorylated Tau protein (Krauze et al. 2023).

9 Impact of cinnamon on gut microbiota and overall gut health

Eliminating infectious pathogens and promoting great intestinal health in chickens depend on the proper development of meal digestion and absorption, the immune system, and the gut's balance of water and electrolytes. The content of the diet, the presence or absence of feed additives (such as prebiotics, probiotics, phytobiotics, etc.), heat stress, genetic profile and chicken farm feeding practices all affect the gut microbial ecology. Chickens' health and the composition of their gut microbiota are profoundly impacted by these factors (Nawab et al. 2018). It is well known that a healthy poultry intestine with enough microbiota to perform its necessary functions is essential for peak performance. This is because all of these factors-energy balance, sustained inflammatory balance, tissue metabolism, and correct gut physiological functionare intertwined with structural consistency and antibody production. Chicken health is affected by the composition and activity of the gut microbiome (Diaz Carrasco et al. 2019).

A wide variety of bacteria make up the microbiota of a chicken's digestive tract. There are hundreds of different types of bacteria in the intestinal microbiota of chickens, including actinomycetes, bacteroides, firmicutes, fusobacteria, and proteobacteria (Iqbal et al. 2020). The feed efficiency of broilers is increased, increasing the growth rate and productivity of poultry (Bedford 2000). The parasite 5 infects the eggs of laying hens because it resides in the intestines of these birds and then spreads to other organs, including the fallopian tubes. Including trans-cinnamaldehyde in laying hens'

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org diets has improved their health by reducing the spread of infections from *Salmonella enteritidis* eggs (Upadhyaya et al. 2015). Iqbal et al. (2020) estimate that anywhere from 500 to 1100 distinct bacterial species are present in the GIT, each accounting for 100 trillion individual cells. Protozoa, bacteria, and fungi all have roles in the avian digestive system. Poultry had varying microbial concentrations throughout the intestine, with the highest levels towards the tail end. To ward off microbial invasion and play a role in cell signalling, intestinal epithelial cells form tight interactions between pathogenic bacteria and their toxins and the mucosa, is known to cause damage to the intestinal mucosa, the intestinal epithelial barrier, tight junctions, and lipid peroxidation, as shown in many studies (Gopi et al. 2012; Upadhyaya et al. 2015; Habiba et al. 2021).

Broilers are designed to gain the most weight quickly to satisfy the ever-growing demand for chicken meat (Lee et al. 2017). Antioxidant compounds added to meals reduce free radicals and protect the intestinal lining (Mandal et al. 2015). Thus, the poultry industry needs to figure out how to implement this finding. The high expense of testing and the need for a final sampling of a large number of birds to capture stomach contents have limited the application of this technique, even in commercial settings. The health, longevity, and antioxidative capacity of chickens can be improved by adding bioactive components to their diet. Essential oils and phenolics are two of cinnamon's active components that have been shown to have antiinflammatory and antimicrobial benefits in animal studies. Modifying the intestinal microbiota and its activity with dietary adjustments can counteract cinnamon's potential effect on the microbiome (Mandal et al. 2015; Lee et al. 2017).

To this end, PFAs are being tested in poultry feed as a non-toxic and safe way to improve the birds' health by fostering a more diverse and stable gut microbiota. In order to improve nutritional absorption through the intestinal walls of chickens, phytobiotics are utilized to alter their gastrointestinal systems (Mueller et al. 2012). This is accomplished by promoting antibacterial, antiinflammatory, and antioxidant responses. The caecal organism's aid in the host's nitrogen metabolism is associated with food's positive health effects (Oakley et al. 2014). Although the small intestine is where most digestion and absorption of nutrients occurs, the bacteria found in the cecum ferment any food that was only partially digested in the ileum (Lee et al. 2017).

The ileum of the intestine is dominated by aerobic bacteria (Enterococcus spp. and Lactobacillus spp.), whereas the cecum is dominated by pathogenic obligate anaerobic bacteria (Campylobacter spp. and Enterococcus spp.) (Yin et al. 2010; Boguslawska-Tryk et al. 2015). It has been hypothesized that a chicken's digestive tract's health directly affects its productivity.



Figure 6 Potential impact of cinnamon on poultry gut health

Including cinnamon in a chicken's food has been shown to improve intestinal microbiota and digestive health (Mehdi et al. 2018). The gut ecology functioned better after consuming a cinnamon-based diet, as beneficial bacteria proliferated and detrimental bacteria decreased (Rashid et al. 2020). The cinnamon diet promoted the growth of Lactobacillus spp. in chickens ileum and caecum while dramatically inhibiting Campylobacter spp., *E. coli*, and other microorganisms. There are bioactive components in cinnamon that kill bacteria, such as Enterococcus spp. and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Chang et al. 2001).

Volatile components such as cinnamaldehyde, eugenol, and carvacrol make up the bulk of cinnamon essential oils. Compared to cinnamon extract, cinnamon oil was more effective against bacteria. Further research showed that cinnamon essential oil has a bactericide minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of 125–250 g/mL and a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 25–100 g/mL (Pathak et al. 2017). It is important to note that cinnamaldehyde in encapsulated form may not prove toxic to the birds (Zaefarian et al. 2019). Combining thymol and cinnamaldehyde has been recommended in several studies for its potential to reduce disease transmission and give animals better stomach wellbeing (Ouwehand et al. 2010; Tiihonen et al. 2010). Cinnamaldehyde, capsaicin, carvacrol, and other compounds in cinnamon have been shown to reduce the number of *E. coli* and

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org increase the number of Lactobacillus in the intestines of broilers (Jamroz et al. 2005). The ability of cinnamon oil to disrupt bacterial cell membranes may explain why it helps reduce E. coli populations. Again, cinnamaldehyde (encapsulated) alone or in combination with citral has been found to cause a reduction in the cases of necrotic enteritis (Yang et al. 2020). Poultry with a higher antioxidant status, immunity, and antimicrobial activity can benefit by including cinnamon essential oil as a feed element in poultry feed (Tiihonen et al. 2010). As Solanki et al. (2022) reported, Cinnamon oil can be used as a substitute for chemical growth enhancers in the chicken business. Caecal E. coli, Salmonella, total yeast, mold, and total microbial count were reduced in chickens fed cinnamon oil, but the total microbial count was identical to that of antibiotic-treated chickens. Broiler chickens can benefit from a diet supplemented with cinnamon oil instead of antibiotic growth enhancers at doses of 10 mg/kg avilamycin, 500 mg/kg, 1000 mg/kg, and 1500 mg/kg, respectively (Saied et al. 2022). The potential impact of curcumin on poultry gut health is illustrated in Figure 6.

Conclusion and future prospects

Using cinnamon as a feed additive improved a variety of characteristics in poultry, including their ability to digest and use nutrients, their rate of growth, their body weight gain, their appetite, their feed conversion efficiency, the traits of their carcasses, the quality of their meat, their blood chemistry, the expression of their genes, the composition of their gut microbiota, and their immune function. Increased demand for broilers resulted in the stress-reducing effects of cinnamon on their feed, which reduces the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio. As a result, cinnamon has the potential to replace antibiotics, as it protects against food poisoning, lessens exposure to harmful chemicals in feed, and promotes environmental health. Incorporating cinnamon into poultry feed has been demonstrated to have positive effects. In addition to boosting the immune system and lowering illness prevalence, cinnamon has been shown in certain tests to increase broiler chickens' growth rate and feed efficiency. Cinnamon may also have positive effects on human health and the environment, and it is also a safe and natural feed ingredient that can replace synthetic additives. A rising number of people are concerned about the environmental effects of the poultry business and are working to increase the efficiency of poultry farming. Improved poultry health and growth with less reliance on antibiotics and other synthetic chemicals might be possible with cinnamon's inclusion in poultry feed. Demand for natural and organic poultry products is also rising, thanks to increasing consumer awareness of the negative effects of conventional poultry agriculture on the environment and human health. Cinnamon's timely inclusion as a feed additive could help farmers gain a competitive edge and higher prices for their wares. Overall, cinnamon's potential as a feed additive for poultry is encouraging, and more study in this area is expected to provide additional insights and benefits in the future. While cinnamon has shown promise as a feed additive, its efficacy may vary based on individual chicken farms' environmental factors and management techniques; experiments should be conducted and performance closely monitored.

Using PFAs like cinnamon can make poultry production more cost-effective, risk-free, and healthy without negatively impacting the productivity of the birds. Even yet, further investigation is needed to elucidate the fundamental link of these PFAs with enhanced gut microbiota. Heat stress, in particular, has a major effect on the health and productivity of chickens and may be mitigated by applying cinnamon oil. There has been a rise in interest in using cinnamon oil for its immunomodulatory characteristics in poultry production, although this area still lacks sufficient study. To monitor the metabolites and fate of cinnamon's bioactive components in the chicken intestine, it is necessary to establish methodologies for the analytical analysis of these compounds. The effectiveness of the poultry industry's use of cinnamon or cinnamon oil depends on our having a more solid understanding of the biological activities of cinnamon and related components. More research is needed into the relationship between cinnamon's chemical composition and its Influence on poultry health and productivity.

Acknowledgement

All the authors acknowledge and thank their respective Institutes and Universities.

Author's contribution

All the authors contributed significantly.

Funding

This is a compilation written by its authors and required no substantial funding to be stated.

Disclosure statement

All authors declare that there exist no commercial or financial relationships that could, in any way, lead to a potential conflict of interest.

References

Abd El-Hack, E.M., Alagawany, M., Abdel-Moneim, A.E., Mohammed, N.G., Khafaga, A.F., Bin-Jumah, M., Othman, S.I., Allam, A.A., & Elnesr, S.S. (2020). Cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) oil as a potential alternative to antibiotics in poultry. *Journal of Antibiotics*, 9(5), 210. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antibiotics9050210

Abd El-Hack, M.E., & Alagawany M. (2022). Antibiotic alternatives in poultry and fish feed. Bentham Science Publishers. https://doi.org/10.2174/97898150490151220101

Abdelli, N., Solà-Oriol, D., & Pérez, J.F. (2021). Phytogenic feed additives in poultry: achievements, prospective and challenges. *Animals*, *11*(12), 3471. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123471

Abo Ghanima, M.M., Elasdek, M.F., Taha, A.E., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Alagawany, M., Ahmed, B.M., Elshafie, M.M., Mahmoud, M., & El-Sabrout, K. (2020). Effect of housing system and rosemary and cinnamon essential oils on layers performance, egg quality, haematological traits, blood chemistry, immunity, and antioxidant. *Journal of Animals*, *10*(2), 245. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10020245

Alagawany, M., El-Hindawy, M.M., Mohamed, L.A., Bilal, R.M., & Soomro, J. (2020). The use of cold pressed oils as eco-friendly alternatives for antibiotics in high and low-CP diets of laying Japanese quail. *Animal Biotechnology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10495398.2020.1837846

Alagawany, M., Farag, M.R., El-Kholy, M.S., El-Sayed, S.A.A., & Dhama, K. (2016). Effect of resveratrol, cinnamaldehyde and their combinations on the antioxidant defense system and ATP release

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

of rabbit erythrocytes: in vitro study. Asian Journal of Animal Science and Veterinary Advances, 12(1), 1-9.

Ali, A., Ponnampalam, E.N., Pushpakunara, G., Cottrell, J.J., Suleria, H.A.R., & Dunshea, F.R. (2021). Cinnamon: A natural feed additive for poultry health and production. *Journal of Animals*, *11*(7): 2026. https://doi: 10.3390/ani11072026

Al-Kassie, G.A. (2009), Influence of two plant extracts derived from thyme and cinnamon on broiler performance. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 29(4), 169-173.

Alves-Santos, A.M., Araújo Sugizaki, C.S., Lima, G.C., & Naves, M.M.V. (2020). Prebiotic effect of dietary polyphenols: A systematic review. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 74, 104169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2020.104169.

Arain, M.A., Muhammad, S., Faiz Ul, H., Imran, R.R., Zohaib, A.B., Mahmoud, A., & Akhtar, H.S. (2018). Phytochemistry and beneficial impacts of cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) as a dietary supplement in poultry diets. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, *74* (2): 331-346.

Baskara, A. P., Sharma, S., Sener-Aydemir, A., Koger, S., Ariyadi, B., Dono, N. D., Zuprizal, Z., & Metzler-Zebeli, B. U. (2021). Cinnamon bark oil and coconut oil emulsions modified small intestinal motility and barrier function in laying hens in an *ex vivo* experiment. *British Poultry Science*, *62*(3), 435–442. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2020.1870662.

Bedford, M. (2000). Removal of antibiotic growth promoters from poultry diets: Implications and strategies to minimize subsequent problems. *Worlds Poultry Science Journal*, *56*, 347-365. https://doi.org/10.2141/jpsa.43.378.

Bento, M.H.L., Ouwehand, A.C., Tiihonen, K., Lahtinen, S., Nurminen, P., Saarinen, M.T., Schulze, H., Mygind, T., & Fischer, J. (2013). Essential oils and their use in animal feeds for monogastric animals–Effects on feed quality, gut microbiota, growth performance and food safety: A review. *Veterinarni Medicina*, 58, 449–458.

Bogusławska-Tryk, M., Szymeczko, R., Piotrowska, A., Burlikowska, K., & Sli'zewska, K. (2015). Ileal and cecal microbial population and 'short-chain fatty acid profile in broiler chickens fed diets supplemented with lignocellulose. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, *35*, 212–216.

Buttar, H.S., Kumar, H., Chandran, D., Tuli, HS, & Dhama, K. (2022), Potential health benefits of using aloe vera as a feed additive in livestock: A mini-review. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, 99 (01), 09-18.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Chandran, D. (2021), Veterinary phytomedicine in India: A review. International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology, 8(3): 598-605. https://doi.org/10.32628/IJSRST2183135

Chandran, D., Emran, T.B., Nainu, F., Sharun, K., Kumar, M., Mitra, S., Chakraborty, S., Mohapatra, R.K., Tuli, HS, & Dhama, K. (2022). Beneficial effects of dietary *Allium sativum* (garlic) supplementation on health and production of poultry: A minireview. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, *9*: 821-824. https://doi. org/10.1002/ptr.7363

Chang, S.T., Chang, L.W., Chang, W.C., & Cheng, S.S. (2008). Antibacterial activities of plant essential oils against *Legionella pneumophila*. *Water Research*, 42(1-2), 278-286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.07.00

Chang, S.T., Chen, P.F., & Chang, S.C. (2001). Antibacterial activity of leaf essential oils and their constituents from *Cinnamonum osmophloeum. Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 77, 123-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-8741(01)00273-2

Chowdhury, S., Mandal, G.P., & Patra, A.K. (2018). Different essential oils in diets of chickens: 1. Growth performance, nutrient utilization, nitrogen excretion, carcass traits and chemical composition of meat. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 236, 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.12.002

Chowlu, H., Vidyarthi, V.K., Zuyie, R., & Maiti, CS (2019). Effect of dietary supplementation of cinnamon on the performance of broiler chicken. *International Journal of Livestock*, 7(2), 83-87.

Ciftci, M., Dalkilic, B., Cerci, I.H., Guler, T., Ertas, O.N., & Arslan, O. (2009). Influence of dietary cinnamon oil supplementation on performance and carcass characteristics in broilers. *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, *36*, 125-128. https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2009.9707045

Ciftci, M., Simsek, U.G., Yuce, A., Yilmaz, O., & Dalkilic, B. (2010). Effects of dietary antibiotic and cinnamon oil supplementation on antioxidant enzyme activities, cholesterol levels and fatty acid compositions of serum and meat in broiler chickens. *Acta Veterinarica*, *79*, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.2754/avb201079010033.

Dawson, J., Miltz, W., Mir, A.K., & Wiessner, C. (2003). Targeting monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 signalling in disease. *Expert Opinion Therapeutic Targets*, 7, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1517/14728222.7.1.35

Devi, P.C., Samanta, A.K., Das, B., Kalita, G., Ehera, P.S., & Barman, S. (2018). Effect of plant extracts and essential oil blend as alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters on growth performance, nutrient utilization and carcass characteristics of

broiler chicken. *Indian Journal of Animal Nutrition*, *35*, 421–427. http://dx.doi.org/10.5958/2231-6744.2018.00064.6

Dhama, K, Saminathan, M., Jacob, S.S., Singh, M., Karthik, K., Amarpal, Tiwari, R., Sunkara, L.T. Malik, Y.S. & Singh, R.K. (2015b). Effect of immunomodulation and immunomodulatory agents on health with some bioactive principles, modes of action and potent biomedical applications. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, *11*(4): 253-290. DOI: 10.3923/ijp.2015.253.290

Dhama, K., Karthik, K., Khandia, R., Munjal, A., Tiwari, R., Rana, R., Khurana, S.K., Sana, U., Khan, R.U., Alagawany, M., Farag, M.R., Dadar, M., & Joshi, S.K. (2018) Medicinal and therapeutic potential of herbs and plant metabolites / extracts countering viral pathogens - Current knowledge and future prospects. *Current Drug Metabolism, 19*(3), 236-263. doi: 10.2174/1389200219666180129145252.

Dhama, K., Latheef, S.K. Saminathan, M., Samad, H.A., Karthik K, Tiwari, R., Khan, R.U., Alagawany, M., Farag, M.R., Gazi, M.A., Laudadio, V., & Tufarelli, V. (2015a) Multiple beneficial applications and modes of action of herbs in poultry health and production – A review. *International Journal of Pharmacology, 11*(3), 152-176. DOI: 10.3923/ijp.2015.152.176

Dhama, K., Tiwari, R, Chakraborty, S., Saminathan, M., Kumar, A., Karthik, K., Wani, M.Y., Amarpal, S.S.V., & Rahal, A. (2014). Evidence based antibacterial potentials of medicinal plants and herbs countering bacterial pathogens especially in the era of emerging drug resistance: An integrated update. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, *10*(1), 1-43. https://doi.org/10.3923/ijp.2014.1.43

Diaz, C., Juan, M., Casanova, N.A., & Miyakawa, M.E.F. (2019). Microbiota, gut health and chicken productivity: What is the connection? *Microorganisms*, 7, 374. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms7100374

El-Sabrout, K., Khalifah, A., & Mishra, B. (2023). Application of botanical products as nutraceutical feed additives for improving poultry health and production. *Veterinary world*, *16*(2), 369–379. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2023.369-379

Erfan, A.M., & Marouf, S. (2019). Cinnamon oil downregulates virulence genes of poultry respiratory bacterial agents and revealed significant bacterial inhibition: An *in vitro* perspective. *Veterinary World*, *12*(11), 1707-1715. https://doi.org/10.14202/ vetworld.2019.1707-1715

Faghani, M., Rahimian, Y., Rafiee, A., & Namjoo, A.R. (2014). Effect of garlic and cinnamon in comparison to virginiamycin on performance and some haematological parameters in broiler

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Kaaviya et al.

chicks. Research Opinion in Animal & Veterinary Science, 4, 504–507.

Farag, M.R., Alagawany, M., & Tufarelli, V. (2016). In vitro antioxidant activities of resveratrol, cinnamaldehyde and their synergistic effect against cyadox-induced cytotoxicity in rabbit erythrocytes. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, *40*(2), 196-205.

Farag, M.R., Mahmoud, A., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Shaaban, S.E., Gihan, G.M., Kuldeep, D., & Nabela, I.E. (2021). Antibiotics as Growth Promoters in Poultry Feeding. In: M. Alagawany, & M.E. Abd El-Hack (eds). *Natural Feed Additives Used in the Poultry Industry*. Bentham Science Publishers Pte. Ltd. Singapore. https://doi.org/10.2174/97898114884501200101

Garcia, V., Catala-Gregori, P., Hernandez, F., Megias, M., & Madrid, J. (2007). Effect of formic acid and plant extracts on growth, nutrient digestibility, intestine mucosa morphology, and meat yield of broilers. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, *16*, 555–562. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr.2006-00116

Gopi, M., Kathirvelan, C., Premchander, D., Vasanthakumar, P., Pangayarselvi, B., Sasikumar, P., & Chandrasekaran, D. (2012). Effect of cinnamon powder (*cinnamomum zeylanicum*) supplementation on growth performance of broilers. Commercial and rural poultry production: Novel concepts and strategies to meet growing demand and changing consumer needs. Proceedings of the 24th Annual Conference and National Symposium of Indian Poultry Science Association, pp. 35-36.

Habib, M.A., Abozid, M.M., El Sofany, S.A., & Faragalla, S.F. (2021). Antimicrobial potentials of cinnamon and garlic extracts against some foodborne pathogens. *Zagazig Journal of Agricultural Research*, 48(3), 805-815. https://dx.doi.org/10.21608/zjar.2021.191318

Habiba, M.M., Hussein, E.E., Ashry, A.M., El-Zayat, A.M., Hassan, A.M., El-Shehawi, A.M., Sewilam, H., Doan, H.V., & Dawood, M.A.O. (2021). Dietary cinnamon successfully enhanced the growth performance, growth hormone, antibacterial capacity, and immunity of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Journal of Animals*, *11*(7), 2128. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani11072128

Hartady, T., Syamsunarno, MRAA, Priosoeryanto, B.P., Jasni, S., & Balia, R.L. (2021) Review of herbal medicine works in the avian species. *Veterinary World*, *14*(11), 2889-2906. https://doi.org/10.14202%2Fvetworld.2021.2889-2906

Hashemi, S.R., & Davoodi, H. (2010). Phytogenic as new class of feed additive in poultry industry. *Journal of Animal & Veterinary Advances*, *9*, 2295-2304.

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

Hernandez, F., Madrid, J., Garcia, V., Orengo, J., & Megias, M.D. (2004). Influence of two plant extracts on broilers performance, digestibility, and digestive organ size. *Poultry Science*, *83*, 169–174. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/83.2.169

Hossain, M., Howlader, A., Islam, M., & Beg, M. (2014). Evaluation of locally available herbs and spices on physical, biochemical and economical parameters on broiler production. *International Journal of Plant, Animal and Environmental Sciences*, *4*, 317–323.

Iqbal, Y., Cottrell, J.J., Suleria, H.A.R., & Dunshea, F.R. (2020). Gut microbiota polyphenol interactions in chicken: A review. *Journal of Animals*, *10*, 1391. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10081391

Isabel, B., & Santos, Y. (2009). Effects of dietary organic acids and essential oils on growth performance and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, *18*, 472-476. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr.2008-00096

Izadnia, H.R., Tahmoorespur, M., Bakhtiarizadeh, M.R., Nassiri, M., & Esmaeilkhanien, S. (2019). Gene expression profile analysis of residual feed intake for Isfahan native chickens using RNA-SEQ data. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, *18*, 246–260. https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2018.1507625

Jakhetia, V., Patel, R., Khatri, P., Pahuja, N., Garg, S., Pandey, A., & Sharma, S. (2010). Cinnamon: A pharmacological review. *Journal of Advanced Scientific Research*, *1*, 19-23.

Jamroz, D., Wertelecki, T., Houszka, M., & Kamel, C. (2006). Influence of diet type on the inclusion of plant origin active substances on morphological and histochemical characteristics of the stomach and jejunum walls in chicken. *Journal of Animal Physiology & Animal Nutrition*, *90*, 255–268. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1439-0396.2005.00603.x

Jamroz, D., Wiliczkiewicz, A., Wertelecki, T., Orda, J., & Skorupi'nska, J. (2005). Use of active substances of plant origin in chicken diets based on maize and locally grown cereals. *British Poultry Science*, 46, 485–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071660500191056

Jayaprakasha, G. K., Rao, L. J., & Sakariah, K. K. (2002). Chemical composition of volatile oil from Cinnamomum zeylanicum buds. *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung. C, Journal of biosciences*, 57(11-12), 990–993. https://doi.org/10.1515/znc-2002-11-1206.

Kamel, C. (2001). Tracing modes of action and roles of plant extracts in non-ruminants. *Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition*, 135-150.

Kanani, P.B., Daneshyar, M., & Najafi, R. (2016). Effects of cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) and turmeric (*Curcuma longa*) powders on performance, enzyme activity, and blood parameters of broiler chickens under heat stress. *Poultry Science Journal*, *4*, 47–53.

Kettunen, H., Ouwehand, A., Schulze, H., & Rautonen, N. (2006). Dietary essential oil supplementation enhanced intestinal immunocompetence in young broiler chick. *Reproduction, Nutrition & Development*, 46, S101.

Khan, K., Ahmad, N., Tahir, M., & Chand, N. (2022). Alleviation of negative effect of heat stress through supplementations of cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) and turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L) powders in diets of broiler chickens. *Animal Biotechnology*, 1–9. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/10495398.2022.2156351

Kim, Y.S., Lee, Y.M., Kim, H., Kim, J., Jang, D.S., Kim, J.H., & Kim, J.S. (2010). Anti-obesity effect of Morus bombycis root extract: anti-lipase activity and lipolytic effect. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *130*(3), 621-624. https://doi.org/10.3109/09637486.2013.832172

Koochaksaraie, R.R., Irani, M., & Gharavysi, S. (2011). The effects of cinnamon powder feeding on some blood metabolites in broiler chicks. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, *13*, 197-201. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-635X2011000300006

Krauze, M., Jurczak, P., Cendrowska-Pinkosz, M., Stępniowska, A., Matusevičius, P., & Ognik, K. (2023). Feasibility of including a phytobiotic containing cinnamon oil in the diet to reduce the occurrence of neurodegenerative changes in broiler chicken tissues. *Journal of Animal Feed Science*, *32*(2), 164–173.

Krauze, M., Cendrowska-Pinkosz, M., Matuseviĉius, P., Stępniowska, A., Jurczak, P., & Ognik, K. (2021). The Effect of Administration of a Phytobiotic Containing Cinnamon Oil and Citric Acid on the Metabolism, Immunity, and Growth Performance of Broiler Chickens. *Animals*, *11*(2), 399. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11020399

Kumar, M., Tomar, M., Punia, S., Dhakane-Lad, J., Dhumal, S., Changan, S., Senapathy, M., Berwal, M.K., Sampathrajan, V., Sayed, A.A., & Chandran, D. (2022). Plant-based proteins and their multifaceted industrial applications. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft &Technologie*, *154*, 112620. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.lwt.2021.112620

Kumari, N., Kumar, M., Mekhemar, M., Lorenzo, J.M., Pundir, A., Devi, K.B., Prakash, S., Puri, S., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., & Rais, N. (2022). Therapeutic uses of wild plant species used by rural inhabitants of Kangra in the western Himalayan region. *South*

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Kaaviya et al.

African Journal of Botany, 148, 415-436. https://doi.org/10.3390/ horticulturae7100343

Kuralkar, P., & Kuralkar, S. V. (2021). Role of herbal products in animal production – An updated review. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2021.114246.

Lee, K.W., Everts, H., Kappert, H., Frehner, M., Losa, R., & Beynen, A. (2003). Effects of dietary essential oil components on growth performance, digestive enzymes and lipid metabolism in female broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*, *44*, 450–457. https://doi.org/10.1080/0007166031000085508

Lee, S.A., Apajalahti, J., Vienola, K., González-Ortiz, G., Fontes, C.M.G.A., & Bedford, M.R. (2017). Age and dietary xylanase supplementation affect ileal sugar residues and short chain fatty acid concentration in the ileum and caecum of broiler chickens. *Animal Feed Science & Technology*, 234, 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.07.017

Lillehoj, H.S., Kim, D.K., Bravo, D.M., & Lee, S.H. (2011). Effects of dietary plant-derived phytonutrients on the genome-wide profiles and coccidiosis resistance in the broiler chickens. *BMC Proceedings*, 5(4), 1–8.

Lin, C.C., Wu, S.J., Chang, C.H., & Ng, L.T. (2003). Antioxidant activity of *Cinnamomum cassia*. *Phytotherapy Research*, *17*, 726–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1190

Mandal, S., Van Treuren, W., White, R.A., Eggesbø, M., Knight, R., & Peddada, S.D. (2015). Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, *26*(1), 27663. http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/mehd.v26.27663

Marongiu, B., Piras, A., & Porcedda, S. (2007). Supercritical CO2 extract of Cinnamomum zeylanicum: chemical characterization and antityrosinase activity. *Journal of Agriculture & Food Chemistry*, 55(24), 10022-10027. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf071938f

Mehdi, Y., Létourneau-Montminy, M.P., Gaucher, M.L., Chorfi, Y., Suresh, G., Rouissi, T., Brar, S.K., Côté. C., Ramirez, A.A., & Godbout, S. (2018). Use of antibiotics in broiler production: Global impacts and alternatives. *Animal Nutrition*, *4*, 170–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2018.03.002

Mehdipour, Z., & Afsharmanesh, M. (2018). Evaluation of synbiotic and cinnamon (*Cinnamomumverum verum*) as antibiotic growth promoter substitutions on growth performance, intestinal microbial populations and blood parameters in Japanese quail. *Journal of Livestock Science & Technology*, *6*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.22103/jlst.2018.10558.1200

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Mehdipour, Z., Afsharmanesh, M., & Sami, M. (2013). Effects of dietary synbiotic and cinnamon (*Cinnamonum verum*) supplementation on growth performance and meat quality in Japanese quail. *Livestock Science*, *154*, 152–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2013.03.014

Mitra, S., da Silva, L.E., Tuli, HS, & Dhama, K. (2022). Potential health benefits of dietary *Curcuma longa* (turmeric) supplementation on health and production of poultry: A Minireview. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, *99*(2), 7-13.

Mountzouris, K., Paraskevas, V., Tsirtsikos, P., Palamidi, I., Steiner, T., Schatzmayr, G., & Fegeros, K. (2011). Assessment of a phytogenic feed additive effect on broiler growth performance, nutrient digestibility and caecal microflora composition. *Animal Feed* Science Technology, 168, 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.03.020

Mueller, K., Blum, N.M., Kluge, H., & Mueller, A.S. (2012). Influence of broccoli extract and various essential oils on performance and expression of xenobiotic-and antioxidant enzymes in broiler chickens. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *108*, 588–602. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511005873

Naderi, M., Akbari, M., Asadi-Khoshoei, E., Khaksar, K., & Khajali, F. (2014). Effects of dietary inclusion of turmeric (*Curcuma longa*) and cinnamon (*Cinnamomum verum*) Powders on performance, organs relative weight and some immune system parameters in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science Journal*, *2*, 153–163.

Najafi, S., & Taherpour, K. (2014). Effects of dietary ginger (*Zingiber Officinale*), cinnamon (*Cinnamomum* verum), synbiotic and antibiotic supplementation on performance of broilers. *Journal of Animal Science Advances*, *4*, 658–667.

Nawab, A., Ibtisham, F., Li, G., Kieser, B., Wu, J., Liu, W., Zhao, Y., Nawab, Y., Li, K., & Xiao, M. (2018), Heat stress in poultry production: Mitigation strategies to overcome the future challenges facing the global poultry industry. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 78, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.08.010

Nonaka, I.G., Morimoto, S., & Nishioka, I. (1983). Tannins and related compounds. Part 13. Isolation and structures of trimeric, tetrameric, and pentameric proanthicyanidins from cinnamon. *Journal of Chemical Society*, *I*, 2139-2145. https://doi.org/10.1039/P19830002139

Oakley, B.B., Lillehoj, H.S., Kogut, M.H., Kim, W.K., Maurer, J.J., Pedroso, A., Lee, M.D., Collett, S.R., Johnson, T.J., & Cox, N.A. (2014). The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *360*(2), pp.100-112. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12608

458

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

Ouwehand, A.C., Tiihonen, K., Kettunen, H., Peuranen, S., Schulze, H., & Rautonen, N. (2010). *In vitro* effects of essential oils on potential pathogens and beneficial members of the normal microbiota. *Veterinary Medicine*, *55*, 71–78. https://doi.org/ 10.17221/152/2009-VETMED

Pannee, C., Chandhanee, I., & Wacharee, L. (2014). Antiinflammatory effects of essential oil from the leaves of *Cinnamomum cassia* and cinnamaldehyde on lipopolysaccharidestimulated J774A.1 cells. *Journal of Advances in Pharmacology & Technology Research*, 5, 164–170. https://doi.org/ 10.4103%2F2231-4040.143034

Parham, S., Kharazi, A. Z., Bakhsheshi-Rad, H. R., Nur, H., Ismail, A. F., Sharif, S., RamaKrishna, S., & Berto, F. (2020). Antioxidant, Antimicrobial and Antiviral Properties of Herbal Materials. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(12), 1309. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9121309

Pathak, M., Mandal, G.P., Patra, A.K., Samanta, I., Pradhan, S., & Haldar, S. (2017). Effects of dietary supplementation of cinnamaldehyde and formic acid on growth performance, intestinal microbiota and immune response in broiler chickens. *Animal Production Science*, *57*, 821–827. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN15816

Platel, K., & Srinivasan, K. (2004). Digestive stimulant action of spices: A myth or reality? *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, *119*, 167-79.

Prakash, G., Savanth V, V., M, P., Chopra, H., Emran, T. B., Dey, A., Dhama, K., & Chandran, D. (2022). Essential oils as valuable feed additive: A narrative review of the state of knowledge about their beneficial health applications and enhancement of production performances in poultry. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *10*(6), 1290–1317. https://doi.org/10.18006/2022.10(6).1290.1317

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Kumari, N., Prakash, S., Rathour, S., Thakur, M., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., Ali, M., Pundir, A., & Puri, S. (2021b). Therapeutic uses of wild plants by rural inhabitants of Maraog region in district Shimla, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*. 7(10), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/ horticulturae7100343

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Pundir, A., Puri, S., Prakash, S., Kumari, N., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., & Ali, M. (2021a). Documentation of commonly used ethnoveterinary medicines from wild plants of the high mountains in Shimla District, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*, 7(10) 351. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7100351

Rajan, A., Shabana, A., Krishnan, N., N Anil, K., Krishnan, R., Y, B. S., S Dev, B., J, A., S, M., V R, A., Chakraborty, S., Chopra, H.,

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Dey, A., Sharma, A. K., Dhama, K., & Chandran, D. (2023). Positive impacts of integrating flaxseed meal as a potential feed supplement in livestock and poultry production: Present scientific understanding. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *11*(2), 264–279. https://doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(2).264.279

Rajan, N. S., Raida, V K, S., Suresh, S., P S, H., P, S., M, P., R, P., Yatoo, M. I., Chopra, H., Emran, T. B., Dey, A., Dhama, K., & Chandran, D. (2022). Potential effects of essential oils in safeguarding the health and enhancing production performance of livestock animals: The current scientific understanding. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *10*(6), 1222– 1240. https://doi.org/10.18006/2022.10(6).1222.1240

Rao, P.V., Jayaprakasha, G.K., & Gan, S.H. (2014). Cinnamon: a multifaceted medicinal plant. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/642942

Rashid, Z., Mirani, ZA, Zehra, S., Gilani, S.M.H., Ashraf, A., Azhar, A., Al-Ghanim, K.A., Al-Misned, F., Al-Mulahim, N., & Mahboob, S. (2020). Enhanced modulation of gut microbial dynamics affecting body weight in birds triggered by natural growth promoters administered in conventional feed. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 27, 2747–2755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.06.027

Redondo, L.M., Chacana, P.A., Dominguez, J.E., & Fernandez, M.M.E. (2014). Perspectives in the use of tannins as alternative to antimicrobial growth promoter factors in poultry. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *5*, 118. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00118

Saeed, M., Kamboh, A.A., Syed, S.F., Babazadeh, D., Suheryani, I., Shah, Q.A., Umar, M., Kakar, I., Naveed, M., Abd El-Hack, M.E., & Alagawany, M. (2018). Phytochemistry and beneficial impacts of cinnamon (Cinnamonum zeylanicum) as a dietary supplement in poultry diets. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 74(2), 331-346. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043933918000235

Saeed, S., Rashid, N., Jones, P.G., Ali, M., & Hussain, R. (2010). Synthesis, characterization and biological evaluation of some thiourea derivatives bearing benzothiazole moiety as potential antimicrobial and anticancer agents. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 45(4), 1323-1331. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ejmech.2009.12.016

Saied, A.M., Attia, A.I., El-Kholy, M.S., Reda, F.M., & EL Nagar, A.G. (2022). Effect of cinnamon oil supplementation into broiler chicken diets on growth, carcass traits, haemato-biochemical parameters, immune function, antioxidant status and caecal microbial count. *Journal of Animal Feed Science*, *31*(1), 21–33.

Sang-Oh, P., Chae, M.R., Byung-Sung, P., & Jong, H. (2013). The meat quality and growth performance in broiler chickens fed diet

460

with cinnamon powder. Journal of Environmental Biology, 34, 127-133.

Seidavi, A., Tavakoli, M., Asroosh, F., Scanes, C.G., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Naiel, M.A.E., Taha, A.E., Aleya, L., El-Tarabily, K.A., & Swelum, A.A. (2022) Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of phytonutrients as antibiotic substitutes in poultry feed. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. 29(4), 5006-5031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17401-w

Senanayake, M.U., Lee, H.T., & Wills, R.B.H. (1978). Volatile constituents of cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) oils. *Journal of Agriculture & Food Chemistry*, 26(4), 822-824. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60218a031

Shirzadegan, K. (2014). Reactions of modern broiler chickens to administration of cinnamon powder in the diet. *Iranian Journal of Applied Animal Science*, *4*, 367–371.

Sim sek, Ü.G., Ciftci, M., Do'gan, G., & Özçelik, M. (2013). Antioxidant activity of cinnamon bark oil (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum L.*) in Japanese quails under thermo neutral and heat stressed conditions. *Kafkas University Veterinary Journal*, *19*, 889–894. https://doi.org/10.9775/KVFD.2013.9049

Sim sek, Ü.G., Ciftci, M., Özçelik, M., Azman, M.A., Tonbak, F., & Özhan, N. (2015). Effects of cinnamon and rosemary oils on egg production, egg quality, hatchability traits and blood serum mineral contents in laying quails (*Coturnixcoturnix japonica*). *Ankara University Veterinary Journal*, *62*, 229–236.

Singh, G., Maurya, S., Cesar, M.P., & Catalan, A.M. (2007). A comparison of chemical, antioxidant and antimicrobial studies of cinnamon leaf and bark volatile oils, oleoresins and their constituents. *Food Chemistry Toxicology*, *45*, 1650-1661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007.02.031

Solanki, D.M., Dave, C.J., Bhanderi, B.B., Sheth, A.L., & Ghodasara, D.J. (2022). Effect of cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) Essential Oil as an alternative to Antibiotic Growth Promoter in Broilers. *Indian Journal of Veterinary Sciences & Biotechnology*, 18(4), 73–80. https://doi.org/10.48165/ijvsbt.18.4.16.

Swain, R.K., Chowdhury, B., & Rao, M.B. (2014). Analgesic Activity of Hydroalcoholic Extract of Cinnamomum zeylanicum Bark in Albino Rats. *Journal of Current Pharma Research*, 7(1), 2003-2009.

Symeon, G.K., Athanasiou, A., Lykos, N., Charismiadou. M.A., Goliomytis, M., Demiris, N., Ayoutanti, A., Simitzis, P.E., & Deligeorgis, S.G. (2014). The effects of dietary cinnamon (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum*) oil supplementation on broiler feeding behaviour, growth performance, carcass traits and meat quality

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org characteristics. Annals in Animal Science, 14, 883–895. https://doi.org/10.2478/aoas-2014-0047

Taback, M., Armon, R., & Neeman, I. (1999). Cinnamon extracts inhibitory effect on *Helicobacter pylori*. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 67, 269-277.

Tabatabaei, S.M., Badalzadeh, R., Mohammadnezhad, G.R., & Balaei, R. (2015). Effects of Cinnamon extract on biochemical enzymes, TNF-± and NF-°B gene expression levels in liver of broiler chickens inoculated with *Escherichia coli. Pesqui Veterinária Brasilica*, *35*, 781–787. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-736X2015000900003

Thirumalaisamy, R., Jayanthi, B., Rathika, R., & Selvankumar, T. (2008). Spontaneous emulsification techniques of green/food grade nanoemulsions. In *Bio-Based Nanoemulsions for Agri-Food Applications* (pp. 137-152). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89846-1.00001-2

Tiihonen, K., Kettunen, H., Bento, M.H., Saarinen, M., Lahtinen, S., Ouwehand, A.C., Schulze, H., & Rautonen, N. (2010). The effect of feeding essential oils on broiler performance and gut microbiota. *British Poultry Science Journal*, *51*, 381–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2010.496446

Tiwari, R., Latheef, S.K., Ahmed, I., Iqbal, H.M.N., Bule, M.H., Dhama, K., Samad, H.A., Karthik, K., Alagawany, M., El-Hack, M.E.A., Yatoo, M.I., & Farag, M.R. (2018). Herbal immunomodulators - A remedial panacea for designing and developing effective drugs and medicines: current scenario and future prospects. *Current Drug Metabolism*, *19*(3), 264-301. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389200219666180129125436.

Toghyani, M., Gheisari, A., Ghalamkari, G., & Eghbalsaied, S. (2011). Evaluation of cinnamon and garlic as antibiotic growth promoter substitutions on performance, immune responses, serum biochemical and haematological parameters in broiler chicks. *Livestock Science*, *138*, 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2010.12.018.

Torki, M. Akbari, M., & Kaviani, K. (2015). Single and combined effects of zinc and cinnamon essential oil in diet on productive performance, egg quality traits, and blood parameters of laying hens reared under cold stress condition. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, *59*, 1169–1177.

Tung, Y.T., Chua, M.T., Wang, S.Y., & Chang, S.T. (2008). Antiinflammation activities of essential oil and its constituents from indigenous cinnamon (Cinnamomum osmophloeum) twigs. *Bioresource Technology*, *99*(9), 3908-3913. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2007.07.050

Cinnamon as a Potential Feed Additive: Beneficial Effects on Poultry Health and Production Performances - An Update

461

Uddin, T.M., Chakraborty, A.J., Khusro, A., Zidan, B.R.M., Mitra, S., Emran, T.B., Dhama, K., Ripon, M.K.H., Gajdács, M., Sahibzada, M.U.K., Hossain, M.J., & Koirala, N. (2021). Antibiotic resistance in microbes: History, mechanisms, therapeutic strategies and future prospects. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, *14*(12), 1750-1766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2021.10.020

Upadhyaya, I., Upadhyay, A., Kollanoor-Johny, A., Mooyottu, S., Baskaran, S.A., Yin, H.B., Schreiber, D.T., Khan, M.I., Darre, M.J., Curtis, P.A., & Venkitanarayanan, K. (2015). In-feed supplementation of trans-cinnamaldehyde reduces layer-chicken egg-borne transmission of Salmonella enterica serovar enteritidis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *81*(9), 2985-2994. https://doi.org/10.1128%2FAEM.03809-14

Vangalapati, M., Satya, N.S., Prakash, D.V.S., & Avanigadda, S. (2012). A review on pharmacological activities and clinical effects of cinnamon species. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical Biological & Chemical Sciences*, *3*: 653-663. https://www.rjpbcs.com/pdf/2012_3(1)/80.pdf

Windisch, W., Schedle, K., Plitzner, C., & Kroismayr, A. (2008). Use of phytogenic products as feed additives for swine and poultry. *Animal Science Journal*, 86, E140–E148. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-0459

Yadav, A.S., Kolluri, G., Gopi, M., Karthik, K., Malik, Y.S., & Dhama, K. (2016). Exploring alternatives to antibiotics as health promoting agents in poultry- a review. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, 4(3s), 368-383. http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2016.4(3S).368.383

Yang, C., Diarra, M. S., Choi, J., Rodas-Gonzalez, A., Lepp, D., Liu, S., Lu, P., Mogire, M., Gong, J., Wang, Q., & Yang, C. (2021). Effects of encapsulated cinnamaldehyde on growth performance, intestinal digestive and absorptive functions, meat quality and gut microbiota in broiler chickens. *Translational Animal Science*, 5(3), txab099. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txab099

Yang, C., Kennes, Y. M., Lepp, D., Yin, X., Wang, Q., Yu, H.,

Yang, C., Gong, J., & Diarra, M. S. (2020). Effects of encapsulated cinnamaldehyde and citral on the performance and cecal microbiota of broilers vaccinated or not vaccinated against coccidiosis. *Poultry science*, *99*(2), 936–948. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2019.10.036

Yang, Y.F., Zhao, L.L., Shao, Y.X., Liao, X.D., Zhang, L.Y., Lu, L., & Luo, X.G. (2019). Effects of dietary graded levels of cinnamon essential oil and its combination with bamboo leaf flavonoid on immune function, antioxidative ability and intestinal microbiota of broilers. *Journal of Integrated Agriculture*, *18*, 2123–2132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62566-9

Yin, Y., Lei, F., Zhu, L., Li, S., Wu, Z., Zhang, R., Gao, G.F., Zhu, B., & Wang, X. (2010). Exposure of different bacterial inocula to newborn chicken affects gut microbiota development and ileum gene expression. *The ISME Journal*, *4*, 367–376.

Zaefarian, F., Abdollahi, M. R., Cowieson, A., & Ravindran, V. (2019). Avian Liver: The Forgotten Organ. *Animals*, 9(2), 63. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9020063

Zebeaman, M., Tadesse, M. G., Bachheti, R. K., Bachheti, A., Gebeyhu, R., & Chaubey, K. K. (2023). Plants and Plant-Derived Molecules as Natural Immunomodulators. *BioMed research international*, 2023, 7711297. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/7711297

Zeng, Z., Zhang, S., Wang, H., & Piao, X. (2015). Essential oil and aromatic plants as feed additives in non-ruminant nutrition: A review. *Journal of Animal Science & Biotechnology*, *6*, 7.

Zhai, H., Liu, H., Wang, S., Wu, J., & Kluenter, A.M. (2018). Potential of essential oils for poultry and pigs. *Animal Nutrition*, *4*, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.005

Zhu, C., Yan, H., Zheng, Y., Santos, H.O., Macit, M.S., & Zhao, K. (2020). Impact of cinnamon supplementation on cardiometabolic biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Complementary & Therapeutic Medicine*, *53*, 102517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102517.





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Potential benefits of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* (Liquorice) herb, its chemical make-up and significance in safeguarding poultry health: Current scientific knowledge

Varada Arun N V^{1†}, Adita Anil^{1†}, Baby Shajini Y^{1†}, Deepika Krishnan¹, Bhadra S Dev¹, Akhil P R¹, Athulya K G¹, Krishnapriya N Anil¹, Sravan Ganesh¹, Prithvi S¹, Ravikumar K², Sandip Chakraborty³, Hitesh Chopra⁴, Shopnil Akash⁵, Ruhul Amin⁶, Abhijit Dey⁷, Anil K Sharma⁸, Mahmoud Alagawany⁹, Kuldeep Dhama^{10*}, Deepak Chandran^{11†*}

¹Amrita School of Agricultural Sciences, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu-642109, India

²Centre for Conservation of Natural Resources, The University of Trans-disciplinary Health Sciences and Technology, Foundation for Revitalisation of Local Health Traditions, Bangalore, Karnataka - 560064, India

³Department of Veterinary Microbiology, College of Veterinary Sciences and Animal Husbandry, R.K. Nagar, West Tripura, Tripura-799008, India

⁴Department of Biosciences, Saveetha School of Engineering, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Chennai – 602105, Tamil Nadu, India

⁵Faculty of Allied Health Science, Department of Pharmacy, Daffodil International University, Daffodil smart city, Ashulia, Savar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh

⁶Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Assam down town University, Panikhaiti, Gandhinagar, Guwahati, Assam-781026, India

⁷Department of Life Sciences, Presidency University, 86/1 College Street, Kolkata-700073, West Bengal, India

⁸Department of Biotechnology, Maharishi Markandeshwar University (Deemed to be University) Mullana-Ambala-133207, Haryana, India

⁹Poultry Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Zagazig University, Zagazig 44511, Egypt

¹⁰Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Bareilly, Izatnagar, Uttar Pradesh – 243122, India

¹¹Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Kerala, India

[†]Authors contributed equally

Received – May 25, 2023; Revision – June 28, 2023; Accepted – June 30, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).462.478

KEYWORDS	ABSTRACT
Glycyrrhiza glabra	Positive results have been seen when bioactive components from herbal plants are added to poultry diets. Efficacy in feeding, digestion of nutrients, antioxidant health, immunological indices, and other factors can
Liquorice	all be improved with the help of these additives, which in turn increases growth rates and improves poultry welfare. Several researchers have used sophisticated herbal formulae that included <i>Glycyrrhiza glabra</i>
Therapeutic benefits	(Liquorice) as an ingredient. Epidemic illnesses, mainly in the respiratory, digestive, and immunological
Pharmaceutical	systems, pose the greatest threat to the poultry business. Flavonoids and glycyrrhizin are two of the bioactive compounds in Liquorice. The roots of this plant contain glycyrrhizin at concentrations of 1-9%, which has numerous pharmacological benefits, including anti-infectious, antioxidant, antiviral,

* Corresponding author

E-mail: drdeepakchandran24@gmail.com (Deepak Chandran); kdhama@rediffmail.com (Kuldeep Dhama)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



Poultry

Health

and anti-inflammatory properties. Liquorice extracts are helpful in the treatment of multiple common illnesses. These include problems with the liver, the lungs, and the immunological system. Adding Liquorice to chicken diets improves their productivity in several ways, including fostering organ growth and stimulating digestion and appetite. Liquorice has many beneficial effects on birds, including helping them grow larger bodies, cleansing their systems, and protecting them from free radicals, bacteria, and inflammation. In this article, we'll look at the chemical make-up of liquorice herb, its role in protecting poultry health, and its recent applications and benefits.

1 Introduction

In developing countries like India, the majority of people make their living in agriculture and related industries. Although the agricultural sector's share of India's economy is shrinking, it disproportionately impacts country's workforce the disproportionately. As a result of rising costs and uneconomical holdings, farming in the country has become unprofitable, notwithstanding the country's impressive achievements in food production (Chandran 2021; Buttar et al. 2022; Chandran et al. 2022; Mitra et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2023). Farmers must therefore rely on unrelated industries such as animal husbandry, dairy farming, poultry industry, and milk manufacturing. Due to its low investment cost and short gestation period, poultry farming has emerged as a key industry in India, with the potential to spur rapid economic growth and assist people experiencing poverty. Backyard poultry also helps the poorest of the poor generate more revenue and feed their families (Kaur et al. 2009; Sheikh et al. 2018; Chandran 2021; Egorov et al. 2021; Prakash et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2023).

Plants and medicinal herbs possess several useful potentials in protecting the health of humans, animals and poultry and increasing production in animals and poultry (Hartady et al. 2021; El-Sabrout et al. 2023; Zebeaman et al. 2023). These are a rich source of essential nutrients and play critical roles as immunomodulators, antioxidants, antimicrobials, and also as alternative and supportive (adjunctive) to antibiotics under the present evolving menace of emerging antimicrobial drug resistance (Dhama et al. 2014; Dhama et al. 2015b; Yadav et al., 2016; Dhama et al. 2018; Tiwari et al. 2018; Kuralkar and Kuralkar 2021; Uddin et al. 2021; Parham et al. 2020). Medicinal plants have been traditionally used for many years to treat and prevent illness in animals and poultry and have shown promising beneficial, scientifically evidenced impacts in recent times (Verma and Singh 2008; Abdelli et al. 2021; Dhama et al. 2015a; Kuralkar and Kuralkar 2021; Chandran et al. 2022; Seidavi et al. 2022; El-Sabrout et al. 2023). Phytobiotics have been shown to improve growth, gastrointestinal health, antioxidant action, nutrient absorption, and immunity and decrease diarrheal syndrome in poultry (Prakash et al. 2021a; Rafiq et al. 2022). Herbal remedies are frequently employed in the industry. In particular, small- and medium-scale farmers often rely on traditional treatments derived from plants rather than synthetic pharmaceuticals. Alkaloids, saponins, flavonoids, phenols, and tannins are only a few examples of the phytochemicals found in medicinal plants that give them therapeutic properties and make them inexpensive. Despite the advances in modern medicine, many Indian farmers still rely on traditional herbal treatments for poultry health (Egrov et al. 2021; Prakash et al. 2021a; Prakash et al. 2021b; Kumar et al. 2022; Kumari et al. 2022; Rajan et al. 2023).

Glycyrrhiza glabra Linn (Liquorice or licorice) is one of the most used herbs in Ayurvedic medicine (Jatav et al. 2011). It is also most often traditionally used medicine in Europe and China for long before (Zhou et al. 2019). Glycyrrhiza glabra, commonly called Liquorice or sweetwood or Mulaithi, is a medicine and a flavouring agent. The host's metabolism and immune system are improved using Liquorice, mainly used to treat oral, gastrointestinal, and liver problems. The blood testosterone level of women is lowered by its use, and aplastic anemia is helped by it. It is also a herbal medicine for gastritis and respiratory tract infections. Immunodeficiency illnesses, such as acute immunodeficiency syndrome, are also treatable with liquorice extract, which has been used for years to treat autoimmune conditions (Kaur et al. 2013; Sharma and Agrawal 2013). There are both estrogenic and anti-estrogenic properties in licorice root. According to research conducted by Kaur et al. (2013), this plant is also effective in treating hormone-related issues in females.

Glycyrrhiza, the genus from which Liquorice comes, is a family of roughly fourteen species. The roots of this plant have been used medicinally for more than 4000 years. As Ajaib et al. (2013) reported, *G. glabra* is a plant whose roots treat genito-urinary conditions due to their tonic, demulcent, laxative, and emollient properties. Roots of the glycyrrhiza plant are used to alleviate a cough due to their demulcent and expectorant qualities. Liquorice roots, when chewed fresh, have multiple uses as a breath mint which helps in teething, and make whiten teeth. Liquorice root is a popular supplement for treating gastrointestinal issues, menopausal symptoms, and bacterial infections in modern times. Liquorice tea is also used to cure a sore throat, and topical gels help with skin issues such as acne and eczema. Liquorice leaves when used fresh, work as a natural antiseptic for cuts and scrapes. It is also used to deal with conditions like diabetes, stomach ulcers, Addison's

463

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

464

disease, renal issues, and infections caused by bacteria and viruses. Increasing oxygen and nutrition delivery to the scalp helps hair grow from its base. Diarrhea, fever, fever with delirium, and anuria are all conditions that benefit from their inclusion in therapeutic oils. Liquorice powder can also be found in desserts, ice creams, baked products, and soft drinks (Bala et al. 2021).

Numerous pharmacological benefits, including immunomodulatory, antioxidant, antiviral, and anti-inflammatory, have been ascribed to various bioactive components of Liquorice, such as glycyrrhizin and flavonoids (Farag et al. 2012). Liquorice, when added to poultry diets, promotes healthy organ development, boosting growth and productivity. Quails fed a diet containing 200 ppm of liquorice root extract and 1% probiotic gained more weight and muscle and consumed more feed than control quails (Gowthaman et al. 2021). Broiler hens with 2 g/kg of Liquorice in their feed or 0.3 g/l of licorice in their water had lower levels of abdominal fat. Alagawany et al. (2019a, b) found that laying hen performance improved when Liquorice was added to chicken diets at concentrations up to 0.5% before sexual maturity. Poultry birds fed Liquorice in drinking water at 1, 2, or 4 mg/ kg body weight saw an improvement in the flavor and aroma of their carcasses. The present review paper tried to outline the morphology of the plant, the chemical make-up of Liquorice, and the therapeutic and pharmacological effects of Liquorice on poultry.

2 Characterization of plant

Glycyrrhiza glabra L. (Figure 1) belongs to the Fabaceae family (Sheidai et al. 2008). Nearly 30 different species of *Glycyrrhiza*

Varada Arun et al.

have been identified, and even within the G. glabra species, there are many different cultivars. Some examples include G. glabravar typica, which grows in horizontal stolons and has brown bark, similar characteristics have been reported for G. glabra glandulifera and G. glabravar violaceae (Nomura et al. 2002; Martins et al. 2016). G. glabra is a perennial herb that can reach a height of 2.5 meters. Pinnately complex leaves accompany the purple or white flowers. The fruit is oblong, and it's filled with seeds. About 1.5cm in length, the taproot branches out into smaller, 1.25cm long roots, from which the woody stolons emerge. Together with the root, they make up commercial Liquorice and can grow to 8 meters when dried and cut. Root fragments break apart fibrously, exposing a yellowish core with a distinct odor and flavor. The flower spikes on this plant resemble peas and are around 10 to 15 centimetres long. You can find purple, white, and yellow spikes. Narrow, papilionaceous flowers in shades of lavender and violet bloom on spikes in the plant's axils. The calyx is covered in glandular hairs in short and campanulate, with lanceolate apexes (Kaur et al. 2013).

Pinnately complex leaves with 9–17 oblong to lanceolate leaflets arranged in pairs on the stem. The flowers are tiny and range in hue from purple to bluish-white, while the pods are flat and oblong to linear. The seeds are tiny and dark in color, with a diameter of around 2.5 mm and a weight of 6.2 g per thousand seeds. Up to 1.5 cm in length, the pod-like fruit is erect, glabrous, and pitted reticulately with 3–5 brown reniform seeds (Kaur et al. 2013). Using nitrogen-fixing bacteria in association with *G. glabra*, nitrogen may be extracted from the air. There is



Figure 1 Glycirrhiza glabra (Liquorice)

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Potential benefits of Glycyrrhiza glabra herb, its chemical make-up and significance in safeguarding poultry health

evidence that certain Mesorhizobium strains cause nodules on *G. glabra* and other *Glycyrrhiza* species. *Agrobacterium*, *Sinorhizobium*, *Rhizobium*, and *Paenibacillus* bacteria have also been found on rare occasions, although these bacteria are either not very effective at fixing nitrogen or are quite rare (Montonen et al. 2012).

3 Chemical composition and bioactive compounds of Liquorice

Liquorice has a wide variety of compounds like phytosterols, starch, sugars, amino acids, tannins, coumarins, choline, and vitamins (such as ascorbic acid/ vitamin C) (Alagawany et al. 2019a; Alagawany et al. 2019b). Liquorice root contains mainly glycyrrhizin as an active ingredient. The glycyrrhizinic acid content of a plant is highest in the primary root, then in the lateral roots, and finally in the above-ground sections of the plant, which are typically thrown away as garbage (Farag et al. 1984). An extract of liquorice root may contain as much as 25 percent glycyrrhizin. Magnesium, potassium, and calcium salts are also reported to be abundant in this substance, consisting of one molecule of glycyrrhetinic acid and two molecules of glucuronic acid. Since glycyrrhizin in liquorice extract (LE) is around 50 times sweeter than sucrose, it has been used instead of sucrose (Hayashi et al. 2009). Raw Liquorice comprises carbohydrates, fiber, protein, silica, and very little fat. In addition, liquorice root ash and moisture levels were measured at 7.70% and 6.80%, respectively. In addition, LE had a calcium level of 1720 mg/100 g and phosphorus content of 78 mg/100 g; its main amino acid components were proline, aspartate, alanine, and glutamic acid (Omer et al. 2014).

Table 1 Liquorice's bioactive constituents are responsible for many of its useful characteristics

Functional property	Bioacitve constituents
Antioxidant activity	Licochalone, Glabridin, Isoliquiritigenin, Licocoumarin
Anti-HIV	Glycyrrhizin
Anticancer activity	Glycyrrhetic acid, Glycyrrhizin
Antitussive activity	Glycyrrhizin
Antiulcer activity	Glabridin, glabrene, glycyrrhizinic acid
Analgesic and uterine relaxant	Isoliquiritigenin
Antihyper glycemic activity	18-β-glycyrrhetinic acid, glycyrrhizin
Memory enhancer	Glabridin
Antimycobacterial activity	Glabridin
Antiviral activity	Glycyrrhizin, licochalcones, glycyrrhetinic acid
Corticosteroid activity	18-β-glycyrrhetinic acid
Hepatocellular carcinoma	Glycyrrhizin
Antithrombin activity	Glycyrrhizin, isoliquiritin
Estrogenic activity	Glabrene, liquiritigenin
Antimycobacterial activity	Glabrene, liquiritigenin
Chronic hepatitis C	Glycyrrhizin
Spasmolytic	Liquirtin
Muscle relaxant	Rhamnoglucoside
Hepatoprotective activity	Glycyrrhizin
Anti-allergic activity	8-β-glycyrrhetinic acid, liquiritigenin, glycyrrhizin
Immunostimulatory activity	Glycyrrhetinic acid
Anti-inflammatory activity	Liquiritoside, Lichochalcone A, glycyrrhetic acid
Antioxidant activity	Licochalcone, glabridin, licocoumarin
	Functional propertyAntioxidant activityAntioxidant activityAnti-HIVAnticancer activityAntitussive activityAntilucer activityAntiulcer activityAnalgesic and uterine relaxantAntihyper glycemic activityMemory enhancerAntimycobacterial activityCorticosteroid activityHepatocellular carcinomaAntithrombin activityEstrogenic activityAntimycobacterial activityChronic hepatitis CSpasmolyticMuscle relaxantHepatoprotective activityAnti-allergic activityAnti-allergic activityAnti-inflammatory activityAntioxidant activity

Source: Kaur et al. (2013); Alagawany et al. (2019a,b); Prakash et al. (2021a): Prakash et al. (2021b): Kumari et al. (2022); Reda et al. (2021)

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org 465

466

Varada Arun et al.

Liquorice has been analyzed and contains bioactive components like saponins, flavonoids, and triterpenes (Farag et al. 2012). Liquorice's distinctively pleasant flavour originates in its saponin content. Because of variations in processing, geographical origin, and harvesting techniques, the concentration of these chemicals can range widely. Liquorice root also contains 49 phenolic compounds and 15 distinct saponins. Liquorice gets its distinctive yellow hue from a variety of flavonoids. Some of the essential flavonoids are the and glycoside liquiritigenin (4',7-dihydroxyflavanone) isoliquiritigenin (2',4,4'-tri-hydroxychalcone) found in liquiriti fruit. Root dry weight typically contains between 0.08 to 0.35% glabridin, the primary isoflavone (Wang et al. 2015; Rizzato et al. 2017). Stilbene derivatives from liquorice leaves and derivatives of caffeic acid esters are two examples of chemicals that have been isolated in trace levels. In addition to fatty acids and phenols (guaiacol), saturated linear gamma-lactones have been isolated (Martins et al. 2016).

Many people utilize Liquorice for its ethnopharmacological uses. Moreover, the antioxidant and anti-tumour activities of Liquorice and the compounds derived from it have made their use widespread. 2.5% glycyrrhizin is estimated to be included in at least 71% of traditional Japanese Kampo remedies (Hayashi et al. 2009; Leite et al. 2022). Injectable and tablet (Glycyron) formulations of Liquorice are used in Japan as prescription drugs for treating various medical conditions. Many medications contain liquorice extracts, and one derivative of glycyrrhetinic acid, 3- β -O-hemisuccinate, is currently on the market for medical usage (Petropoulos et al. 2016). Hepatitis A and C, Human Immunodeficiency Virus, Herpes Zoster, Herpes simplex, and Cytomegalovirus are only some of the RNA and DNA viruses that have been proven to be inhibited by glycyrrhizin and glycyrrhizic acid. Pseudoaldosterone syndrome is brought on by glycyrrhizin and its metabolites, which prevent aldosterone from metabolizing in the liver and reduce 5(beta) reductase activity. This research was conducted by Ajaib et al. (2013). Liquorice's bioactive components help the plant achieve many valuable effects, as in Table 1.

Methods for extracting bioactive compounds from Liquorice include supercritical carbon dioxide-assisted, microwave-assisted, ultrasound-assisted, and multistage counter-current extraction. Several of the proposed procedures employ potentially dangerous solvents in the liquid phase of the extraction process. Extraction yields are increased, and organic solvent usage is decreased when solid-liquid extraction technologies are used as opposed to traditional methods (Karkanis et al. 2018). Increased yields can be



Figure 2 Therapeutic and health benefits of Glycyrrhiza glabra supplementation in poultry

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

achieved in about 4-5 minutes of microwave-aided extraction of roots in an ethanol-water mixture, compared to the typical extraction time of 20-24 hours (Pan et al. 2016). The hazardous effects of chemical solvents can be reduced using supercritical carbon dioxide. More study is needed before the herbal business can use the supercritical extraction process, although it is more efficient and has fewer negative impacts on the environment than conventional methods (Hedayati and Ghoreishi 2016)

4 Beneficial effects of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* on poultry

Glycyrrhiza glabra, commonly known as Liquorice, has been valued for centuries due to its medicinal and therapeutic

characteristics (Karkanis et al. 2018). Glycyrrhizin, found in licorice root, is a triterpene saponin a thousand times sweeter than sucrose (Pastorino et al. 2018). The roots contain glycyrrhizin, a pharmacologically active compound with actions as diverse as antioxidant, antiviral, anti-infectious, and anti-inflammatory. Liquorice has been used to treat anything from mouth ulcers to arthritis, and it may even have anti-cancer, immune-modulating, antibacterial, detoxifying, and growth-promoting effects. Liquorice supplements, when fed to chickens, have been shown to improve productivity by promoting organ growth and stoking the animals' appetites and digestive fires (Alagawany et al. 2019a; Alagawany et al. 2019b). However, it also serves an essential role as a natural anticoccidial agent, with preliminary evidence suggesting that a

Category of poultry	Plant part and its dosage	Functional property	Results	References
Broilers	Liquorice extract (0.4 g/L in drinking water)	Immunomodulatory effect	Gains in body mass, feed consumption, and feed conversion ratio. Hypolipidemic, hypoglycemic, hepatoprotective, immunostimulant, and antioxidant properties are only few of the many biological activity demonstrated by licorice. The morphometric examination of various intestinal characteristics showed that the group supplemented with Liquorice at a dose of 0.4 gm/L had significantly longer and wider intestinal villi and a greater ratio of villi length to crypt depth than the other groups. Liquorice 0.4 gm/L enhanced the proportion of CD3+ T cells in the duodenum and ileum, relative to the control group. Superoxide dismutase and catalase mRNA expression, in addition to growth-related gene expression and lipid-metabolism-related gene expression, were all significantly upregulated in the liver in response to liquorice supplementation. By influencing the expression of genes involved in growth, lipid metabolism, and antioxidant activity, we found that liquorice supplementation improved the productivity of broiler chickens	Abo-Samaha et al. (2022)
Broilers	Liquorice extract (1 g/kg of diet)	Improves gut health and effective against <i>Campylobacter</i> <i>jejuni</i>	Lowered <i>Campylobacter jejuni</i> shedding from sick birds, boosted growth performance, and affected intestinal integrity maintenance.	Ibrahim et al. (2020)
Chicken		Effective against Mycoplasmosis	Reduced inflammation in the trachea and lungs after Mycoplasma infection. Inhibits Mycoplasma-induced inflammation and apoptosis by downregulating virulence genes (MMP2/MMP9) via the JNK and p38 signaling pathways. The findings suggest it has potential as an alternate antibiotic for the prevention of Mycoplasmosis infection.	Wang et al. (2022)
Japanese quails	Liquorice powder (750-1000 mg/kg diet)	Improves the gastrointestinal health	Resulted in significant decreases in total bacteria, coliforms, <i>E. coli</i> , and Salmonella. Benefits include optimizing performance, immunity, and antioxidant capacity while also preserving a balanced gut microbiome.	Reda et al. (2021)
Chickens	Liquorice extract (0.4% in drinking water)	Antioxidant property	Inhibit abdominal fat accumulation	Alagawany et al. (2021)

Table 2 Poultry specific studies incorporating the inclusion of Liquorice in feed

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org combination of *G. glabra* and *Echinacea purpurea* could be used to effectively combat coccidiosis in the poultry sector (Ghafouri et al. 2023). The beneficial effects of liquorice supplementation in poultry are depicted in Figure 2. Evidence from chicken-specific studies (Table 2) shows that *G. glabra* could play a significant effect if added to poultry feed.

5 Antimicrobial effect of Liquorice

The most widely studied pharmacological effects of licorice are its antiviral and antibacterial capabilities. Viral and other microbial infections have a substantial impact on a variety of diseases, especially in developing countries. Liquorice deserves more attention for its extraordinary qualities because of the importance of developing safe and effective antiviral or antibacterial medications. More than 20 triterpenoids and about 300 flavonoids can be found in liqorice. These active components are glabridin, glycyrrhizin, liquiritigenin, licochalcone E, licochalcone A, and 18- β -glycyrrhetinic acid (Wang et al. 2015).

6 Antibacterial effect

Various in-vitro studies have shown that methanolic extracts of Glycyrrhiza roots are significantly more effective than water extracts at inhibiting the growth of various bacteria, including Bacillus subtilis, Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato, Agrobacterium tumefaciens, and B. cereus. In a laboratory setting, it was discovered that Liquorice's ethanolic extract inhibited the growth of three different types of bacteria, including B. subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans (Gowthaman et al. 2021). Chloroform, ether, and acetone solvents are also used to extract active ingredients of Liquorice, and all these extracts showed antibacterial activity against both gram-positive (Staphylococcus aureus and B. subtilis) and gram-negative (P. aeruginosa and E. coli) bacteria (Nitalikar et al. 2010). The glycyrrhizic acid present in Liquorice is effective against P. aeruginosa bacteria (Chakotiya et al. 2016). Yeast and mould growth, lactic acid bacteria, and enterococci prevalence were not affected by five weeks of supplementation with different concentrations of Liquorice in Japanese quail. On the other hand, adding Liquorice to the diet drastically decreased the number of bacteria, particularly coliforms. The highest concentrations of the studied microorganisms were found in the control group that was not fed Liquorice (Alagawany et al. 2021).

7 Antiviral effect

There are 73 bioactive components and 91 potential targets from Liquorice's separated components. GL and 18-betaglycyrrhetinic acid (GA) are two triterpenoids that have been the subject of extensive research and have been found to have antiviral properties. Glycyrrhizin refers to a compound found primarily in liquorice roots. Numerous studies conducted in recent years have demonstrated GL's antiviral effectiveness. Introducing infectious anti-hepatitis C virus (HCV) particles into a cell was the precise point of attack for GL. Glycyrrhizin is also a potent antiviral agent, inhibiting the expression and replication of viruses by decreasing the adhesion force and stress experienced by viruses and decreasing the binding of HMGB1 to DNA. Fewer studies have been conducted on GA's antiviral activity than GL.

18-beta-glycyrrhetinic acid treatment, administered after virus entry, inhibited rotavirus replication. After viral adsorption, adding GA to infected cultures resulted in a 99% reduction in rotavirus yields. Both GA and GL have antiviral properties; however, they are different. Human respiratory syncytial virus (HRSV) and rotavirus do not match GA's antiviral properties. The mechanisms by which these chemicals fight viruses, however, are similar. GA prevents viruses from attaching to cells, slows their growth, and stimulates the activity of the host cells.

In vitro research on the herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) has demonstrated that aqueous extracts of liquorice roots have an antiherpetic effect. Possible mechanisms for this antiherpetic effect include G. glabra's role in blocking HSV attachment to host cells when in contact with the extract. G. glabra aqueous extract has an antiadhesive activity that prevents HSV-1 from sticking to Vero cells in vitro, and the virus can be inactivated. Evidence suggests that pigeons given LE are less likely to spread Paramyxovirus type 1 (Dziewulska et al. 2018). Glycyrrhizin is a powerful immune stimulant, and it has been shown to have significant antiviral effects against duck hepatitis virus (DHV) (Soufy et al. 2012). Newcastle disease virus (NDV) has also been demonstrated to be susceptible to inhibition by G. glabra extracts (Omer et al. 2014). Higher antibody titers against NDV and an increased cellular immunological response in broilers treated with glycyrrhizic acid at 60 g/mL drinking water were observed (Ocampo et al. 2016). In an in vivo antiviral study, G. glabra extract at a concentration of 300 g/mL was found to have significant antiviral efficacy against NDV. Compared to untreated embryonated eggs, those injected with NDV and afterwards treated with the herbal extract had a higher survival rate and no detectable virus in their allantoic fluids (Ashraf et al. 2017). The anti-flu properties of glycyrrhizin have also been demonstrated in laboratory studies. Contact between the virus and the cell membrane is essential for virus entry and results in decreased endocytotic activity and virus uptake (Wolkerstorfer et al. 2009). In addition to its effectiveness against the Hepatitis C virus, glycyrrhizin also has hepatoprotective properties by shielding the liver from oxidative damage.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

8 Antioxidant effect of Liquorice

Several mechanisms contribute to licorice's antioxidant and antiinflammatory effects: the mitochondria are protected from lipid peroxidation, free radicals are scavenged, antioxidant enzymes are activated, and the activity of phospholipase A2, a key player in many inflammatory processes, is suppressed by licorice extracts. Cellular oxidation is slowed by licochalcone A, but liquorice flavonoids trigger inflammation. The flavonoid NF-kB signaling pathway may be targeted by liquiritigenin, glycyrrhizic acid and liquiritin to inhibit the secretion of inflammatory cytokines; these compounds reduce the expression levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the liver. Glycyrrhizic acid reduces prostaglandin E2 synthesis and cyclooxygenase activity (Alagawany et al. 2019a, b), and it also has indirect effects on platelet aggregation and inflammatory markers. In addition, it was discovered that glycyrrhetinic acid's delayed release of cortisol might cause high oxidation levels and increased cardiac weight in chickens (Awadein et al. 2010).

The antioxidant effects of Liquorice have been studied extensively in the laboratory and on living organisms. Glabridin was determined to be the most powerful antioxidant out of seven substances found to have antioxidant properties against the oxidation of low-density-lipoproteins by Vaya et al. (1997). In a separate investigation, various liquorice species were tested for their ability to scavenge ABTS+ radicals and prevent lipid peroxidation. In particular, lipid peroxidation was dosedependently correlated with antioxidant activity (Fu et al., 2013; Gowthaman et al. 2021). Antioxidant feed levels for Japanese quails were also monitored in a separate experiment. Malondialdehyde, superoxide dismutase and total antioxidant capacity were shown to be significantly altered upon administration of Liquorice (Alagawany et al. 2021).

9 Immunomodulatory effect of Liquorice

Extracts of Liquorice have a beneficial effect on the immune systems of chickens. They can boost their immune system's response and increase their output with the help of this herb. Antibody titers against nonspecific and specific antigens were induced in the broilers by supplementing their diet with 0.1% liquorice extract. Liquorice root extract was augmented to the commercial broiler chicks to examine if it altered their immune profile. Total serum protein, albumin, globulin, as well as the albumin/globulin (A/G) ratio were estimated from three sets of chicks to characterize their biochemical status. This criterion divided the chicks into three groups: those given 1% of powdered *G. glabra* crude extract. Measures of humoral immunity included total and differential white blood cell (WBC) counts, hemagglutination (HA) inhibition titre against LaSota strain of

NDV, and HA titre against sheep red blood cells antigens. The results showed that chicks fed a powdered extract of 0.1% liquorice had markedly enhanced immune responses. Feed supplements made from natural ingredients are also used to boost immunity because they increase white blood cell counts and, in consequence, interferon levels. The laying hens' cellular immunity improved after LE (50 g/mL) was added to their diet. Strong immunological activity has been attributed to the glycyrrhiza polysaccharide, which is involved in numerous facets of immune regulation. The ability to phagocytose was also improved in chicken mononuclear cells and granulocytes after exposure to LE (Alagawany et al. 2019a,b).

Adding Liquorice to broilers' diet improved the animals' immunity and general health by increasing the weight of immune organs (Alexyuk et al. 2019). Immunomodulation and the production of interleukins by glycyrrhetinic acid promote the development of T cells, antibodies and IFN- γ (gamma interferon), all hinting at the compound's antiviral potential. Feeding broilers, LE did not affect the immune system (Alagawany et al. 2019a; Alagawany et al. 2019b). Liquorice's immunostimulatory, anti-inflammatory, and antimicrobial properties are because of the active components found in the herb. Glycyrrhiza polysaccharides (GPS) enhance both Th1 as well as Th2 responses by promoting IL-1β; IL-2; IL-4; and IFN-y expression while augmenting the proportion of both T helper cells and cytotoxic T cells in the gastrointestinal tract (Wu et al. 2022a). Not only these, but such polysaccharides also show an immune boosting effect in a dose-dependent manner which can augment immunity of the New Castle disease virus vaccine in chickens (Wu et al. 2022b). Ocampo et al. (2016) found that influencing humoral and cell-mediated immune responses can improve poultry immunity, reduce the likelihood of viral infections, and serve as an adjuvant treatment for existing viral disorders. The levels of immunological markers (IgG, IgM, and lysozyme) in Japanese quail that had been fed were measured in an experiment. While plasma lysozyme activity was comparable between groups, both IgM and IgG were significantly modified. These parameters were shown to be elevated after being given Liquorice (Alagawany et al., 2021).

10 Effect of Liquorice on growth performance

Feed intake increased at 21 and 42 days after adding 0.4% LE to the broilers' drinking water, but there was no change in body weight across the ages. It was discovered that feeding broilers an additional 1% LE in their base diet led to more significant gains in body weight and feed efficiency at 42 days compared to the control group. In addition, the output of heat-stressed broiler chickens was enhanced by LE. *G. glabra*-supplemented diet improved their growth performance by fostering organ growth. Additionally, 2.5 g/kg *G. glabra* added to broiler feed improved digestion and appetite. In addition, feeding up to

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

0.5% G. glabra to developing pullets enhanced their performance, leading to healthier, more productive hens later. Compared to untreated controls, broilers fed glycyrrhizic acid (60 g/mL in water) had higher final body weight, better FCR, and lower mortality. The feed consumption of laying hens was not significantly altered by supplementing the standard diet with 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, or 2.0% liquorice powder. Adding 5g of Liquorice per kilogram of broiler feed had no discernible effect on any of the abovementioned metrics, including feed intake, feed conversion rate, body weight, livability index, or productivity index. The addition of 0.1, 0.2, or 0.3 mg LE/L to the drinking water of broiler chicks did not affect the animals' body weight, feed intake, or feed efficiency as compared to the control group (Alagawany et al. 2019a; Alagawany et al. 2019b). It has been found that when the diet of broilers is supplemented with 600mg/kg of Glycyrrhiza polysaccharide, it shows an optimal effect on growth. In the poultry production industry, the polysaccharide can also be used as a feed additive (Zhao et al. 2023).

Japanese quail and broiler chickens have been the primary subjects of studies on the effects of adding liquorice root supplements to their diets, with the greatest benefits seen in the latter when the supplement was fed at a rate of 2.5g/kg. When LE was added to the drinking water of quails at concentrations of 100 mg and 450 mg/L, the birds gained more weight overall and at harvest. However, only male birds displayed these outcomes. Similar weight increases and lower FCR were observed in quails fed a combination of 200ppm LE and 1% probiotic. Feeding broiler chickens a variety of Liquorice and garlic has been proven to improve the birds' performance in terms of growth (Gowthaman et al. 2021). A considerable weight gain was observed in broiler chickens when aqueous LE was added to their drinking water (Beski et al. 2019). This was accompanied by no changes in the chickens' appetite, thirst, or feed consumption. The addition of Liquorice to broiler chickens, on the other hand, resulted in lower rates of feed consumption and lower rates of weight gain compared to the control group. Liquorice's flavonoids may help you lose weight by decreasing your body's appetite and cravings for fatty foods. As the herbal plants in a diet increase, the risk of nutritional imbalances and adverse effects on body metabolism rises. This has been linked to a decline in growth performance.

A study on 40-week-old hundred egg-laying hens found that diets supplemented with LE increased functional egg production and modulated laying hen productivity by decreasing egg cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) while increasing high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and total antioxidant capacity in plasma. Liquorice in feed or water has been demonstrated to improve poultry performance, carcass traits, and meat quality. Broiler chicks exposed to a high stocking density gained weight more quickly when given a probiotic and LE (500 ppm). Adding LE to broiler hens' drinking water is a viable alternative to giving them antibiotics to speed up their growth. The body weight increase of birds raised at high stocking density was stimulated by LE (500 ppm) but not by the feed conversion rate. Probiotics (200 ppm) were added, and the results improved even more.

Most research indicates that administering licorice root extract to broiler chickens has no discernible effect on the birds' body weight, feed consumption, or feed efficiency. Liquorice supplementation had a significant impact on body weight, daily body weight growth, daily feed consumption, and feed conversion rate in 3-week-old Japanese quail, and this effect persisted even after the feeding trial was over (5 weeks). At three weeks of age, the groups supplemented with 750 and 1000 mg/kg of Liquorice had the highest body weight, daily body weight growth and the lowest feed efficiency values. The most outstanding feed intake values were found in the groups that were given meals containing either 0 or 250 mg/kg of Liquorice. After five weeks, the group fed a diet containing 750 mg/kg of Liquorice had the highest body weight and fat-free mass values, while the groups fed diets containing 0 and 250 mg/kg of Liquorice had the lowest feed conversion rate values (Alagawany et al. 2021). Similarly, supplementing broiler chickens' diets with 2 and 3 g/kg of licorice extracts improved their physiological health and growth performance (Toson et al. 2023).

11 Effect of Liquorice on carcass quality and Yield

There is scanty published research on how feeding the licorice plant affects carcasses and meat quality. The hydrophobic flavonoids in the licorice, as reported by Moradi et al. (2017) and confirmed by Gowthaman et al. (2021), were responsible for the significant reduction in abdominal fat in broiler chicken that was supplemented with 0.3g of liquorice/L of water. While adding 0.45g liquorice extract/L water significantly reduced belly fat in broiler chickens, it did not affect the carcass output of birds raised in a heat-stressed environment. Broiler chickens given LE supplementation did not show any discernible changes in the relative weights of their internal organs (Sedghi et al. 2010; Moradi et al. 2014). Similarly, supplementing Japanese quail with 200 ppm, LE had no appreciable effect on the weights of their spleens or gizzards while leading to increased relative liver weights. In one study, supplementing Japanese quail with liquorice root extract considerably boosted the carcass yield percentage (Myandoab and Hosseini 2012); however, in another study, supplementing with LE had no significant potential effect on the carcass yield (Hosny et al. 2020). Beski et al. (2019) found no evidence that increasing

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

broiler chickens' drinking water with aqueous LE altered their organ weights, carcass cuts, visceral or intestine histomorphology. Liquorice supplementation led to a rise in organ weights (Rezaei et al. 2014). Liquorice supplements dramatically enhanced the bursa and spleen weight of broiler chickens, and immunological organs, according to Kalanter et al. (2017). Liquorice's antioxidant activity, which influences lipid and protein metabolism, has been associated with improved chicken carcass features and meat quality, as reported by Michaelis et al. (2011). Compound herbal additive B (CHAB) containing Liquorice apart from Atractylodes, Codonopsis pilosula and Poria cocos can cause an improvement in the quality of meat in Hungarian white geese (Fu et al. 2023).

12 Effect of Liquorice on blood chemistry

Human and animal studies found that Liquorice is effective in dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia in cases of metabolic syndrome (Jafari et al. 2021). However, broiler chicken and Japanese quails had a dose-dependent increase in plasma glucose when given liquorice root extract or powder in their diets (Al-Daraji 2012; Dogan et al. 2018a; Dogan et al. 2018b). Since the saponin glycoside glycyrrhizin is 60 times sweeter in taste than sucrose (Roshan et al. 2012), it may be responsible for this increase in blood sugar. However, only a few trials in broiler chickens supplemented with LE (Moradi et al. 2017) or G. glabra (Rezaei et al. 2014) have indicated a reduction in serum glucose levels. Supplementation with LE did not significantly affect plasma glucose levels in broiler chicken (Sedghi et al. 2010) or Japanese quail (Myandoab and Hosseini 2012; Al-Sofee 2018, Abdul-Majeed 2019). Toson et al. (2023) found that when LE was added to the chickens' diets, the animals had lower levels of plasma triglycerides, cholesterol, urea, uric acid, and total cholesterol while developing more significant levels of antioxidant markers, RBCs, haemoglobin, WBCs, plasma complete protein, and albumin.

13 Effect on total proteins and their fractions

Japanese quail serum TP significantly increased when crushed liquorice root was introduced to their meal (Al-Sofee 2018). *G. glabra* supplementation in broiler chicken diets led to similar results (Rezaei et al. 2014). On the other hand, another study indicated that the serum total protein levels of Japanese quail treated with liquorice root powder were unaffected (Abdul-Majeed 2019). However, a study of broiler chickens at six weeks of age reported no significant changes in serum albumin, globulin, and albumin: globulin ratio (Jagadeeswaran et al. 2012). Blood total protein and globulin levels were highest in the birds given the 750-mg licorice diet, with the A/G ratio being lowest in those given the 250-mg licorice diet (Reda et al. 2021).

14 Effect on blood glucose

The plasma glucose levels of Japanese quails and broiler chickens were found to rise dose-dependent when liquorice root extract or powder was added to their diets (Al-Daraji 2012; Dogan et al. 2018b). The saponin glycoside glycyrrhizin, which is sixty times sweeter than sucrose, may be to blame for this increase in blood sugar (Roshan et al. 2012; Dogan et al. 2018a). However, some studies show that giving LE or *G. glabra* to broiler chicks reduces their blood sugar. The plasma glucose levels of Japanese quail and broiler chickens were not significantly different after receiving LE supplementation (Gowthaman et al. 2021).

15 Effect on heterophils, lymphocytes and heterophil-tolymphocyte ratio

Heterophils and the H/L ratio were shown to change in response to heat stress in chicken (Yalcin et al. 2003) and Japanese quail (Mahmoud et al. 2013). An accurate measure of heat stress in hens is the H/L ratio (Gowthaman et al. 2021). Adding LE to the water supply for broiler chickens raised in hot conditions has significantly reduced the H/L ratio (Al-Daraji 2012). According to two previous studies, LE did not affect the percentage of lymphocytes, heterophils, monocytes, or the H/L ratio in broiler chickens (Sedghi et al. 2010; Moradi et al. 2014).

16 Effect on triglyceride, cholesterol, very low-density lipoprotein, low-density lipoprotein, and high-density lipoprotein concentrations

Moradi et al. (2017) reported that giving broiler chickens LE in their water dramatically decreased their serum low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and total cholesterol, while Al-Sofee (2018) reported the same for Japanese quail. Feeding Japanese quail, a powder made from liquorice roots, decreased their triglyceride and cholesterol levels (Myandoab and Hosseini 2012). Rezaei et al. (2014) found that supplementing broiler chicken feed with G. glabra, Thymus vulgaris, or both herbs, remarkably reduced the birds' serum triglyceride levels. Cholesterol and LDL cholesterol levels fell when Liquorice and a prebiotic mixture were added to the feed of broiler chickens (Sedghi et al. 2010), but there was little to no effect on blood triglycerides, VLDL, or HDL cholesterol levels. Liquorice has been linked to a reduction in LDL cholesterol because it prevents the oxidation of LDL cholesterol by blocking cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LPX) enzymes (Abdul Majeed 2019). In another study, adding liquorice root powder to the diets of broiler chickens resulted in a considerable rise in plasma HDL cholesterol while not affecting plasma LDL cholesterol, total cholesterol, or triglycerides (Gowthaman et al. 2021). The quail fed a 750-mg licorice diet had lower contents of all lipid profile parameters (LDH, TC, TG, and LDL) (Reda et al. 2021).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

472

17 Effect of Liquorice on other blood parameters

Supplementation with Liquorice Broiler hens showed elevated levels of uric acid, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), calcium, and phosphorus, as well as RBCs, WBCs, platelets, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and plasma uric acid (Al-Daraji 2012). Amen and Muhammad (2016) discovered a similar effect when they fed LE to broiler chickens; they saw a rise in platelets, haemoglobin, WBCs and RBCs. However, Al-Sofee (2018) found that supplementing Japanese quail with licorice root had no appreciable effect on their packed cell volume (PCV). Also, giving broiler chickens Liquorice increased their white blood cell count (Sedghi et al. 2010), and giving Japanese quail LE in their water increased their triiodothyronine (T3) and thyroxine/ tetraiodothyronine (T4) levels (Hosny et al. 2020). However, a different study on broiler chickens at six weeks of age reported no significant changes in serum WBC count or cell-mediated immunity (Jagadeeswaran et al. 2012). Liquorice extract can reduce malondialdehyde's concentration in broiler chicken breast meat experimentally exposed to aflatoxin-B1 (Rashidi et al. 2020).

Conclusion and future prospects

Liquorice contains bioactive compounds with powerful pharmacological and therapeutic effects, such as flavonoids and glycyrrhizin. It has been hypothesized that LE's immunogenic and antioxidant properties could make it an effective alternative to antibiotics for treating and preventing respiratory, gastrointestinal, and immunological diseases in poultry. To increase productivity and bird health, however, better distribution of this essential herb is required in poultry. This review has also postulated that G. glabra supplementation to poultry diets may enhance development, productivity, feed efficiency, carcass characteristics, and meat quality. Furthermore, the liquorice herb's excellent role in increasing the activities of the digestive system may treat several illnesses and issues in chicken farms. Standardizing the use of Liquorice (in water or feed) is important to guarantee consistent outcomes and appropriate dosing. Therefore, this standardization should be the focus of future studies if Liquorice is to be used effectively in the poultry sector.

Glycyrrhiza glabra extract may be a key component in creating numerous pharmaceutical compounds useful in the poultry industry. Liquorice has medicinal properties because of the diverse bioactive components it contains. The immunogenic and antioxidant effects of licorice extract improve the growth performance, carcass characteristics, feed conversion efficiency and hemato-biochemical indicators of poultry and have potential biomedical applications for a wide range of digestive, respiratory and immunological ailments. Poultry that consumed water containing up to 0.4 g/L of LE had better immunological

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org responses, higher antioxidant indices, and a healthier lipid profile. When added to the diets of laying hens, 50 g/mL of LE has been shown to affect cellular immunity positively. Extraction of *G. glabra* at 300 g/mL was highly effective against NDV. Additional study is required to evaluate the benefits of licorice herb as a chicken feed supplement and explore different characteristics of this medicinal plant that can enhance poultry productivity and health. *In ovo* delivery and nano delivery, strategies should be researched to optimize the delivery of this important herb in poultry, which could increase productivity and safeguard the health of the poultry birds.

Acknowledgement

All the authors acknowledge and thank their respective Institutes and Universities.

Author's contribution

All the authors contributed significantly.

Funding

This compilation was written by its authors and required no substantial funding.

Disclosure statement

All authors declare that there exist no commercial or financial relationships that could, in any way, lead to a potential conflict of interest.

References

Abdelli, N., Solà-Oriol, D., & Pérez, J.F. (2021). Phytogenic feed additives in poultry: achievements, prospective and challenges. *Animals*, *11*(12), 3471. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123471

Abdul-Majeed, A.F. (2019). The physiological effect of liquorice roots on the antioxidant status of local females quail: *Mesopotamia Journal of Agriculture*, *47*(1), 25-35.

Abo-Samaha, M.I., Alghamdi, Y.S., El-Shobokshy, S.A., Albogami, S., El-Maksoud, E.M.A., Farrag, F., Soliman, M.M., Shukry, M., & El-Hack, M.E.A. (2022). Licorice extract supplementation affects antioxidant activity, growth-related genes, lipid metabolism, and immune markers in broiler chickens. *Life*, *12*(6), 914. https://doi.org/10.3390/life12060914

Ajaib, M., Zikrea, A., Khan, K.M., Perveen, S., Shah, S., & Karim, A. (2013). Rivina humilis L: A potential antimicrobial and antioxidant source. *Journal of Chemical Society of Pakistan*, *35*(5), 1384-1398.
Alagawany M., Elnesr, S.S., & Farag, M.R. (2019a). Use of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) in poultry nutrition: Global impacts on performance, carcass and meat quality. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, *75*, 293-303. DOI: 10.1017/S0043933919000059

Alagawany, M., Elnesr, S. S., Farag, M. R., Abd El-Hack, M. E., Khafaga, A. F., Taha, A. E., Tiwari, R., Yatoo, M. I., Bhatt, P., Marappan, G., & Dhama, K. (2019b). Use of Licorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) Herb as a Feed Additive in Poultry: Current Knowledge and Prospects. *Animals*, 9(8), 536. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani9080536

Alagawany, M., Elnesr, S.S., Farag, M.R., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Barkat, R.A., Gabr, A.A., Foda, M.A., Noreldin, A.E., Khafaga, A.F., El-Sabrout, K., & Elwan, H.A. (2021). Potential role of important nutraceuticals in poultry performance and health-A comprehensive review. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *137*, 9-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.009

Al-Daraji, H.J. (2012). Influence of drinking water supplementation with liquorice extract on certain blood traits of broiler chickens during heat stress. *Pharmacognosy Communications*, 2(4), 29-33.

Alexyuk, P.G., Bogoyavlenskiy, A.P., Alexyuk, M.S., Turmagambetova, A.S., Zaitseva, I.A., Omirtaeva, E.S., & Berezin, V.E. (2019). Adjuvant activity of multimolecular complexes based on *Glycyrrhiza glabra* saponins, lipids, and influenza virus glycoproteins. *Archives of Virology*, *164*, 1793– 1803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-019-04273-2

Al-Sofee, K.H.M. (2018). Effect of different levels of liquorice roots powder to diets on productive performance and some blood traits for quail. *Mesopotamia Journal of Agriculture*, *46*, 135-144.

Amen, M.H.M., & Muhammad, S.S. (2016). Effect of zinc supplementation on some physiological and growth traits in local male rabbit. *Veterinary Journal*, *6*, 151-155.

Ashraf, A., Ashraf, M. M., Rafiqe, A., Aslam, B., Galani, S., Zafar, S., Asad, F., Asghar, R. D., Akram, S., Ahmed, H., Shah, S. M. A., & Asif, R. (2017). In vivo antiviral potential of Glycyrrhiza glabra extract against Newcastle disease virus. *Pakistan journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, *30*(2(Suppl.)), 567–572.

Awadein, N.B., Eid, Y.Z., & Abd El-Ghany, F.A. (2010). Effect of dietary supplementation with phytoestrogens sources before sexual maturity on productive performance of mandarah hens. *Poultry Science*, *30*(3), 829-846.

Bala, K., Husain, I., Khan, I.A., & Khan, S.I. (2021). A review on phytochemicals, pharmacological activities, drug interactions, and

associated toxicities of licorice (Glycyrrhiza sp.). *Food Frontiers*, 2(4), 449-485. https://doi.org/10.1002/fft2.110

Beski, S.S.M., Shekhu, N.A., Sadeq, S.A.B.M., Al-Khdri, A.M., Ramadhan, N.H., & AL-Bayati, S.H. (2019). Effects of the addition of aqueous Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) extract to drinking water in the production performance, carcass cuts and intestinal histomorphology of broiler chickens. *Iraqi Journal of Agricultural Sciences*,50(3), 842-849.

Buttar, H.S., Kumar, H., Chandran, D., Tuli, H.S., & Dhama, K. (2022), Potential health benefits of using aloe vera as a feed additive in livestock: A mini-review. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, 99 (01), 09-18.

Chakotiya, A.S., Tanwar, A., Narula, A., & Sharma, R.K. (2016). Alternative to antibiotics against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Effects of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* on membrane permeability and inhibition of efflux activity and biofilm formation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and its in vitro time-kill activity. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 98, 98-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2016.07.001

Chandran, D. (2021), Veterinary phytomedicine in India: A review. International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology, 8(3): 598-605. https://doi.org/10.32628/IJSRST2183135

Chandran, D., Emran, T.B., Nainu, F., Sharun, K., Kumar, M., Mitra, S., Chakraborty, S., Mohapatra, R.K., Tuli, HS, & Dhama, K. (2022). Beneficial effects of dietary *Allium sativum* (garlic) supplementation on health and production of poultry: A minireview. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, *9*: 821-824. https://doi. org/10.1002/ptr.7363

Dhama, K., Karthik, K., Khandia, R., Munjal, A., Tiwari, R., Rana, R., Khurana, S.K., Sana, U., Khan, R.U., Alagawany, M., Farag, M.R., Dadar, M., & Joshi, S.K. (2018) Medicinal and therapeutic potential of herbs and plant metabolites / extracts countering viral pathogens - Current knowledge and future prospects. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 19(3), 236-263. doi: 10.2174/1389200219666180129145252.

Dhama, K., Latheef, S.K. Saminathan, M., Samad, H.A., Karthik K, Tiwari, R., Khan, R.U., Alagawany, M., Farag, M.R., Gazi, M.A., Laudadio, V., & Tufarelli, V. (2015a) Multiple beneficial applications and modes of action of herbs in poultry health and production – A review. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, *11*(3), 152-176. DOI: 10.3923/ijp.2015.152.176

Dhama, K., Saminathan, M., Jacob, S.S., Singh, M., Karthik, K., Amarpal, Tiwari, R., Sunkara, L.T. Malik, Y.S. & Singh, R.K. (2015b). Effect of immunomodulation and immunomodulatory agents on health with some bioactive principles, modes of action

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

and potent biomedical applications. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, 11(4), 253-290. DOI: 10.3923/ijp.2015.253.290

Dhama, K., Tiwari, R, Chakraborty, S., Saminathan, M., Kumar, A., Karthik, K., Wani, M.Y., Amarpal, S.S.V., & Rahal, A. (2014). Evidence based antibacterial potentials of medicinal plants and herbs countering bacterial pathogens especially in the era of emerging drug resistance: An integrated update. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, *10*(1), 1-43. https://doi.org/10.3923/ijp.2014.1.43

Dogan, S.C., Baylan, M., Erdoğan, Z., Küçükgül, A., & Bulancak, A. (2018a). The effects of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhriza glabra*) root on performance, some serum parameters and antioxidant capacity of laying hens. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, 20, 699-706. https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9061-2018-0767

Dogan, S.C., Erdogan, Z., Şekeroglu, A., Baylan, M., & Kucukgul, A. (2018b). The Effects of liquorice root powder (*Glycyrrhriza glabra*) on performance, serum parameters, egg yolk cholesterol and antioxidant capacity of laying Japanese quail. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture - Food Science and Technology*, 6(9), 1290-1296. https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v6i9.1290-1296.2124

Dziewulska, D., Stenzel, T., Śmiałek, M., Tykałowski, B., & Koncicki, A. (2018). The impact of Aloe vera and licorice extracts on selected mechanisms of humoral and cell-mediated immunity in pigeons experimentally infected with PPMV-1. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *14*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-018-1467-3

Egorov, M.V., Kurkin, V.A., Ryazanova, T.K., & Belova, O.A. (2021). Quantitative determination of the biologically active compounds of licorice (Glycyrrhiza) roots. *Farmaciya* (*Pharmacy*), 70(7), 24-31. https://doi.org/10.29296/25419218-2021-07-04

El-Sabrout, K., Khalifah, A., & Mishra, B. (2023). Application of botanical products as nutraceutical feed additives for improving poultry health and production. *Veterinary world*, *16*(2), 369–379. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2023.369-379

Fu, G., Zhou, Y., Song, Y., Liu, C., Hu, M., Xie, Q., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Shi, Y., Chen, S., Hu, J., & Sun, Y. (2023). The effect of combined dietary supplementation of herbal additives on carcass traits, meat quality, immunity and cecal microbiota composition in Hungarian white geese. *PeerJ*, *11*, e15316. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.15316

Fu, Y., Chen, J., Li, Y.J., Zheng, Y.F., & Li, P. (2013). Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of six flavonoids separated from Liquorice. *Food Chemistry*, *141*(2), 1063-1071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.03.089 Ghafouri, S.A., Ghaniei, A., Tamannaei, A.E.T., Sadr, S., Charbgoo, A., Ghiassi, S., & Abuali, M. (2023). Evaluation of therapeutic effects of an herbal mixture (*Echinacea purpurea* and *Glycyrrhiza glabra*) for treatment of clinical coccidiosis in broilers. *Veterinary Medical Science Journal*, 9(2), 829-836. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.971

Gowthaman, V., Sharma, D., Biswas, A., & Deo, C. (2021). Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) herb as a poultry feed additive-A review: Liquorice as poultry feed additive. *Letters In Animal Biology*, *1*(2), 14-20.

Hartady, T., Syamsunarno, MRAA, Priosoeryanto, B.P., Jasni, S., & Balia, R.L. (2021) Review of herbal medicine works in the avian species. *Veterinary World*, *14*(11), 2889-2906. https://doi.org/10.14202%2Fvetworld.2021.2889-2906

Hayashi, H., Corpas, F.J., & Sudo, H. (2009). Economic importance of licorice. *Plant Biotechnology*, *26*(1), 101-104.

Hedayati, A., & Ghoreishi, S.M. (2016). Artificial neural network and adaptive neuro-fuzzy interface system modeling of supercritical CO2 extraction of glycyrrhizic acid from Glycyrrhiza glabra L. *Chemical Product and Process Modeling*, *11*(3), 217-230. https://doi.org/10.1515/cppm-2015-0048

Hosny, M., Abdelnabi, M., Essa, N., & Ali, A.A. (2020). Effect of liquorice extract on growth performance, meat yield and plasma analysis of Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). Archives of Agriculture Sciences Journal 3(2): 55-66.

Ibrahim, D., Sewid, A.H., Arisha, A.H., abd El-fattah, A.H., Abdelaziz, A.M., Al-Jabr, O.A., & Kishawy, A.T.Y. (2020). Influence of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* extract on growth, gene expression of gut integrity, and *Campylobacter jejuni* colonization in broiler chickens. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 612063. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.612063

Jafari, F., Jafari, M., Moghadam, A. T., Emami, S. A., Jamialahmadi, T., Mohammadpour, A. H., & Sahebkar, A. (2021). A review of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* (Licorice) effects on metabolic syndrome. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*, *1328*, 385–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-73234-9_25

Jagadeeswaran, A., Selvasubramanian, S., & Chandrasekaran, D. (2012). Supplementation of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra* L.) for commercial broilers. *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, 89(9), 68-69.

Jatav, V.S., Santosh, K.S., Pankaj, K., & Ashish, K.S. (2011). Recent pharmacological trends of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* Linn. *Unani Research*, *1*(2), 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.5530/ur.2.2011.3

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Potential benefits of Glycyrrhiza glabra herb, its chemical make-up and significance in safeguarding poultry health

Kalantar, K., Hosseini, S.Y., Shahin, K., Ghayour, M., Bazl, M.R., Fattahi, M.R., Moini, M., & Amirghofran, Z. (2017). Comparison of the in vitro antifibrogenic effects of silymarin, silybin a and 18α-glycyrrhizin on activated hepatic stellate cells. *Jundishapur Journal of Natural Pharmaceutical Products*, *12*(4). https:// doi.org/10.5812/jjnpp.40285

Karkanis, A., Martins, N., Petropoulos, S.A., & Ferreira, I.C. (2018). Phytochemical composition, health effects, and crop management of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra* L.): A medicinal plant. *Food Reviews International*, *34*(2), 182-203. https://doi.org/10.1080/87559129.2016.1261300

Kaur, R., Kaur, H., & Dhindsa, A.S. (2013). *Glycyrrhiza glabra*: A phytopharmacological review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences & Research*, 4(7), 2470-2477. https://doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR. 0975-8232.4(7).2470-77

Kaur, R., Meena, A.K., Singh, B., Yadav, A.K., Singh, U., Sachan, A., Pal, B., & Rao, M.M. (2009). Review on antifungal activities of Ayurvedic Medicinal Plants. *Drug Invention Today*, *2*(2), 146-148.

Kumar, M., Tomar, M., Punia, S., Dhakane-Lad, J., Dhumal, S., Changan, S., Senapathy, M., Berwal, M.K., Sampathrajan, V., Sayed, A.A., & Chandran, D. (2022). Plant-based proteins and their multifaceted industrial applications. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft &Technologie*, *154*, 112620. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.lwt.2021.112620

Kumari, N., Kumar, M., Mekhemar, M., Lorenzo, J.M., Pundir, A., Devi, K.B., Prakash, S., Puri, S., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., & Rais, N. (2022). Therapeutic uses of wild plant species used by rural inhabitants of Kangra in the western Himalayan region. *South African Journal of Botany*, *148*, 415-436. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7100343

Kuralkar, P., & Kuralkar, S. V. (2021). Role of herbal products in animal production - An updated review. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 278, 114246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2021.114246

Leite, C. D. S., Bonafé, G. A., Carvalho Santos, J., Martinez, C. A. R., Ortega, M. M., & Ribeiro, M. L. (2022). The anti-inflammatory properties of licorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*)-derived compounds in intestinal disorders. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(8), 4121. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23084121

Mahmoud, U.T., Abdel-Rahman, M.A., Darwish, M.H.A., & Mosaad, G.M. (2013). The effect of heat stress on blood picture of Japanese quail. *Journal of Advanced Veterinary Research*, *3*(2), 69-76.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Martins, N., Barros, L., Santos-Buelga, C., & Ferreira, I.C. (2016). Antioxidant potential of two Apiaceae plant extracts: A comparative study focused on the phenolic composition. *Industrial Crops and Products*, *79*, 188-194. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.indcrop.2015.11.018

Michaelis, M., Geiler, J., Naczk, P., Sithisarn, P., Leutz, A., Doerr, H.W., & Cinatl Jr, J. (2011). Glycyrrhizin exerts antioxidative effects in H5N1 influenza A virus-infected cells and inhibits virus replication and pro-inflammatory gene expression. *PloS one*, *6*(5), 19705. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019705

Mitra, S., da Silva, L.E., Tuli, H.S., & Dhama, K. (2022). Potential health benefits of dietary *Curcuma longa* (turmeric) supplementation on health and production of poultry: A Minireview. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, *99*(2), 7-13.

Montonen, L., Li, L., Sinkko, H., Wei, G., Lindström, K., & Räsänen, L.A. (2012). Biogeography of symbiotic and other endophytic bacteria isolated from medicinal Glycyrrhiza species in China. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, *79*(1), 46-68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01198.x

Moradi, N., Ghazi, S., & Habibian, M. (2017). Drinking water supplementation of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra* L. root) extract as an alternative to in-feed antibiotic growth promoter in broiler chickens. *GSC Biological and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *1*, 20-28.

Moradi, N., Ghazi, S., Amjadian, T., Khamisabadi, H., & Habibian, M. (2014). Performance and some immunological parameter responses of broiler chickens to Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) extract administration in the drinking water. *Annual Research & Reviews in Biology*, *4*, 675–683. https://doi.org/10.9734/ARRB/2014/5277

Myandoab, M.P., & Hosseini, M.N. (2012). Comparative effect of Liquorice root extract medicinal plants and probiotic in diets on performance, carcass traits and serum composition of Japanese quails. *Global Veterinaria*, 8(1), 39-42.

Nitalikar, M.M., Munde, K.C., Dhore, B.V., & Shikalgar, S.N. (2010). Studies of antibacterial activities of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* root extract. *International Journal of Pharmacy Technology & Research*, 2(1), 899-901.

Nomura, T., Fukai, T., & Akiyama, T. (2002). Chemistry of phenolic compounds of licorice (Glycyrrhiza species) and their estrogenic and cytotoxic activities. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, *74*(7), 1199-1206.

Ocampo, C.L., Gómez-Verduzco, G., Tapia-Perez, G., Gutierrez, O.L., & Sumano, L.H. (2016). Effects of glycyrrhizic acid on

476

productive and immune parameters of broilers. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, 18, 435-442. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1806-9061-2015-0135

Omer, M.O., AlMalk,, W.H., Shahid, I., Khuram, S., Altaf, I., & Imran, S. (2014). Comparative study to evaluate the antiviral efficacy of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* extract and ribavirin against the Newcastle disease virus. *Pharmacognosy Research*, 6(1), 6-11. https://doi.org/10.4103%2F0974-8490.122911

Pan, C.G., Liu, Y.S., & Ying, G.G. (2016). Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in wastewater treatment plants and drinking water treatment plants: Removal efficiency and exposure risk. *Water Research*, *106*, 562-570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.10.045

Parham, S., Kharazi, A. Z., Bakhsheshi-Rad, H. R., Nur, H., Ismail, A. F., Sharif, S., RamaKrishna, S., & Berto, F. (2020). Antioxidant, Antimicrobial and Antiviral Properties of Herbal Materials. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(12), 1309. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9121309

Pastorino, G., Cornara, L., Soares, S., Rodrigues, F., & Oliveira, M.B.P. (2018). Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*): A phytochemical and pharmacological review. *Phytotherapy Research*, 32(12), 2323-2339. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6178

Petropoulos, S., Karkanis, A., Martins, N., & Ferreira, I.C. (2016). Phytochemical composition and bioactive compounds of common purslane (Portulaca oleracea L.) as affected by crop management practices. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 55, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2016.06.010

Prakash, G., Savanth V. V. M. P., Chopra, H., Emran, T. B., Dey, A., Dhama, K., & Chandran, D. (2022). Essential oils as valuable feed additive: A narrative review of the state of knowledge about their beneficial health applications and enhancement of production performances in poultry. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *10*(6), 1290–1317. https://doi.org/10.18006/2022.10(6).1290.1317

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Kumari, N., Prakash, S., Rathour, S., Thakur, M., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., Ali, M., Pundir, A., & Puri, S. (2021b). Therapeutic uses of wild plants by rural inhabitants of Maraog region in district Shimla, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*. 7(10), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/ horticulturae7100343

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Pundir, A., Puri, S., Prakash, S., Kumari, N., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., & Ali, M. (2021a). Documentation of commonly used ethnoveterinary

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org medicines from wild plants of the high mountains in Shimla District, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*, 7(10) 351. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7100351

Rafiq, K., Tofazzal Hossain, M., Ahmed, R., Hasan, M., Islam, R., Hossen, M., Shaha, S.N., & Islam, M.R. (2022). Role of different growth enhancers as alternative to in-feed antibiotics in poultry industry. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *8*, 1675. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.794588

Rajan, A., Devika, V. M., Shabana, A., Krishnan, N., et al. (2023). Positive impacts of integrating flaxseed meal as a potential feed supplement in livestock and poultry production: Present scientific understanding. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *11*(2), 264–279. https://doi.org/10.18006/ 2023.11(2).264.279

Rashidi, N., Khatibjoo, A., Taherpour, K., Akbari-Gharaei, M., & Shirzadi, H. (2020). Effects of licorice extract, probiotic, toxin binder and poultry litter biochar on performance, immune function, blood indices and liver histopathology of broilers exposed to aflatoxin-B₁. *Poultry Science*, *99*(11), 5896–5906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.08.034

Reda, F.M., El-Saadony, M.T., El-Rayes, T.K., Farahat, M., Attia, G., & Alagawany, M. (2021). Dietary effect of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) on quail performance, carcass, blood metabolites and intestinal microbiota. *Poultry Science*, 100(8), 101266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101266

Rezaei, M., Kalantar, M., & Nasr, J. (2014). *Thymus vulgaris* L., *Glycyrrhiza glabra*, and combo enzyme in corn or barley basal diets in broiler chickens. *International Journal of Plant Animal and Environmental Sciences*, *4*, 418-423.

Rizzato, G., Scalabrin, E., Radaelli, M., Capodaglio, G., & Piccolo,
O. (2017). A new exploration of licorice metabolome. *Food Chemistry*, 221, 959-968. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodchem.2016.11.068

Roshan, A., Verma, N.K., Kumar, C.S., Chandra, V., Singh, D.P., & Panday, MK (2012). Phytochemical constituent, pharmacological activities and medicinal uses through the millenia of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* Linn: A review. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, 3(8): 45-55.

Sedghi, M., Golian, A., Kermanshahi, H., & Ahmadi, H. (2010). Effect of dietary supplementation of liquorice extract and a prebiotic on performance and blood metabolites of broilers. *South African Journal of Animal Science*, 40(4), 371-380. https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v40i4.65259

Potential benefits of Glycyrrhiza glabra herb, its chemical make-up and significance in safeguarding poultry health

Seidavi, A., Tavakoli, M., Asroosh, F., Scanes, C.G., Abd El-Hack, M.E., Naiel, M.A.E., Taha, A.E., Aleya, L., El-Tarabily, K.A., & Swelum, A.A. (2022) Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of phytonutrients as antibiotic substitutes in poultry feed. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.* 29(4), 5006-5031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17401-w

Sharma, V., & Agrawal, R.C. (2013). *Glycyrrhiza glabra*-a plant for the future. *Mintage Journal of Pharmacy & Medical Science*, 2(3), 5-20.

Sheidai, M., Iraj, S., Karamian, R., & Ranjbar, M. (2008). Cytomorphological studies of the genus Glycyrrhiza in Iran. *Cytologia*, *73*(3), 333-339.

Sheikh, I.U., Nissa, S.S., Zaffer, B., Bulbul, K.H., Akand, A.H., Ahmed, H.A., Hasin, D., Hussain, I., & Hussain, S.A. (2018). Ammonia production in the poultry houses and its harmful effects. *International Journal of Veterinary Sciences & Animal Husbandry*, *3*(4), 30-33.

Soufy, H., Yassein, S., Ahmed, A.R., Khodier, M.H., Kutkat, M.A., Nasr, S.M., & Okda, F.A. (2012). Antiviral and immune stimulant activities of glycyrrhizin against duck hepatitis virus. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines*, 9(3), 389-395. http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ajtcam.v9i3.14

Tiwari, R., Latheef, S.K., Ahmed, I., Iqbal, H.M.N., Bule, M.H., Dhama, K., Samad, H.A., Karthik, K., Alagawany, M., El-Hack, M.E.A., Yatoo, M.I., & Farag, M.R. (2018). Herbal immunomodulators - A remedial panacea for designing and developing effective drugs and medicines: current scenario and future prospects. *Current Drug Metabolism*, *19*(3), 264-301. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389200219666180129125436.

Toson, E., Abd El Latif, M., Mohamed, A., Gazwi, H.S.S., Saleh, M., Kokoszynski, D., Elnesr, S.S., Hozzein, W.N., Wadaan, M.A.M., & Elwan, H. (2023). Efficacy of licorice extract on the growth performance, carcass characteristics, blood indices and antioxidants capacity in broilers. *Animal*, *17*(1), 100696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2022.100696

Uddin, T.M., Chakraborty, A.J., Khusro, A., Zidan, B.R.M., Mitra, S., Emran, T.B., Dhama, K., Ripon, M.K.H., Gajdács, M., Sahibzada, M.U.K., Hossain, M.J., & Koirala, N. (2021). Antibiotic resistance in microbes: History, mechanisms, therapeutic strategies and future prospects. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, *14*(12), 1750-1766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2021.10.020

Vaya, J., Belinky, P.A., & Aviram, M. (1997). Antioxidant constituents from licorice roots: isolation, structure elucidation and

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org antioxidative capacity toward LDL oxidation. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 23(2), 302-313.

Verma, S., & Singh, S.P. (2008). Current and future status of herbal medicines. *Veterinary world*, *1*(11), 347.

Wang, L., Yang, R., Yuan, B., Liu, Y., & Liu, C. (2015). The antiviral and antimicrobial activities of Liquorice, a widely-used Chinese herb. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, *5*(4), 310-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2015.05.005

Wang, Y., Wang, L., Luo, R., Sun, Y., Zou, M., Wang, T., Guo, Q., & Peng, X. (2022). Glycyrrhizic Acid against *Mycoplasma gallisepticum*-Induced Inflammation and Apoptosis Through Suppressing the MAPK Pathway in Chickens. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *70*(6), 1996–2009. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.1c07848

Wolkerstorfer, A., Kurz, H., Bachhofner, N., & Szolar, O.H. (2009). Glycyrrhizin inhibits influenza A virus uptake into the cell. *Antiviral research*, *83*(2), 171-178.

Wu, Y., Li, N., Zhang, T., Che, Y., Duan, K., Wang, Y., Zhou, H., Wan, X., Lei, H., Nguyễn, A. D., De Souza, C., Li, K., Wu, Y., Liu, J., & Wang, D. (2022b). Glycyrrhiza polysaccharides can improve and prolong the response of chickens to the Newcastle disease vaccine. *Poultry Science*, *101*(1), 101549. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.psj.2021.101549

Wu, Y., Wu, C., Che, Y., Zhang, T., Dai, C., Nguyễn, A. D., Duan, K., Huang, Y., Li, N., Zhou, H., Wan, X., Wang, Y., Lei, H., Hao, P., Li, C., & Wu, Y. (2022a). Effects of Glycyrrhiza Polysaccharides on Chickens' Intestinal Health and Homeostasis. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *9*, 891429. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.891429

Yadav, A.S., Kolluri, G., Gopi, M., Karthik, K., Malik, Y.S., & Dhama, K. (2016). Exploring alternatives to antibiotics as health promoting agents in poultry- a review. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, 4(3S), 368-383. http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2016.4(3S).368.383

Yalcin, S., Ozkan, S., Cabuk, M., & Siegel, P.B. (2003). Criteria for evaluating husbandry practices to alleviate heat stress in broilers. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, *12*, 382-388.

Zebeaman, M., Tadesse, M. G., Bachheti, R. K., Bachheti, A., Gebeyhu, R., & Chaubey, K. K. (2023). Plants and Plant-Derived Molecules as Natural Immunomodulators. *BioMed research international*, 2023, 7711297. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/7711297

Zhao, Y., Li, C., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Wang, J., Zhen, W., Huang, S., Li, T., Fan, H., Ma, Y., & Zhang, C. (2023). Effects of *Glycyrrhiza* polysaccharide on growth performance, appetite, and hypothalamic inflammation in broilers. *Journal of Animal Science*, *101*, skad027. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skad027

Zhou, J. X., Braun, M. S., Wetterauer, P., Wetterauer, B., & Wink, M. (2019). Antioxidant, Cytotoxic, and Antimicrobial Activities of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L., *Paeonia lactiflora* Pall., and *Eriobotrya japonica* (Thunb.) Lindl. Extracts. *Medicines (Basel, Switzerland)*, 6(2), 43. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines6020043





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry

Parvathy S Nair^{1†}, Sivani Menon P S^{1†}, Shreya Suresh^{1†}, Sreekanth A J^{1†}, Sivasabari K¹, Adithya Krishna S¹, Anuranj P R¹, Nayana Krishnan¹, Parvathy S¹, Sandip Chakraborty², Hitesh Chopra³, Shopnil Akash⁴, Ruhul Amin⁵, Abhijit Dey⁶, Mahmoud Alagawany⁷, Deepak Chandran^{8†*}, Kuldeep Dhama^{9*}

¹Amrita School of Agricultural Sciences, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu – 642109, India
 ²Department of Veterinary Microbiology, College of Veterinary Sciences and Animal Husbandry, R.K. Nagar, West Tripura, Tripura, Pin-799008, India
 ³Department of Biosciences, Saveetha School of engineering, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Chennai – 602105, Tamil Nadu, India
 ⁴Faculty of Allied Health Science, Department of Pharmacy, Daffodil International University, Daffodil smart city, Ashulia, Savar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh
 ⁵Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Assam down town University, Panikhaiti, Gandhinagar, Guwahati, Assam-781026, India
 ⁶Department of Life Sciences, Presidency University, Zagazig 44511, Egypt
 ⁸Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Kerala, India

⁹Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh - 243122, India [†]Authors contributed equally

Received – May 25, 2023; Revision – June 28, 2023; Accepted – June 30, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).479.499

KEYWORDS

Biochar

Activated charcoal

Animal husbandry

Livestock production

Feed additive

ABSTRACT

In the last decade, biochar production and use have grown in popularity. Biochar is comparable to charcoal and activated charcoal because it is a pyrogenic carbonaceous matter made by pyrolyzing organic carbon-rich materials. There is a lack of research into the effects of adding biochar to animal feed. Based on the reviewed literature, including its impact on the adsorption of toxins, blood biochemistry, feed conversion rate, digestion, meat quality, and greenhouse gas emissions, adding biochar to the diet of farm animals is a good idea. This study compiles the most important research on biochar's potential as a supplement to the diets of ruminants (including cows and goats), swine, poultry, and aquatic organisms like fish. Biochar supplementation improves animal growth, haematological profiles, meat, milk and egg yield, resistance to illnesses (especially gut pathogenic bacteria), and reduced ruminant methane emission. Biochar's strong sorption capacity also helps efficiently remove contaminants

* Corresponding author

E-mail: drdeepakchandran24@gmail.com (Deepak Chandran); kdhama@rediffmail.com (Kuldeep Dhama)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



Animal nutrition

and poisons from the animals' bodies and the farm surroundings where they are raised. Animal farmers are predicted to make greater use of biochar in the future. Biochar could potentially be of value in the healthcare and human health fields; hence research into this area is encouraged. The present review highlights the potential benefits of biochar as an additive to animal feed and demonstrates how, when combined with other environmentally friendly practices, biochar feeding can extend the longevity of animal husbandry.

1 Introduction

Carbonaceous substances from heating wood include charcoal, activated charcoal, and biochar (BC). All three items are made under identical conditions and have similar characteristics and applications. Bio-based carbon materials are solids high in carbon created via pyrolysis from biomass high in carbon. Wood-based charcoal has been a heating and cooking fuel for thousands of years (Dayang et al. 2022). The term "activated charcoal" refers to charcoal that has been subjected to either a physical activation process or a chemical activation process. Activating charcoal improves its physicochemical qualities (Hagemann et al. 2019; Shi et al. 2021; Haider et al. 2022). Biochar has multifunctional values due to its use for various purposes as a nutrient and microbial carrier, soil amendment to enhance soil quality, heavy metal and organic pollution immobilizing agent for water and soil remediation, porous material for reducing the emissions of greenhouse gas and odorous compounds, catalyst for industrial uses, and feed additives to enhance animal production, health and feed efficiency (Bolan et al. 2022). Further, water treatment, biodiesel production, syngas upgrading, composting of organic waste, and soil conditioning are just a few of the many applications of BC. Soil remediation also uses it due to its enhanced waterholding capacity, adsorption ability, and microbial variety. Biochar is an effective soil addition for cleaning up polluted areas. In the remediation of contaminated soils like mine tailings, it has been used to eliminate heavy metals/metalloids and pesticides. BC improves soil moisture retention and nutrient movement by limiting runoff and altering soil biota (Huang et al. 2021; Kumar et al. 2021; O'Reilly et al. 2021; Patel et al. 2022).

Biochar is created by pyrolyzing organic matter. Hydrogen, water vapour, methane, carbon dioxide, ethane, carbon monoxide, and "char" are generated when biomass is heated in an oxygen-free environment. The ability of BC to bind to a wide variety of chemicals and adsorb bacteria and toxins makes it a promising ingredient for use in animal feeding systems to improve animal performance while having a more negligible environmental impact. Much of that stuff is left over from municipal or agricultural waste management and must be thrown away (Man et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2021). Energy and carbon may be recovered by using this waste to make BC with superior qualities for environmental protection, agriculture and animal husbandry. The properties of BC are determined by the feedstock material and the pyrolysis conditions,

especially the temperature and process duration (O'Reilly et al. 2021; Dayang et al. 2022). Biochar reduced bulk density, more porosity and surface area, less oxygen and hydrogen, and higher carbon content as the pyrolysis temperature is raised. The BC, made from various biomass sources, has many properties. The bulk of BCs is alkaline, suggesting they can act as a pH buffer in the rumen and increase weight gain in livestock-fed high-energy diets. BC's cascading utility was proved by its addition to various feeds, beddings, and liquid manures in small increments (Huang et al. 2021). Interestingly, they have gotten special attention due to the ease of manufacturing BCs. Further, BC's eco-friendly and economically profitable nature and its use as a sustainable bioadsorbent must also be considered (Haider et al. 2022; Patel et al. 2022). Adding organic nutrients to BC helps with animal husbandry, boosts the province's economy, and has many positive (reverberating) effects on the natural world.

Over the past decade, various studies have been conducted to study the impact of a BC-supplemented diet on ruminants, pigs, poultry, and fish (Winders et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019; Jinija et al. 2022). Biochar can increase both the quantity and quality of eggs laid by hens. Improved mineral intake from BC can help minimise cracked eggs' occurrence when wood charcoal is added to the hens' diet. It boosts growth and survival, as well as high-density lipoprotein, and lowers low-density lipoprotein, all linked to enhanced immunity. Due to its adsorption capabilities, it was also able to diminish the prevalence of chicken diseases such as Campylobacter hepaticus and Gallibacterium anatis. Because of this, it can be used in animal husbandry as ab antibiotic (Shehata et al. 2013; Wilson et al. 2019). The high porosity of Biochar could help the host gut bacteria like methanogenic archaea lower the methane emissions from ruminants, contributing to global warming. Emissions of greenhouse gases are an essential contributor to the planet's warming. Biochar has been found to reduce methane production from ruminants, which significantly contribute to agricultural GHG emissions, and increase microbial fermentation. In addition, the ability of BC to absorb nutrients from the digestive tracts of cattle and then excrete them as soil fertilizer might lead to increased farm output even if it also helps in decreasing the input of chemical fertilizer (Man et al. 2021; Dayang et al. 2022; Haider et al. 2022).

Biochar has shown promise as a feed supplement, with studies finding that it improves various animal health and production

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 1 Biochar for livestock farming, from production to final uses

indices. Biochar for animal husbandry, from production to final applications, is depicted in Figure 1. Biochar production and its potential use in environmental cleaning have generated a lot of data in recent years. However, the use of BC produced from various feedstocks severely lacks data. This review article summarizes the present knowledge about BC feedstocks and their effects as feed additions for livestock and poultry production and identifies knowledge gaps and future research priorities in this area.

2 Raw materials used for the production of biochar

Biochar's primary constituents come from food production, preparation, and consumption. Aquaculture, livestock, poultry breeding, and agricultural output contribute to total output (Schmidt et al. 2019; Schmidt et al. 2021; Dayang et al. 2022). Depending on the raw materials used, BC can be roughly categorized as straw BC, shell BC, wood BC, sludge BC, animal fecal BC, bamboo BC, and others (Dai et al. 2019), and most of these are part of some of the food chain. Agricultural wastes, as well as animal and poultry manure, are always produced while creating food. Using rice straw, Yang et al. (2021) produced BC at temperatures between 500 and 900 °C, with the surface area of the BC reaching a maximum of 520.71 m²/g at the highest temperature. Shi et al. (2021) pyrolyzed cow dung at temperatures between 350 and 750 °C for two hours to create BC. The pyrolysis process produced BC with a specific surface area of up to 308.1 m²/g at 750 °C. Produced and consumed goods can generate a wide variety of trash, such as banana peels, eggshells, apple chip pomace, sugarcane bagasse, walnut shells, peanut hulls, grape pomace, etc. Those that eat eggs tend to make eggshells as a by-product of their diet (Xu et al. 2020; Li et al. 2016, Jiang et al. 2018). The final stage of the food chain, the kitchen, generates the most garbage. The trash from kitchens can consist of a wide variety of items; BC can be made, in part, from kelp, tea leaves, and crab shells. For instance, Huang et al. (2021) used kelp as raw material and high-temperature pyrolysis to create BC. The BC used by Altaf et al. (2021) was created by

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

pyrolyzing tea leaves at 500 °C. Across a temperature spectrum of 300–900 °C, Dai et al. (2017) synthesized calcium-rich BC from crab shells. Furthermore, BC can be manufactured from everyday household waste by pyrolyzing food at temperatures between 300 and 700 °C for two hours (Kumar et al. 2021). By pyrolyzing kitchen waste at 300-600 °C for two hours, Xu et al. (2021) created BC with a surface area of 1.19-10.27 cm³/g. Up the food chain, wastes can be used as BC source materials. The food chain's solid waste can be managed by converting these wastes into BC.

Feedstock for the production of BC includes different types of organic resources. Raw resources for BC production include cow dung, wood chips, wheat straw, rice husk, grass, and cassava rhizome (Ronsee et al. 2013; Kiran et al. 2017). Various input materials and pyrolysis settings have been shown to affect the synthesis of BC with high nutritional value (Chan et al. 2007). BC is produced from waste biomass by modern pyrolysis technology. This waste biomass includes agricultural, manure, wood, and green waste. Producing and utilizing agricultural, industrial and urban/municipal wastes has also contributed to waste management (Novotny et al. 2015; Kameyama et al. 2016). Several authors have discussed the prevalence of different feedstock materials in BC manufacturing (Reddy 2015; Sohi et al. 2009; Tumuluru et al. 2011). Peterson et al. (2012) found that 40% BC was extracted from maize stover. Sullivan and Ball (2012) noted that most of the biomass used to produce BC consists of the polymers such as cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. It has been found that cellulose is the primary component of plant-based biomasses, while lignin plays a substantial role in woody biomass.

3 Production of biochar as a feed additive or feed supplement

Biochar can be produced on a small scale with inexpensive adapted stoves or kilns and on a large scale with costly larger pyrolysis facilities and more feedstocks. As noted above, BC may be made from various biomass feedstocks via pyrolysis (Zhu et al. 2018). The acquired dry trash is chopped into bits no bigger than three centimetres before being put to use. It is heated to 350 and 700 °C (662 and 1292 °F) to prepare either oxygen-free or with deficient oxygen concentrations feedstock. Over 500°C (heating rates of 1000 °C/min), fast pyrolysis can occur in seconds. Classifying pyrolysis processes according to the required heating temperature and time are standard practices. In these conditions, bio-oil production is at its peak. On the other hand, slow pyrolysis takes longer to complete (30 minutes to several hours at heating speeds of 100 °C/min), but more charcoal is produced (Brown et al. 2011).

Depending on the used biomass, heating rate and heating temperature, several types of BC can be produced.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Incontrovertibly, higher temperatures increase char yields. The carbon structure of BC produced at moderate temperatures (550°C) is less aromatic than that of BC produced at high temperatures (Joseph et al. 2015). Char yield is reduced in all pyrolysis methods as the temperature increases (Antal et al. 2003). According to Peng et al. (2011), BC yield was affected by charring time, with yield decreasing with increasing charring time at a constant temperature. Biochar quality and its capacity for carbon sequestration or agronomic performance are greatly affected by pyrolysis. Slow pyrolysis of biomass yields 24-77% BC (Dutta et al. 2010). All biomass used to produce BC should be pyrolyzed (Mohan et al. 2006), regardless of whether activation is used. To create BC, raw materials will be pyrolyzed at temperatures between 200 to 1000 °C in an oxygen-depleted atmosphere. Because of this, the final goods will have different characteristics and capabilities (Brendova et al. 2012; Koltowski et al. 2017). Biochar products' performance as feed supplements depends on heating rate, temperature and residency duration (Waheed et al. 2013).

4 Use of biochar as a feed additive

The organic matter used to create BC feed additives is heated at rates between 7 °C/min and 40 °C/min for durations ranging from 3 minutes to 12 hours, with temperatures ranging from 350 °C to 1100° C (McFarlane et al. 2017). A pyrolysis temperature variation of no more than 20 °C is required to comply with European Union requirements for BC as animal feed. Activation is not necessary for BC products intended for use as feed additives. As early as the turn of the last century, veterinarians in Germany were looking into the health benefits of both activated and non-activated BC feed for animals. Since 1915, studies by Skutetzky and Starkenstein (1914) on activated BC have shown that it can decrease and absorb dangerous clostridial toxins from Clostridium botulinum and C. tetani. Mangold (1936) researched the effects of BC when fed to animals and reported that charcoal in young animals' diets appears to have a prophylactic approach. Coccidiosis and other coccidial diseases in pets can be efficiently treated by adding BC to their diet. Totusek and Beeson (1953) later remarked that charcoal by-products had been used in American hog breeding since 1880 and in chicken feed since 1940. Steinegger and Menzi (1955) reported around the same time that BC was given to Swiss chick feed and laying hen meal to avoid digestive disorders and achieve a regulating action on digestion. BC has been thought to purge water and soil of chemicals, heavy metals and other pollutants (Tan et al. 2016; Shakoor et al. 2020). Most pollutants and toxins are found in the animal's regular feed, which several sources, including ambient pollution, insects, and microbial activities, can taint. Reduced mortality and improved development were two positive outcomes of feeding broilers a diet supplemented with 0.5% BC to mitigate the harmful effects of aflatoxins. Carbon enterosorbents (biochar) made from rice husks 483

Nair et al.

Table 1 Research studies investigating the beneficial effects of different feedstock materials as biochar				
Feedstock material	Biochar dose	Beneficial effects	References	
Woody green waste	1% to 4% by mass of laying hens' feed	Gains in egg weight of upto 5% Egg production could rise by up to 13% Decrease in feed consumption by 7% Upto 14% better feed conversion ratio 19% boost in the shell's tensile strength Excreta nitrogen content decreased by upto 26%	Prasai et al. (2016)	
Activated charcoal	1% of goats' typical diet in dry matter	Aflatoxin elimination was cut by 76% The composition of the milk remained unaffected	Nageswara Rao and Chopra (2001)	
Charcoal	Daily doses of up to 1g of charcoal for each cowReduced levels of Clostridium botulinum antibodies by up to 30%		Gerlach et al. (2014)	
Poultry litter	7% of BC's total tonnage of feed for chicken broilers	Intake of feed increased by 8% Reduction in body weight gain by 2% Feed conversion efficiency drops by 11%	Evans et al. (2015)	
Poultry litter	2–4% of the total weight of feed given to chicken broilers	Improved feed conversion efficiency by 7% Weight growth slowed by 9%	Evans et al. (2017)	
Bamboo	BC at a rate between 0.5 and 1.0 g/kg of goat body weight	Weight gain of 17% each day Decreased urine nitrogen content by 61%	Van et al. (2006)	
Oakwood	Feed for chicken broilers and laying hens, between 1 and 10% by mass	Increased feed conversion rates by as much as 7% Gain in body weight of up to 23% Egg cracking can be reduced by up to 65%.	Kutlu et al. (2001)	
Jarrah wood	Cows are given a mixture of BC and molasses, 3:1, on a regular basis.	Sorption of toxins Facilitate the recycling of cow manure and digestive byproducts	Joseph et al. (2015)	
Woody green waste	Laying hens' feed at the rate of 4% by mass	Productivity of eggs rose by 1.2% Weight gain of 3% in eggs Feed efficiency improved by 8% Feed consumption decreased by 2%	Prasai et al. (2016)	
Woody green waste	1-4% of the total amount of feed given to layer chickens and broiler chickens	Lower levels of water in laying hen poop Excreta nitrogen content can be reduced by up to 27% Carbon concentration in excreta increase by upto 45%. Increased ammonia emission of upto 47%	Prasai et al. (2018b)	
Whole pine trees	In terms of feed mass, the range is between 0.8 to 3%	Improved digestion Reduction in methane emissions of upto 18.4% Possible reduction in carbon dioxide output of upto 9.7%	Winders et al. (2019)	

Source: Kalus et al. (2019)

reduced uremic toxins to a clinically significant level, just like commercial enterosorbents. The carbon surface of these enterosorbents was treated with ozone oxidation and then ammonia to modify their characteristics. Figure 2 depicts the uses of biochar as a supplemental feed ingredient for livestock and poultry, and Table 1 displays the findings of some of the most significant studies investigating different feedstock materials as biochar.

5 Positive effects of biochar on livestock farming

Charcoal's purported detoxifying abilities have been the subject of numerous studies. Mycotoxins of several types can be bound to charcoal through a process proposed (Galvano et al. 1996a; 1997; 1998). A wide surface area, low surface acidity, and mesopores are ranged between 2 and 50 nm in size. Microporous charcoals (2 nm)

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 2 Functions of biochar as livestock and poultry feed supplements

exhibit reduced sorption capabilities due to slower mycotoxin diffusion and the repulsion of electrons by the positively charged surface of aflatoxin molecules. Mycotoxin contamination of animal feed can affect up to 25% of global feed production (Mézes et al. 2010). Fungal toxins are typically created in humid environments, making it challenging to prevent mold fungus from growing on freshly prepared and stored animal feed. Feed tainted with mycotoxin poses a significant health danger to farm animals. Adsorbents are often added to the diet to prevent animals from becoming ill from ingesting mycotoxins. There has been an increase in the use of activated carbon and specific polymers in addition to the more typical aluminosilicates (Huwig et al. 2001).

The adsorption behaviour of BC has been studied using aflatoxin, one of the most common mycotoxins, as a model drug (Galvano et al. 1996a). Researchers have deduced that BC blocks the absorption of aflatoxins in the intestines and, by extension, in the blood and milk of animals. When added to animal feed, 2% activated BC lowered the concentration of extractable aflatoxin by up to 74% and reduced aflatoxin concentration in milk by up to 45% (Galvano et al.1996b). However, the adsorption effectiveness of various BCs varied greatly, as demonstrated by a random sampling of activated BCs. In an *in vitro* batch study of sorption, four different activated carbons absorbed 99.9%. At a concentration of 0.5% aflatoxin B in a solution, 1.11 g of aflatoxin

B per 100 ml of activated BCs was toxic (Diaz et al. 2004). In contrast to the 1% concentration in in-vitro experiments, the in vivo test fed a poorly defined BC at a low concentration of 0.25% of the meal's fresh weight without a feed matrix. Interestingly, Rashidi et al. (2020) found that when biochar made from poultry litter is fed to broiler chickens suffering from aflatoxicosis at the rate of 5g/ kg, body weight is restored. Side by side, the performance of the birds also increased. Galvano et al. (1996a) also evaluated the adsorption capabilities of 19 activated carbons for two mycotoxins, ochratoxin A and deoxynivalenol, and found that activated BC adsorbed 0.80-99.86% of ochratoxin A and up to 98.93% of deoxynivalenol, depending on the type of activated BC. The wide range of findings unequivocally demonstrates the value of thorough analysis and classification of BC characteristics. Activated BC was shown to have the highest toxin reduction capacity of the adsorbent feed additions studied by Di Natale et al. (2009) to lower aflatoxin levels in milk produced by dairy cows. Researchers found some positive effects by examining the milk's organic acid, lactose, chloride, protein, and pH levels. The authors explained the high specific surface area of the BC, its optimal micropore size distribution, and the great affinity of aflatoxin for the polyaromatic surface.

Zearalenone is an extremely dangerous estrogenic metabolite produced by the *Fusarium* fungus. Bueno et al. (2005) examined

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

its binding with different concentrations of activated BC (0.1%, 0.25%, 0.5%, and 1%) at various concentrations. No cure for this drug had been found before that time. The zearalenone could be bound *in vitro* at the four BC concentrations. Many chemical molecules, including mycotoxins, compete with the free adsorption surfaces of BC, making selective adsorption difficult or impossible to achieve *in vivo*. In the *in vitro* studies utilizing swine digestive juices, activated charcoal showed high adsorption of Fusarium toxins (Avantaggiato et al. 2004; Döll et al. 2004). In contrast, no noticeable effect was observed when activated BC at a concentration of 0.3% was given to pigs' diets. Supplementation with uncharacterized industrial BC at this low dose did not affect ochratoxin levels in the body's fluids (Jarczyk et al. 2008). However, no unfavourable outcomes were uncovered either.

Liver damage caused by mycotoxins is common in chickens. Biochar at 0.02% of body weight daily improved critical liver enzyme activity (Ademoyero and Dalvi 1983; Dalvi and Ademoyero 1984 Dalvi and McGowan 1984). Broiler chickens' feed intake and weight increase were unaffected by aflatoxin (10 ppm) when fed 0.1% BC (w/w). Activated BC performed better than hydrated sodium calcium aluminosilicate. The alumina product did not significantly increase aflatoxin B levels in the liver or blood when paired with 0.25 and 0.5% BC therapy (Kubena et al. 1990; Denli and Okan 2006). In another investigation by Edrington et al. (1996), fattening chicks' feces had less aflatoxin B when activated BC was given with its diet. Kim et al. (2017) revealed that three BCs administered at 0.5% to the same basal meal reduced aflatoxin absorption by up to 100%.

Another study showed the importance of dose by reducing the amount of aflatoxin B1 in the birds' livers by 16-72% by adding 0.25 or 0.5% activated BC to a meal contaminated with the toxin (Bhatti et al., 2018). There is conflicting evidence, and the study by Toth and Dou (2016) adds to the confusion. Most in vitro studies of sorption in water showed discrepancies with corresponding in vivo examinations (Huwig et al. 2001). Matrix variables significantly affect mycotoxin sorption; therefore, in vitro trials must be thoroughly assessed. Activated carbon was found by Jaynes et al. (2007), for example, to adsorb up to 200 g/kg of aflatoxin. Matrix effects led to a one-hundredfold reduction in sorption capacity when maize meal was suspended in water. Matrix effects are anticipated to be far more nuanced in the digestive tract, which features a wide range of pH and redox conditions. Different studies have shown that while activated BC did not affect aflatoxin, it mitigated the hazardous effects of other fungal toxins like zearalenone to a large extent (Avantaggiato et al. 2004) and deoxynivalenol (Devreese et al. 2012; Devreese et al. 2014; Usman et al. 2016). The most important benefits of using biochar in animal husbandry are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 Major positive implications of biochar inclusion in livestock management

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

6 Adsorption of drugs

Numerous 1980s human medical research shed light on using activated BC as feed, especially for feed toxicity treatment (Erb et al. 1989). Most medications and toxins can be prevented from entering the gastrointestinal tract by activated carbon's adsorption. Cardiac glycosides, aspirin, dextropropoxyphene, carbamazepine, dapsone, and others were removed faster after an overdose when BC was ingested repeatedly, according to Neuvonen and Olkkola (1988). More quickly removed industrial and environmental contaminants were also identified. Adults are given 50-100 g of activated BC for acute poisoning, while children get 1 g/kg of body weight. The inadvertent consumption has no devastating repercussions. Finnish medical professionals recommend multiple doses of activated carbon given orally in acute poisoning to reduce the likelihood that poisons will be absorbed from the BC-toxin combination during digestion (Olkkola and Neuvonen 1989). The ability of BC to remove toxins from the body is enhanced when it is taken orally on multiple occasions (Crome et al. 1977; Dawling et al. 1978). Antibacterial drugs (namely tylosin and doxycycline), as well as the coccidiostats (namely salinomycin and diclazuril), were not significantly affected by the daily inclusion of 0.2% activated charcoal in the chicken feed. It was found that the use of activated carbon-enhanced feed and pharmaceutical products worked synergistically (De Mil et al. 2017).

7 Adsorption of pesticides and environmental toxins

Biochar is increasingly employed in animal feed due to its significant adsorption of insecticides, herbicides and pesticides (Shehata et al. 2013; Safaei Khorram et al. 2016; Cederlund et al. 2017). This is especially important when considering the absorption of glyphosate, a herbicide that has contaminated nearly every feed. While it has been illegal in Germany to use crop desiccation herbicides for pre-harvest treatment since May 2014, this is not the case in many other countries. Glyphosate has a powerful antimicrobial impact and can also immobilise magnesium and zinc (which may explain why it is linked to or promotes botulism) (Shehata et al. 2013). Effective sorption of glyphosate by BC particles is pH (high sorption at low pH) and temperature dependent (high sorption on high-temperature BC) (Herath et al. 2016). Hall et al. (2018) showed that a 0.1M monopotassium phosphate solution could remobilize the glyphosate charcoal had sorbed from pure water. The results of this study suggest that glyphosate from biochar-sorbed feed could be remobilized in the intestines due to ion competition. Due to the possibility that low pH, such as that found in the gastrointestinal tract, could enhance glyphosate sorption, additional in vivo and/or in vitro study in relevant matrices is necessary. Research with 380 dairy cows found that the intake of 200 g of BC and 500 g of sauerkraut juice per day (for four weeks) significantly decreased the amount of glyphosate in the cows' urine when they were fed glyphosatecontaminated silage (Gerlach et al. 2014). In the 1970s, BC was used in very few studies for pesticide adsorption (Smalley et al. 1971; Humphreys and Ironside 1980). Activated BC was employed to adsorb pesticides in the gastrointestinal tracts of ruminants, which were subsequently ejected (Wilson and Cook, 1970). However, similar trials in hens did not demonstrate any meaningful impacts on the residual quantities in tissues and eggs (Foster et al., 1972). A significant amount of contaminated BC was fed an organochlorine pesticide called Dieldrin, which was commonly used until the 1970s and is still traceable in the environment despite being outlawed.

Many common environmental toxins, namely dibenzo-p-dioxin (PCDD), dibenzofuran (PCDF), and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), are fat-soluble organochlorine compounds. Adipose (fat) tissue accumulates these chemicals in humans and other animals. Several studies have used activated BC to remove these contaminants from water in Japan (Yoshimura et al. 1986; Takekoshi et al. 2005). Organochlorine compounds were found to have a strong affinity for activated charcoal in every experiment (Iwakiri et al. 2007). Twenty-four egg-laying hens participated in a controlled experiment in which they were administered feed containing the aforementioned organochlorine compounds for 30 weeks, with or without 0.5% BC. The organochlorine compounds' structure and aromaticity can lower PCDDs and PCDFs, non-ortho PCBs, and mono-ortho PCBs in eggs laying hens and tissues by more than 90%, 80%, and 50%, respectively (Fujita et al. 2012). Biochar binds many organochlorine chemicals, according to previous studies of polluted fish oil (Kawashima et al. 2009). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, in general, and higher aromatic molecules, in particular, show a substantial attraction to BC, as reported by Bucheli et al. (2015). Olkkola and Neuvonen (1989) found that supplementing human and animal diets with BC can considerably increase the elimination of PCB and dioxins. In terms of efficacy, BC may remove heavy metals and harmful elements and increase the use of biochar technology in water treatment (Inyang et al. 2016).

8 Detoxification of plant toxins

Regular BC consumption has various positive impacts, including reducing the negative outcomes of consuming naturally existing but potentially hazardous components like tannins, which are present in many diets (Struhsaker et al. 1997). Tannins are a chemical class spanning a broad spectrum, from being useful to poisonous, especially ruminants. Animals avoid eating beans and other high-protein foods because their tannins have a strong flavour that makes it difficult for them to digest and put on weight (Naumann et al. 2013). Some research has examined how BC feeding modifies the effect of tannin-rich diets. Goats fed a diet rich in tannins from acacia leaves gained 17% more weight per day when given 50-100 g of bamboo BC per kg in addition to their

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

regular diet, compared to goats fed a control diet without BC (Van et al. 2006). Both nitrogen conversion and crude protein digestion were found to have improved significantly. Weight increases of goats fed 50 or 100 g of bamboo BC feed additives were similar, indicating an optimum BC dose.

Banner et al. (2000) found that the absorption of compounds rich in tannins and terpenes was considerably enhanced by adding 10-25 g of activated charcoal to rye daily. Sage and other terpenic and tannin-rich bushes showed comparable results for Rogosic et al. (2006; 2009); however, Villalba et al. (2002) could not prove that lambs ingested significantly more sage because of BC-enhanced feed. Since there aren't enough new pasture plants for sheep to graze on during the winter, they eat bitterweed containing toxic amounts of sesquiterpene lactones. That's why Poage et al. (2006) experimented with feeding bitter weed to lambs at a rate of 0.5-1.5 g of BC per lamb per day. The lambs refused to take the feed containing bitter weed when BC was not there, but when BC was present, they ingested up to 26.4% of the total amount of feed given to them without exhibiting signs of toxicosis. The toxic effects of the invasive flowering plant Lantana camara are mitigated in sheep and goats by supplementation with BC at 5g/kg body weight (Pass and Stewart 1984; McLennan and Amos 1989). In a study on L. camara toxicity, five of six calves survived after receiving activated charcoal therapy, while all six of the untreated calves died (McKenzie 1991). Bentonite therapy had a similar success percentage in curing patients, albeit it took twice as long for patients to recover fully. Treatments for oleander poisoning in sheep and yellow tulip (Moraea pallida) poisoning in cattle yielded comparable, highly significant results (Snyman et al. 2009; Tiwary et al. 2009; Ozmaie 2011). In this regard, biochar is recognized as an essential candidate for treating common contaminants like inorganic contaminants, heavy metals, microbial contaminants, pharmaceuticals, endocrine-disrupting chemicals, volatile organic compounds, and personal care products occurring in drinking water (Palansooriya et al. 2020).

9 Mitigation of methane emission from ruminants

In support of production in the agricultural sector in a sustained manner, mitigation of the emission of methane from ruminants is a crucial concept (O'Reilly et al. 2021). An important source of atmospheric methane (CH₄) comes from the digestive tracts of ruminants (animals having four-compartment stomachs that ferment food as a major element of the digestive process). In omnivores like chickens, pigs, fish, and others, the breakdown of solid and liquid wastes is the primary source of greenhouse gas emissions, but in ruminants, waste results in direct gaseous emissions from gas and belching (burping) (Johnson and Johnson 1995). Hristov et al. (2013) found that ruminants account for about 81% of all greenhouse gases emissions from livestock production.

Greenhouse gases are major contributors to air pollution. Some 1.7 billion cattle, buffalo, and 2.2 billion sheep and goats make up the world's ruminant population (Searchinger et al. 2021). Tapio et al. (2017) found that 90% of cattle-related greenhouse gas emissions come from methane emissions, predominantly from rumen microbial methanogenesis. Livestock enteric fermentation produced 171 million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalents in 2016. Manure management accounts for 10% of methane emissions, whereas enteric fermentation in ruminants accounts for 26%. The symbiotic relationships between these ruminants and the bacteria, fungus, and protozoa in their rumen allow them to get their energy from a fibrous diet (Castillo-Gonzalez et al. 2014). Microorganisms that can break down cellulose are abundant in the rumen of ruminants. When anaerobic microbes in the rumen break down organic matter, "enteric methane" is produced. Domestic animal enteric methane emissions are expected to grow by 50% by 2050, from a projected 100 million tonnes of carbon dioxideequivalent in 2018 to more than a fifth of all agricultural emissions (Searchinger et al. 2020). Approximately 85% of worldwide emissions come from cattle and buffalo, while just 12% comes from sheep and goats (FAO 2019; Searchinger et al. 2021). Most methane is expelled through belching, while some make their way into the bloodstream and is expelled through the lungs (Danielsson et al. 2017).

Intestinal methane is produced by bacteria known as methanogenic archaea and methanotrophic archaea, respectively. Containing BC in soil amendments encourages the growth of methanotrophs, which in turn reduces methane emissions from the intestines of livestock by providing a habitat for methane oxidation in the stomach (Leng et al. 2012a). Methanotrophic proteobacteria and methanogenic archaea mostly carry out intestinal methane production. It was shown that methanotrophs produced more methane than they consumed (Feng et al. 2012). BC's ability to adsorb and absorb gases is crucial in lowering intestinal methanogenesis (Pereira et al. 2014; Danielsson et al. 2017). Thus, providing animals with BC can efficiently reduce their methane production in the digestive tract. Methane emissions were reduced by 15% when BC was incubated with rumen fluid (Leng et al. 2012b,c; Leng 2018). Furthermore, 9% BC (w/w) reduced intestinal methane emissions by 11%-17% (Hansen et al. 2012). Adding 1% BC (w/w) to cow diets has been shown to reduce methane output by 11-13% (Leng et al. 2012a). Using BC alone or in combination with nitrates lowered methane emissions by 22% and 41%, respectively (Leng et al. 2012b,c). When cows were cofed with BC at a concentration of 3.8% (w/w), methane emissions were reduced by 12.6L per cow per day (Khoa et al. 2018). Adding 0.8% BC to a cattle's diet during the growth and fattening stages resulted in a 9.5% and 18.4% reduction in gut methane emissions, respectively, and improved digestion (Kalus et al. 2019; Winders et al. 2019). Adding 0.5% BC to in vitro rumen testing reduced

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

methane generation by 25% (Saleem et al. 2018). Dairy ewes can minimize methane emissions and ammonia concentrations using BC made from chicken manure and walnut shells. Due to this reason, the incorporation of BC can be done effectively in the diet of dairy ewes as a cost-effective feed additive (Mirheidari et al. 2019). In conclusion, BC has been found to dramatically lower intestinal lumen methane emissions in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments.

10 Treatment of digestive disorders in animals

O'Toole et al. (2016) noted that charcoal had been used for decades to cure diarrhoea in people and animals. Feeding animals with charcoal was common in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. Horses can suffer from colic (Edmunds et al. 2016), dogs can experience flatulence (Giffard et al. 2001), and horses can absorb toxins (Kaye et al. 2012). Claw and foot disease causes substantial economic loss due to decreased body weight, milk output, dry matter intake, herd lifespan, and reproductive efficiency in chickens. The severity of the disease is significantly reduced by BC, which positively impacts animal health and productivity. Material "cow fortifiers" were commonly promoted in the late 19th and early 20th-century agricultural literature. The makers of these tonics claim to improve milk production, appetite, and stomach issues. It is a universal antidote for venoms and has been used to treat various venomous animal diseases, including botulism in chickens, tetanus, and Campylobacter jejuni bacterial toxin (Toth and Dou 2016).

11 Growth promotion and immunomodulatory effect

Like the mechanisms by which antibiotics boost growth, the mechanisms by which charcoal does so are likely to be convoluted (Van et al. 2006; Allen et al. 2013). Charcoal has been shown to improve nutrient absorption, fat digestion, complex plant secondary metabolites (Mekbungwan et al. 2008), promote the development of intestinal villi, and decrease stress hormones (Kana et al. 2010; Chu et al. 2013a). Weight increases (live) and feed conversion rates have been observed in fattening pigs supplemented with biochar in the diet (Lao and Mbega 2020). Growing pigs fed a diet containing 2% BC had no detrimental effects on the measured performance metrics (Schubert et al. 2021). In particular, Chu et al. (2013b) and Islam et al. (2014) investigated whether charcoal products might substitute antibiotics in enhancing the development of food animals and found that they could. Most of Europe's BC output-90%-goes toward animal husbandry, including cattle and poultry production, where it is utilized as a feed additive (Gerlach and Schmidt 2012; Kammann et al. 2016). The use of BC in agriculture is expected to increase at a CAGR of about 12.5% over the next eight years, starting in 2018. O'Toole et al. (2016) found that 0.1% to 4.0% of the daily feed intake was blended with feed grade BC. According to a plethora of

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org studies, including those by Leng et al. (2013), Winders et al. (2018), and Khoa et al. (2018), adding BC to feed has many benefits, including increased body weight gain and feed consumption, decreased usage of antibiotics, neutralization of chemical residues and other toxins in feed, and reduced gaseous methane emissions from the digestive tract.

12 Removal of pollutants and toxins in animals

According to Tan et al. (2016), BC can adsorb and remove heavy metals and contaminants (both organic and inorganic) from water and soil. Environmental pollutants and toxins can enter the body of animals through the food they consume. This contamination can be from human activity, pests, or even microorganisms. Including 0.5% BC in broiler diets improved growth and reduced the detrimental effects of aflatoxins (Teleb et al. 2004). The harmful bacterium Campylobacter jejuni was reduced in the gut microbiome of pullets after BC administration, as Prasai et al. (2016) reported. After oxidation by ozone and ammonia, carbon enterosorbents from rice husks could remove clinically relevant levels of uremic toxins (urea and creatinine) from the in vitro uremic toxin adsorption model tests (Jandosov et al. 2017). Biochars can catalyze abiotic reactions, particularly in the rhizosphere, that improve nutrient supply and absorb by plants, stimulate plant development, reduce phytotoxins, and increase resistance to environmental stressors and disease. On average, by Meta-analyses, biochars improve phosphorus availability by 4.6; decrease the concentration of heavy metals in plant tissues by 17%-39%, and reduce the emissions of non-CO2 greenhouse gas from the soil by 12%-50% (Joseph et al. 2021). Also, biochar addition increased the average crop yield by 10%-42% (Joseph et al. 2021).

13 Biochar feed management and quality assurance

Raw resources for making BC mostly come from biomass and organic materials. Similar ones are employed in the production of activated charcoal. The European Biochar Feed Certificate states that a complete BC analysis and control of all applicable feed regulation criteria must be performed before using BC in animal feed. If BC has been treated with an alkali or acid before its use as a feed supplement, the activator must be flushed out with water analysis. Furthermore, the EBC suggests preventing dust generation by constantly preparing and delivering BC when damp. We usually blend BC with all standard feed mixes because it may be applied to any feed. Animals fed BC may also be exposed to BC in their drinking water. When treating acute poisoning, an aqueous suspension of activated BC is recommended (Neuvonen and Olkkola 1988). BC can also be supplied to animals at pasture or stable drinking holes without being mixed in with regular feed, though this varies by species. Molasses and sweeteners such as saccharin, sugar, and related compounds are common BC additions (Cooney and Roach 1979). O'Toole et al. (2016) found that some farmers in Germany and Switzerland employ mechanized injection systems to add 1% (vol.) BC to silage towers and silage bales. In many cited tests, the combined effect was greater than that of the individual components fed separately (Galvano et al. 1996a).

Biochar may be combined with many other feed supplements to create compositions for specific purposes and animal types. Biochar's chemical absorption capability depends on its pore size distribution, surface area and charge. Even if the total surface area of activated BC grows (from about 300 m to >900 m) (Galvano et al. 1996b), the specific surface area grows even more. Micropores are typically too tiny to transport large molecules or pathogens vital to animal digestion. When tested against non-activated BC, highly-activated BC did not appreciably reduce the harmful effects of aflatoxin in chickens (Edrington et al. 1997). This was similarly true for other toxic compounds being tested. Thus, activating BC may not increase the target compound or organism adsorption capability. BC with an incredibly high concentration of accessible meso and macro holes can be made by adjusting the pyrolysis settings, eliminating the need for downstream activation (Brewer et al. 2014). Depending on the invocation technique, BC's ability to mediate electrons (and protons) is drastically altered during activation and acidification (Chen and McCreery 1996). However, no comprehensive studies of the effects of feeding animals modified BCs have been conducted as of yet.

It appears that pyrolysis temperature is the sole major factor impacting redox behaviour, with temperatures between 600 and 800°C being the most effective (Sun et al. 2017). Keep PAH levels below approved limits and lessen condensate deposition on BC surfaces. For the pyrolysis procedure to end successfully, the cooling BC must be actively degassed for a significant amount of time. Using an inert gas or adequate counterflow ventilation during discharge constitutes two methods proposed for achieving this goal (Bucheli et al. 2015). Bamboo (Chu et al. 2013a), corncob (Kana et al. 2012), straw (Cabeza et al., 2018), coconut shells, rice husk, rice, and rice hull were also used to produce BC in addition to wood. Recent articles assert that solid evidence supports favouring one type of biomass over another when making high-quality feed BC. If certain conditions are followed, biochar from woody or nonwoody precursors can be fed to animals. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, other organic contaminants, and the degree of carbonization are all measured and held to these requirements.

14 Possible side effects of biochar

According to the evidence reviewed here, neither activated nor unactivated BCs used as feed additives or veterinary treatments were hazardous or damaging to animals or the environment. No serious adverse effects were reported in the acute and chronic studies. There have been no reported adverse effects from the longterm, daily use of BC supplements by a rising number of farmers who give them to their cattle (Kammann et al. 2017). There have been few clinical studies of BC feeding over the long term (Struhsaker et al. 1997; Joseph et al. 2010). According to human studies, oral administration of activated carbon appears to pose few risks. However, long-term therapeutic feeding experiments using BC are lacking. Patients with uremia who were given 20-50 g of activated BC once or twice daily for 4-20 months saw no adverse effects (Yatzidis 1972). Human patients provided 10-20 g three times a day for several months by Olkkola and Neuvonen (1989) saw no adverse effects. There are two significant dangers associated with BC eating for an extended time: (1) alterations to the microbiome (the community of microorganisms that live in the digestive tract) and (2) the possible absorption of necessary feed ingredients and/or medications. Regarding the microbiome, research into the adsorptive potential of activated BC for grampositive bacteria in dairy cow digestive tracts was conducted (Naka et al. 2001).

Adsorption of the harmful gram-negative *E. coli* O157: H7 strain was much higher on activated BC than adsorption of typical, benign bacterial flora strains. The beneficial to pathogenic microorganisms ratio seemed to improve once BC was introduced. However, before any broad conclusions can be formed, a more comprehensive range of digestive and pathogenic microbes must be rigorously researched and their mechanisms understood. The effect of BC on microorganisms depends on the cell envelope, as the gram stain indicates, with gram-positive bacteria being either not sorbed to BC or poorly sorbed to BC. Cell envelope structure and gram positivity or negativity are not, however, reliable indicators of whether or not a bacterium is pathogenic.

Unlike vitamin E, which was lowered by 40% when chickens were given 0.5% BC daily, vitamins A and D3 did not demonstrate a statistically significant trend toward decreasing egg yolk levels. The eggs' fatty acids, mineral content and oxidative stability, did not alter after BC feeding, but this was the first indication that BC feeding could severely drop vitamin levels. Changes in egg yolk color indicate a loss of carotenoids, lending credence to the idea that, before recommending industrial-scale, long-term BC co-feeding, more research is needed, specifically focusing on animal fat-soluble supplements. Some may argue that the hazards associated with routinely supplementing with quality-controlled BC are negligible in light of the prevalence of herbicide and fungal toxin contamination in the feed given to livestock animals (Prasai et al. 2018a).

Conclusion and future prospects

Biochar's use in animal farming as a feed supplement is founded on activated charcoal's application in treating animal gastrointestinal diseases. Biochar can be used as a supplemental

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry

feed ingredient after being pyrolyzed, chemically, or physically activated. Biochar's physiochemical qualities are strongly linked to the feedstocks used and the pyrolysis temperature at which they were produced. More BC is formed from feedstock with greater lignin content; hence this usually results in a higher BC production. Some feedstuffs improve animal development and flavour due to the presence of specific components. The low surface area in BC may come from micropores blocked by the ash in the non-wood feedstock. BC as a feed additive has been proposed as beneficial for agriculture, the environment, and the animal husbandry industry. Positive benefits on animal growth have been observed when feeding biochar to animals, including cattle, goats, pigs, poultry, and fish. Cattle, pigs, and chickens could all benefit from a diet that includes biochar made from rice husks. Biochar's ability to create hospitable environments for methanogenic-methanotrophic microbial interactions in the gut and increase anaerobic methane oxidation in ruminants' digestive systems contributes to its ability to mitigate the animals' enteric methane emissions.

Because of its porous structure and huge surface area, BC, like activated charcoal, has a high sorption potential for removing hazardous substances from animals and the environment. The physiochemical features of biochar and the method used to make it determine its sorption capacity for toxicants. The sorption capacity of biochar generated at higher temperatures was typically greater. Forage digestibility and rumen fermentation kinetics were improved due to the higher pyrolysis temperature, producing smaller biochar particles. Adsorption of pathogens from meals containing biochar is one way to enhance poultry blood profiles and lessen their need for antibiotics. Biochar supplementation of animal meals looks to be a highly effective method for animal husbandry. Food and Agricultural Organization, World Health Organization, and European Biochar Foundation have established classification and certification requirements for standard biochar for use as a feed supplement and soil amendment, and their use is on the rise. These findings may benefit future efforts to develop BC for human consumption and control its use in animal diets.

Acknowledgement

All the authors acknowledge and thank their respective Institutes and Universities.

Author's contribution

All the authors contributed significantly.

Funding

This is a compilation written by its authors and required no substantial funding to be stated.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Disclosure statement

All authors declare that there exist no commercial or financial relationships that could, in any way, lead to a potential conflict of interest.

References

Ademoyero, A.A., & Dalvi, R.R. (1983). Efficacy of activated charcoal and other agents in the reduction of hepatotoxic effects of a single dose of aflatoxin B1 in chickens. *Toxicology Letters*, *16*(1-2), 153–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4274(83)90024-3

Allen, H.K., Levine, U.Y., Looft, T., Bandrick, M., & Casey, T.A. (2013). Treatment, promotion, commotion: Antibiotic alternatives in food-producing animals. *Trends in Microbiology*, *21*(3), 114–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2012.11.001

Altaf, A.R., Teng, H., Zheng, M., Ashraf, I., Arsalan, M., Rehman, A. U., Gang, L., Pengjie, W., Yongqiang, R., & Xiaoyu, L. (2021). One-step synthesis of renewable magnetic tea-biochar derived from waste tea leaves for the removal of Hg0 from coal-syngas. *Journal of Environmental Chemistry*, *9*, 105313. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c02925

Antal, M.J., & Grønli, M. (2003). The art, science, and technology of charcoal production. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, 42(8):1619-1640. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie0207919

Avantaggiato, G., Havenaar, R., & Visconti, A. (2004). Evaluation of the intestinal absorption of deoxynivalenol and nivalenol by an in vitro gastrointestinal model, and the binding efficacy of activated carbon and other adsorbent materials. *Food and chemical toxicology*, *42*(5), 817–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2004.01.004

Banner, R.E., Rogosic, J., Burritt, E.A., & Provenza, F.D. (2000). Supplemental barley and charcoal increase intake of sagebrush by lambs. *Journal of Range Management*, *53*(4), 415-420. https://doi.org/10.2307/4003753

Bhatti, S.A., Khan, M.Z., Hassan, Z.U., Saleemi, M.K., Saqib, M., Khatoon, A., & Akhter, M. (2018). Comparative efficacy of bentonite clay, activated charcoal and *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* in regulating the feed-to-tissue transfer of mycotoxins. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 98(3), 884–890. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8533

Bolan, N., Hoang, S. A., Beiyuan, J., Gupta, S., Hou, D., Karakoti,
A., Joseph, S., Jung, S., Kim, K.H., Kirkham, M.B., Kua, H.W.,
Kumar, M., Kwon, E.E., Ok, Y.S., Perera, V., Rinklebe, J.,
Shaheen, S.M., Sarkar, B., Sarmah, A.K., &. Van Zwieten, L.
(2022). Multifunctional applications of biochar beyond carbon
storage. *International Materials Reviews*, 67(2), 150200. https://doi.org/10.1080/09506608.2021.1922047

491

Brendova, K., Tlustos, P., Szakova, J., & Habart, J. (2012). Biochar properties from different materials of plant origin. *European Chemical Bulletin*, *1*, 535–539.

Brewer, C.E., Chuang, V.J., Masiello, C.A., Gonnermann, H., Gao, X., Dugan, B., Driver, L.E., Panzacchi, P., Zygourakis, K., & Davies, C. (2014). New approaches to measuring biochar density and porosity. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *66*, 176-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.03.059

Brown, T.R., Wright, M.M., & Brown, R.C. (2011). Estimating profitability of two biochar production scenarios: Slow pyrolysis vs fast pyrolysis. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 5*(1), 54-68. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.254

Bucheli, T.D., Hilber. I., & Schmidt, H.P. (2015). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and polychlorinated aromatic compounds in biochar. *Biochar for Environmental Management. London: Routledge*, 595-624.

Bueno, D.J., Di Marco, L., Oliver, G., & Bardón, A. (2005). In vitro binding of zearalenone to different adsorbents. *Journal of Food Protection*, 68(3), 613–615. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-68.3.613

Cabeza, I., Waterhouse, T., Sohi, S., & Rooke, J.A. (2018). Effect of biochar produced from different biomass sources and at different process temperatures on methane production and ammonia concentrations in vitro. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 237, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018.01.003

Castillo-Gonzalez, A.R., Burrola-Barraza, M.E., Dominguez-Viveros, J., & ChavezMartinez, A. (2014). Rumen microorganisms and fermentation. *Archivos de Medicina Veterinaria*, 46(3), 349– 361. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0301-732X2014000300003

Cederlund, H., Börjesson, E., & Stenström, J. (2017). Effects of a wood-based biochar on the leaching of pesticides chlorpyrifos, diuron, glyphosate and MCPA. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 191, 28-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.01.004

Chan, K.Y., Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., & Joseph, S. (2007). Agronomic values of greenwaste biochar as a soil amendment. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, *45*, 629-634. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR07109

Chen, P., & McCreery, R.L. (1996). Control of electron transfer kinetics at glassy carbon electrodes by specific surface modification. *Analytical Chemistry*, *68*(22), 3958-3965. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac960492r

Chu, G.M., Jung, C.K., Kim, H.Y., Ha, J.H., Kim, J.H., Jung, M.S., Lee, S.J., Song, Y., Ibrahim, R.I., Cho, J.H., Lee, S. S., &

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Song, Y.M. (2013a). Effects of bamboo charcoal and bamboo vinegar as antibiotic alternatives on growth performance, immune responses and fecal microflora population in fattening pigs. *Animal science journal = Nihon chikusan Gakkaiho*, *84*(2), 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1740-0929.2012.01045.x

Chu, G.M., Kim, J.H., Kim, H.Y., Ha, J.H., Jung, M.S., Song, Y., Cho, J.H., Lee, S.J., Ibrahim, R.H.I., Lee, S.S., & Song, Y.M. (2013b.) Effects of bamboo charcoal on the growth performance, blood characteristics and noxious gas emission in fattening pigs. *Journal of Applied Animal Resistance*, 41(1), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2012.738219

Cooney, D.O., & Roach, M. (1979). Sucrose as a sweetener for activated charcoal. *American Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, *36*(6), 797–798.

Crome, P., Dawling, S., Braithwaite, R.A., Masters, J., & Walkey, R. (1977). Effect of activated charcoal on absorption of nortriptyline. *Lancet (London, England)*, 2(8050), 1203–1205. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(77)90440-8

Dai, L., Tan, F., Li, H., Zhu, N., He, M., Zhu, Q., Hu, G., Wang, L., & Zhao, J. (2017). Calcium-rich biochar from the pyrolysis of crab shell for phosphorus removal. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *198*(1), 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.04.057

Dai, Y., Zhang, N., Xing, C., Cui, Q., & Sun, Q. (2019). The adsorption, regeneration and engineering applications of biochar for removal organic pollutants: A review. *Chemosphere*, 223, 12–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.01.161

Dalvi, R.R., & Ademoyero, A.A. (1984). Toxic effects of aflatoxin B1 in chickens given feed contaminated with *Aspergillus flavus* and reduction of the toxicity by activated charcoal and some chemical agents. *Avian diseases*, 28(1), 61–69.

Dalvi, R.R., & McGowan, C. (1984). Experimental induction of chronic aflatoxicosis in chickens by purified aflatoxin B1 and its reversal by activated charcoal, phenobarbital, and reduced glutathione. *Poultry Science*, *63*(3), 485–491. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0630485

Danielsson, R., Dicksved, J., Sun, L., Gonda, H., Müller, B., Schnürer, A., & Bertilsson, J. (2017). Methane production in dairy cows correlates with rumen methanogenic and bacterial community structure. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 226. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00226

Dawling, S., Crome, P., & Braithwaite, R. (1978). Effect of delayed administration of activated charcoal on nortriptyline absorption. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *14*, 445-447.

Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry

Dayang, Y., Jinjia, N., Longchun, Z., Kaiyu, C., Guanyi, W., Meilin, Y., Dandan, L., & Zhiliang, Y. (2022). Biochar raw material selection and application in the food chain: A review. *Science of The Total Environment, 836*,155571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155571.

De Mil, T., Devreese, M., Maes, A., De Saeger, S., De Backer, P., & Croubels, S. (2017). Influence of mycotoxin binders on the oral bioavailability of tylosin, doxycycline, diclazuril, and salinomycin in fed broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, *96*(7), 2137–2144. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew503

Denli, M., & Okan, F. (2006). Efficacy of different adsorbents in reducing the toxic effects of aflatoxin B1 in broiler diets. S. Afr. J. *Animal Science*, *36*(4), 222–228.

Devreese, M., Antonissen, G., DeBacker, P., & Croubels, S. (2014). Efficacy of active carbon towards the absorption of deoxynivalenol in Pigs. *Toxins*, *6*(10), 2998-3004. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins6102998

Devreese, M., Osselaere, A., Goossens, J., Vandenbroucke, V., De Baere, S., Eeckhout, M., De Backer, P., & Croubels, S. (2012). New bolus models for in vivo efficacy testing of mycotoxindetoxifying agents in relation to EFSA guidelines, assessed using deoxynivalenol in broiler chickens. *Food additives & contaminants. Part A, Chemistry, Analysis, Control, Exposure & Risk Assessment, 29*(7), 1101–1107. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19440049.2012.671788

Di Natale, F., Gallo, M., & Nigro, R. (2009). Adsorbents selection for aflatoxins removal in bovine milks. *Journal of Food Protection*, 95, 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2009.04.023

Diaz, D.E., Hagler, W. M., Jr, Blackwelder, J.T., Eve, J.A., Hopkins, B.A., Anderson, K.L., Jones, F.T., & Whitlow, L.W. (2004). Aflatoxin binders II: reduction of aflatoxin M1 in milk by sequestering agents of cows consuming aflatoxin in feed. *Mycopathologia*, *157*(2), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1023/ b:myco.0000020587.93872.59

Döll, S., Dänicke, S., Valenta, H., & Flachowsky, G. (2004). In vitro studies on the evaluation of mycotoxin detoxifying agents for their efficacy on deoxynivalenol and zearalenone. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, *58*(4), 311–324. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039420412331273268

Dutta, A., Anex, R.P., Aden, A., Kazi, F.K., Fortman, J., Swanson, R.M., Wright, M.M., Satrio, J.A., Brown, R.C., Daugaard, D.E., Platon, A.,& Kothandaraman, G. (2010). Techno-economic comparison of biomass-to-transportation fuels via pyrolysis, gasification, and biochemical pathways. *Fuel*, *89*, 29-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.07.015

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Edmunds, J.L., Worgan, H.J., Dougal, K., Girdwood, S. E., Douglas, J.L., & McEwan, N.R. (2016). In vitro analysis of the effect of supplementation with activated charcoal on the equine hindgut. *Journal of Equine Science*, 27(2), 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1294/jes.27.49

Edrington, T.S., Kubena, L.F., Harvey, R.B., & Rottinghaus, G.E. (1997). Influence of a superactivated charcoal on the toxic effects of aflatoxin or T-2 toxin in growing broilers. *Poultry Science*, *76*(9), 1205–1211. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/76.9.1205

Edrington, T.S., Sarr, A.B., Kubena, L.F., Harvey, R.B., & Phillips, T.D. (1996). Hydrated sodium calcium aluminosilicate (HSCAS), acidic HSCAS, and activated charcoal reduce urinary excretion of aflatoxin M1 in turkey poults. Lack of effect by activated charcoal on aflatoxicosis. *Toxicology Letters*, *89*(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-4274(96)03795-2

Erb, F., Gairin, D., & Leroux, N. (1989). Activated charcoals: properties-experimental studies. *Journal de Toxicologie Clinique et Experimentale*, *9*(4), 235–248.

Evans, A.M., Boney, J.W., & Moritz, J.S. (2017). The effect of poultry litter biochar on pellet quality, one to 21 d broiler performance, digesta viscosity, bone mineralization, and apparent ileal amino acid digestibility. *Journal for Applications of Poultry Resistance*, *26*, 89–98. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr/pfw049

Evans, A.M., Loop, S.A., & Moritz, J. S. (2015). Effect of poultry litter biochar diet inclusion on feed manufacture and 4- to 21-d broiler performance. *Journal for Application of Poultry Resistance*, 24, 380–386. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr/pfv039

FAO. (2019). Food and Agricultural Organization - Improving soil health and mitigating climate change: is biochar part of the solution?. Available at: https://www.fao.org/energy/news/news-details/en/c/1295174/. Accessed on: 30 May 2023

Feng, Y., Xu, Y., Yu, Y., Xie, Z., & Lin, X. (2012). Mechanisms of biochar decreasing methane emission from Chinese paddy soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *46*, 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.11.016

Foster, T.S., Morley, H.V., Purkayastha, R., Greenhalgh, R., & Hunt, J.R. (1972). Residues in eggs and tissues of hens fed a ration containing low levels of pesticides with and without charcoal. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *65*(4), 982-988. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/65.4.982

Fujita, H., Honda, K., Iwakiri, R., Guruge, K.S., Yamanaka, N., & Tanimura, N. (2012). Suppressive effect of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins, polychlorinated dibenzofurans and dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls transfer from feed to eggs of laying hens

by activated carbon as feed additive. *Chemosphere*, 88(7), 820–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.03.088

Galvano, F., Pietri, A., Bertuzzi, T., Bognanno, M., Chies, L., DE Angelis, A., & Galvano, M. (1997). Activated carbons: in vitro affinity for fumonisin B_1 and relation of adsorption ability to physicochemical parameters. *Journal of Food Protection*, 60(8), 985–991. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-60.8.985

Galvano, F., Pietri, A., Bertuzzi, T., Fusconi, G., Galvano, M., Piva, A., & Piva, G. (1996b). Reduction of carryover of aflatoxin from cow feed to milk by addition of activated carbons. *Journal of Food Protection*, *59*(5), 551–554. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-59.5.551

Galvano, F., Pietri, A., Bertuzzi, T., Piva, A., Chies, L., & Galvano, M. (1998). Activated carbons: in vitro affinity for ochratoxin A and deoxynivalenol and relation of adsorption ability to physicochemical parameters. *Journal of Food Protection*, *61*(4), 469–475. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-61.4.469

Galvano, F., Pietri, A., Fallico, B., Bertuzzi, T., Scirè, S., Galvano, M., & Maggiore, R. (1996a). Activated carbons: in vitro affinity for aflatoxin B_1 and relation of adsorption ability to physicochemical parameters. *Journal of Food Protection*, *59*(5), 545–550. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-59.5.545

Gerlach, H., & Schmidt, H. P. (2012). Biochar in poultry farming. *Ithaka Journal*, *1*, 262–264.

Gerlach, H., Gerlach, A., Schrödl, W., Schottdorf, B., Haufe, S., Helm, H., Shehata, A., & Krüger, M. (2014). Oral application of charcoal and humic acids to dairy cows influences *Clostridium botulinum* blood serum antibody level and glyphosate excretion in urine. *Journal of Clinical Toxicology*, 4(2), 186. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0495.186

Giffard, C.J., Collins, S.B., Stoodley, N.C., Butterwick, R.F., & Batt, R.M. (2001). Administration of charcoal, *Yucca schidigera*, and zinc acetate to reduce malodorous flatulence in dogs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 218(6), 892–896. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2001.218.892

Hagemann, N., Spokas, K., Schmidt, H. P., K€agi, R., Bohler, M., & Bucheli, T. (2019). Activated carbon, biochar and charcoal: Linkages and synergies across pyrogenic carbon's ABCs. *Water*, *10*(2), 182. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10020182

Haider, F. U., Wang, X., Zulfiqar, U., Farooq, M., Hussain, S., Mehmood, T., Naveed, M., Li, Y., Liqun, C., Saeed, Q., Ahmad, I., & Mustafa, A. (2022). Biochar application for remediation of organic toxic pollutants in contaminated soils; An

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org update. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 248, 114322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.114322

Hall, K.E., Spokas, K.A., Gamiz, B., Cox, L., Papiernik, S.K., & Koskinen, W.C. (2018). Glyphosate sorption/desorption on biochars - interactions of physical and chemical processes. *Pest Management Science*, 74(5), 1206–1212. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4530

Hansen, H.H., Storm, I.D., & Sell, A.M. (2012). Effect of biochar on in vitro rumen methane production. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica*, 62(4), 305–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09064702.2013.789548

Herath, I., Kumarathilaka, P., Al-Wabel, M. I., Abduljabbar, A., Ahmad, M., Usman, A.R.A., & Vithanage, M. (2016). Mechanistic modeling of glyphosate interaction with rice husk derived engineered biochar. *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, 225, 280-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2016.01.017

Hristov, A.N., Oh, J., Lee, C., Meinen, R., Montes, F., Ott, T., Firkins, J., Rotz, A., Dell, C., & Adesogan, A. (2013). Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in livestock production. A review of technical options for non-CO emissions. *Rome: FAO*, 9-63.

Huang, Y.M., Li, G., Li, M., Yin, J., Meng, N., Zhang, D., Cao, X.Q., Zhu, F.P., Chen, M., Li, L., & Lyu, X.J. (2021). Kelpderived N-doped biochar activated peroxymonosulfate for ofloxacin degradation. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 754, 141999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141999

Humphreys, F.R., & Ironside, G.E. (1980). *Charcoal from New South Wales species of timber*. Forestry Commission of New South Wales.

Huwig, A., Freimund, S., Käppeli, O., & Dutler, H. (2001). Mycotoxin detoxication of animal feed by different adsorbents. *Toxicology Letters*, *122*(2), 179–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0378-4274(01)00360-5

Inyang, M.I., Bin, G., Ying, Y., Yingwen, X., Andrew, Z., Ahmed, M., Pratap. P., Yong, S.O., & Xinde, C. (2016). A review of biochar as a low-cost adsorbent for aqueous heavy metal removal. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(4), 406-433. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2015.1096880

Islam, M.M., Ahmed, S.T., Kim, Y.J., Mun, H.S., Kim, Y.J., & Yang, C.J. (2014). Effect of sea tangle (*Laminaria japonica*) and charcoal supplementation as alternatives to antibiotics on growth performance and meat quality of ducks. *Asian Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 27(2), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2013.13314

493

Iwakiri, R., Asano, R., & Honda, K. (2007). Effects of carbonaceous adsorbent on accumulation and excretion of dioxins in rat. *Organohalogen Compound*, *69*, 2391-2394.

Jandosov, J.M., Mikhalovska, L.I., Howell, C.A., Chenchik, D.I., Kosher, B.K., Lyubchik, S.B., Silvestre-Albero, J., Ablaikhanova, N.T., Srailova, G.T., Tuleukhanov, S.T., & Mikhalovsky, S.V. (2017). Synthesis, morphostructure, surface chemistry and preclinical studies of nanoporous rice husk-derived Biochars for gastrointestinal detoxification. *Eurasian Chemico-Technological Journal*, *19*(4), 303-313. http://doi.org/10.18321/ectj678

Jarczyk, A., Bancewicz, E., & Jędryczko, R. (2008). An attempt at inactivation of ochratoxin A in pigs' feed with two feed-added adsorbents. *Animal Science Paper and Report*, 26(4), 269–276.

Jaynes, W., Zartman, R., & Hudnall, W. (2007). Aflatoxin B1 adsorption by clays from water and corn meal. *Applied Clay Science*, *36*(1–3), 197-205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2006.06.012

Jiang, J. F., Li, L. H., Cui, M. C., Zhang, F., Liu, Y. X., Liu, Y. H., Long, J. Y., & Guo, Y.F. (2018). Anaerobic digestion of kitchen waste: the effects of source, concentration, and temperature. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, *135*, 91–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/app8101804

Johnson, K. A., & Johnson, D. E. (1995). Methane emissions from cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73, 2483–2492. https://doi.org/10.2527/1995.7382483x

Joseph, S., Cowie, A.L., Van Zwieten, L., Bolan, N., Budai, A., Buss, W., Cayuela, M.L., Graber, E.R., Ippolito, J.A., Kuzyakov, Y., Luo, Y., Ok, Y.S., Palansooriya, K.N., Shepherd, J., Stephens, S., Weng, Z., & Lehmann, J. (2021). How biochar works, and when it doesn't: A review of mechanisms controlling soil and plant responses to biochar. *GCB Bioenergy*, *13*, 1731–1764. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12885

Joseph, S., Pow, D., Dawson, K., Mitchell, D.R.G., Rawal, A., Hook, J., & Solaiman, Z.M. (2015). Feeding biochar to cows: An innovative solution for improving soil fertility and farm productivity. *Pedosphere*, *25*(5), 666–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1002-0160(15)30047-3

Joseph, S.D., Camps-Arbestain, M., Lin, Y., Munroe, P., Chia, C.H., & Hook, J. (2010). An investigation into the reactions of biochar in soil. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, *48*, 501-515. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR10009

Kalus, K., Koziel, J.A., & Opalinski, S. (2019). A review of biochar properties and their utilization in crop agriculture and livestock production. *Applied Sciences*, *9*, 3494. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9173494

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Kalus, K., Koziel, J.A., & Opaliński, S. (2019). A Review of Biochar Properties and Their Utilization in Crop Agriculture and Livestock Production. *Applied Sciences*, 9(17):3494. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9173494

Kameyama, K., Miyamoto, T., Iwata, Y., & Shiono, T. (2016). Influences of feedstock and pyrolysis temperature on the nitrate adsorption of biochar. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, *62*(2), 180-184. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2015.1136553

Kammann, C., Ippolito, J., Hagemann, N., Borchard, N., Cayuela, M.L., Estavillo, J.M., & Wrage-Monnig, N. (2017). Biochar as a tool to reduce the agricultural greenhouse- gas burden–knowns, unknowns and future research needs. *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Landscape Management*, 25(2), 114–139. https://doi.org/10.3846/16486897.2017. 1319375

Kammann, C.I., Glaser, B., & Schmidt, H.P. (2016). Combining biochar and organic amendments. In S. Shackley, G. Ruysschaert, K. Zwart, & B. Glaser (Eds.) *Biochar in European Soils and Agriculture: Science and Practice. London: Routledge* (pp. 136-164).

Kana, J.R., Teguia, A., & Fomekong, A. (2012). Effect of substituting soybean meal with cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) supplemented with natural plant charcoals in broiler diet on growth performances and carcass characteristics. *Iranian Journal of Applied Animal Science*, 2(4), 377–381.

Kana, J.R., Teguia, A., Mungfu, B.M., & Tchoumboue, J. (2010). Growth performance and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens fed diets supplemented with graded levels of charcoal from maize cob or seed of *Canarium schweinfurthii*. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, *43*(1), 51-56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-010-9653-8

Kawashima, A., Watanabe, S., Iwakiri, R., & Honda, K. (2009). Removal of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs from fish oil by countercurrent supercritical CO2 extraction and activated carbon treatment. *Chemosphere*, *75*(6), 788–794. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.12.057

Kaye, B.M., Elliott, C.R.B., & Jalim, S.L. (2012). Methiocarb poisoning of a horse in Australia. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, *90*(6), 221–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.2012.00910.x

Khoa, MA., Quang, N.H., Thang, T.V., Phung, T.V., & Kien, T.T. (2018). Effect of tannin in green tea by-product in combination with bio-char supplemented into basal beef cattle diet on nutrient digestibility, methane production and animal performance. *Open Journal of Animal Sciences*, 08(03), 206–214. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojas.2018.83015

495

Kim, K.S., Kim, Y.H., Park, J.C., Yun, W., Jang, K.I., Yoo, D. I., Lee, D.H., Kim, B.G., & Cho, J.H. (2017). Effect of organic medicinal charcoal supplementation in finishing pig diets. *Korean Journal of Agricultural Science*, 44, 50-59. https://doi.org/10.7744/kjoas.20170006

Kiran, Y.K., Barkat, A., Xiao-qiang, C.U.I., Ying, F., Feng-shan, P., & Lin, T. (2017). Cow manure and cow manure-derived biochar application as a soil amendment for reducing cadmium availability and accumulation by *Brassica chinensis L.* in acidic red soil. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture, 16*(3), 725-734

Koltowski, M., Charmas, B., Skubiszewska-ZieRba, J., & Oleszczuk, P. (2017). Effect of biochar activation by different methods on toxicity of soil contaminated by industrial activity. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *136*, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.10.033

Kubena, L.F., Harvey, R.B., Phillips, T.D., Corrier, D.E., & Huff, W.E. (1990). Diminution of aflatoxicosis in growing chickens by the dietary addition of a hydrated, sodium calcium aluminosilicate. *Poultry Science*, *69*, 727–735. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0690727

Kumar, A., Bhattacharya, T., Shaikh, W.A., Roy, A., Mukherjee, S., & Kumar, M. (2021). Performance evaluation of crop residue and kitchen waste-derived biochar for eco-efficient removal of arsenic from soils of the indo-gangetic plain: a step towards sustainable pollution management. *Environmental Research*, 200, 111758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111758

Kutlu, H.R., Ünsal, I., & Görgülü, M. (2001). Effects of providing dietary wood (oak) charcoal to broiler chicks and laying hens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, *90*(3–4), 213-226 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(01)00205-X

Lao, E.J., & Mbega, E.R. (2020). Biochar as a feed additive for improving the performance of farm animals. *Malaysian Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, *4*(2), 86-93. http://doi.org/10.26480/mjsa.02.2020.86.93

Leng, R.A. (2018). Unravelling methanogenesis in ruminants, horses and kangaroos: The links between gut anatomy, microbial biofilms and host immunity. *Animal Production Science*, *58*(7), 1175–1191. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN15710

Leng, R.A., Inthapanya, S., & Preston, T.R. (2012a). Biochar lowers net methane production from rumen fluid in vitro. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 24(6), 1.

Leng, R.A., Inthapanya, S., & Preston, T.R. (2012b). Methane production is reduced in an in vitro incubation when the rumen fluid is taken from cattle that previously received biochar in their diet. *Gas*, *1050*(1488), 1367.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Leng, R.A., Inthapanya, S., & Preston, T.R. (2013). All biochars are not equal in lowering methane production in in vitro rumen incubations. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 25, 106.

Leng, R.A., Preston, T.R., & Inthapanya, S. (2012c). Biochar reduces enteric methane and improves growth and feed conversion in local "Yellow" cattle fed cassava root chips and fresh cassava foliage. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 24, Article#199.

Li, Y.Y., Jin, Y.Y., & Li, J.H. (2016). Enhanced split-phase resource utilization of kitchen waste by thermal pre-treatment. *Energy*, *98*, 155–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.01.013

Man, K.Y., Chow, K.L., Man, Y.B., Mo, W.Y. and Wong, M.H. (2021). Use of biochar as feed supplements for animal farming. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, *51*(2), 187-217. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2020.1721980

Mangold E. (1936). Die Verdaulichkeit der Futtermittel in ihrer Abhängigkeit von verschiedenen Einflüssen. Forschungsdienst— Reichsarbeitsgemeinschaften d. Landwirtschaftswissenschaft, 1, 862-867.

McFarlane, Z., Myer, P., Cope, E., Evans, N., Carson Bone, T., Biss, B., & Mulliniks, J. (2017). Effect of biochar type and size on in vitro rumen fermentation of Orchard Grass Hay. *Agricultural Sciences*, *08*(04), 316–325. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2017.84023

McKenzie R.A. (1991). Bentonite as therapy for *Lantana camara* poisoning of cattle. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 68(4), 146–148. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1991.tb03159.x

McLennan, M.W., & Amos, M.L. (1989). Treatment of lantana poisoning in cattle. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 66(3), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1989.tb09754.x

Mekbungwan, A., Yamauchi, K., Sakaida, T., & Buwjoom, T. (2008). Effects of a charcoal powderwood vinegar compound solution in piglets for raw pigeon pea seed meal. *Animal*, *2*(3), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731107001243

Mézes, M., Balogh, K., & Tóth, K. (2010). Preventive and therapeutic methods against the toxic effects of mycotoxins - a review. *Acta veterinaria Hungarica*, 58(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1556/AVet.58.2010.1.1

Mirheidari, A., Torbatinejad, N.M., Shakeri, P., & Mokhtarpour, A. (2019). Effects of walnut shell and chicken manure biochar on in vitro fermentation and in vivo nutrient digestibility and performance of dairy ewes. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, *51*(8), 2153–2160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-019-01909-y

Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry

Mohan, D., Pittman, C.U.Jr., & Steele, P. H. (2006). Pyrolysis of wood/biomass for biooil: A critical review. *Energy & Fuels*, 20, 848–889. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef050239

Nageswara Rao, S.B., & Chopra, R.C. (2001). Influence of sodium bentonite and activated charcoal on aflatoxin M1 excretion in milk of goats. *Small Ruminant Resistance*, 41, 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-4488(01)00216-4

Naka, K., Watarai, S., Tana, Inoue, K., Kodama, Y., Oguma, K., Yasuda, T., & Kodama, H. (2001). Adsorption effect of activated charcoal on enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *The Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 63(3), 281–285. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.63.281

Naumann, H.D., Muir, J.P., Lambert, B.D., Tedeschi, L.O., & Kothmann, M.M. (2013). Condensed tannins in the ruminant environment: a perspective on biological activity. *Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, *1*, 8-20. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1806-92902017001200009

Neuvonen, P.J., & Olkkola, K.T. (1988). Oral activated charcoal in the treatment of intoxications. Role of single and repeated doses. *Medical Toxicology and Adverse Drug Experience*, *3*(1), 33–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03259930

Novotny, E.H., Maia, C.M.F., Carvalho, M.T.M., & Madari, B.E. (2015). Biochar: Pyrogenic carbon for agricultural use—A critical review. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo, 39*(2), 321-344. https://doi.org/10.1590/01000683rbcs20140818

O'Toole, A., Andersson, D., Gerlach, A., Glaser, B., Kammann, C., Kern, J., & Srocke, F. (2016). Current and future applications for biochar. In Shackley, S., Ruysschaert, G., Zwart, K., & Glaser, B. (Eds.) *Biochar in European Soils and Agriculture. Science And Practice* (pp. 253–280), London, Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315884462

Olkkola, K.T., & Neuvonen, P.J. (1989). Treatment of intoxications using single and repeated doses of oral activated charcoal. *Journal de Toxicologie Clinique ett Experimentale*, *9*(4), 265–275.

O'Reilly, G.C., Huo, Y., Meale, S.J., & Chaves, A. V. (2021). Dose response of biochar and wood vinegar on in vitro batch culture ruminal fermentation using contrasting feed substrates. *Translational Animal Science*, *5*(3), txab107. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txab107

Ozmaie, S. (2011). The effect of propranolol hydrochloride and activated charcoal in treatment of experimental oleander (*Nerium oleander*) poisoning in sheep. *Toxicology Letters*, 205, S91.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Palansooriya K.N., Yi, Y., Yiu, F.T., Binoy, S., Deyi, H., Xinde, C.E.M., Jörg, R., Ki-Hyun, K., & Yong, S.O. (2020). Occurrence of contaminants in drinking water sources and the potential of biochar for water quality improvement: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, *50*(6), 549-611. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1629803

Pass, M.A., & Stewart, C. (1984). Administration of activated charcoal for the treatment of lantana poisoning of sheep and cattle. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, *4*(5), 267–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2550040512

Patel, A.K., Singhania, R.R., Pal, A., Chen, C.W., Pandey, A., & Dong, C.D. (2022). Advances on tailored biochar for bioremediation of antibiotics, pesticides and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon pollutants from aqueous and solid phases. *The Science of The Total Environment*, *817*, 153054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153054

Peng, X., Ye, L. L., Wang, C. H., & Bo, S. (2011). Temperature and duration dependent rice straw derived biochar: Characteristics and its effects on soil properties of an Ultisol in southern China. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *112*(2), 159-166.

Pereira, R.C., Muetzel, S., Arbestain, M.C., Bishop, P., Hina, K., & Hedley, M. (2014). Assessment of the influence of biochar on rumen and silage fermentation: A laboratory scale experiment. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, *196*, 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.06.019

Peterson, S.C., Jackson, M.A., Kim, S., & Palmquist, D.E. (2012). Increasing biochar surface area: Optimization of ball milling parameters. *Powder Technology*, 228, 115-120. https://doi.org/0.5772/intechopen.82151

Poage, G.W.I., Scott, C.B., Bisson, M.G., & Hartmann, S.F. (2006). Activated charcoal attenuates bitterweed toxicosis in sheep. *Journal of Range Management Archives*, *53*(1), 73-78. https://doi.org/10.2307/4003395

Prasai, T.P., Walsh, K.B., Bhattarai, S.P., Midmore, D.J., Van, T.T., Moore, R.J., & Stanley, D. (2016). Biochar, bentonite and zeolite supplemented feeding of layer chickens alters intestinal microbiota and reduces Campylobacter load. *PLoS One*, *11*(4), e0154061. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154061

Prasai, T.P., Walsh, K.B., Midmore, D.J., & Bhattarai, S.P. (2018a). Effect of biochar, zeolite and bentonite feed supplements on egg yield and excreta attributes. *Animal Production Science*, 58(9), 1632

Prasai, T.P., Walsh, K.B., Midmore, D.J., Jones, B.E.H., & Bhattarai, S.P. (2018b). Manure from biochar, bentonite and

Nair et al.

zeolite feed supplemented poultry: Moisture retention and granulation properties. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 216, 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.08.040

Rashidi, N., Khatibjoo, A., Taherpour, K., Akbari-Gharaei, M., & Shirzadi, H. (2020). Effects of licorice extract, probiotic, toxin binder and poultry litter biochar on performance, immune function, blood indices and liver histopathology of broilers exposed to aflatoxin-B₁. *Poultry Science*, *99*(11), 5896–5906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.08.034

Reddy, K.R. (2015). Characteristics and applications of biochar for environmental remediation: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 45, 939-969 https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2014.924180

Rogosic, J., Moe, S.R., Skobic, D., Knezovic, Z., Rozic, I., Zivkovic, M., & Pavlicevic, J. (2009). Effect of supplementation with barley and activated charcoal on intake of biochemically diverse Mediterranean shrubs. *Small Ruminant Research*, *81*(2–3), 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2008.11.010

Rogosic, J., Pfister, J.A., Provenza, F.D., & Grbesa, D. (2006). The effect of activated charcoal and number of species offered on intake of Mediterranean shrubs by sheep and goats. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 101(3–4):305-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2006.01.012

Ronsse, F., Hecke, S., Dickinson, D., & Prins, W. (2013). Production and characterization of slow pyrolysis biochar: Influence of feedstock type and pyrolysis conditions. *GCB Bioenergy*, *5*, 104-115 https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12018

Safaei Khorram, M., Zhang, Q., Lin, D., Zheng, Y., Fang, H., & Yu, Y. (2016). Biochar: A review of its impact on pesticide behavior in soil environments and its potential applications. *Journal of environmental sciences (China)*, 44, 269–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2015.12.027

Saleem, A.M., Ribeiro, G.O., Yang, W.Z., Ran, T., Beauchemin, K.A., McGeough, E.J., & McAllister, T.A. (2018). Effect of engineered biocarbon on rumen fermentation, microbial protein synthesis, and methane production in an artificial rumen (RUSITEC) fed a high forage diet. *Journal of Animal Science*, *96*, 3121–3130. https://doi.org/10. 1093/jas/sky204

Schmidt, H.P., Hagemann, N., Draper, K., & Kammann, C. (2019). The use of biochar in animal feeding. *PeerJ*, *7*, e7373. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7373.

Schmidt, H.P., Kammann, C., Hagemann, N., Leifeld, J., Bucheli, T. D., SJnchez Monedero, M. A., & Cayuela, M. L. (2021). Biochar in agriculture –A systematic review of 26 global meta-

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org analyses. GCB Bioenergy, 13, 1708–1730. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12889

Schubert, D.C., Chuppava, B., Witte, F., Terjung, N. & Visscher, C. (2021) Effect of two different Biochars as a component of compound feed on nutrient digestibility and performance parameters in growing pigs. *Frontiers in Animal Science*, *2*, 633958. https://doi.org/10.3389/fanim.2021.633958

Searchinger, T.D., Zeng, Z., Wang, D., Yang, L., Wu, J., Ziegler, A.D., Liu, M., Ciais, P., Yang, Z.L., Chen, D., & Chen, A. (2021). Deforestation-induced warming over tropical mountain regions regulated by elevation. *Nature Geoscience*, *14*(1), 23-29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-020-00666-0

Searchinger, T.D., Guo, Y., Chen, Y., Zhou, M., Pan, D., Yang, J., Wu, L., Cui, Z., Zhang, W., Zhang, F., & Ma, L. (2020). Air quality, nitrogen use efficiency and food security in China are improved by cost-effective agricultural nitrogen management. *Nature Food*, *1*(10), 648-658. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-00162-z

Shakoor, M.B., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., Abbas, F., Bibi, I., Riaz, M., Khalil, U., Niazi, N.K., & Rinklebe, J. (2020). A review of biochar-based sorbents for separation of heavy metals from water. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, *22*(2), 111–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2019.1647405

Shehata, A.A., Schrödl, W., Aldin, A.A., Hafez, H.M., & Krüger, M. (2013). The effect of glyphosate on potential pathogens and beneficial members of poultry microbiota in vitro. *Current Microbiology*, *66*(4), 350–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-012-0277-2

Shi, Z., Yan, J., Ren, X., Wen, M., Zhao, Y., & Wang, C. (2021). Effects of biochar and thermally treated biochar on *Eisenia fetida* survival, growth, lysosomal membrane stability and oxidative stress. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 770, 144778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144778

Skutetzky, A., & Starkenstein, E. (1914). *Die neueren Arzneimittel und die pharmakologischen Grundlagen ihrer Anwendung*. Berlin: Julius Springer Verlag.

Smalley, H.E., Crookshank, H.R., & Radeleff, R.D. (1971). Use of activated charcoal in preventing residues of ronnel in sheep. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *19*(2), 331–332. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60174a015

Snyman, L.D., Schultz, R.A., Botha, C.J., Labuschagne, L., & Joubert, J.P. (2009). Evaluation of activated charcoal as treatment for Yellow tulp (*Moraea pallida*) poisoning in cattle. *Journal of*

497

Beneficial impacts of biochar as a potential feed additive in animal husbandry

the South African Veterinary Association, 80(4), 274–275. https://doi.org/10.4102/jsava.v80i4.227

Sohi, S., Loez-Capel, S., Krull, E., & Bol, R. (2009). Biochar's roles in soil and climate change: A review of research needs. *CSIRO Land and Water Science Report*, 5(09), 17-31 https://doi.org/10.4225/08/58597219a199a

Steinegger, P., & Menzi, M. (1955). Versuche über die Wirkung von Vitamin-Zusätzen nach Verfütterung von Adsorbentien an Mastpoulets. *Gefluegelhof*, *18*, 165-176

Struhsaker, T.T., Cooney, D.O., & Siex, K.S. (1997). Charcoal consumption by zanzibar red colobus monkeys: Its function and its ecological and demographic consequences. *International Journal of Primatology*, *18*, 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026341207045

Sullivan, A.L., & Ball, R. (2012). Thermal decomposition and combustion chemistry of cellulosic biomass. *Atmospheric Environment*, 47, 133-141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.11.022

Sun, T., Levin, B.D., Guzman, J.J., Enders, A., Muller, D.A., Angenent, L.T., & Lehmann, J. (2017). Rapid electron transfer by the carbon matrix in natural pyrogenic carbon. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 14873. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14873

Takekoshi, H., Suzuki, G., Chubachi, H., & Nakano, M. (2005). Effect of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* on fecal excretion and liver accumulation of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin in mice. *Chemosphere*, 59(2), 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2004.11.026

Tan, X.F., Liu, Y.G., Gu, Y.L., Xu, Y., Zeng, G.M., Hu, X.J., & Li, J. (2016). Biochar based nano-composites for the decontamination of wastewater: A review. *Bioresource Technology*, *212*, 318–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.04.093

Tapio, I., Snelling, T.J., & Strozzi, F. (2017). The ruminal microbiome associated with methane emissions from ruminant livestock. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, *8*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-017-0141-0

Teleb, S.M., Nassr, D.E.S., & Nour, E.M. (2004). Synthesis and infrared spectra of alkaline earth metal carbonates formed by the reaction of metal salts with urea at high temperature. *Bulletin of Materials Science*, *27*, 483-485.

Tiwary, A.K., Poppenga, R.H., & Puschner, B. (2009). In vitro study of the effectiveness of three commercial adsorbents for binding oleander toxins. *Clinical toxicology (Philadelphia, Pa.)*, 47(3), 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/15563650802590314

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Toth, J.D., & Dou, Z. (2016). Use and impact of biochar and charcoal in animal production systems. In: Guo M, He Z, Uchimiya SM, eds. Agricultural and Environmental Applications of Biochar: Advances and Barriers. *Madison: Soil Science Society of America*, 199-224 https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaspecpub63.2014.0043.5

Totusek, R., & Beeson, W.M. (1953). The nutritive value of wood charcoal for pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, *12*(2), 271-281

Tumuluru, J.S., Sokhansanj, S., Hess, J.R., Wright, C.T., & Boardman, R.D. (2011). A review on biomass torrefaction process and product properties for energy applications. *Industrial Biotechnology*, *7*, 384-402. https://doi.org/10.1089/ind.2011.7.384

Usman, A.R., Ahmad, M., El-Mahrouky, M., Al-Omran, A., Ok, Y.S., Sallam, A., El-Naggar, A. H., & Al-Wabel, M.I. (2016). Chemically modified biochar produced from conocarpus waste increases NO3 removal from aqueous solutions. *Environmental Geochemistry* and *Health*, 38(2), 511–521. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-015-9736-6

Van, D.T.T., Mui, N.T., & Ledin, I. (2006). Effect of method of processing foliage of *Acacia mangium* and inclusion of bamboo charcoal in the diet on performance of growing goats. *Animal Feed Science and Technology, 130*(3–4), 242-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2006.01.008

Villalba, J.J., Provenza, F.D., & Banner, R.E. (2002). Influence of macronutrients and activated charcoal on intake of sagebrush by sheep and goats. *Journal of Animal Science*, *80*, 2099-2109. https://doi.org/10.1093/ansci/80.8.2099

Waheed, Q., Nahil, M., & Williams, P. (2013). Pyrolysis of waste biomass: Investigation of fast pyrolysis and slow pyrolysis process conditions on product yield and gas composition. *Journal of the Energy Institute*, 86(4), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1179/ 1743967113Z. 0000000067

Wang, M., Wang, J.J., Tafti, N.D., Hollier, C.A., Myers, G., & Wang, X. (2019). Effect of alkali-enhanced biochar on silicon uptake and suppression of gray leaf spot development in perennial ryegrass. *Crop Protection*, *119*, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2019.01.013

Willson, N.L., Van, T.T., Bhattarai, S.P., Courtice, J.M., McIntyre, J.R., Prasai, T.P., & Stanley, D. (2019). Feed supplementation with biochar may reduce poultry pathogens, including *Campylobacter hepaticus*, the causative agent of spotty liver disease. *PLoS One*, *14*(4), e0214471. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214471

Wilson, K.A., & Cook, R.M. (1970). Metabolism of xenobiotics in ruminants. Use of activated carbon as an antidote for pesticide

poisoning in ruminants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 18(3), 437–440. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf60169a026

Winders, T.M., Jolly-Breithaupt, M.L., Freeman, C.B., Mark, B.M., Erickson, G.E., & Watson, A.K. (2018). Evaluating the effect of feeding biochar to cattle on methane production and diet digestibility. *10th International Livestock Environment Symposium* (*ILES X*) (*p. 1*). *American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, Omaha, Nebraska.* https://doi.org/10.13031/iles.18-148

Winders, T.M., Jolly-Breithaupt, M.L., Wilson, H.C., MacDonald, J.C., Erickson, G.E., & Watson, A.K. (2019). Evaluation of the effects of biochar on diet digestibility and methane production from growing and finishing steers. *Translational Animal Science*, *3*(2), 775–783. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txz027

Xu, C., Tan, X., Zhao, J., Cao, J., Ren, M., Xiao, Y., & Lin, A. (2021). Optimization of biochar production based on environmental risk and remediation performance: Take kitchen waste for example. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *416*, 125785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.125785

Xu, C., Zhao, J., Yang, W., He, L., Wei, W., Tan, X., Wang, J., & Lin, A. (2020). Evaluation of biochar pyrolyzed from kitchen waste, corn straw, and peanut hulls on immobilization of Pb and

Cd in contaminated soil. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987)*, 261, 114133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114133

Yang, Q., Cui, P., Liu, C., Fang, G., Huang, M., Wang, Q., Zhou, Y., Hou, H., & Wang, Y. (2021). In situ stabilization of the adsorbed Co²⁺ and Ni²⁺ in rice straw biochar based on LDH and its reutilization in the activation of peroxymonosulfate. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *416*, 126215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126215

Yatzidis, H. (1972). Activated charcoal rediscovered. *British Medical Journal*, 4(5831), 51. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.4.5831.51

Yoshimura, H., Kamimura, H., Oguri, K., Honda, Y., & Nakano, M. (1986). Stimulating effect of activated charcoal beads on fecal excretion of 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorodibenzofuran in rats. *Chemosphere*, *15*(3), 219-227. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(86)90017-2

Zhu, S., Huang, X., Ma, F., Wang, L., Duan, X., & Wang, S. (2018). Catalytic removal of aqueous contaminants on N-doped graphitic biochars: inherent roles of adsorption and nonradical mechanisms. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *52*(15), 8649-8658. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01817





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Role of IGF-1 in goat semen freezing: A Review

Kaustubh Sharma^{1,2}, Ravi Ranjan^{1*}, Saurabh Gupta²

¹ICAR-Central Institute for Research on Goats, Makhdoom, Farah, Mathura, U.P.-281122 ²Department of Biotechnology, GLA University, Mathura, U.P., India

Received – January 27, 2023; Revision – May 22, 2023; Accepted – June 09, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).500.505

KEYWORDS

IGF-1

Semen

Goats

Spermatozoa

Seminal

ABSTRACT

This review is based on the importance of Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1) in goat semen cryopreservation. Recent studies indicate that certain growth factors determine the seminal quality due to the interaction between seminal plasma and spermatozoa. Cryopreservation is the technique used to preserve semen at extremely low temperatures for extended periods, which is essential for artificial insemination (AI) and selective breeding programs. IGF-I promotes the proliferation and maturation of spermatozoa. IGF-I is involved in sperm motility, DNA fragmentation, membrane integrity and fertilizing capacity. There was a significant positive correlation between the weight of animals and IGF-1 genotype diversity. This review aims to investigate the effect of IGF-1 fortification in semen cryopreservation. Further, the review article also assesses the role of IGF-1 in improving the post-thaw quality and viability of goat semen, with the ultimate goal of enhancing the success rates of AI. The research gap this review aims to fill is the limited understanding of the role of IGF-1 fortification on goat semen cryopreservation.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: dr_raviranjan@yahoo.co.in (Ravi Ranjan)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



Role of IGF-1 in goat semen freezing: A Review

1 Introduction

Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) regulates the cell cycle, promotes cell proliferation, or prevents apoptosis (Ziegler et al. 2015; Werner et al. 2016). In the context of goat semen cryopreservation, adding egg yolk to the semen extender before freezing is a common practice to protect the sperm membrane from the sudden drop in temperature. However, the presence of lecithin in egg yolks can interact with phospholipase enzymes from the bulbourethral goat gland, leading to the production of lysolecithin, which may have toxic effects on goat sperm, causing membrane damage and loss of motility (Sauerwein et al. 2000; Macpherson et al. 2002). IGF-I is found in seminal plasma and helps in testicular spermatogenesis and steroidogenesis, with dysregulation potentially contributing to male infertility (Sauerwein et al. 2000; Macpherson et al. 2002).

Milk and dairy products contain significant amounts of IGFs and IGF-binding proteins (IGFBPs). While research has primarily focused on IGFs, there have been reports of shortened IGFBPs and IGFBP glycosylation in milk, although IGFBPs have received less attention than IGFs (Meyer et al. 2017). High concentrations of IGF-1 in milk promote the proliferation of human colon cancer cell culture (Purup et al. 2007). This raises concerns about the potential health risks associated with consuming milk and other dairy products, highlighting the importance of considering IGF-1 levels when evaluating their safety.

IGF-I is structurally and functionally similar to insulin and act via endocrine, autocrine and paracrine processes to regulate the growth, development and differentiation of cells and tissues (Partridge et al. 2011; Kim 2014; Thornton et al. 2016). The level of this hormone can be influenced by various factors, including the duration of breastfeeding and individual traits (Rasouli et al. 2017). Studies have shown that IGF-1 levels in milk and dairy products can vary based on breed, lactation stage, and management practices (Meyer et al. 2017). Considering the potential risks associated with high IGF-1 levels, it is crucial to investigate further and understand the relationship between IGF-1 in dairy products and its potential impact on human health.

The coding gene of growth hormone (calpastatin, IGF-1, leptin, pituitary transcription factor-1) are the key genetic determinant influencing goat weight (Schenkel et al. 2005; Casas et al. 2006; Misrianti 2009; Arman et al. 2012).

2 Mechanism of action of IGF-1

The mechanism of action of IGF-1 involves promoting cell proliferation and differentiation and preventing apoptosis (Ziegler et al. 2015; Werner et al. 2016). It acts as a growth factor that regulates the cell cycle and plays a significant role in various

physiological processes, including spermatogenesis and steroidogenesis (Sauerwein et al. 2000; Macpherson et al. 2002).

The regulation of IGF-1 and insulin levels in the blood is influenced by dietary factors, particularly protein and calorie intake. Studies have shown that food consumption, especially the amount of protein consumed, can affect the circulating levels of IGF-1 and insulin (Magistrelli et al. 2005). This highlights the importance of proper nutrition in modulating the levels of these growth factors.

In the context of milk and dairy products, it is worth mentioning that they contain significant amounts of IGF and IGFBP. While the focus has primarily been on IGFs, the role of IGFBPs in milk has received less attention (Meyer et al. 2017). High concentrations of IGF-1 in milk serum have been associated with the growth and development of human colon cancer cells (Purup et al. 2007). Therefore, the presence of IGFs in dairy products raises concerns regarding their potential impact on human health, particularly concerning cancer risk.

The IGF-1 gene is a key gene influencing goat weight; its genotype diversity has also been associated with this (Lestari et al. 2020). This phenomenon suggests that variations in the IGF-1 genotype contribute to goats' growth and weight differences. Identifying and characterizing genes associated with favourable phenotypes, including the IGF-1 gene, can provide valuable information for improving goat breeding programs and ensuring their sustainability.

Furthermore, climatic variables such as photoperiod, temperature, and the temperature-humidity index have been found to impact the level of IGF-1 in young goats. Increases in photoperiod and ambient temperature have been associated with higher IGF-1 output in goats (Pehlivan 2019). This highlights the influence of environmental factors on regulating IGF-1 levels and suggests the need to consider these factors when studying the role of IGF-1 in goat physiology.

In conclusion, the mechanism of action of IGF-1 involves its regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival. Dietary factors influence its levels, and its presence in milk and dairy products raises concerns regarding its potential effects on human health. The IGF-1 gene plays a crucial role in goat weight, and environmental factors can impact the levels of IGF-1 in goats. Understanding the complex interactions and functions of IGF-1 in various biological processes can provide valuable insights for both animal breeding programs and human health considerations.

3 Types of IGF-1

IGF-I, IGF-II and IGFBP-2 have been found in goat milk (Prosser 1996). Studies in goats have demonstrated that these peptides can cross from circulation to breast secretions (Prosser and Schwander

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Sharma et al.

Table 1 Different type of IGF and its role				
Type of IGF	Location	Role	Reference	
IGF-I	Seminal plasma (horse)	Presence confirmed after immunoprecipitation and Western ligand blotting	Macpherson et al. 2002	
IGF-II	Human seminal plasma	Identified in human seminal plasma along with other IGFBPs and protease activity of IGFBP-3	Baxter et al. 1984; Ramasharma et al. 1986; Ovesen et al. 1995	
IGFBP-1	Human seminal plasma	Found in human seminal plasma along with other IGFBPs and protease activity of IGFBP-3	Baxter et al. 1984; Ramasharma et al. 1986; Ovesen et al. 1995	
IGFBP-2	Seminal plasma (horse, equine)	Quantified in equine seminal plasma; levels unaffected by sexual activity	Macpherson et al. 2002	
IGFBP-4	Human seminal plasma	Identified in human seminal plasma along with other IGFBPs and protease activity of IGFBP-3	Baxter et al. 1984; Ramasharma et al. 1986; Ovesen et al. 1995	
IGFBP-5	Equine seminal plasma	Present in equine seminal plasma	Macpherson et al. 2002	
Fragments of IGFBP-3	Human seminal plasma	Identified in human seminal plasma along with other IGFBPs and protease activity of IGFBP-3	Baxter et al. 1984; Ramasharma et al. 1986; Ovesen et al. 1995	

1996). Similarly, the most prevalent IGFBPs in pig milk include IGFBP-2, IGFBP-3, IGFBP-4 and an unidentified IGFBP with a molecular weight of 28 kDa (Monaco et al. 2005). IGFBP-5 was recently discovered using mass spectrometry in the milk of tammar wallabies (Modepalli et al. 2016). During parturition, the concentration of IGF-I, IGF-II and IGFBPs are typically higher compared to later stages of breastfeeding (Meyer et al. 2017). IGF-II has been investigated as a modulator of prolactin dependant morphogenesis, as its production restored alveologenesis in prolactin receptor-defective mammary epithelial cells (MEC).

In-vitro studies have shown that sodium butyrate, fortified as dosedependent in milk, increases messenger RNA expression and IGFBP-3 secretion. This, in turn, leads to the enhancement of growth hormone and IGF-I concentrations in the blood of calves (Wang et al. 2017). Dairy processing techniques affect the amount of IGF 1 and its binding protein. The intact and fragmented IGF-I, IGFBP-2 and IGFBP-5 forms were found in milk samples (Meyer et al. 2017).

Furthermore, in cattle, GH and IGF-I play a vital role in regulating osteogenesis and muscle development (Curi et al. 2005). However, it is worth noting that the content provided does not directly address the role of IGF-I in semen freezing or its impact on sperm parameters. The information primarily focuses on the presence and effects of IGF-I, IGF-II, and IGFBPs in milk and their significance in various contexts.

Levels of IGF-I and IGFBP-2 were determined in seminal plasma using radioimmunoassay. IGFBPs were found in seminal horse

plasma after immunoprecipitation, and Western ligand blotting techniques were used to confirm their presence. Equine seminal plasma included IGF-I, IGFBP-2, and IGFBP-5. IGF-I, IGF-I/protein, total IGF-I, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-2/protein, and total IGFBP-2 levels in seminal plasma were not markedly different (P < 0.13) (Macpherson et al. 2002). It has also been investigated how IGF proteins work as post-testicular regulators of reproductive function. Human seminal plasma has been shown to include IGF-I, IGFBP-3 protease ability (Baxter et al. 1984; Ramasharma et al. 1986; Ovesen et al. 1995). Equine seminal plasma samples were used to quantify IGF-I and IGFBP-2. Sexual activity did not alter IGF-I and IGFBP-2 levels.

The freezing of goat semen is a crucial technique in preserving genetic material for long-term storage and breeding programs. However, it is important to consider the potential implications of IGF-1 in both semen freezing and milk production. This comprehensive review aims to examine the role of IGF-1 in goat semen freezing while addressing its presence and effects in milk.

4 IGF-1 in Semen Freezing

Previous studies have highlighted a correlation between seminal plasma IGF-1 levels and sperm motility, appearance, and fertility rates. To further understand the impact of IGF-1, investigations have been conducted to assess DNA fragmentation, membrane integrity, and fertilizing capacity. These studies have shed light on the important aspect of IGF-1 in sperm function and its importance in maintaining the quality of frozen goat semen.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

5 Source of IGF-1

IGF-1 and its binding proteins in colostrum are more compared to the serum of Holstein neonates (Gale et al. 2004). Leydig and Sertoli cells release IGF-I, present in seminal plasma from the testes. IGF-I is crucial in spermatozoa movement, germ cell differentiation, and development (Roser and Hess 2001; Henricks et al. 1998). Photoperiod significantly affects the levels IGF-1 in goats (Flores et al. 2018).

6 Role of IGF-1 in semen diluents

The IGF system impacts the physiology and operation of sperm in several animals (Selvaraju et al. 2012). The differences in IGF-I concentration in seminal plasma affected the signal for germ cell growth, maturation, and spermatozoa viability (Selvaraju et al. 2012). The IGF-I complex from seminal plasma affected goat spermatozoa membrane intactness, capacitation, and DNA integrity. Skim milk-egg yolk extender formulations included diluted buck semen. IGF-I supplementation enhances the quality of semen in various species, including goats and bulls (Kumar et al. 2019). The sustainability of semen samples and their ability to maintain optimal quality may be attributed to the presence of antioxidant activities. However, these antioxidant activities can be depleted or lost during the handling of seminal plasma, especially when dilution is required, leading to a decrease in their levels and potentially placing strain on the cells. When discussing the importance of antioxidants in maintaining sperm quality and protecting against oxidative stress, the concept of glutathione (GSH) and its role in seminal dilution can be introduced. GSH, as an essential antioxidant, serves as a vital function in protein synthesis that may be lost during oxidative stress. Additionally, it forms a protective shield over sperm membranes to prevent lipid peroxidation and the generation of harmful free radicals (Almeida et al. 2021).

In seminal dilution, the loss of GSH can occur due to various factors, such as dilution during sample processing or exposure to reactive oxygen species. This reduction in GSH levels may have implications for sperm health and viability, compromising the ability to repair oxidative damage and maintain optimal cellular function.

7 Status of IGF-1 in semen diluents

This topic concerns numerous national and international research projects, works, and conferences. The effects of IGF-I on sperm capacitation, membrane intactness, and DNA integrity in goat spermatozoa have been reported by Susilowati et al. (2015). Gauthier et al. (2006) explored the physiological importance of IGFs and IGFBPs in milk. IGFBP ranking was proposed in bovine mammary secretions (Blum and Baumrucker 2002; 2008). Work

has been done on stallions at the international level; 51 lightbreeds, 3 to 20-year-old stallions were sampled for ejaculates from January through August 2000 in Florida, Maryland, and Texas.

8 Future Prospects

IGF-1 fortification could be a valuable tool for improving goats' artificial insemination and selective breeding programs. However, the effects of IGF-1 supplementation on the cryopreservation of goat semen is still needed more study. Specifically, future research should focus on the (i) optimal dose of IGF-1 for supplementation, (ii) timing of IGF-1 supplementation, (iii) duration of IGF-1 supplementation and (iv) the effects of IGF-1 supplementation and capacitation. With further research, IGF-1 supplementation could become a standard practice for improving the cryopreservation of goat semen. This would significantly impact the goat industry, enhancing the artificial insemination per cent and selective breeding programs.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this review has shed light on the role of IGF-1 in goat semen cryopreservation and its implications for seminal quality. Various growth factors influence the interaction between seminal fluid and sperm cells, with IGF-I being recognized as one of the most significant factors due to its promotion of germ cell proliferation and sperm maturation. The freezing aspect of goat semen cryopreservation is a crucial factor to consider when examining the role of IGF-1 in seminal quality. Cryopreservation, which involves storing semen samples at extremely low temperatures, is essential for long-term storage and transportation. The review has aimed to highlight the potential involvement of IGF-I in sperm function by exploring the correlation between IGF-I and important attributes such as spermatozoa motility, appearance, and fertility rates.

Additionally, identifying genes associated with favourable phenotypes has been a focus, as it holds promise for enhancing goat breeding programs and ensuring their sustainability. Considering the safety of dairy products, the review suggests that IGF-I should be considered when assessing their safety profile. High levels of this hormone have been associated with potential cancer risk in individuals consuming milk and other dairy products. Thus, more study is required on the implications and potential health risks associated with IGF-I in dairy products.

Furthermore, the review has revealed a significant correlation between goat weight and the genetic diversity of IGF-1. This finding underscores the importance of genetic factors in influencing IGF-1 levels and highlights the potential for using IGF-1 as a marker for desirable traits in goat breeding programs.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

504

Overall, this review serves as a roadmap for future studies in the field, providing valuable insights into the role of IGF-1 in goat semen cryopreservation and its broader implications for reproductive processes and dairy product safety. Continued research in this area will contribute to further advancements in goat breeding and the development safe and sustainable dairy products.

Conflict of Interest

I hereby declare that there is no conflict of interest for publication of this manuscript on behalf of all authors.

Acknowledgements

Authors thank the Department of Bio-Technology, Ministry of Science and Technology, GOI, New Delhi, India (Project No. 102008) for financial support and the Director, ICAR-CIRG, Mathura, for facilitating all necessary facilities for the smooth and timely conduct of the different experiments.

References

Almeida, D. S., Pinto, S. C. C., Alves, M. B. R., Galiza, Y. S., et al. (2021). Glutathione and IGF-1 in bovine seminal cryopreservation: oxidative stress response and pregnancy rate. *Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia*, 73, 311-319.

Arman, C., Sumantri, C., & Gurnadi, E. (2012). A novel single nucleotide polymorphism in Exon 4 of insulin-like growth factor-1 associated with production traits in bali cattle. *Media Peternakan*, *35*(2), 96-96.

Baxter, R. C., Martin, J. L., & Handelsman, D. J. (1984). Identification of human semen insulin-like growth factor-I/somatomedin-C immunoreactivity and binding protein. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *106*(3), 420-427.

Blum, J. W., & Baumrucker, C. R. (2002). Colostral and milk insulin-like growth factors and related substances: mammary gland and neonatal (intestinal and systemic) targets. *Domestic animal endocrinology*, 23(1-2), 101-110.

Blum, J. W., & Baumrucker, C. R. (2008). Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), IGF binding proteins, and other endocrine factors in milk: role in the newborn. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*, *606*, 397–422. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-74087-4_16.

Casas, E., White, S. N., Wheeler, T. L., Shackelford, S. D., Koohmaraie, M., et al. (2006). Effects of calpastatin and μ -calpain markers in beef cattle on tenderness traits. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84(3), 520-525.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Curi, R. A., De Oliveira, H. N., Silveira, A. C., & Lopes, C. R. (2005). Association between IGF-I, IGF-IR and GHRH gene polymorphisms and growth and carcass traits in beef cattle. *Livestock Production Science*, *94*(3), 159-167.

Flores, M. J., Flores, J. A., Duarte, G., Vielma, J., Delgadillo, J. A., & Hernández, H. (2018). Artificial long-day photoperiod in the subtropics increases body weight in goat kids born in the autumn. *Small Ruminant Research*, *169*, 181-185.

Gale, S. M., Castracane, V. D., & Mantzoros, C. S. (2004). Energy homeostasis, obesity and eating disorders: recent advances in endocrinology. *The Journal of nutrition*, *134*(2), 295-298.

Gauthier, S. F., Pouliot, Y., & Maubois, J. L. (2006). Growth factors from bovine milk and colostrum: composition, extraction and biological activities. *Le Lait*, 86(2), 99-125.

Henricks, M. J., Roser, J. L., & Hess, R. E. (1998). Effects of insulin-like growth factor-I on ram sperm motility, morphology, and fertility. *Journal of Animal Science*, *76*(12), 3569-3576.

Kim, J. W. (2014). Modulation of the somatotropic axis in periparturient dairy cows. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 27(1), 147-154. doi:10.5713/ajas.2013.13139.

Kumar, P., Pawaria, S., Dalal, J., Bhardwaj, S., Patil, S., Jerome, A., & Sharma, R. K. (2019). Serum and seminal plasma IGF-1 associations with semen variables and effect of IGF-1 supplementation on semen freezing capacity in buffalo bulls. *Animal reproduction science*, 204, 101-110.

Lestari, D. A., Oikawa, T., Sutopo, S., Purbowati, E., Setiaji, A., & Kurnianto, Edy. (2020). Effect of insulin-like growth factor 1 gene on growth traits of Kejobong goat and its growth analysis.*Vet World*, *13*(1), 127–133.

Macpherson, M. L., Simmen, R. C. M., Simmen, F. A., Hernandez, J., et al. (2002). Insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2 and-5 in equine seminal plasma: association with sperm characteristics and fertility. *Biology of Reproduction*, 67(2), 648-654.

Magistrelli, D., Valli, A., & Rosi, F. (2005). Insulin and IGF-1 in goat milk: influence of the diet. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 4(sup2), 386-388.

Meyer, Z., Hoflich, C., Wirthgen, E., Olm, S., Hammon, H. M., & Hoeflich, A. (2017). Analysis of the IGF-system in milk from farm animals–Occurrence, regulation, and biomarker potential. *Growth Hormone & IGF Research*, *35*, 1-7.

Misrianti, R. (2009). Identifikasi Keragaman Gen Pituitary-Specific Positive Transcription Factor 1 (Pit1) pada Kerbau Lokal

Role of IGF-1 in goat semen freezing: A Review

(Bubalus bubalis) dan Sapi Friesian-Holstein. Jurnal Ilmu Ternak dan Veteriner, 14(2), 119-124.

Modepalli, V., Hinds, L. A., Sharp, J. A., Lefevre, C., & Nicholas, K. R. (2016). Marsupial tammar wallaby delivers milk bioactive to altricial pouch young to support lung development. *Mechanisms of development*, *142*, 22-29.

Monaco, M. H., Gronlund, D. E., Bleck, G. T., Hurley, W. L., Wheeler, M. B., & Donovan, S. M. (2005). Mammary specific transgenic over-expression of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) increases pig milk IGF-I and IGF binding proteins, with no effect on milk composition or yield. *Transgenic research*, *14*(5), 761-773.

Ovesen, P., Flyvbjerg, A., & Orskov, H. (1995). Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and IGF binding proteins in seminal plasma before and after vasectomy in normal men. *Fertility and sterility*, *63*(4), 913-918.

Partridge, L., Alic, N., Bjedov, I., & Piper, M. D. (2011). Ageing in Drosophila: the role of the insulin/Igf and TOR signalling network. *Experimental gerontology*, *46*(5), 376-381.

Pehlivan, E. (2019). Relationship between insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) concentrations and body trait measurements and climatic factors in prepubertal goat kids. *Archives Animal Breeding*, 62(1), 241-248.

Prosser, C. G. (1996). Insulin-like growth factors in milk and mammary gland. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 1(3), 297-306.

Prosser, C. G., & Schwander, J. (1996). Influence of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-2 on plasma clearance and transfer of insulin-like growth factors-I and-II from plasma into mammaryderived lymph and milk of goats. *Journal of endocrinology*, *150*(1), 121-127.

Purup, S., Vestergaard, M., Pedersen, L. O., & Sejrsen, K. (2007). Biological activity of bovine milk on proliferation of human intestinal cells. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 74(1), 58-65.

Ramasharma, K., Cabrera, C. M., & Li, C. H. (1986). Identification of insulin-like growth factor-II in human seminal and follicular fluids. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 140(2), 536-542.

Rasouli, S., Abdolmohammadi, A., Zebarjadi, A., & Mostafaei, A. (2017). Evaluation of polymorphism in IGF-I and IGFBP-3 genes and their relationship with twinning rate and growth traits in Markhoz goats. *Annals of Animal Science*, *17*(1), 89-103.

Roser, J. L., & Hess, R. E. (2001). Effect of insulin-like growth factor-I on the fertility of frozen-thawed bull sperm. *Journal of Animal Science*, *79*(12), 3489-3494.

Sauerweina, H., Breier, B. H., Gallaher, B. W., Götz, C., Küfner, G., Montag, T., Vickers, M., & Schallenberger, E. (2000). Growth hormone treatment of breeding bulls used for artificial insemination improves fertilization rates. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, *18*(1), 145-158.

Schenkel, F. S., Miller, S. P., Ye, X., Moore, S. S., Nkrumah, J. D., Li, C., Yu, J., Mandell, I.B., Wilton, J.W., & Williams, J. L. (2005). Association of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the leptin gene with carcass and meat quality traits of beef cattle. *Journal of animal science*, 83(9), 2009-2020.

Selvaraju, S., Sivasubramani, T., Raghavendra, B. S., Raju, P., Rao, S. B. N., Dineshkumar, D., & Ravindra, J. P. (2012). Effect of dietary energy on seminal plasma insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I), serum IGF-I and testosterone levels, semen quality and fertility in adult rams. *Theriogenology*, 78(3), 646-655.

Susilowati, S., Triana, I. N., & Malik, A. (2015). The effects of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) complex from seminal plasma on capacitation, membrane integrity and DNA fragmentation in goat spermatozoa. *Asian Pacific Journal of Reproduction*, 4(3), 208-211.

Thornton, K. J., Kamanga-Sollo, E., White, M. E., & Dayton, W. R. (2016). Active g protein–coupled receptors (gpcr), matrix metalloproteinases 2/9 (mmp2/9), heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (hbegf), epidermal growth factor receptor (egfr), erbb2, and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (igf-1r) are necessary for trenbolone acetate–induced alterations in protein turnover rate of fused bovine satellite cell cultures. *Journal of animal science*, 94(6), 2332-2343.

Wang, C., Liu, Q., Zhang, Y.L., Pei, C.X., Zhang, S.L., Guo, G., Huo, W.J., Yang, W.Z., Wang, H. (2017). Effects of isobutyrate supplementation in pre-and post-weaned dairy calves diet on growth performance, rumen development, blood metabolites and hormone secretion. *Animal*, *11*(5), 794-801.

Werner, H., Sarfstein, R., LeRoith, D., & Bruchim, I. (2016). Insulin-like growth factor 1 signaling axis meets p53 genome protection pathways. *Frontiers in oncology*, *6*, 159.

Ziegler, A. N., Levison, S. W., & Wood, T. L. (2015). Insulin and IGF receptor signalling in neural-stem-cell homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *11*(3), 161-170.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Sources, blood concentrations, and approaches for reducing exposure to lead: A critical appraisal on lead poisoning

Ruhul Amin^{1†}, Faruk Alam^{1†}, Biplab Kumar Dey^{1†}, Ronald Darwin^{2†}, Shajed Ali Ahmed³, Chandrashekar Thalluri^{1†}, Kuldeep Dhama⁴, Sandip Chakraborty⁵, Deepak Chandran⁶, Jithendar Reddy Mandhadi^{1*}

¹Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Assam down town University, Panikhaiti, Gandhinagar, Guwahati, Assam-781026, India

²School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Vels Institute of Science Technology & Advanced Studies, Chennai - 600 11, India

³Department of zoology, Assam Brilliant Academy, Simlaguri, Assam, India

⁴Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Bareilly, Izatnagar, Uttar Pradesh 243122, India

⁵Department of Veterinary Microbiology, College of Veterinary Sciences and Animal Husbandry, R.K. Nagar, West Tripura, Tripura, Pin 799008, India

⁶Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Kerala, India

[†]Authors contributed equally

Received – May 20, 2023; Revision – June 21, 2023; Accepted – June 27, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).506.519

KEYWORDS

Lead

Sources of exposure

Ayurvedic preparations

Workplace exposure

Lead poisoning

EDTA

Amelioration

ABSTRACT

Lead, a non-essential metal, enters the body in various ways, making it a major public health issue. Painters and smelters report lead poisoning in children and staff. Mining and battery workers risk lead exposure. Traditional and cultural remedies may include dangerous quantities of lead, producing lead poisoning. These drugs must be properly understood and regulated to avoid toxicity. Lead poisoning symptoms vary by duration and severity. Lead first impairs cognition, development, and behaviour by damaging the neural system. Time degrades reproductive and haematological systems. Lead's quiet entry into the body makes it deadly. Acute lead nephropathy damages kidneys at 100mg/dL. Lead levels exceeding 150mg/dL may induce encephalopathy. Blood lead levels indicate lead poisoning severity. Lead levels over 10g/dL in children and 40g/dL in adults are hazardous. Lead toxicity affects various organs. Lead may induce hypertension and cardiovascular disease. It may also cause chronic kidney disease and renal failure. Lead exposure may impede fertility, cause miscarriages, and alter foetal development; hence the reproductive system is vulnerable. Symptoms and lead levels may be treated with different approaches. Lead chelation treatment is frequent. Other vitamins and medications may enhance

* Corresponding author

E-mail: jithendarm88@gmail.com (Jithendar Reddy Mandhadi)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



organ function and treat lead poisoning. Lead poisoning prevention requires widespread awareness. Strict standards and education regarding lead-contaminated products and conventional remedies should reduce occupational lead exposure. Regular blood lead level monitoring, especially in youngsters and lead workers, may help detect and treat lead poisoning early. Lead poisoning has serious health consequences. Understanding lead exposure pathways, identifying symptoms, and preventing lead poisoning is essential to public health and organ system protection.

1 Introduction

Lead, an abundant environmental metalthe most common industrial hazard, with a lengthy history reaching 360 B Lead reference levels in different media serve as critical benchmarks: blood lead levels should be less than 2 micrograms per decilitre, ambient air levels should be less than 1.5 to 3 micrograms per cubic metre, and paint levels should be less than 90 parts per million. The occurrence of increased lead levels in various mediums necessitates rapid medical treatment. Traditional treatments have been linked to many recorded instances of lead poisoning in India (Kute et al. 2013).

A source of lead found potentially everywhere is tap water, typically secondary to the presence of this metal in plumbing. In several nations where gasoline (leaded) is available, air contaminated with lead from emissions is a vital exposure source (Whitehead and Buchanan 2019; Halmo and Nappe 2023). Adults may be exposed to lead through a wide range of occupations and hobbies. The working parents may bring home lead where the children are exposed second-hand. The occupations and hobbies involving the highest risk include welding metal, manufacturing of battery, use of lead in firing range or instruction and bullet salvaging, smelting as well as refining lead, use of lead in construction work or painting, plumbing and fitting pipe, building ship and shipbreaking etc. Several other exposures that are less ubiquitous have been implicated in adults as well as children with the heightened concentrations of lead that, include ceramic dining ware (contaminated), spices as well as cosmetics imported, and ingestion of foreign bodies made up of lead and retained bullets that are led (Quail 2018; Egan et al. 2019; Halmo and Nappe 2023).

Lead poisoning has a wide-ranging effect on the body, impacting several systems. The central nervous system is the primary target, followed by the haematological, hepatic, and renal systems. This harms both systolic and diastolic blood pressure, as well as abnormalities in cellular processes and enzyme systems, culminating in severe diseases (Figure 1).

While acute lead poisoning is rare, chronic lead toxicity is prevalent, with blood lead levels commonly ranging between 40 and 60 micrograms per decilitre (Srinivasan et al. 2016; Estévez-García et al. 2022). Chronic vomiting, narcosis, dementia, seizures,

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org and coma are all symptoms of lead poisoning. Apart from all these, due to lead toxicity, the nerve conduction may be slow, mood may swing, and there may be drowsiness and fatigue along with impairment of concentration. There also may be fertility disorders, reduced libido and constipation, and if the condition is severe, there may be encephalopathy. The illness may quickly develop and become deadly if not treated promptly (Nedelescu et al. 2022). Notably, the neurological system takes the brunt of lead's damage, with excessive lead deposition harming both the peripheral and central nervous systems.

Lead also directly affects the haematological system, interfering with haemoglobin formation by inhibiting important enzymes involved in the heme synthesis pathway, a vital stage in the process (Dsouza et al. 2022). Furthermore, lead weakens cell membranes, reducing the lifetime of circulating erythrocytes. Renal failure, including acute or chronic nephropathy, occurs when lead levels are above 60 micrograms per decilitre, adding to the previously described vascular and cardiac damage (Mabrouk 2021). Hypertension may develop even at low levels of lead exposure, providing a considerable health concern (Gajewska et al. 2021; Ramírez Ortega et al. 2021). This review emphasizes lead exposure sources, blood concentrations, and prevention techniques. Lead exposure may occur via lead-based paint, fuel, soil, and dust. Examining lead exposure and BLLs helps investigate primary, secondary, and tertiary lead prevention techniques. Lead is a potent neurotoxin that, particularly in children, may cause cognitive and behavioural difficulties, delayed growth and development, and an increased risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer. Notably, priority should be given to protecting children from pollution caused by heavy metals like lead (Hou et al. 2019). Because lead is a severe public health risk, the review study strongly urges reducing lead exposure, particularly in children. Lead exposure may have substantial and long-term effects on children's health and development, making it vital to prioritize prevention measures. This review also highlighted that reducing lead exposure should be a public health priority and offers preventative options.

Anxieties about lead poisoning have been rising as of late because of the difficulty in diagnosing asymptomatic lead toxicity caused by prolonged exposure to low amounts of the metal. Appropriate investment in suitable environmental, nutritional, and medical resources is required to prevent and effectively cure lead



Lead exposure may cause major health issues such as brain and neurological

Figure 1 Illustrative scheme of lead exposure effect in various parts of the body

poisoning. Therefore, it is important to know where the lead came from to recognize the signs of lead poisoning in patients of varied ages and blood lead concentrations (Cantor et al. 2019; Lakka et al. 2023; Niu et al. 2023). The data provided by case reports is invaluable. Unfortunately, as far as we can tell, there aren't many reviews of lead poisoning case reports in the literature. An exhaustive literature review can shed light on the causes of lead poisoning that are currently unknown. It can help bring to light typical symptoms and realistic treatment options. In light of this, the current research reviewed published accounts of lead poisonings over the past decade, compiling data on exposure routes, symptoms, treatments, and preventative measures.

2 Lead exposure through Ayurvedic preparations

Ayurveda, an ancient Indian medical system, has received international acclaim for its holistic approach to treatment. Herbal medications, powders, and nutritional supplements are popular Ayurvedic formulations that enhance health and well-being (Gerritsen and Cleetus 2023). Concerns have been raised, however, about the presence of lead in several Ayurvedic medicines. Even though over 95 per cent of the exposure to lead is occupational, a potent source of lead poisoning is Ayurvedic medicine, which is

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

responsible for 2 per cent of the non-occupational exposures (Yanamandra et al. 2020). This article aims to shed light on the subject by investigating the causes of lead pollution, possible health hazards, regulatory measures, and techniques to reduce exposure.

Several recent case reports of lead poisoning have been linked to using Ayurvedic supplements. A 58-year-old woman presented to the emergency room complaining of abdominal pain, anaemia, abnormal liver function tests, and elevated blood lead levels. For almost 6 weeks, the patient had been trying to control her diabetes with the help of Jambrulin, an Ayurvedic medicine. The chemical examination of the drug found dangerously high levels of lead. The patient's symptoms improved after she had chelation therapy. However, she developed chronic renal illness as a result of lead exposure. The risks of lead poisoning through Ayurvedic treatments are highlighted in this case study. We should know about the risks of lead poisoning before trying any Ayurvedic therapy (Ciocan et al. 2021).

Karri et al. (2008) documented a 41-year-old man with hypertension who had memory loss, atrophy, and anhedonia. Except for Mahayogaraj-guggul, he was drug-free. He drank this
for almost 6 months since it is an ayurvedic drug that helps lower blood pressure. His examination revealed clinical indications of memory loss, significant disorientation, limb weakness with bilateral hypertonic and hyper reflexion, upgoing plantares, and spastic gait. His blood lead level was 161 μ g/dL. The parasagittal occipital lobes had anaemia with basophilic stippling, bilateral focal hyperintensity, and similar lesions in the temporal, parietal, and frontal regions. His medical condition was chronic lead encephalopathy. The chelation therapy was administered in combination with stopping his Ayurvedic drug. This helped the client's clinical rehabilitation.

Similarly, these researchers reported a 9-month-old kid dying from lead encephalopathy convulsions after using Ghasard. Ghasard is a kind of traditional medicine. This medicine is provided to prevent constipation in neonates. His parents began supplementing his diet with conventional treatments when he was two months old. After eight months, the baby got drowsy and stopped moving. He also refused bottle feeding, had seizures, and died at nine months old. He started to suffocate and died two days later. The autopsy indicated that the victim had elevated lead amounts in his blood and other tissues. Lead lines were seen on long bone radiographs. All medications given to the youngster contained lead. Ghasard had the most lead by weight, at 1.6% (Karri et al. 2008).

Karri et al. (2008) described a 62-year-old man with arthritis and signs of status epilepticus with lead poisoning. He has been taking Mahayogaraj – guggul for over six years. It is an Ayurvedic drug used to treat arthritis. He wasn't on any other prescription drugs, and he wasn't working with lead. His blood lead level was found to be 89 ng/dL while being monitored for clinical indicators such as anaemia and status epilepticus. His diagnosis was acute and persistent lead encephalopathy. Many chelation procedures and chronic anti-convulsant medication were employed in this case to address the disease. It also caused anoxic brain damage from status epilepticus oppositely (Karri et al. 2008).

Geraldine and Venkatesh (2007) reported a 27-year-old Indian woman who resided in a non-polluted area of Bangalore and was diagnosed with HIV. She'd been utilizing herbal remedies for 13 weeks and complained of stomach aches, nausea, sleeplessness, giddiness, and constipation at the local hospital. IBS and mild hepatomegaly were diagnosed. Further, endoscopic testing confirmed antral gastritis. Her lead toxicity was examined at their facility. Her menstruation history and her husband's sperm count were within normal norms, yet she could not conceive for five years. She's been in the hospital since she refused to participate in follicular research and was advised to do an alternative medicine course. For a year, she was given three unbranded herbal treatments consisting of two types of brown powder and one kind of black pill, all provided randomly. In her interview, she disclosed that she began to experience moderate lead poisoning five weeks into this medicinal therapy. Their institution did a blood test for lead poisoning containing lead and zinc protoporphyrin. The lead levels in the blood and the three herbal drugs were tested using a portable X-ray fluorescence analyzer. She took one teaspoon of each brown powder, two black tablets, and one teaspoon of each white powder once daily.

As a consequence, herbal medications were shown to cause this lead poisoning. After a month of therapy with D-penicillamine (25–35 mg/kg body weight/day), her blood lead and ZPP levels were dramatically decreased, suggesting that she had received successful treatment. The patient's clinical indications indicated lead toxicity; blood lead levels were tested to confirm lead poisoning. As a result of lead poisoning, the haematological and hepatic systems were affected(Geraldine and Venkatesh 2007).

A 45-year-old software expert was poisoned by lead at work, according to Raviraja et al. (2010). He was sent to a Bangalore hospital twice in 10 days due to weakness, vomiting, and stomach pain. Both times the treatment failed to help him. So far, he had used twelve different Ayurvedic remedies, all of which were natural. These were used to relieve stress and maintain health. He bought all drugs without an Ayurvedic physician's prescription. His blood pressure was 120/84 mm Hg, his haemoglobin was 14.2 g/dl, and his BLL was 122.4 g/dl, all indicating lead poisoning. He was also chelated with 250 mg D-penicillamine three times a day for two months, following which he was instructed to discontinue using all ayurvedic drugs. Prescribed were calcium pills, Bcomplex tablets, and plenty of water. After chelation, two months of medication effectively relieves stomach pain. A year later, his blood lead level was 27.4 ng/dl, and he was no longer in pain. When all twelve ayurvedic products were tested, 75% had lead, arsenic, and mercury levels, several orders of magnitude greater than the daily permissible limits (Raviraja et al. 2010). These researchers also documented a 36-year-old male wing commander from Bangalore, India, who had been diagnosed with lead poisoning. He was admitted to the Air Force Command Hospital in Bangalore due to stomach ache, headache, insomnia, weakness, facial pallor, and joint pain. The study revealed a haemoglobin level of 8 g/dl and significant internal bleeding. The patient had an endoscopy, colonoscopy, and barium meal to establish the origin of internal bleeding. He said he went to a vaidya in Pune, Maharashtra, for psoriasis, a skin condition that affects the hands and feet. According to the local vaidya, Gulkand (Mukta Bhasma, Sapta Ratna, Kumar Kalyan ratna, and Sal Bhaskar ratna) is an efficient arthritic cure. He had to take 2 tablespoons of Gulkand for two months before breakfast and dinner. On examination, the peripheral blood picture exhibited basophilic stippling, suggesting a basophilic stippling infection. Doctors suspected lead poisoning and sent the case to the NRCLPI for a blood lead test, which came

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

back at 115 ng/dl. He was advised to cease taking Gulkand. After chelation therapy with 2 g calcium disodium EDTA in 500 mL saline, the patient's liver and kidney functions and blood calcium and phosphorus levels returned to normal. He had no known risk factors for lead poisoning at the time. The lead content of Gulkand was 11,798 g/g(Raviraja et al. 2010).

Raut et al. (2021) described dual cases of lead encephalopathy because of the intake of avurvedic medication for a long time. The first case was a female aged 54 years who was taking long-term medication and presented with a confusional state (acute) and disturbances of memory with pain in the abdomen. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain revealed symmetric basal ganglia, signal changes in the cortex, and edema. The presence of lead was in the blood at an elevated level significantly. The second case was a female aged 45 years taking ayurvedic medicine for high blood pressure. She presented with headaches and deterioration in the sensorium rapidly, leading to coma and death. MRI of the brain revealed cerebral edema (diffused), signal changes in basal ganglia and elevated blood level of lead. These two cases have highlighted the requirement for heightened awareness that certain medicines (Ayurvedic) may contain lead potentially at a harmful level, and people using them have the risk of developing toxicity associated with fatality.

Roy et al. (2022) and Jain and Roy (2022) have documented an incidence of toxicity induced by lead in a child suffering from type 1 diabetes mellitus due to *naga Bhasma* (Jain and Roy 2022; Roy et al. 2022). Now it is required to be told in this context that scientific studies reveal that during *naga bhasma* preparation quenching, trichuration along with calcinations of the crude lead is repeatedly done, thereby transforming it into the least toxic lead sulphide, which is nanocrystals. Other organic contents and various nutrient elements that come from the herbs are also used to prepare *naga bhasma*. The shortcomings in preparing *naga bhasma* and its use in an injudicious manner are alarming and may be responsible for the lead toxicity in the child suffering from type 1 diabetes mellitus (Varghese et al. 2022).

3 Lead exposure at the workplace

Lead is a dangerous metal that may cause many health issues, including learning and behavioural issues, lower IQ, and even death. Further exposure to lead may be associated negatively with weight at birth. Lead exposure may occur via many routes, including inhaling lead dust, consuming lead-contaminated food or drink, or exposure to lead-based paint (Dettwiler et al. 2023; Ramadan et al. 2023).

In their research, Ghanwat et al. (2016) evaluated 36 male employees aged 20 to 60 from lead battery plants in Western Maharashtra. The researchers gathered demographic, occupational, and clinical data from healthy male volunteers who did not drink

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Amin et al.

or smoke. Paraesthesia, intermittent stomach discomfort, lack of appetite, nausea, diarrhoea, and constipation were among the symptoms encountered by these employees (Ghanwat et al. 2016). According to the research, the interaction between leadoxyhaemoglobin and oxygen-free radicals in red blood cells resulted in the production of reactive oxygen species in the circulation. The copper deficit induced by high blood lead levels resulted in increased oxidative damage to red blood cells and reduced superoxide dismutase function (Gwozdzinski et al. 2021). Furthermore, the research discovered that lead exposure impeded heme synthesis and iron absorption enzymes, resulting in a lower heme pool and catalase activity. The researchers used vitamin C supplementation for one month to reduce blood lead levels (Sanders et al. 2009). Although the supplementation reduced lipid peroxidation and nitrite levels, the impact was insignificant. However, antioxidant status markers such as erythrocyte superoxide dismutase and catalase levels increase (Kurutas 2016).

Awasthi et al. (1996) tested pregnant women from Lucknow slums to discover whether lead might be passed to the foetus during pregnancy. The researchers separated 500 pregnant women from 70 slums into four groups depending on gestational age. Personal interviews were done to gather information about age, reproductive history, menstrual cycle, and other possible sources of lead exposure (Awasthi et al. 1996). The researchers determined that 26 women had blood lead levels of more than 20 micrograms per deciliter, averaging 35 micrograms per deciliter. Age, weight, height, haemoglobin levels, or reproductive history did not affect lead exposure (Fadrowski et al. 2010). However, the research found that lead exposure in pregnant women caused nutritional deficiencies and raised the likelihood of infant developmental disorders, particularly when associated with poor nutrition, infectious illnesses, and other poverty-related concerns (Awasthi et al. 1996). Kute et al. (2013) published a case study of a guy who used Sindoor, a traditional cosmetic containing lead, for religious motives. Severe stomach colic, constipation, nausea, vomiting, and other symptoms plagued the 44-year-old guy. A bluish-grey thin line at the gingival tooth edge and lead nephropathy were discovered during the testing. Lead exposure was connected to proximal tubular damage, interstitial nephritis, and chronic kidney disease, all impacting tubular function and vascular reactivity(Al-Naimi et al. 2019). Chelation therapy was part of the patient's treatment (Kute et al. 2013).

Palaniappan et al. (2011) investigated blood lead levels and their consequences in children aged three to seven attending schools in the Chennai area of India. The research was divided into four zones with differing levels of industry and traffic. All 76 youngsters tested positive for blood lead levels over the national average, with half surpassing 10 micrograms per deciliter. The research discovered that higher blood lead levels affected these children's IQ and general cognitive development (Palaniappan et

al. 2011). Menezes et al. (2003) described a case study of a 10year-old child labourer who had joint and epigastric discomfort while working in a battery recycling factory. The youngster has been exposed to lead for a long time owing to poor industrial safety practices. The investigation uncovered the consequences of persistent lead exposure (Menezes et al. 2003).

A total of 107 children from three schools in Mangalore and Dakshin Kannada were tested for lead poisoning by Kuruvilla et al. (2004). The X-ray Fluorescence Analyzer was used to determine the amount of lead in the soil of the schools, playgrounds, and households. They found that 11 of the 107 children, mostly from low-income schools, had 40 g/dl or higher blood lead levels. The assessment found lead spray on the tulsikatte (holy basil platform), peeling paint on playground equipment, yellow paint on the railing of a rice mill, and paint and traditional treatments used in homes(Kuruvilla et al. 2004). Thirty automotive workers in Bijapur were found by Dongre et al. (2011) to have significantly higher lead levels in their blood and urine compared to a control group. The study participants who worked in the automotive industry reported experiencing muscle pain, fatigue, irritation, and decreased haemoglobin and red blood cell counts after prolonged exposure to lead (Dongre et al. 2011). The effects of lead exposure on the health of people who work in the printing industry were the subject of a case study by Ji et al. (2014). Symptoms, including convulsions, diarrhoea, anaemia, colic, nephritic discomfort, and leg pain, were linked to prolonged exposure to lead dust in printing presses. The research highlighted the significance of dust management technologies and the need of fostering appropriate hygiene practises in these settings (Ji et al. 2014). Workers in Calcutta, electrical accumulator firms, were exposed to greater levels of lead due to inadequate protective gear and poor sanitary practices, according to a study by Ghosh et al. (1952). The study highlighted the importance of modern tools, exhaust ventilation, and efficient safety measures in reducing the risks of lead poisoning in the workplace. Goswami (2013)'s study has also linked using Surma, an ore powder, as an eyeliner to an increased risk of lead poisoning in children. The research highlighted that lead may enter the body via many channels, including the eyes and mouth, and identified improper Surma preparation as a critical component in lead poisoning. These studies highlight the need of identifying and controlling lead exposure sources to maintain public health (Goswami 2013).

A major concern for professionals who provide training or work with firearms regularly is exposure to lead. Such professionals include military personnel or people from law enforcement departments. In the study conducted by Schenk et al. (2021) on the military personnel of the Swedish armed forces, it was found that the instructors have more chances of airborne exposure to lead

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org compared to the cadets while training with ammunitions that are led (Schenk et al. 2021). Those instructors who closely supervise the training programme with leaded ammunitions have increased blood lead level (BLL) geometric mean (GM) compared to other instructors. Widyantoro et al. (2021) found that the pipe repair place could expose people to heavy metals like lead exceeding the quality standards (Widyantoro et al. 2021).

4 Lead poisoning and counteracting measures for reducing exposure to lead – critical discussion

Lead, a soft, silvery grey metal, has unique properties that make it essential in various sectors. However, in addition to its positive features, lead seriously threatens human health and the environment (Iqbal et al. 2023). Lead's contradictory nature raises severe concerns about its ubiquitous usage and the possible risks related to its presence in daily things. We will examine the dual nature of lead in this creative debate, emphasizing its numerous uses and the hazards it presents in various circumstances (Cedergreen and Streibig 2005).

Lead's properties, such as corrosion resistance, high density, and low melting point, have made it a sought-after commodity in various sectors. Lead acid batteries, commonly employed in automotive applications, depend on effective electrical energy storage and conversion (Charkiewicz and Backstrand 2020). The jewellery industry favours lead for its malleability, which allows for creating elaborate patterns. Lead's durability and tolerance to the severe maritime environment make it a perfect option for various uses in shipbuilding. Its usage in petrol additives also improves engine performance (Tandon et al. 2001).

While lead has valuable industrial characteristics, its toxicity concerns human health. Lead-based paint, lead-soldered pipes, and polluted air and soil are frequent causes of lead pollution that may harm many organs (Mielke and Egendorf 2023). The customary use of unregulated pharmaceuticals, cosmetic goods, and hand-crafted ceramics adds to the risk of lead exposure. Lead-containing components used in mining, processing, recycling, and disposal may pollute the environment, exacerbating the problem (Abalansa et al. 2021).

Lead contamination is a major problem; lead accidentally enters the food chain via numerous methods (Kumar et al. 2020). Elevated lead levels in cultivated vegetables, cookware, and other food products may be caused by soil contamination, industrial and agricultural pollution, and food processing. Higher soil contaminations around the lead smelters, mines, and vehicular traffic centres have been reported, harming crops planted in such areas. Milk samples from cows grazing near roadways and industrial zones may also have increased lead levels, providing a health concern to humans (Levin et al. 2021). Plumbing systems polluted with lead contribute to the dispersion of lead in drinking water. The presence of lead is often revealed during the first flush of the plumbing system. Industrial operations such as smelting and cremation and lead-based businesses greatly increase airborne lead concentrations (Jarvis et al. 2018). When lead-based paints on walls and chalking from woodwork and toys are breathed, they become significant sources of lead absorption for newborns. Lead crystal glasses, ceramic glazes, and other glazed food storage, preparation, or serving items may also bring lead into everyday life (Fralick et al. 2016).

A success concerning public health is the removal of lead from gasoline. By eliminating lead from gasoline, several nations have achieved mean (population) blood lead levels (BPb) of 1 μ g/dL or less. Such actions have made life safe, enhanced children's intelligence and created enormous economic benefits in nations globally. There has also been a reduction in the incidence of exposure to lead at higher doses by eliminating lead in household paints (Angrand et al. 2022; Eastman and Tortora 2023).

Omeljaniuk et al. (2018) conducted a study to determine lead concentration in the blood and tissue of the placenta of women who suffered from miscarriages. Total 83 women who have experienced miscarriage formed the study group. The control group comprised 35 women either after the child's birth or in the first three months of pregnancy. It has been found that the average concentration of lead in the blood of women who miscarried is more significant when compared to the level of lead in the blood of the control group's women (Omeljaniuk et al. 2018). Similarly, in the placental tissue of women who suffered from miscarriages, the average lead content is greater when compared to the concentration of lead in the placental tissue of the control group's women. Therefore, monitoring the lead level is essential in women planning pregnancy.

Aside from the more well-known causes of lead exposure, many cultural practices unwittingly expose people to lead poisoning (Wani et al. 2015). Surma, a traditional cosmetic ore used as eyeliner, is applied to the conjunctival surface of the eyelids and may be absorbed or ingested if it comes into touch with the mouth (Goswami 2013). Folk medicine and the use of lead in Ayurvedic remedies offer hazards, especially if used over time. Sindoor, a red powder used as a cosmetic and in religious ceremonies, may cause lead poisoning if swallowed incorrectly as a food component (Shah et al. 2017).

Correct diagnosis is a crucial first step in preventing lead poisoning and toxicity. A complete diagnosis requires investigating all potential entry points. The inquiry should focus on the patient's medical history and symptoms. Clinical toxicologists and other medical specialists can aid in making a correct diagnosis and developing an appropriate treatment plan. A major sign of lead toxicity is basophilic stripping. This stripping makes the

Amin et al.

microscopical visualization of red blood cell specks possible. Lead poisoning can be detected with a thorough blood film evaluation for such symptoms (Samarghandian et al. 2021). Anaemia caused by a lack of iron is linked to lead poisoning. Erythrocyte protoporphyrin (EP) levels in the blood are another method for diagnosing lead poisoning. When blood lead levels are elevated, EP tends to rise a few weeks later. Nonetheless, increased blood lead levels below 35 µg/dL cannot be detected with just the EP level. Lead exposure detection with EP has fallen in use because of its higher detection threshold and because EP levels rise in iron deficiency (Cantor et al. 2019; Sadiku and Rodríguez-Seijo 2022). Lead concentrations in the blood only reflect recent or ongoing exposure to lead, not the total load carried by the body. Indicative only of recent lead exposure, a blood lead level test does not accurately account for lead already present in the body. Noninvasive X-ray fluorescence measurement of lead in bones provides a possible optimal method for gauging total body exposure and load. Foreign objects, such as paint chips containing lead and lodged in the digestive tract, may be visible on an X-ray (Charkiewicz and Backstrand 2020).

Lead poisoning is treated with a combination of dimercaprol and succimer. Given the long-term effects of lead poisoning on children's brain development, the metal's use must be curtailed on a massive scale (Mitra et al. 2017). Chelating salts, such as calcium edentate, the disodium salt of ethylene-diamine-tetraacetic acid (EDTA), are commonly used to treat lead poisoning. These chelating compounds have a high concentration of the solvent they are meant to remove. Because the lead chelating agent is more attracted to lead than calcium, the lead chelate is generated by an exchange reaction. This is then eliminated by the urinary tract, leaving behind only innocuous calcium. As a chelating agent, succimer has been found to minimize BLL and improve cognitive development in children exposed to lead (Lakka et al. 2023). Antioxidants, in particular, are thought to mitigate the harmful effects of substances like lead and its derivatives. Improved biodistribution and bioavailability of poorly soluble medicines may be possible with a novel technology termed nano-encapsulation of antioxidants. Curcumin encapsulated in a pluronic block copolymer was found to have anticancer efficacy on par with free curcumin and a delayed and sustained release profile. These novel approaches can potentially improve treating many human ailments (Niu et al. 2023). N-acetylcysteine (NAC) has been shown in a recent study on a group of lead-exposed employees to lower blood lead levels significantly. Furthermore, it was shown that glutamate dehydrogenase activity increased dramatically in all NACtreated groups. It was also found that oxidative stress was reduced, and homocysteine levels were normalized after treatment with NAC. As a result, NAC was found to be a viable alternative treatment option for chronic lead toxicity in humans (Kumar and Singh 2023). Various sources of lead poising and its management and prevention measures are presented in Table 1.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

S. N.	Source of lead	Symptoms	Management	Outcome	Ref
1	a sindoor powder consumed for 11 years at 5–10gm	Nephropathy caused by lead poisoning, combined with gingivitis, gout, and high blood pressure	Treatment for lead levels between 50 and 100 mcg/dL (DMSA/Calcium EDTA) may be used	Sindoor lead exposure among Indians	Kute et al. 2013
2	Adult and child use of lead-based glazes	Neurotoxic and Nephrotoxic	Chelation (DMSA/Calcium EDTA). Promoting Lead free glazes		Estévez-García et al. 2022
3	Romanian Pre-schooler's and School-Aged Children (4-6, 8-11 years) in Industrial and Mining Regions	Neurological dysfunction	preserve human health by limiting or eliminating exposure to heavy metals	After being evacuated from an exposed environment, the health of the youngsters has improved	Nedelescu et al. 2022
4	Necessary minerals ameliorated lead-induced changes in haematological parameters in male Wistar albino rats	There is a decrease in blood haemoglobin and an increase in urine -amino levulinic acid dehydratase (ALAD)	Lead toxicity and speciation may be altered by eating a mineral-rich diet	Lead inhibits -ALAD in leached workers, most likely at zinc-binding sitesALAD is required to synthesize porphobilinogen from two -ALA molecules	Dsouza et al. 2022
5	Adult male Wistar rats were studied for lead- induced hematotoxicity	However, the RBC, HGB, HCT, and PLT levels all reduced, although WBC levels increased	TQ, the primary active ingredient in Nigella sativa seeds volatile oil, was effective in treating lead-intoxicated rats	Thymoquinone may be used to treat lead- induced hematotoxicity as well as other poisons and infections	Mabrouk 2021
6	Case report-Traditional Ayurvedic Medicines uses	Acute and chronic Lead encephalopathy	Chelation therapy and discontinuation of ayurvedic medicines	Patient recovered clinically and lesions on MR imaging resolved	Karri et al. 2008
7	Case report- lead-based manufacturing unit	Leg Fatigue & Weakness of Forearm Extensor Muscles Peripheral Neuropathy	D-penicillamine chelation therapy were used to treat his lead poisoning	Chronic exposure to lead requires a series of treatment regimens	Geraldine and Venkatesh 2007
8	Case report-Ayurvedic medicines manufactured using lead based bhasmas	General weakness and significant stomach discomfort are all symptoms of psoriasis	D-penicillamine, and/or Ca-Na2EDTA, and/or environmental intervention, appropriate diet, and enough hydration and education are all necessary components of a comprehensive treatment plan	Discontinue any Ayurvedic medications and drink a lot of water	Raviraja et al. 2010
9	Western Maharashtra battery workers (20- 60years)	Some of the side effects include nausea and diarrhoea; constipation; headaches; paresthesia; and myalgia	Vit-C and Iron Intake	Vitamin C does not lower blood lead levels on a monthly basis. Catalase and superoxide dismutases are also enhanced by the supplement	Ghanwat et al. 2016
10	water supply, surma usage, and lead paint	spontaneous abortions, stillbirths, and premature births	Low iron, calcium, or zinc levels during pregnancy may increase intestine absorption and mobilization of bone lead	More research is needed on pregnancy and lead	Awasthi et al. 1996
11	Gasoline	visual-motor, visual-spatial (Drawing task) (Matching task) Peek-a-boo pegboard)	Regulations pertaining to the environment and the workplace are being implemented	Urban Indian children with poor visual-motor integration are more likely to have elevated blood lead levels	Palaniappan et al. 2011
12	Battery-recycling unit.	Osteoarthritis, epigastric pain, and a little rise in ALT and hepatomegaly are all symptoms	Dimercapto succinic acid and penicillamine were the first chelators used in chelation treatment	Small-scale industrial employees must be taught about the hazards of lead poisoning and lead poisoning	Menezes et al. 2003
13	Occupationally and nonoccupationally exposed lead poisoning cases	Constipation, diarrhoea, vomiting, and other symptoms of an upset stomach	Chelation therapy with D-penicillamine	Eating healthful foods, avoiding painted toys and unbranded medications, and taking showers at work may help reduce exposure	Mani et al. 2020

Table 1 Various sources of lead poising, It's Management and Prevention

Amin et al.

S. N.	Source of lead	Symptoms	Management	Outcome	Ref
14	Lead levels on painted surfaces such as windows, flooring, gates, doors, door frames, walls, shelves, containers, cabinets, playground equipment, etc.	Asymptomatic	Create public awareness	Field Portable XRF instrument	Kuruvilla et al. 2004
15	Exposure to car mechanics (spray painters, radiators, and batteries) India's Bijapur city	Inflammation of the muscles and other symptoms such as itching and moderate tiredness are all signs of an overactive immune system	Create public awareness	For occupational lead exposure screening, a full hemogram, urine ALA and other biomarker activity such PBG and erythrocyte delta-ALAD, and blood pressure readings are helpful	Dongre et al. 2011
16	Bone lead concentration- patella and tibia	Hypertension, heart disease, diabetes mellitus, and cancer	Supporting therapy to minimize symptoms	As occupations were added, they helped to reduce the bone lead and education categories	Ji et al. 2014
17	The environmental air of Two Electrical Factory people	Asymptomatic	Industrial danger may be reduced by using modern scientific methodologies	Scientific ways for preventing lead poisoning are available	Ghosh et al. 1952
18	Traditional eye cosmetics' Surma - Black, brown, orange, grey and white usage by Childrens	Anaemia and convulsions	The use of lead free 'Surma' is suggested. (White)	Decreases in Hb with increasing values of blood lead levels	Goswami 2013
19	The battery recycling and manufacturing people (Western Maharashtra)	nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, and cramping are all symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome	Chelating with adjacent therapy	Workers in the battery production industry show less indication of serious impairment of liver and renal functions	Kshirsagar et al. 2015
20	Medication, food, cooking utensils, bullet wounds, and water to drink that haven't been labelled	Abdominal discomfort, dizziness, cognitive impairment, and other symptoms may occur	Cuprimine (D-penicillamine, 3-mercapto D- valine) Chelating treatment	No patient had a blue gum line or basophilic stippling. Chelation treatment does not substitute remediation or lead prevention	D'souza et al. 2011
21	Lead poisoning from herbal diabetes medicines	upper abdominal pain, anaemic, icteric, and pyrexial	Calcium ethylenediamine tetra acetate (EDTA) infusion (2.4 g) for 5 days	Diabetic men may have been treated with lead contain an Ayurvedic aphrodisiac may cause severe side effect. Better to avoid	Keen et al. 1994
22	Abdominal pain, bilateral symmetric sensorineural hearing loss with descending configuration, stapedial reflex bilaterally present, speech intelligibility asthenia, paresthesia in upper limbs, progressive hearing loss		Calcium ethylenediamine tetra acetate (EDTA) infusion (2.4 g) for 5 days	Patients recovered clinically and lesions on MR imaging resolved	Kumar and Singh 2023
23	Foreign body	Increased blood pressure, normocytic normochromic and regenerative anemia, transitory headache, reactive anisocoria, asthenia, visual hallucinations, transient aphasia episodes, left pyramidal syndrome, memory impairment and psychomotor retardation, worsened generalized tonic-clonic seizures and altered consciousness, interstitial nephropathy	Chelation therapy with D-penicillamine	Eating healthful foods, avoiding painted toys and unbranded medications, and taking showers at work may help reduce exposure	Lelievre et al. 2020
24	Lead poisoning from medication	Pale conjunctiva, exertional dyspnea, hypochromic microcytic anemia, anisocytosis with basophilic stippling	Traditional Chinese herbal medicine (Qushangjieyu-san powder) - chelation therapy	Patient recovered clinically	Samarghandian et al. 2021

Sources, blood concentrations, and approaches for reducing exposure to lead

Conclusion and Future Prospects

The paradox of lead displays a complicated interaction between its desirable features and the risks it poses to human health and the environment. The versatile metal is widely used in various sectors, allowing for novel uses and economic advantages. However, the possibility of lead contamination, whether from industrial methods, environmental exposure, or cultural practises, presents serious concerns. As a society, we must balance enjoying the advantages of lead's adaptability and enacting tight laws, safe handling practises, and spreading awareness to reduce exposure dangers. Only then can we properly walk the narrow line between the beauty and danger of lead. Consequently, lead serves no purpose in the body and is hence unnecessary. If lead enters the body, it may stay there indefinitely and cause injury and even death. Lead poisoning accounts for about 0.6 percent of the global disease burden. Because of the toxicity of lead, workers exposed to it experience more severe repercussions than the general population. Various groups, as well as the government and the media, are now striving to increase awareness of lead poisoning by interacting with and educating people who have been exposed to it and the general public about the health dangers connected with it.

Lead poisoning seems to be more common than other heavy metal poisonings. Lead's widespread and historically attested toxicity has led to widespread concern for its safety. It has been adopted globally due to the significance of its physicochemical features. As the industrial revolution began in the seventeenth century, its use skyrocketed, as did its toxicity to humans. Having lead-related industries close to playgrounds increases the danger for children. There is an elevated risk of lead poisoning for those exposed to lead in the workplace. Young children of parents with lead-related occupations should have their blood lead levels monitored often. The available research shows that lead is very hazardous and interferes with virtually every bodily process. Damage to the digestive, neurological, respiratory, reproductive, and other systems results from lead poisoning. To add insult to injury lead inhibits enzyme function. Disabling impairments in the skeleton directly results from lead's interference with the normal DNA transcription process.

Toxic effects can occur at deficient lead concentrations, and the body has no physiologic need for lead. Fortunately, there are methods available today that can reverse the damage and lower lead levels in the body. Chelation therapy, nano-encapsulation, and N-acetylcysteine (NAC) stand out among these. In addition to a variety of antioxidants, they aid in the elimination of lead from the body. The best course of action is to avoid exposure to toxins in the first place, even when effective treatments are available. Parents should also teach their children about the dangers of lead poisoning and how to protect themselves and their families from exposure. Genetic, environmental, and dietary variables all contribute to the fact that not everyone responds the same way to the same treatment.

Abbreviations

BLL: Blood Lead Level

IBS: Irritable Bowel Syndrome

NRCLPI: The National Referral Center for Lead Poisoning Prevention in India

XRF: X-ray fluorescence

ZPP: Zinc Protoporphyrin

Author Contributions

All authors contributed significantly to the work described here. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Data Availability

The data supporting this review are from previously reported studies and datasets, which have been cited. The processed data are available from the corresponding authors upon request.

References

Abalansa, S., El Mahrad, B., Icely, J., & Newton, A. (2021). Electronic Waste, an Environmental Problem Exported to Developing Countries: The GOOD, the BAD and the UGLY. *Sustainability*, *13*(9). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/ su13095302

Al-Naimi, M. S., Rasheed, H. A., Hussien, N. R., Al-Kuraishy, H. M., & Al-Gareeb, A. I. (2019). Nephrotoxicity: Role and significance of renal biomarkers in the early detection of acute renal injury. *Journal of Advanced Pharmaceutical Technology & Research*, 10(3), 95-99. https://doi.org/10.4103/japtr.JAPTR_336_18

Angrand, R. C., Collins, G., Landrigan, P. J., & Thomas, V. M. (2022). Relation of blood lead levels and lead in gasoline: an updated systematic review. *Environmental Health*, *21*(1), 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-022-00936-x

Awasthi, S., Awasthi, R., Pande, V. K., Srivastav, R., & Frumkin, H. (1996). Blood lead in pregnant women in the urban slums of

Lucknow, India. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 53(12), 836-840. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136%2Foem.53.12.836

Cantor, A. G., Hendrickson, R., Blazina, I., Griffin, J., Grusing, S., & McDonagh, M. S. (2019). Screening for Elevated Blood Lead Levels in Childhood and Pregnancy: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. *JAMA*, *321*(15), 1510-1526. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.1004

Cedergreen, N., & Streibig, J. C. (2005). Can the choice of endpoint lead to contradictory results of mixture-toxicity experiments? *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, 24(7), 1676-1683. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1897/04-362r.1

Charkiewicz, A. E., & Backstrand, J. R. (2020). Lead Toxicity and Pollution in Poland. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph17124385

Ciocan, C., Mansour, I., Beneduce, A., Corgiat Loia, R., Milanesio, N., Declementi, M., Godono, A., Garzaro, G., & Pira, E. (2021). Lead poisoning from Ayurvedic treatment: a further case. *La Medicina del lavoro*, *112*(2), 162–167. https://doi.org/10.23749/mdl.v112i2.10576

D'souza, H. S., Dsouza, S. A., Menezes, G., & Venkatesh, T. (2011). Diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of lead poisoning in general population. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 26(2), 197-201. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs12291-011-0122-6

Dettwiler, M., Flynn, A. C., & Rigutto-Farebrother, J. (2023). Effects of Non-Essential "Toxic" Trace Elements on Pregnancy Outcomes: A Narrative Overview of Recent Literature Syntheses. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 20(8), 5536. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20085536

Dongre, N. N., Suryakar, A. N., Patil, A. J., Ambekar, J. G., & Rathi, D. B. (2011). Biochemical effects of lead exposure on systolic & diastolic blood pressure, heme biosynthesis and hematological parameters in automobile workers of north karnataka (India). *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 26(4), 400-406. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s12291-011-0159-6

Dsouza, H. S., Menezes, G., & Thuppil, V. (2022). Ameliorative effects of nutritional minerals on lead-induced hematological alterations in male Wistar albino rats. *Drug and chemical toxicology*, 45(6), 2483–2487. https://doi.org/10.1080/01480545.2021.1958833

Eastman, K. L., & Tortora, L. E. (2023). Lead Encephalopathy. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing, StatPearls Publishing LLC.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Egan, K. B., Tsai, R. J., & Chuke, S. O. (2019). Integrating Childhood and Adult Blood Lead Surveillance to Improve Identification and Intervention Efforts. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 25. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/ 10.1097/phh.00000000000872

Estévez-García, J. A., Farías, P., & Tamayo-Ortiz, M. (2022). A review of studies on blood lead concentrations of traditional Mexican potters. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 240, 113903. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113903

Fadrowski, J. J., Navas-Acien, A., Tellez-Plaza, M., Guallar, E., Weaver, V. M., & Furth, S. L. (2010). Blood Lead Level and Kidney Function in US Adolescents: The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *170*(1), 75-82. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.417

Fralick, M., Thomspson, A., & Mourad, O. (2016). Lead toxicity from glazed ceramic cookware. *CMAJ* : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne, 188(17-18), E521–E524. https://doi.org/10.1503/ cmaj.160182

Gajewska, K., Laskowska, M., Almeida, A., Pinto, E., Skórzyńska-Dziduszko, K., & Błażewicz, A. (2021). Lead Levels in Non-Occupationally Exposed Women with Preeclampsia. *Molecules*, 26(10), 3051. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/ 10.3390%2Fmolecules26103051

Geraldine, M., & Venkatesh, T. (2007). Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of lead poisoning in a patient with occupational lead exposure: a case presentation. *Journal of Occupational medicine and Toxicology*, 2(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6673-2-7

Gerritsen, A., & Cleetus, B. (2023). *Histories of Health and Materiality in the Indian Ocean World: Medicine, Material Culture and Trade, 1600-2000.* Bloomsbury Publishing.

Ghanwat, G., Patil, A. J., Patil, J., Kshirsagar, M., Sontakke, A., & Ayachit, R. (2016). Effect of vitamin C supplementation on blood Lead level, oxidative stress and antioxidant status of battery manufacturing Workers of Western Maharashtra, India. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, *10*(4), BC08. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.7860%2FJCDR%2F2016%2F159 68.7528

Ghosh, P., Chakraborty, M., & Rao, M. (1952). A study of the occupational lead hazard in two electrical accumulator industries. *The Indian medical gazette*, 87(3), 114.

Amin et al.

Goswami, K. (2013). Eye cosmetic 'surma': hidden threats of lead poisoning. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 28(1), 71-73. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs12291-012-0235-6

Gwozdzinski, K., Pieniazek, A., & Gwozdzinski, L. (2021). Reactive Oxygen Species and Their Involvement in Red Blood Cell Damage in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2021, 6639199. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6639199

Halmo, L., & Nappe, T. M. (2023). Lead Toxicity. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing, StatPearls Publishing LLC.

Hou, S., Zheng, N., Tang, L., Ji, X., Li, Y., & Hua, X. (2019). Pollution characteristics, sources, and health risk assessment of human exposure to Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb pollution in urban street dust across China between 2009 and 2018. *Environment International*, *128*, 430-437. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envint.2019.04.046

Iqbal, M. S., Aslam, A. A., Iftikhar, R., Junaid, M., Imran, S. M., Nazir, M. S., Ali, Z., Zafar, M., Kanwal, A., & Othman, N. K. (2023). The potential of functionalized graphene-based composites for removing heavy metals and organic pollutants. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, *53*, 103809. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2023.103809

Jain, V., & Roy, K. (2022). Severe Lead Toxicity Due to Ayurvedic Medicine in a Child with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Authors' Reply. *Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, *89*(6), 634-634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-022-04106-2

Jarvis, P., Quy, K., Macadam, J., Edwards, M., & Smith, M. (2018). Intake of lead (Pb) from tap water of homes with leaded and low lead plumbing systems. *The Science of the total environment*, 644, 1346–1356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.064

Ji, J. S., Schwartz, J., Sparrow, D., Hu, H., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2014). Occupational determinants of cumulative lead exposure: Analysis of bone lead among men in the VA normative aging study. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine/American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *56*(4), 435. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1097%2FJOM.00000000000127

Karri, S. K., Saper, R. B., & Kales, S. N. (2008). Lead encephalopathy due to traditional medicines. *Current drug safety*, *3*(1), 54-59. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2174/ 157488608783333907

Keen, R., Deacon, A., Delves, H., Moreton, J., & Frost, P. (1994). Indian herbal remedies for diabetes as a cause of lead poisoning. *Postgraduate medical journal*, 70(820), 113-114. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136%2Fpgmj.70.820.113

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Kshirsagar, M., Patil, J., Patil, A., Ghanwat, G., Sontakke, A., & Ayachit, R. (2015). Biochemical effects of lead exposure and toxicity on battery manufacturing workers of Western Maharashtra (India): with respect to liver and kidney function tests. *Al Ameen Journal of Medical Sciences*, *8*(2), 107-114. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp-2015-0030

Kumar, A., Kumar, A., M M S, C. P., Chaturvedi, A. K., Shabnam, A. A., Subrahmanyam, G., Mondal, R., Gupta, D. K., Malyan, S. K., S Kumar, S., A Khan, S., & Yadav, K. K. (2020). Lead Toxicity: Health Hazards, Influence on Food Chain, and Sustainable Remediation Approaches. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(7), 2179. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072179

Kumar, K., & Singh, D. (2023). Toxicity and bioremediation of the lead: a critical review. *International journal of environmental health research*, 1–31. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2023.2165047

Kurutas E. B. (2016). The importance of antioxidants which play the role in cellular response against oxidative/nitrosative stress: current state. *Nutrition journal*, *15*(1), 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-016-0186-5

Kuruvilla, A., Pillay, V., Venkatesh, T., Adhikari, P., Chakrapani, M., Clark, C., D'Souza, H., Menezes, G., Nayak, N., & Clark, R. (2004). Portable lead analyzer to locate source of lead. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, *71*(6), 495-499. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02724287

Kute, V. B., Shrimali, J. D., Balwani, M. R., Godhani, U. R., Vanikar, A. V., Shah, P. R., Gumber, M. R., Patel, H. V., & Trivedi, H. L. (2013). Lead nephropathy due to Sindoor in India. *Renal failure*, *35*(6), 885-887. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/ 10.3109/0886022x.2013.801301

Lakka, N., Pai, B., Mani, M. S., & Dsouza, H. S. (2023). Potential diagnostic biomarkers for lead-induced hepatotoxicity and the role of synthetic chelators and bioactive compounds. *Toxicology research*, *12*(2), 178–188. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxres/tfad014

Lelievre, B., Bruneau, C., Legeay, M., Parisot, J., & Cloquet, C. (2020). Identification of the origin of infantile saturnism based on lead isotopic and elemental ratios. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 62, 126627. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2020.126627

Levin, R., Zilli Vieira, C. L., Rosenbaum, M. H., Bischoff, K., Mordarski, D. C., & Brown, M. J. (2021). The urban lead (Pb) burden in humans, animals and the natural environment. *Environmental research*, *193*, 110377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110377

518

Mabrouk, A. (2021). Thymoquinone Improves Lead-Induced Hematotoxicity in Rats. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 1-9 https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.17582/journal.pjz/2019120917 1226

Mani, M. S., Nayak, D. G., & Dsouza, H. S. (2020). Challenges in diagnosing lead poisoning: A review of occupationally and nonoccupationally exposed cases reported in India. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, *36*(5), 346-355. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0748233720928170

Menezes, G., D'souza, H., & Venkatesh, T. (2003). Chronic lead poisoning in an adult battery worker. *Occupational Medicine*, *53*(7), 476-478. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqg091

Mielke, H. W., & Egendorf, S. P. (2023). Getting the Lead Out: A Career-Long Perspective on Leaded Gasoline, Dust, Soil, and Proactive Pediatric Exposure Prevention. *Medical Research Archives*, *11*(6), 1-17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.18103/mra.v11i5.3813

Mitra, P., Sharma, S., Purohit, P., & Sharma, P. (2017). Clinical and molecular aspects of lead toxicity: An update. *Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences*, *54*(7-8), 506–528. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408363.2017.1408562

Nedelescu, M., Stan, M., Ciobanu, A.-M., Bălălău, C., Filippini, T., & Baconi, D. (2022). Attention deficit among preschool and school-aged children living near former metal-processing plants in Romania. *Environmental Research*, 208, 112689. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.112689

Niu, C., Dong, M., & Niu, Y. (2023). Lead toxicity and potential therapeutic effect of plant-derived polyphenols. *Phytomedicine*, *114*, 154789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2023.154789

Omeljaniuk, W. J., Socha, K., Soroczynska, J., Charkiewicz, A. E., Laudanski, T., Kulikowski, M., Kobylec, E., & Borawska, M. H. (2018). Cadmium and Lead in Women Who Miscarried. *Clinical laboratory*, *64*(1), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.7754/ Clin.Lab.2017.170611

Palaniappan, K., Roy, A., Balakrishnan, K., Gopalakrishnan, L., Mukherjee, B., Hu, H., & Bellinger, D. C. (2011). Lead exposure and visual-motor abilities in children from Chennai, India. *Neurotoxicology*, *32*(4), 465-470. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuro.2011.03.011

Quail, M. T. (2018). Retained bullet or bullet fragments: A potential source of elevated blood lead levels. *Nursing*, *48*(10), 15. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NURSE.0000545014.98790.6e

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Ramadan, M., Habib, A., Hazem, M., Amin, M., & Mohsen, A. (2023). Synergetic effects of hydrothermal treatment on the behavior of toxic sludge-modified geopolymer: Immobilization of cerium and lead, textural characteristics, and mechanical efficiency. *Construction and Building Materials*, *367*, 130249. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2022.130249

Ramírez Ortega, D., González Esquivel, D. F., Blanco Ayala, T., Pineda, B., Gómez Manzo, S., Marcial Quino, J., Carrillo Mora, P., & Pérez de la Cruz, V. (2021). Cognitive impairment induced by lead exposure during lifespan: mechanisms of lead neurotoxicity. *Toxics*, 9(2), 23. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/ toxics9020023

Raut, T., Gholap, G., Shaikh, S., Mani, J., Sanghvi, D., & Bhatt, M. (2021). Acute Lead Encephalopathy Secondary to Ayurvedic Medication Use: Two Cases with Review of Literature [Case Report]. *Neurology India*, *69*(5), 1417-1420. https://doi.org/10.4103/0028-3886.329591

Raviraja, A., Babu, G. V., Sehgal, A., Saper, R. B., Jayawardene, I., Amarasiriwardena, C. J., & Venkatesh, T. (2010). Three cases of lead toxicity associated with consumption of ayurvedic medicines. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, *25*(3), 326-329. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics9020023

Roy, K., Sharma, R., Gupta, P., & Jain, V. (2022). Severe Lead Toxicity Due to Ayurvedic Medicine in a Child with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, *89*(1), 89-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-021-03951-x

Sadiku, O. O., & Rodríguez-Seijo, A. (2022). Metabolic and genetic derangement: a review of mechanisms involved in arsenic and lead toxicity and genotoxicity. *Arhiv za higijenu rada i toksikologiju*, *73*(4), 244-255. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/ 36607725

Samarghandian, S., Shirazi, F. M., Saeedi, F., Roshanravan, B., Pourbagher-Shahri, A. M., Khorasani, E. Y., Farkhondeh, T., Aaseth, J. O., Abdollahi, M., & Mehrpour, O. (2021). A systematic review of clinical and laboratory findings of lead poisoning: lessons from case reports. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*, 429, 115681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2021.115681

Sanders, T., Liu, Y., Buchner, V., & Tchounwou, P. B. (2009). Neurotoxic effects and biomarkers of lead exposure: a review. *Reviews on environmental health*, 24(1), 15–45. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh.2009.24.1.15

Schenk, L., Wingfors, H., Skoog, B., Forsgard, N., Nyberg, C., & Taube, F. (2021). Exposures to lead during urban combat training. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 235, 113773. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113773

Sources, blood concentrations, and approaches for reducing exposure to lead

Shah, M. P., Shendell, D. G., Strickland, P. O., Bogden, J. D., Kemp, F. W., & Halperin, W. (2017). Lead Content of Sindoor, a Hindu Religious Powder and Cosmetic: New Jersey and India, 2014-2015. *American journal of public health*, *107*(10), 1630– 1632. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303931

Srinivasan, M., Amin, R., Thunga, G., Nagiri, S. K., & Kudru, C. U. (2016). Pharmacokinetic Potentiation of Mixed Organophosphate and Pyrethroid Poison Leading to Prolonged Delayed Neuropathy. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, *10*(11), Fd01-fd02. https://doi.org/10.7860/jcdr/2016/22756.8773

Tandon, S., Chatterjee, M., Bhargava, A., Shukla, V., & Bihari, V.(2001). Lead poisoning in Indian silver refiners. Science of thetotalenvironment,281(1-3),177-182.https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/s0048-9697(01)00845-2

Varghese, T., Vijayakumar, S., Boban, N., R, S. S., L, V., Robin, D. T., & M, V. R. (2022). Severe Lead Toxicity Due to Ayurvedic Medicine in a Child with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus:

Correspondence. *Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 89(6), 633-633. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-022-04088-1

Wani, A. L., Ara, A., & Usmani, J. A. (2015). Lead toxicity: a review. *Interdiscip Toxicol*, 8(2), 55-64. https://doi.org/10.1515/intox-2015-0009

Whitehead, L. S., & Buchanan, S. D. (2019). Childhood Lead Poisoning: A Perpetual Environmental Justice Issue? *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 25. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.00000000000891

Widyantoro, A., Maziya, F., & Abidin, A. (2021). Exposure analysis of lead (Pb) and chromium (Cr) in workplace workshop PT. X. *Gaceta Sanitaria*, *35*, S450-S454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaceta.2021.07.023

Yanamandra, U., Somasundaram, V., Bahl, R., & Pramanik, S. K. (2020). Lead poisoning secondary to unprescribed ayurvedic medicine intake. *BMJ Case Reports*, *13*(10). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2020-238576





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Potential benefits and therapeutic applications of "Panchgavya" therapy (Cowpathy) for human and animal health: Current scientific knowledge

Deepak Chandran^{1†*}, Ankitha Indu J^{2†}, Sivasabari K^{2†}, Meenakshy S^{2†}, Sreelakshmi M², Amrithendhu V R², Khanza Ahamed², Gopika Ram², Devika Mohan², Anamika P², Sandip Chakraborty³, Hitesh Chopra⁴, Shopnil Akash⁵, Ruhul Amin⁶, Sirwan Khalid Ahmed⁷, Abhijit Dey⁸, Anil K Sharma⁹, Kuldeep Dhama^{10*}

¹Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Kerala, India – 679335.

²Amrita School of Agricultural Sciences, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu – 642109, India

³Department of Veterinary Microbiology, College of Veterinary Sciences and Animal Husbandry, R.K. Nagar, West Tripura, Tripura, Pin-799008, India ⁴Chitkara College of Pharmacy, Chitkara University, Punjab - 140401, India

⁵Faculty of Allied Health Science, Department of Pharmacy, Daffodil International University, Daffodil smart city, Ashulia, Savar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh ⁶Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Assam down town University, Panikhaiti, Gandhinagar, Guwahati, Assam-781026, India

⁷Independent Researcher, Kurdistan Region, 46012, Iraq

⁸Department of Life Sciences, Presidency University, 86/1 College Street, Kolkata-700073, West Bengal, India

⁹Department of Biotechnology, Maharishi Markandeshwar University (Deemed to be University) Mullana-Ambala-133207, Haryana, India

¹⁰Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh - 243122, India

[†]Authors contributed equally

Received – May 23, 2023; Revision – June 25, 2023; Accepted – June 26, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).520.533

ABSTRACT KEYWORDS Cow's milk, urine, dung, ghee, and curd (together known as "Panchgavya") have incomparable Cowpathy medicinal value in Avurveda and ancient Indian clinical methods. Panchgavya is also known as Cowpathy in Ayurveda. In India, the cow is revered as a goddess known as "Gaumata" because of its Panchgavya nurturing qualities similar to those of a mother. Almost no adverse effects are associated with using Cow urine Panchgavya, which is why it is recommended in Ayurveda for treating disorders affecting numerous body systems. Its possible antimicrobial effects have piqued the curiosity of medical researchers and Milk practitioners. Cow milk is widely regarded as a nutritious diet and has been shown to effectively treat various medical conditions, including high body temperature, pain, cancer, diabetes, kidney diseases, and Dung weakness. Milk can prevent the growth of microorganisms, has erotic qualities when combined with the

* Corresponding author

E-mail: drdeepakchandran24@gmail.com (Deepak Chandran); kdhama@rediffmail.com (Kuldeep Dhama)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



Potential benefits and therapeutic applications of "Panchgavya" therapy (Cowpathy) for human and animal health

Ghee

Curd

Human health and diseases

leaves of medicinal herbs, and the fat in milk has anticancer characteristics. Toned and skim milk, lassi, yoghurt, cottage cheese, and khoa all come from milk and have important medicinal characteristics. Curd (dahi) is recommended as a blood purifier for conditions such as hemorrhoids, piles, and gastrointestinal issues. Ghee made from cows has been shown to boost immunity. It is important to highlight the use of cow dung as an antifungal and for treating malaria and tuberculosis. It has the potential to aid in the development of a populace free from disease, the creation of sustainable energy systems, the fulfilment of all nutritional needs, the elimination of poverty, the promotion of organic farming culture, and the like. Cow urine is a powerful remedy for numerous medical conditions, including but not limited to epileptic convulsions, diabetes, hepatitis, inflammation, fever, and anaemia. The current review article explores how the Panchgavya ingredients can be employed to safeguard human and animal health.

1 Introduction

India is steeped in ancient scientific practices that link social rituals to their scientific underpinnings. The Indians give the cow the names "Gaumata" and "Kamadhenu" because of its nurturing role, similar to that of a mother. Kamadhenu is the name of the sacred cow that is thought to bestow wishes upon their devotees. The healing and preventative effects of Panchgavya are priceless. In the Ayurvedic system of medicine, cow products like milk, ghee, curd, urine and dung are revered for their curative and preventative properties (Arumugam et al. 2019). Ingredients and uses for these items in medicine, agriculture, and other sectors might vary considerably. 'Panch' means five, and 'gavya' means gained from 'Gau,' so together, these two words indicate the five products that may be made from a single cow, hence the name 'Panchgavya. Different 'gavya' have varying curative effects on different ailments. Like allopathy, homeopathy, and naturopathy, "Cowpathy" refers to Panchgavya therapy or treatment. Each 'gavya' has multiple applications, including use as a standalone treatment or in synergy with other medicines. The five products are also versatile since they can be used singly or in tandem with others of synthetic, herbal, or mineral origin (Dhama et al. 2005a; Dhama et al., 2014; Dhama et al. 2015; Arumugam et al. 2019; Bajaj et al. 2022; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022). These five components of Panchgavya are mentioned in Figure 1.

Clinical trials of the therapy have shown promising results in patients with advanced stages of cancer, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), diabetes, tuberculosis, rheumatoid arthritis, leukoderma, flu, asthma, allergies, heart



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

disorders, kidney disorders, healing of wounds, nutritional and digestive disorders, chemical poisoning and other bacterial, viral, and fungal illnesses (Cimmino et al. 2023). As the best organic manure, Panchgavya is essential to sustainable agriculture. Its use guarantees that no artificial inputs will be required, such as fertilizers, herbicides, insecticides, or antibiotics. Panchgavya is the most cost-effective and useful manure on the market. As an organic fertilizer, it helps boost soil fertility, increases earthworm quality, and benefits crop health. Cow manure and dung are valuable energy resources for producing biogas and power (Borgohain et al. 2020; Bajaj et al. 2022). Several recent pandemic infections have occurred, including COVID-19 (coronavirus). Efforts to defend and protect the Indian population from coronaviruses using natural means and Ayurveda are continuing. An investigation into using Panchgavya as a treatment for the coronavirus has recently begun. Panchgavya medication was tested on 19 patients with COVID by Tijare et al. (2020) and Ganesh (2021), who confirmed the preliminary findings. Treatment with Panchgavya and Gomutra arka for coronavirus is effective, and those sickened by the virus have been shown to recover from it. They determined that Panchgavya and Gomutra arka treatment is a viable therapeutic option. Products derived from cows contain more minerals, carbolic, succinic, and citric acids, vitamins and hormones. They improve cellular metabolism in prokaryotes in aerobic and anaerobic circumstances, paving the path for synthesizing novel secondary metabolites (such as pharmaceuticals and enzymes) (Raut and Vaidya 2018).

There are a wide variety of additional advantages to using Panchgavya products. Organic farmers can benefit from the urine and dung of cows as high-quality natural manure, and these byproducts can also be turned into vermicompost, biofertilizers, and biopesticides-all of which are excellent and cost-effective agricultural uses that boost soil fertility, increase crop yields, and protect consumers from the potentially harmful effects of chemical fertilizers and pesticides. The nutritional content of cow milk, curd, and ghee is exceptionally high. Alternative and cheaper energy sources, fuel, biogas, and electricity, can be produced from cow dung and urine using Panchgavya products, which can help light every home without any ongoing costs by providing cheap fuel widely available to the masses and solving electricity problems. Since cow manure is resistant to sun radiation and cow ghee can protect the human body from the detrimental effects of radioactive waves, Panchgavya is said to possess the capability to improve the financial status of farmers and landless labour (González et al. 2018; Arumugam et al. 2019; Chandra et al. 2019; Joshi et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023).

Safer and more novel remedies, including herbal medicine, bacteriophage therapy, and others like Cowpathy and dietary

immunomodulatory methods, are gaining popularity and should be widely disseminated as a reaction to the growing problem of drugresistant bacteria and infections (Chandra et al. 2019; Bajaj et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023). This article reviews the panchgavya elements and discusses their medicinal applications and human and animal health benefits.

2 Properties of "Panchgavya"

Panchgavya is a mixture of five different herbs used in Ayurvedic medicine for thousands of years. Chakara Samhita, Chaukambha Sanskrit Pratistana, and other ancient texts detail how Panchgavya can be prepared on its own or in combination with other herbs. Swapla Panchgavya ghrita, Panchgavya ghrita (which translates to "Panchgavya ghee"), and Mahapanchgavya ghrita (which translates to "Panchgavya ghee" with the addition of 18 or 24 herbs) are the many Panchgavya preparations available. Human ailments such as skin disorders, vitiligo, cough, cold, chronic illness, etc., are treated with these varied formulations. Cowpathy, known as Panchgavya chikitsa, therapy, or treatment, employs Panchgavya to heal human illness (Rai et al. 2022). It has been suggested that Panchgavya therapy could be an effective preventative and curative measure for the health of cattle, poultry, and humans. Cow urine, milk, ghee, curd, and dung are the five components that make up the Panchgavya. These items are used either alone or in combination with other plants for therapeutic purposes due to their medicinal characteristics (Ganesh 2021; Anand et al. 2022). Cow products like milk, curd, and ghee have a high nutritional value, and byproducts like urine and dung can be used to generate biogas, fuel, and electricity at a lower cost. Panchgavya is good for humans and is made from indigenous cow breeds. As per the Ayurvedic literature, Panchgavya consists of five items, including cow urine, cow dung, cow milk, curd, and ghee in a ratio of 2:1:6:12:2 (urine, dung, curd, milk, and ghee). Carbolic, succinic, and citric acids; vitamins like A, B, C, D, and E; minerals like iron, copper, zinc, and chromium; and hormones like testosterone and estrogen can all be found in plenty in Panchgavya products (Bajaj et al. 2022). Inducing immunological modulation by boosting cellular and humoral immune responses, up-regulating lymphocyte proliferative activity, and decreasing lymphocyte apoptosis, these products are effective in treating a wide range of human diseases. They combat ageing by halting the production of free radicals and fixing damaged DNA. Studies on the antibacterial, antifungal, anticancer, immunological, pharmacological, and other effects of Panchgavya's five components individually and in combination have been conducted by several researchers (Mahajan et al. 2020; Joshi et al. 2022; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023). Figure 2 depicts the many Panchgavya variants, their therapeutic features, and their usefulness in agricultural contexts.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 2 Various variants of Panchagavya, their therapeutic characteristics, and usefulness in agricultural contexts

3 "Panchgavya" therapy

Alternative preventative and therapeutic methods, such as "Panchgavya" treatment (Cowpathy), have been advocated for maintaining healthy cattle and poultry and protecting human health. Multiple illnesses can be treated using Panchgavya products, and the body's natural defences against disease are strengthened. By inhibiting the production of free radicals and speeding up the repair of damaged DNA, cowpathy functions as an anti-ageing agent. It also induces immunomodulation by enhancing antibody-mediated (humoral) and cellular immune responses. This is accomplished by increasing cytokine secretion, lymphoproliferation and macrophage activity and decreasing apoptosis in lymphocytes. Environmental pollution, agrochemical use in agriculture, and the presence of pesticides, fungal toxins, heavy metals, etc., in the food chain, are all reasons why Cowpathy may be beneficial (Tharmaraj et al. 2011; González et al. 2018; Bajaj et al. 2022).

Panchgavya, when appropriately diluted, has been discovered to be a promising growth enhancer of microorganisms; as a result, it increases soil fertility without resorting to chemical fertilizers, and its marked antifungal qualities also make it a useful microbiological growth medium. Panchgavya, when diluted further, shows promise as a simple, naturally generated, and

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org inexpensive bacteriological media with added antifungal action and growth encouragement (Chandra et al. 2019; Borgohain et al. 2020). Although Panchgavya has no direct antibacterial activity, the fermented version of the herb (after 30 days) can be used as a growth stimulator thanks to its improved chemical and microbiological composition (Borgohain et al. 2020). Diseases such as the common cold, allergies, asthma, alopecia, hyperlipidaemia, rheumatoid arthritis, lucorrhoea, leukoderma, cardiovascular disease, high blood pressure, renal disorders, hepatitis, peptic ulcer disease, acid reflux, esophagitis have all been linked to the use of Panchgavya products for both preventative and curative purposes (Dhama et al. 2013; Khan et al. 2015). Figure 3 provides a detailed summary of panchgavya therapy, including its health benefits and therapeutic potential in protecting animal and human health.

4 "Gaumutra"/ Cow urine

"Gaumutra", sometimes known as cow urine, is a non-hazardous liquid byproduct of the dairy industry. Cow urine, or distillation of it, has been shown to have many positive health effects, including increased longevity and improved quality of life for those suffering from life-threatening illnesses (Dhama et al., 2005a; Dhama et al., 2005b; Meena et al. 2019). Cow urine has been used for many medical purposes for centuries, although little scientific evidence

523

Chandran et al.



Figure 3 Incorporation of "Panchgavya" to increase productivity in farming and therapeutic outcomes for humans and animals

supports its practice. More research should be done to encourage using time-tested treatments with fewer adverse outcomes. Several formulas in the Ayurvedic medical system call for cow urine. The Ayurvedic texts highlight the many uses of cow urine for health and medicine. Cow urine is a potent nephroprotective agent and diuretic in its own right. Weight loss, digestive problems, edema, and a reverse action against multiple cardiovascular and kidney disorders are all possible benefits. It's also effective against vitiligo, diarrhoea, gastrointestinal infections, jaundice, piles, anaemia, and other skin conditions (Mahajan et al. 2020; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022).

The composition of cow urine consists of 95% water, 2.5% urea, and the remaining 2.5% comprises various components such as enzymes, hormones, salts, and minerals. Cow urine also contains several digestive and immune-boosting enzymes. Cow urine is an excellent source of vitamins A, B, C, D, and E (Khan et al. 2015). The antimicrobial and disease-eradicating properties of copper are well established. The amino acids and cytokines may help boost the immune system. The chemical qualities, potentialities, and ingredients of 'gaumutra' alone are sufficient to correct all imbalances in the body (Dhama et al. 2013; Joshi et al. 2022). Table 1 shows the chemical makeup of cow urine and its therapeutic uses.

Cancer is the most frightening and incurable disease in the world, but "Cow Urine Therapy" demonstrates another, more effective, and less expensive way to prevent and treat this disease. Urinary tract cancer is one of the most common types of cancer in humans, and cow urine has direct implications in this situation, as its use promotes the reduction of medicine doses and, at the same time, functions as a bioenhancer. Common antibacterial, antifungal, and anticancer medications have benefited from "Ark", a bioenhancer that increases their efficacy while decreasing necessary dosage and treatment time. Together, they can stop bacteria from becoming antibiotic-resistant if given simultaneously (Dhama et al. 2013; Khan et al. 2015; Arumugan et al. 2019). Because it contains quinolones and flavoquinolones, cow urine has been discovered to be highly effective against fungus. Multiple fungal agents, including Claviceps purpurea, Fusarium oxysporum, Rhizopus oligosporus, Alternaria helianthi, Aspergillus oryzae, Cladosporium spp., and Curvularia spp., are susceptible to the plant's antifungal properties (Chandran 2021; Prakash et al. 2021a; Kamei et al. 2022). Cow urine has excellent value as a bioenhancer and for boosting the effectiveness of medications against infectious pathogens. In addition to ampicillin and isoniazid, clotrimazole and cyanocobalamine have also been linked to enhancement. Bioenhancer activity has been linked to shorter treatment times and lower antibiotic need for tuberculosis patients (Meena et al. 2019; Joshi et al. 2022).

524

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Potential benefits and therapeutic applications of "Panchgavya" therapy (Cowpathy) for human and animal health

Table 1 Composition of cow urine and respective health advantages

Constituents	Health advantages and therapeutic benefits	
Water	Body temperature and fluidity of blood are both kept at a steady state	
Urea	Have a bactericidal effect and stimulate the production of more urine	
Uric acid	Promote healthy kidney function and aid with heart maintenance	
Creatinine	Exert a bactericidal effect	
Hippuric acid	Assists the kidneys in flushing out harmful substances	
Ammonia	Promotes healthy bile and mucus production; and stimulates the production of red blood cells	
Lactose	Suppress anxiety and fortify the cardiovascular system	
Carbolic acid	Antiseptic and gangrene preventative	
Aurum hydroxide	Boosts immunity, acts as an antibiotic, and is non-toxic	
Sodium	Function as an antacid and exhibits blood cleansing property	
Nitrogen	Controls blood pressure, maintains normal renal function, and promotes dieresis	
Iron	Promotes red blood cell and hemoglobin production.	
Calcium	Cleansing the blood and preserving bone density	
Copper	Avoid accumulation of fat	
Phosphate	Reduce the risk of urinary stone development	
Manganese	Antibacterial and gangrene prevention properties	
Potassium	Cure inherited rheumatism, improve appetite, and strengthen muscles	
Sulphur	Improves bowel regularity and blood purification	

Source: Bajaj et al. (2022); Randhawa and Sharma (2015); González et al. (2018); Arumugam et al. (2019); Bajaj et al. (2022)

Cow urine is one of the most effective substances/secretions of animal origin due to its ability to boost immunocompetence and improve general health. The macrophages are stimulated, increasing their bactericidal and engulfing abilities. It enhances the body's innate and adaptive immune responses (Dhama et al. 2013). Cow urine boosts IgG, IgA, and IgM antibody titres in mice and stimulates the Growth of T and B cells. Interleukins 1 and 2 are also secreted at a higher rate. According to its antibacterial and immunologically modifying qualities, cow urine has been used successfully in wound healing in dogs and rats. Lymphocytes are kept alive and not killed off using cow urine as a survival mechanism. It can also fix broken DNA. Indian cow urine is more potent than any other type of urine. Through cow domestication, it may be gotten for free, has curative properties, and is non-toxic (Raut and Vaidya 2018; Bajaj et al. 2022). Cow urine improves vaccinated birds' immune responses, making them more diseaseresistant. Along with boosting egg production and quality, it also stimulates lymphocyte proliferation. Positive benefits on body weight increase, haematological profiles, and immunomodulatory effects in layer poultry birds have been documented. Because it inhibits the production of free radicals, an anti-ageing agent, daily use can restore a person's youthful radiance and vitality (Khan et al. 2015). Taking cow urine in the middle of the morning is an

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org excellent prophylactic measure and tonic for minor ailments. A sore throat or cold might be alleviated by gargling with pee. A vaginal douche can aid in the recovery from an infection. Along with its usage as a pest repellent, it has many cosmetic and therapeutic applications. It works well as a footbath for conditions including athlete's foot, ringworm, and other fungal nail and skin infections (Arumugam et al. 2019; Mahajan et al. 2020).

Cow urine concoction (CUC) is a well-liked herbal remedy that is effective against a wide variety of ailments, including as an anticonvulsant, a hypoglycemic, a liver tonic, a fever reducer, a pain reliever, and a blood builder. CUC has been validated for treating conditions brought on by pathogenic bacteria, opportunistic fungi, and helminthes. Adequate focus must be placed on the positive aspects of cow urine, and strategic promotion and support are required in this regard (Kuleep et al. 2013; Bajaj et al. 2022; Joshi et al. 2022). Moreover, cow urine helps control the level of sugar in youngsters who have diabetes in nature. When warm cow urine is provided at daily doses of 1 to 2 ounces, it helps treat liver cirrhosis. Malignant jaundice can be cured by internal uptake of cow urine and antimony sulphide. Interestingly, people who are engaged in cleaning the milk barn with bare feet do not usually suffer from athlete's foot. The urine of

525

526

cows has also got immunostimulant activities not only in animals but also in plants as well. In the case of sebaceous cysts washing with the cow's urine following incision is suggested. As cow urine acts as a disinfectant and prophylactic agent, it can purify the atmosphere (Khan et al. 2015; Prakash et al. 2021b).

By the use of an excision wound model of Wistar albino rats (both sexes) examination of the activity of wound healing of cow urine has been done. The reference standard used in the study was nitrofurazone. The experiment has revealed a significant ability to heal wounds with cow urine. When cow urine is applied externally for 2 weeks on the damaged area, 50 per cent of wound healing has been noticed. It has also been shown that the efficacy of cow urine compared to nitrofurazone as far as wound healing is concerned is greater (Sanganal et al. 2011).

Recently, it has been suggested that synthesized copper oxide nanoparticles (CuO NPs) (cow urine mediated) can be helpful in therapy against neoplasm. Likewise, CuO NPs and cow urinemediated palladium and silver oxide nanoparticles show significant antimicrobial activity against several bacterial and fungal strains (Prasad and Kothari, 2021).

5 Cow dung

Various beneficial microorganisms can be found in cow manure, such as Saccharomyces, Lactobacillus, Bacillus, Streptococcus, Candida, etc. Additionally, cow excrement contains a wide variety of cellulose, hemicellulose, vitamins, minerals (like potassium, nitrogen and carbon), mucus, and lignin (Dhama et al. 2005a). Cow dung is utilized to break down municipal and medical garbage because it contains many microorganisms that break down trash. Dried cow dung cakes are used to prepare food in rural areas of India. This reduces reliance on non-renewable energy sources, is entirely eco-friendly, and assures air cleaning by killing the microorganisms in the surrounding environment. Energy from biogas plants is also vital. Methane gas produced from cow manure is used for cooking and power generation. When most cow manure is turned into methane gas, the leftover residue is the best organic manure (Prakash et al. 2021a; Prakash et al. 2021b; Anand et al. 2022).

A cow's manure can generate enough biogas to power a city for a year—the same as burning 6,80,000 metric tons of wood. This would prevent the needless destruction of the environment by preventing the needless destruction of 14 crore trees. Soil, water, and air pollution can all be effectively mitigated using cow dung fertilizers (Chandra et al. 2019).

To keep soil healthy, farmers must use cow manure. Cow manure boosts earthworm populations and increases and controls soil fertility by improving nitrification when combined with the *Eisenia andrei* earthworm species. One of the most significant issues in

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Chandran et al.

farming is fungal diseases. Cow dung has been shown to inhibit the Growth of Fusarium solani, Fusarium oxysporum, and Sclerotinia sclerotiorum, three common types of plant-infecting fungi (Chandran 2021; Kamei et al. 2022). Agricultural chemicals like fertilizers, pesticides, weed killers, and antibiotics have been linked to hypersensitivity reactions, immunosuppression, and autoimmune illnesses. The lack of potentially dangerous chemicals in organic farming means the resulting products are in higher demand. Cow dung has a high microbiological count and nutritional value; thus, organic farmers have turned to it as manure. The best alternative to toxic poisons is cow dung, which protects the health of both humans and animals. Cow manure is a source of the fibrous material needed to make paper. Cow dung-based mosquito repellents have recently emerged as a viable alternative to chemical repellents. Cow dung toothpaste has been shown to effectively prevent the spread of oral infections and enhance oral health. Human operations can be made more efficient and less damaging to the natural world by using cow manure (Dhama et al. 2005a; Pal and Patel 2020).

There is no question about the purity of fresh cow dung, but once laid in the ground, changes in its properties become evident. Waste obtained from cows can act as antiseptic and has features of prevention of disease. Microorganisms cause disease; putrefaction as well as fermentation is destroyed by cow dung. The antifungal activity of cow dung is enhanced when combined with cow urine (Kulkarni 2009; Khan et al. 2015). Cow dung and cow urine are widely used in manufacturing formulations of Ayurvedic medicine. Two commonly used preparations are *Sanjeevani vati* and *Punarnava-mandur*. '*Bhasmas*' are still traditionally manufactured by application of heat to cakes of cow dung by fire (Raut and Vaidya 2018).

There is evidence that cow manure can kill bacteria and fungi. It's a skin tonic that helps with conditions including eczema and psoriasis. Crushed neem leaves combined with cow manure effectively treat boils and heat rash. Malaria parasites and Mycobacterium tuberculosis can both be eradicated with the use of cow manure. The antifungal activity is seen when tested on Coprophilous yeasts (Dhama et al. 2014; Kamei et al. 2022). The smoke released from burning cow dung irritates the eyes, leading to tears that wash away debris and improve eyesight. Eupenicillium bovifimosum, a bacterium found in cow dung, generates chemicals with antifungal action, specifically CK2108A and CK2801B. Cow dung is an applicable model ecosystem for drug degradation and elimination research. The discovery that the basidiomycete strain NRRL6464 can break down lignocellulose and that Cyathus stercoreus can degrade drugs like enrofloxacin led to the isolation of these two species of fungi. Immunosuppression, autoimmunity, and hypersensitivity reactions are some of the many adverse effects of biopesticides, making this an urgent problem in countries like India. Because of its rich nutrient content and huge microbial population, cow dung is useful for bioremediating various pesticides (Bajaj et al. 2022; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023).

6 Cow milk

Cow milk was praised for its curative properties in ancient Indian medical texts. Milk is consumed for its medicinal, healthenhancing, and protective benefits (Chandran et al. 2021a; Lejaniya et al. 2021a; Lejaniya et al. 2021b). The milk produced by purebred Indian cows is A2, while the milk produced by hybrid or alien cows is A1. The seven-membered peptide b-casomorphin-7 (BCM-7) is extracted from the Bos taurus cow, and more specifically from the HF cow, and is known as the "devil ingredient" in A1 milk (Turck 2013; Chandran et al. 2021b). Betacasein's digestion produces BCM-7 when histidine replaces a proline residue in the polypeptide chains. The side effects of BCM-7 are numerous. BCM-7 in the bloodstream can lead to schizophrenia and atherosclerosis in persons with leaky gut syndrome (Chandran et al. 2021b). The interaction of BCM-7 with opioid receptors and the inhibition of regular binding and activity of endorphins in breastfeeding infants has been linked to developing type 1 diabetes and autism. Autism spectrum disorder in newborns and schizophrenia in adults is connected to a lack of functioning endorphins. Type 1 diabetes and immune system damage results from BCM-7's activation of opioid receptors. In addition to asthma and heart issues, drinking A1 milk might trigger allergic reactions (Cimmino et al. 2023).

In contrast, the A2 kind of milk produced from the Indian cow breed has been shown to have multiple positive effects on human health and a wide range of therapeutic applications. Cow's milk was traditionally combined with medicines in Ayurveda to improve the therapeutic benefit-to-harm ratio (Dhama et al. 2005a; Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016). Nutritionally, Indian cow milk scores high, with a breakdown of roughly 4.6% lactose, 4.65% fat, 0.54% minerals, 3.4% proteins, and 86% water. Proteins in cow's milk consist of four different types: alpha-casein (36%), beta-casein (27%), kappa-casein (9%) and peptides (27%). Colloidal casein, which makes up roughly 3% of milk, is present, along with pigments including xanthophyll, carotene, and riboflavin. In addition to being a good source of calcium and phosphorus, milk also has a good amount of important fatty acids. Milk also contains the vitamins A, B2, B3, and K and the phospholipids cephalin, lecithin, and sphingomyelin (Chandran et al. 2021b).

Several health benefits are associated with drinking milk from cows. Infants are fed cow milk as a substitute for breast milk. The development of teeth and bones and regulating cardiac functions rely on it. The low cholesterol fat in milk is crucial for healthy growth in all areas of the body and mind, including the immunological system, nervous system and digestive tract. Lactose is a vital source of fuel. Vitamin A in milk helps you see well, while vitamin K prevents blood clotting too quickly (Pereira 2014; Chandran et al. 2021a; Kamei et al. 2022).

Milk has a wealth of potential health benefits. Milk is effective in treating infant anaemia. Cow milk inhibits the growth of pathogenic gut bacteria while encouraging the spread of good bacteria (Lejaniya et al. 2021a). Enzymes in milk have antibacterial effects (xanthine oxidase, lactoperoxidase, and lysozyme), while peptides (beta-casomorphins, exorphin, and serorphin) have antidiarrheal effects. Patients with gallbladder disease, diabetes, or high cholesterol should drink milk regularly. The cis-isomer of linoleic acid found in milk has been shown to have anticancer effects in animal studies. Cancer growth suppression was seen. Cancers of the skin, colon, and breast are all targets of milk's anticancer properties. The Government of India recognized the importance of increasing indigenous cow breeds to boost the production of A2-type milk, so they established the "Rashtriya Gokul Mission" in 2014 (Sathiyaraj et al. 2022).

7 Cow ghee

Traditional cow ghee has many health benefits and is an excellent source of nutrients because of the way it is made. Butter made from cow milk is heated to a very high temperature until all the moisture evaporates, resulting in ghee. The health benefits of ghee made with milk from an Indian breed cow are greater than those made with the milk of any other kind of cow. Some have speculated that ghee's high fatty acid content makes it a risk factor for dyslipidemia and cardiovascular disease. As a result of myths like this, ghee was primarily avoided in India (Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016; Patange et al. 2022a). Many scientific researches have been done, and the health benefits of ghee have been re-established, even though Ayurveda has long recommended its use. The antioxidant activity of ghee is enhanced by the presence of linoleic acid (conjugated) in it, and the presence of this acid in conjugated form is responsible for preventing atherogenesis in experimental animals (Chinnadurai et al. 2013; Patange et al. 2022a; Patange et al. 2022b). Traditional preparation of cow ghee is found to be beneficial for therapeutic purposes and the promotion of health. Studies have revealed that docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is present in greater concentration in ghrita manufactured by the traditional method of Ayurveda. Importantly DHA is beneficial to the health of humans (Joshi 2014; Patange et al. 2022a; Patange et al. 2022b). In therapeutics based on Ayurveda, ghee coadministration with other remedies is done. For target indications development of special formulations based on ghee has been done. Examples include Adhatoda vasica/ Vasa-ghrita (for diseases of the respiratory system); Bacopa monnieri/ Bramhi-ghrita (for cognitive effects); washed with water hundred times/ Shatadhauta ghrita (for ailments of skin) etc. (Raut and Vaidya 2018).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Ghee is an essential component in Ayurvedic medicine, serving as both a delivery mechanism for the active substance and a foundation upon which to build the dose forms. Ayurveda also recommends using ghee in conjunction with other healing methods. To improve the transport and bioavailability of hydrophobic herbs, ghee-based formulations like Ghrita have been developed. To name only a few examples, there is *Brahmi ghrita* for the brain, *Vasa ghrita* for the lungs, *Shatadhauta ghrita* for the skin, *Bhallatakadi ghrita* for wounds, *Kaamdev ghrita* for erection problems, etc. (Dhama et al. 2005a; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023).

The blood-purifying properties of cow's butter are responsible for the cosmetic benefits. Cow ghee's immunostimulant capability in Panchgavya formulations is demonstrated by increased haemagglutination titre, neutrophil adhesion, and delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) reactions in rats. Cow ghee, when blended with honey and specific herbs, can treat skin conditions and speed the healing of wounds. *Emblica officinalis, Glycyrrhiza glabra*, and cow's ghee are components of the calming Ayurvedic compound known as Panchgavya. The hepatoprotective effect against carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) poisoning in the rat liver is also observed with *Panchgavya ghrita* (Dhama et al. 2013; Raut and Vaidya 2018).

Cow ghee improves memory, decreases "bad" cholesterol, prevents skin and cardiovascular problems, boosts skin health, keeps digestion going strong, produces energy, cleans the blood, shields the liver, and much more. Several studies have shown that ghee has therapeutic effects, including the ability to reduce inflammation and tumour growth, improve eyesight, and speed up the healing of wounds. It has been used successfully in the treatment of a variety of skin and gastrointestinal disorders due to its immunostimulant, anticholinergic activity, anti-asthmatic impact, and anti-paralytic properties (Arumugam et al. 2019; Mor et al. 2022).

Cow ghee has also demonstrated activity in wound healing potentially. The high content of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids is attributed to the property of healing wounds. The ability to wound heal cow ghee was examined through a study wherein cow ghee is combined with the extract of leaves of *Aegle marmelos*. Evaluation of several parameters, viz., decrease in the wound area, closure and contraction of the wound, and tissue regeneration in the damaged parts, have been done. The combination of cow ghee and leaf extract of *Aegle marmelos* has demonstrated rapid wound healing within eight days (Biyani et al. 2011; Shaikh et al. 2019). Evaluation of the wound-healing activity of cow ghee is also done in combination with *Aloe vera*. 0.5 g of the formulated gel has been applied. It has been found that there is the cessation of wound contraction between 3 weeks and 24 days, an increase in epithelialization, tensile strength is provided, and the formation of

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org collagen has been promoted by such combination therapy (Nandanwar et al. 2010).

Across the globe, a common problem is computer vision syndrome (CVS). This condition is characterized by dryness of the eyes; sensation of burning; redness, and itching. For the treatment, lubricating eye drops are used. But unfortunately, regular use of such eye drops can damage the eyes due to the preservative presence. Interestingly due to the lubricating effect of cow ghee, it can be used for the treatment of CVS without any deleterious effect. Vitamin A in cow ghee helps maintain moisture in the lining (outer) of the eyeball, thereby preventing eye dryness and loss of vision (Mulik et al. 2013).

8 Cow curd/ Dahi

Worldwide, people drink curd-also known as yoghurt and Dahibecause of its high nutritional value and health advantages. To create this product, cow milk is fermented with microorganisms including Acidophilus, Streptococcus, and Lactobacillus. Curd contains a high concentration of probiotics, which are beneficial microorganisms that have been shown to have a variety of health advantages when taken orally (Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016; Saleena et al. 2022a; Saleena et al. 2022b). Bacteria that produce lactic acid create metabolites, including cyclic dipeptides, phenyl lactic acid, and compounds with antifungal properties. They also have naturally occurring 3-hydroxylated fatty acid and proteinaceous substances. Ayurvedic guidelines for eating curd are conditional on factors like a person's overall health, the surrounding environment, and the weather (Dhama et al. 2005a; Borgohain et al. 2020; Lejaniya et al. 2021a; Lejaniya et al. 2021b; Saleena et al. 2022a; Saleena et al. 2022b).

Curd is a good source of water, vitamins, proteins, and minerals, among other nutrients and micronutrients. Curd's probiotics are excellent for the immunological and digestive systems, and its other vitamins, minerals, and proteins have antimicrobial and antiviral effects. As it inhibits the growth of dangerous germs and encourages the development of beneficial gut flora, it also treats digestive disorders (Kumar et al. 2020). It also has antifungal effects against dandruff from hair and piles. People with *Vata Prakruti* should eat curd with green gram or moong, those with *Pitta Prakruti* should eat it with sugar, and those with *Kapha Prakruti* should eat it with cumin powder. Ayurvedic guidelines suggest that consuming curd with all the necessary safeguards may have considerable health benefits (Dhama et al. 2013; Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016).

Curd and buttermilk contain many lactic acid bacteria, which produce several antifungal metabolites (Saleena et al. 2022a; Saleena et al. 2022b). Curd has been consumed with either sugar (powdered sugar) or black salt and zira since ancient times. Whey supplemented with salts treats diarrhoea and eliminates parasites in neonatal calves, a practice common in animal medicine. It's being administered to mature animals to boost their output, especially milched buffaloes. Bullocks' work capacity is improved when fed both concentrate and whey (Raut and Vaidya 2018; Kumar et al. 2020). Probiotics have been shown to have positive effects when added to livestock feed. Antibiotic-free illness management may be possible with the use of probiotics. It will also lessen the need for antibiotics in livestock farming. Allergies and antibiotic resistance are just two negative impacts linked to antibiotic residues in milk, eggs, and poultry. Using probiotics, especially in the form of cow curd, will help alleviate these issues. However, much more research is needed to confirm or reaffirm the indigenous cow curd's efficacy as a probiotic in the scientific community (Dhama et al. 2014; Borgohain et al. 2020).

9 Contribution of Panchgavya to Agriculture

9.1 Impact on soil

Soil fertility is enhanced by panchgavya, which encourages the growth and reproduction of microorganisms, increases organic matter and macro and micronutrient levels, and increases plant uptake of nutrients. Application of panchgavya has several effects, such as soil porosity is improved, aggregate stability normalized, soil pH maintained, and the soil's nutrient profile is improved (Jain et al. 2014; Kumar et al. 2020; Prakash et al. 2021a; Prakash et al. 2021b; Kumar et al. 2022). Panchgavya, as confirmed by Bajaj et al. (2022), dramatically affects growth and crop productivity by encouraging beneficial soil bacteria surrounding the roots.

9.2 Impact on the Growth of Plants and Crops

Panchgavya, when sprayed on leaves, causes the plant to produce larger leaves and a denser canopy, as well as more photosynthetic material, allowing for a higher yield of metabolites and photosynthates. It has abundant and high branching, and its roots penetrate deep into the soil, where it can support the largest quantity of fruits as they mature. Moreover, the increased uptake of nutrients and water helps plants and crops maintain their freshness for longer (Tharmaraj et al. 2011; Jain et al. 2014; Pal and Patel 2020; Kumar et al. 2022; Kumari et al. 2022).

9.3 Relevance to organic farming

Synthetic pesticide-free food can be created with the aid of Panchgavya. When a field switches from conventional to organic farming methods within a year, it keeps crop production at the same level or even increases it. It improves the quality and safety of the food produced, extends the storage life of agricultural products, and makes them taste better. The 15-day harvest boost and the ensuing savings in chemical costs for agrarian production mean a healthier bottom line (Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016; Borgohain et al. 2020; Prakash et al. 2021b; Bajaj et al. 2022; Kumari et al. 2022).

10 Nanotechnology based on the Panchgavya

Nanotechnology is a growing field of study in the field of drug delivery because it promises to provide medication exactly when and where it is needed (Dhama et al. 2013; Dhama et al. 2014; Kaushik et al. 2016; Bajaj et al. 2022). Synthesis of Panchgavyamediated copper nanoparticles was performed by Arumugam et al. (2019) utilizing Panchgavya filtrate and copper sulphate solution (25 mM) as substrate. Scanning electron microscope (SEM), ultraviolet spectrophotometer, Dynamic light scattering, X-ray fluorescent microscopy, X-ray diffraction analysis, Fourier transmission infrared spectroscopy, high-resolution transmission electron microscope, and so on were all used to characterize copper nanoparticles. They have also been tested for antioxidant and cytotoxic efficacy (Raut and Vaidya 2018; Sathiyaraj et al. 2022; Rathi and Khan 2023). A 1mM AgNO3 solution containing 4 mL of Panchgavya filtrate was used in the synthesis of silver nanoparticles by Govarthanan et al. (2014). Antibiotic-resistant bacteria, including Aeromonas sp., Citrobacter sp., and Acinetobacter sp., were successfully inhibited by the produced nanoparticles, which showed antimicrobial action in a concentration-dependent manner.

Conclusion and future prospects

Cows have an essential role in our culture and our survival. Its offspring and the Panchgavya it yields are versatile and hold great promise for the future of agriculture, human health and nutrition, biofertilizer production, alternative energy generation, and biodiversity preservation. The area's full potential has yet to be realized. Food grain production levels have been attained at a higher cost by using chemical fertilizers, pesticides, and exploiting groundwater, but at the expense of the fertility and health of the soil and the quality of the food produced. Organic farming, with the cow and her offspring among the potential solutions, is the only way to restore equilibrium. Raising cows and their offspring is one key to alleviating poverty and creating potential for long-term economic growth in rural and semi-urban areas.

In addition to the unavailability of branded "Cowpathy" products, few people know the cow's importance to the economy and the therapeutic and scientific benefits of Panchgavya. The country's incredible cattle riches can be better disseminated with the help of future initiatives and measures. Efforts should be made to educate the public about the "virtues of cow" and the "Panchgavya" it provides. Now more than ever, people require research-based knowledge and facts. Most of the tried-and-true methods of cow therapy, Panchgavya, Agnihotra, and milk miracles are dismissed as fantastical tales. That's why it's crucial to incorporate spirituality

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

530

and wisdom into scientific inquiry. Patents in the United States have been issued due to this fusion, and many more are undoubtedly on the horizon. Panchgavya products have received the highest possible validation from the Indian government by granting U.S. patents. Future research in the livestock sector should be prioritized highly due to the sector's potential impact on poverty reduction. Godhan (the cow and its offspring) has excellent potential as a medical, agricultural, pharmacological, nutritional, environmental, technological, and socio-economic resource, so it's essential to construct research and development institutes to study these aspects. Ayurveda's Panchgavya theory deserves to win over adherents from all walks of life, from traditional households to those with advanced degrees in the hard sciences. Panchgavya has many benefits and uses, but it needs an all-encompassing strategy to get the word out about them. Because of this, we can conclude that Panchgavya therapy or Cowpathy, a modernized form of traditional knowledge, is an approach worth further exploring. So, if we can get the word out about how beneficial cows and Panchgavya are, we can alleviate issues like food grain scarcity, fuel scarcity, housing scarcity, poor health and nutrition, poverty and unemployment, and a lack of alternative energy sources.

With its wide range of biomedical and other therapeutic applications, Panchgavya is a promising treatment for various human and animal disorders. Its use would grow Through scientific confirmation, research funding, clinical trials, commercialization, and public and societal acceptance. The lack of food grains, fuel, shelter, health, nutrition, poverty reduction, employment, and energy, as well as the lack of awareness about the benefits of Panchgavya, can all be addressed by spreading information about its many uses. The health advantages of Panchgavya need to be maximized to effectively combat the myriad maladies and diseases that plague modern society and the dietary shifts accompanying it. However, there is a lack of literature to support the use of Cowpathy in treating animal diseases; thus, much work needs to be done to establish scientific evidence and validation. Scientists, researchers, and physicians must work together to increase public trust in this alternative lowcost therapy. Extensive testing is necessary for every product to ensure the active components are what they claim to be in terms of composition, pharmacological activity, chemical behaviour, toxicity profile, safety, and mechanism of action. Bringing international attention to India's extensive body of traditional culture and literature necessitates public education and the promotion of Panchgavya products.

Acknowledgement

All the authors acknowledge and thank their respective Institutes and Universities.

Author's contribution

All the authors contributed significantly.

Funding

This compilation was written by its authors and required no substantial funding.

Disclosure statement

All authors declare that there exist no commercial or financial relationships that could, in any way, lead to a potential conflict of interest.

References

Anand, T.S., Vahab, H., Chandran, D., Shanavas, A., Kumar, M., Nainu, F., Bagath, M., Mohankumar, P., Mohapatra, R.K., Chakraborty, S., & Alagawany, M. (2022). Dairy waste management: A narrative review on current knowledge. *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, *99*(8), 7-19.

Arumugam, D.G., Sivaji, S., Dhandapani, K.V., Nookala, S., & Ranganathan, B. (2019). Panchagavya mediated copper nanoparticles synthesis, characterization and evaluating cytotoxicity in brine shrimp. *Biocatalysts in Agricultural Biotechnology*, *19*, 101132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101132

Bajaj, K.K., Chavhan, V., Raut, N.A., & Gurav, S. (2022). Panchgavya: A precious gift to humankind. *Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine*, *13*, 100525. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaim.2021.09.003

Biyani, D.M., Verma, P.R.P., Dorle, A.K., & Boxey, V. (2011). Wound healing activity of cow ghee: a veterinary case report. *International Journal of Ayurvedic Medicine*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.47552/ijam.v2i3.71.

Borgohain, L., Borgohain, H., Konwar, B., Dutta, A.K., & Panging, U. (2020). Panchagavya: A multidimensional review article through the lens of an agriculture scholar. *Asian Soil Research Journal*, *3*(4), 32-38.

Chandra, M.S., Naresh, R.K., Lavanya, N., Varsha, N., Chand, S.W., Chandana, P., Kumar, B.N., Kumar, R., & Navsare, R.I. (2019). Production and potential of ancient liquid organics panchagavya and kunapajala to improve soil health and crop productivity: A review. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 8(6), 702-713.

Chandran, D. (2021). Veterinary phytomedicine in India: A review. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Science & Technology*, 8(3), 598-605.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Potential benefits and therapeutic applications of "Panchgavya" therapy (Cowpathy) for human and animal health

Chandran, D., Rojan, P.M., Venkatachalapathy, T., & Lejaniya, A.S. (2021a). Mortality and morbidity pattern in goats under organized farm conditions of Kerala. *Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences*, 52(2): 175-179. https://doi.org/10.51966/jvas.2021.52.2.178-182

Chandran, D., Lejaniya, A.S., Yatoo, M.I., Mohapatra, R.K., & Dhama, K. (2021b). Major Health Effects of Casein and Whey Proteins Present in Cow Milk: A Narrative Review. *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, *98*(11), 9-19.

Chinnadurai, K., Kanwal, H.K., Tyagi, A.K., Stanton, C., & Ross, P. (2013). High conjugated linoleic acid enriched ghee (clarified butter) increases the antioxidant and antiatherogenic potency in female Wistar rats. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, *12*, 121. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-12-121

Cimmino, F., Catapano, A., Villano, I., Di Maio, G., Petrella, L., Traina, G., Pizzella, A., Tudisco, R., & Cavaliere, G. (2023). Invited review: Human, cow, and donkey milk comparison: Focus on metabolic effects. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *106*(5), 3072-3085. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2022-22465

Dhama, K., Rathore, R., Chauhan, R.S., & Tomar, S. (2005a). Panchgavya (Cowpathy): An overview. *International Journal of Cow Science*, 1(1), 1-15.

Dhama, K., Chauhan, R.S., & Singhal, L.K. (2005b). Anticancer Activity of Cow Urine: Current Status and Future Directions. *International Journal of Cow Science*, 1(2): 1-25.

Dhama, K., Khurana, S.K., Karthik, K., Tiwari, R., Malik, Y.P.S., & Chauhan, R.S. (2014). Panchgavya: Immune-enhancing and therapeutic perspectives. *Journal of Immunology and Immunopathology*, *16*, 1-11 https://doi.org/10.5958/0973-9149.2014.01071.5.

Dhama, K., Saminathan, M., Jacob, S.S., Singh, M., Karthik, K., Amarpal, Tiwari, R., Sunkara, L.T., Malik, Y.S., & Singh, R.K. (2015). Effect of immunomodulation and immunomodulatory agents on health with some bioactive principles, modes of action and potent biomedical applications. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, *11*(4): 253-290. DOI: 10.3923/ijp.2015.253.290

Ganesh, P. (2021). All about Panchagavya for human usage–A review. *Indian Journal of Natural Sciences*, *11*(64), 29173-29181.

González, L.A., Kyriazakis, I., & Tedeschi, L.O. (2018). Review: Precision nutrition of ruminants: approaches, challenges and potential gains. *Animal*, *12*(s2), s246-s261. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1751731118002288

Govarthanan, M., Selvankumar, T., Manoharan, K., Rathika, R., Shanthi, K., & Lee, K.J. (2014). Biosynthesis and characterization

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org of silver nanoparticles using panchakavya, an Indian traditional farming formulating agent. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 1593e9. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S58932

Jain, P., Sharma, R.C., Bhattacharyya, P., & Banik, P. (2014). Effect of new organic supplement (Panchgavya) on seed germination and soil quality. *Environmental Monitory Assessment*, *186*(4), 1999-2011. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-013-3513-8

Joshi, K.S. (2014). Docosahexaenoic acid content is significantly higher in ghrita prepared by traditional Ayurvedic method. *Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine*, *5*(2), 85–88. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-9476.131730

Joshi, T., Kuchewar, V., & Chhabra, A. (2022). Multidimensional use of cow urine (Gomutra), one of the ingredients of Panchagavya–A narrative review. *International Journal of Ayurvedic Medicine*, *13*(3), 606-612.

Kamei, D., Singh, A.U., & Gangmei, G. (2022). Effect of storage of botanical extracts and modified Panchagavya against radial Growth of *Fusarium oxysporum*. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, *13*(2), 219-224. https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2022.13.2.0110

Kaushik, R., Jain, J., & Rai, P. (2016). Therapeutic potentials of cow derived products-a review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 7(4), 1383. https://doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.7(4).1383-90

Khan, M.Y., Roy, M., Saroj, B.K., Dubey, S., & Sharma, V.K. (2015). A Review-Benefits of Panchgavya therapy (Cowpathy) for health of humans. *Asian Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical Science*, *5*(2), 115-125.

Dhama, K., Sandip, C., & Ruchi, T. (2013). Panchgavya therapy (Cowpathy) in safeguarding health of animals and humans-a review. *Research Opinions in Animal and Veterinary Sciences*, *3*(6), 170-178.

Kulkarni, S.K. (2009). *Hand book of experimental pharmacology*. 3rd edition. Vallabh Prakashan, New Delhi.

Kumar, K., Verma, G., Veer, R., Kumar, S., & Kumar, P. (2020). Exploitation of Panchagavya, benefits and eco-friendly management of plant diseases: A review. *Journal of Entomology & Zoologic Studies*, 8, 2360-2364.

Kumar, M., Tomar, M., Punia, S., Dhakane-Lad, J., Dhumal, S., Changan, S., Senapathy, M., Berwal, M.K., Sampathrajan, V., Sayed, A.A., & Chandran, D. (2022). Plant-based proteins and their multifaceted industrial applications. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft & Technologie*, 154, 112620. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.lwt.2021.112620

532

Kumari, N., Kumar, M., Mekhemar, M., Lorenzo, J.M., Pundir, A., Devi, K.B., Prakash, S., Puri, S., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., & Rais, N. (2022). Therapeutic uses of wild plant species used by rural inhabitants of Kangra in the western Himalayan region. *South African Journal of Botany*, *148*, 415-436. https://doi.org/10.3390/ horticulturae7100343

Lejaniya, A.S., Chandran, D., Venkatachalapathy, T., Bashir, B.P., Kumar, M., Shanavas, A., Sureshkumar, R., Kumar, P.N., Sabareeshwari, V., Kumar, K.K., & Mohankumar, P. (2021a). Analysis of milk production performance of Attappadi Black, Malabari and cross-bred goats under organized farm conditions of Kerala. *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, *98*(05), 13-19.

Lejaniya, A.S., Chandran, D., & Geetha, R. (2021b). Recent trends in application of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) in dairy and biomedical industry: A critical review. *World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 10*(12), 577-591. https://doi.org/10.20959/wjpr202112-21749

Mahajan, S.P., Chavan, S.A., Shinde, S.A., & Narkhede, M.B. (2020). Miraculous benefits of cow urine: A review. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, *10*(4-s), 275-281.

Meena, M., Patel, P., Saini, S., Gurjar, T., Gogoi, R., & Meena, O.P. (2019). Gomutra (cow urine) and its uses: An overview. *Journal of Entomology & Zoologic Studies*, 7, 1218-1222.

Mor, S., Sharma, V., Arora, S., & Minz, P.S. (2022). Physicochemical and color parameters to distinguish cow ghee from buffalo ghee. *Journal of Food Science & Technology*, *59*(8), 3231-3236. doi: 10.1007/s13197-022-05496-z

Mulik, S.S., & Bhusari, D.P. (2013). Conceptual study of goghrita eye drops (aschyotana) in computer vision syndrome. *Asian Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies*, 1(3), 1-6.

Nandanwar, R., Gurjar, H., Sahu, V.K., & Saraf, H. (2010). Studies on wound healing activity of gel formulation containing cow ghee and Aloe vera. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 1(3), 50-54.

Pal, S., & Patel, N. (2020). Importance of soil microbes on panchagavya based fertilizer for sustainable agriculture: A review. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 9(3), 2277-2284.

Patange, D.D.D., Virshasen Vinayak, D., Chandran, D., Kumar, M., & Lorenzo, J.M. (2022a). Comparative effect of cooling on the physico-chemical-sensory properties of ghee from cow and buffalo milk, and evaluation of the low-fat spread prepared from cow and

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org buffalo milk ghee. *Food Analytical Methods*, *15*, 2513–2523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-022-02312-4

Patange, D.D., Pansare, K.S., Kumar, M., Kumari, A., Kamble, D.K., Chandran, D., Gaikwad, N.B., Waghmare, R., & Lorenzo, J.M. (2022b). Studies on utilization and shelf life of *Piper betel* leaves added ghee-based low-fat spread. *Food Analytical Methods*, *16*, 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-022-02400-5

Pereira, P.C. (2014). Milk nutritional composition and its role in human health. *Nutrition*, *30*(6), 619-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2013.10.011

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Pundir, A., Puri, S., Prakash, S., Kumari, N., Thakur, M., Rathour, S., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., & Ali, M. (2021a) Documentation of commonly used ethnoveterinary medicines from wild plants of the high mountains in Shimla District, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*, *7*(10), 351. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7100351

Prakash, P., Kumar, M., Kumari, N., Prakash, S., Rathour, S., Thakur, M., Jamwal, R., Janjua, S., Ali, M., Pundir, A., & Puri, S. (2021b) Therapeutic uses of wild plants by rural inhabitants of Maraog region in district Shimla, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Horticulturae*, 7(10), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/ horticulturae7100343

Prasad, A., & Kothari, N. (2021). Cow products: boon to human health and food security. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 54(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-021-03014-5

Rai, S., Rao, P.S., Sharma, V., Pradhan, D., & Singh, R., 2022. Antimicrobial potential of panchagavya formulation from Indian cow breeds. *International Journal of Bio-resource and Stress Management*, 13(6), 613-621.

Randhawa, G.K., & Sharma, R. (2015). Chemotherapeutic potential of cow urine: A review. *Journal of Intercultural Ethnopharmacology*, 4(2), 180-186. https://doi.org/10.5455/jice.2015022210032

Rathi, B., & Khan, M. (2023). Report on international conference: recent advances in Panchagavya research and innovations. *Journal of Indian System of Medicine*, *11*(1), 65.

Raut, A.A., & Vaidya, A.D.B. (2018). Panchgavya and cow products: A trail for the holy grail. *Journal of Ayurveda & Integrative Medicine*, *9*(1), 64-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2017.12.005

Saleena, L.A.K., Chandran, D., Geetha, R., Radha, R., & Sathian, C.T. (2022a). Optimization and identification of lactic acid bacteria with higher mannitol production Potential. *Indian Journal*

of Animal Research, 56 (1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.18805/IJAR.B-4759

Saleena, L.A.K., Chandran, D., Rayirath, G., Shanavas, A., Rajalingam, S., Vishvanathan, M., Sharun, K., & Dhama, K. (2022b). Development of low-calorie functional yoghurt by incorporating mannitol producing lactic acid bacteria (*Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides*) in the standard yoghurt culture. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology*, *16*(1), 729-736. https://doi.org/10.22207/JPAM.16.1.78

Sanganal, J.S., Jayakumar, K., Jayaramu, G.M., Tikare, V.P., Paniraj, K.L., & Swetha, R. (2011). Effect of cow urine on wound healing property in Wister Albino Rats. *Veterinary World*, *4*(7), 317-321. https://doi.org/10.5455/vetworld.4.317

Sathiyaraj, S., Suriyakala, G., Babujanarthanam, R., & Kaviyarasu, K. (2022). Therapeutic Importance of Panchagavya. In K. Kasinathan, M.S. Elshikh, D.AA. Al Farraj (Eds) *Nanomaterials for Energy Conversion, Biomedical and Environmental*

Applications. Materials Horizons: From Nature to Nanomaterials (pp 339-356). Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2639-6_16.

Shaikh, S.S., Ukande, M.D., Murthy, K., Shete, R.V., & Solunke, R.S. (2019). Traditional remedies for wound healing: a review. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, 9(4-s), 761-764. https://doi.org/10.22270/jddt.v9i4-s.3263

Tharmaraj, K., Ganesh, P., Kumar, R.S., Anandan, A., & Kolanjinathan, K. (2011). A critical review on Panchagavya-a boon plant growth. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biological Archives*, 2(6), 1611-1614.

Tijare, P., Ambatkar, N., & Tiwari, V. (2020). Clinical improvement in COVID19 patients with timely intervention of Panchagavya medicine: a preliminary finding. *International Journal of Pharmacological Research*, *10*(6), 5449.

Turck, D. (2013). Cow's milk and goat's milk. *World Reviews in Nutrition & Diet*, *108*, 56-62. https://doi.org/10.1159/000351485.





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on tuberculosis management in India: A Brief Overview

Sheetal Rajput (10), Saurabh Gupta* (10), Tanvi Chaturvedi (10)

Department of Biotechnology, GLA University, Mathura, Uttar Pradesh, India

Received – April 05, 2023; Revision – June 13, 2023; Accepted – June 24, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).534.541

KEYWORDS

Tuberculosis

COVID-19

Emerging viral infections

Pandemics

ABSTRACT

Chronicles suggests that emerging and re-emerging viral infections disrupting the normal lifestyle of humankind, whether in the form of HIV, Ebola, Influenza, Nepah, or the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Such viral infections disrupt the healthcare system along with the prevention and control of epidemics and pandemics, resulting in an increased burden of such diseases in the post-pandemic period. Tuberculosis (TB) routine services are interfered with by severe lockdowns due to the new COVID-19 virus. This article tried to measure the long-term epidemiological effects of such interruptions on TB prevalence in high-burden countries. The participating facilities performed a comprehensive review based on modifications to the care of TB patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Retrospectively, clinical factors and household contact information were collected from a literature survey. Researchers looked at numerous strategies over the following five years to see whether they might lessen the effects on TB incidence and death. Present comprehensive literature was collected and analyzed using suitable keywords such as "COVID-19," "Pandemics," "Tuberculosis," and "India" during the current COVID-19 pandemic to investigate the influence of COVID-19 on tuberculosis management. The present article looks at the effects of the breaks in the delivery of TB care in hospital and primary care settings. Lockdown, social isolation, measures to prevent viral transmission, and public health guidelines impacted tuberculosis care. The present study revealed that the COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected numerous TB prevention, monitoring, and treatment programs. Still, these adverse effects are diminished by the prompt restoration of TB services and the application of particular therapies as soon as restrictions are lifted.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: saurabh.gupta@gla.ac.in (Saurabh Gupta)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

COVID-19, a respiratory viral disease, was first reported in Wuhan, China, and later spread to almost every country with a slightly different infection rate (Wu and McGoogan 2020). The severity of infection ranges from a common cold to more severe illnesses such as pneumonia reported after the entry of the causative agent SARS-CoV-2 (Chen et al. 2020; Walaza et al. 2020; Budinger et al. 2021). Human-to-human transmission occurs when infectious droplets are inhaled or move into the body through contact with infected surfaces. Supportive care is the most common treatment option, while major illnesses may necessitate a ventilator (Ahn et al. 2020; Dhama et al. 2022).

Of 10 million globally reported tuberculosis (TB) instances, around 2.6 million were reported from India. Further, approximately 0.44 million people die yearly due to this disease. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), one-third of the world's multi-drug-resistant TB infections are found in India (Santosh and Pushp 2022). The worldwide risk of infectious illnesses, especially TB, has long been faced by public health agencies. The World Health Organization's (WHO) "real-life" analyses (surveys and national monitoring programs) provide the majority of information and projections related to global TB epidemiology (Golli et al. 2019). Although nowadays, TB incidence is decreasing, after this also, it remains a serious problem across the world (Crisan-Dabija et al. 2020), particularly in most middle-income and emerging nations, where it is the ninth worldwide leading cause of death. For Eastern European public health, TB has the highest incidence (4 times the average) in the European Union (EU), accounting for a quarter of the overall TB burden in the EU (Small et al. 2010). Various pandemic diseases also significantly affect several aspects of TB endemic. Like, in 1918 influenza pandemic accelerated the decreasing prevalence of tuberculosis in the USA (Noymer 2011). In India, the severity of the TB endemic has increased due to various factors, including a large number of severe forms (MDR or XDR-TB), HIV coinfection, and TB mortality in children. These factors have amplified the intensity of the country's tuberculosis epidemics (Dhamnetiya et al. 2021).

A worldwide health disaster, including TB, has occurred with the COVID-19 pandemic. But national tuberculosis programs, while preserving TB services, actively work to provide an efficient and prompt response to COVID-19 (Tadolini et al. 2020). Although the transmission routes differ, tuberculosis and COVID-19 are transmitted by close personal contact. Because tuberculosis is a prominent transmissible infection in India, public health should continue to focus on surveillance, clinical evaluation, testing, contact tracing. and diagnostic confirmation with supervised/inspected treatment regimes during the COVID-19 pandemic (Lancet 2020). Therefore, the present article looks at the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on various TB management services (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Coronaviruses and MTB: recognized and possible interaction

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

2 Impact of lockdown

Information regarding the possible connections between COVID-19 and TB in the wake of COVID-19 announcements as an International Public Health Emergency is in scanty, and all the available data were based on assumptions and modelling, then scientific verification (Tadolini et al. 2020; Motta et al. 2020; Migliori et al. 2020; Buonsenso et al. 2021). The novel SARS-CoV-2 virus has resulted in global illness, mortality, and societal consequences. Many countries have used population-wise lockdowns to halt the virus spread and allow their health services to manage it without drug treatments (Anderson et al. 2020). These lockouts significantly impact the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 (Walker et al. 2015; Flaxman et al. 2020; Prem et al. 2020). However, with such comprehensive actions, unexpected repercussions are unavoidable. After the dislocation, under pressure, the negative interruptions in health services (e.g., the spread of infectious illnesses) might endure long in poor and middle-income nations' health systems (Parpia et al. 2016; Arinaminpathy and Dye 2010).

TB incidence and death have substantially declined in recent decades due to continuous advancements in diagnosis, therapy, and prevention. However, COVID-related lockdowns in March 2020 brought the stop TB program to serious attention in several countries (Garg et al. 2022). For example, in India, an 80% reduction in the daily TB notifications was reported after the first weeks of the national lockdown on March 24, 2020 (Zignol et al. 2012). In other nations, such as South Africa, a decline of nearly half in the number of persons tested for tuberculosis was reported during the lockdown (Coker 2004). Such falls may also be attributable in the other part of the world; this might be due to the delay in reporting or decreases in access to diagnosis and treatment; whatever the factors are responsible for this decline but all these have a sustainable effect on the national monitoring and controlling program of TB disease. Missing diagnoses would increase the incidence of transmission while deteriorating treatment outcomes would raise the chance of TB mortality during the lockdown period.

3 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Mycobacterial infection

COVID-19 and tuberculosis (TB) need public awareness and cooperation to effectively prevent, diagnose, and treat. Both diseases have airborne transmission and can be quickly detected (Dheda et al. 2022). Although surveillance on TB and viral infections should be separate because the data related to COVID-19 is still insufficient in the majority of countries, and the specific crucial clinical and immunological data which can be associated the TB with COVID-19 are not yet available (Visca et al. 2021). The primary distinction between these two is that tuberculosis is treatable, but there is no conclusive evidence of effective antiviral treatments for COVID-19. Although Remdesivir, lopinavir, hydroxychloroquine, lopinavir, and interferon repurposed, antiviral drugs had little to no impact on hospitalized patients with Covid-19 as evidenced by overall mortality and length of hospital stay (WHO Solidarity Trial Consortium 2021). For both diseases, research on novel and efficient vaccine candidates is ongoing, and for tuberculosis, various potential candidates are being evaluated to replace the traditional BCG vaccine (Cantini et al. 2020). Currently, mRNA vaccines, RNA-based replicating vector vaccines, and inactivated virus vaccines are in the clinical trial stage for SARS-CoV2 variants and candidates for DNA vaccines are in the pre-clinical trials stage (Narayanan et al., 2022). Proper and regular treatment is the primary method of disease control in the absence of an adult-specific tuberculosis vaccine. Increased tuberculosis transmission is anticipated because so many cases were missed or away from regular treatment during the past two years due to the pandemic effect (Pai et al. 2022).

Detrimental synergism between respiratory viruses (RSV, influenza viruses, and SARS-CoV-2) and bacterial infections elevates the risk of relatable mortality due to chronic lung sickness and immune suppression (Oliva and Terrier 2021). Especially patients with PTB may have a greater risk of these severe infections when compared to non-TB persons. Further, epidemiologic data also imply that patients with TB have a higher risk of viral diseases and are severely associated with pandemics or epidemics (Redford et al. 2014; Prem et al. 2020).

4 Diagnostic Tests

To determine the most appropriate diagnostic tests in most scenarios that apply to Mycobacterium TB and SARS-CoV-2, the WHO has established assured criteria like user-friendly, robust, sensitive, specific, and deliverable to end users. However, regardless of the pathogen, a fundamental shortcoming of all present assays is the difficulty in swiftly determining the pathogen if it is alive and contagious (Mina et al. 2020). The viability of M. tuberculosis requires a minimum of six weeks of culture results. Even in these days of cutting-edge technology, information regarding the COVID-19 individuals compared to 'no COVID-19' individuals, the IFN-response to the SARS-CoV-2-unrelated antigens Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B (SEB) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) was compared in whole blood using an innovative experimental method by Petrone et al. (2021), which claims that the SARS-CoV2-specific response may be measured in whole blood and can be seen in both acute and convalescent patients (Murugesan et al. 2021). Both nucleic acid detection and antigensbased tests are available for both diseases, but M. tuberculosis is diagnosed using culture-based and smear methods, and SARS-CoV-2 is diagnosed using serology.

Recently, testing people with COVID-19 for TB and vice versa has been the subject of significant debate. The common clinical

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 2 TB management, challenges and strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic

characteristics and manifestations of COVID-19 and TB are fever, breathing deficiency, and coughing. The disease development processes have clear distinctions, and COVID-19 infection develops less quickly than tuberculosis (Visca et al. 2021). Concurrent TB does not exclude the possibility of COVID-19 infection, especially in a TB-endemic country like India (Jain et al. 2020). The European Laboratory Initiative recommended the utilization of the GeneXpert equipment for COVID-19 testing without diminishing its TB usefulness (Simoes et al. 2022). Further, the TruenatTM Beta CoV Test on the TruelabTM workstation has recently been approved for use as a test for COVID-19 by the ICMR (Figure 2).

4.1 Challenges in Diagnose new cases of active tuberculosis

The need to find supplementary strategies to support patients with tuberculosis has been rising with the constraints of confinement and face-to-face reduction. Telemedicine can assist in the management of TB in communities. Admitted Social Health Activist (ASHA), one of the primary members of India's NRHM, would have to visit a TB patient's house to see whether the patient is following treatment (Xu et al. 2017). The continuing lockdown during the COVID-19 epidemic has seriously affected the treatment of TB sufferers, that's why, according to the Nikshay Government of India Central TB Portal (Suárez et al. 2019), the diagnosis of new TB patients has dropped dramatically during the lockdown. The factors associated with this dropdown are the closing of outpatient departments (OPD), lack of access to treatment, and the denial of government or private injection.

5 Anti-TB medication supervision and distribution

The Minister of Health and Family Welfare (MOHFW), Government of India, is attempting to arrange guaranteed diagnosis and treatment of TB patients in a one-month approach, but during the lockdown, many difficulties have been raised in this (Suarez et al. 2019). Monitoring the sickness process of TB patients was a big challenge for health workers to serve TB patients in the era of social alienation and self-isolation due to the lack of medications and restocking the medication at the patient's home. The various countries ' local governments have devised many strategies for establishing outreach services to contact TB patients and send TB medications via mail (Xu et al. 2017). In the case of multidrug-resistant TB, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends reducing the TB preventive regimen to 1 month per day for persons who have close contact with active TB patients who are treated with rifapentine and isoniazid (https://tbcindia.gov.in). Recently, the government of India advised patients in the ambulatory setting of TB drugs that they should be supplied for one month with TB drugs, as well as a 2-month supply for exceptional conditions, to lessen the patients' requirement to attend clinics and consequently, the danger of disease transmission (https://tbcindia.gov.in).

5.1 Applications for contact tracking

The main factors for the management of both tuberculosis and COVID-19 in society are contact tracing and monitoring. The unexpected increase in the requirement for COVID-19 patient

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

tracking, the government of India's establishment of the ArogyaSetu 'COVID Health Bridge' app for mobile tracking, raises worries about the diversion of the contact monitoring services given for COVID-19 and tuberculosis (Sharma et al. 2020). The Uttar Pradesh Government Ayush Kavach app was also found helpful in tracking COVID-19 individuals. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the inconvenience of essential contact tracking for TB patients should be ignored. The knowledge gained through the TB contact apps should be used to improve the COVID-19 app's functionality. After the completion of the lockdown, an incidence of TB cases may arise, and to avoid this, the effective use of Ni-Kshay Aushadhi, a web-based application that allows the monitoring of all TB patients, including MDR cases, is required (Jain et al. 2020).

5.2 COVID-19 Effect on the TB Vaccine Program

TB protection is provided by the Bacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccination. Suspension vaccination programs have documented vaccine-preventable deaths connected with diseases and an increased strain on health systems due to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown (Lobo et al. 2021). In countries with high TB incidence, such as India, South Korea, Indonesia, China and Turkey, the WHO recently suggested extending the newborn neonatal TB BBG vaccine. Evidence indicates that BCG also protects against many viral and non-mycobacterial infections. The idea that BCG vaccination could be used for protection against the adverse effects of coronavirus disease stems from the non-specific effects of BCG, which happen through the induction of trained immunity (Curtis et al. 2020). Phase IV trials are now underway to assess the role of these non-specific vaccines in SARS-CoV-2 infection protection (Lobo et al. 2021).

6 Discussion

The awareness of tuberculosis patients is still the cornerstone of tuberculosis prevention and treatment, which will help diagnose and cure TB patients. Further remote teleconsultation would be helpful in monitoring and treatment of TB patients. The continuation of vital care for TB patients throughout the COVID-19 epidemic should not be ruptured till the demolishing of COVID-19. To avoid the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in tuberculosis patients a proper hospital care for patients with tuberculosis should be confined to severe cases, as learned from past outbreaks (Visca et al. 2021; Dheda et al. 2022). Since the first discovery of coronavirus in 1960, three human coronaviruses have been known to cause deadly respiratory illnesses. The newest emerging coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) has resulted in an increasing number of worldwide reported deaths and thousands of new cases confirmed every day, and epidemic diseases like TB also contributed to this pandemic. COVID-19 causes a wide spectrum of host immune responses in asymptomatic patients, from mild cytokine storms to deadly cytokine storms (Dhama et al. 2020). Immunosuppression which has been used to treat COVID-19 can potentially reactivate TB. The gold standard diagnostic testing for COVID-19 includes culture and PCR-based techniques for TB; however, a definitive point-of-care test that can immediately detect if someone is currently infected with TB. New SARS-CoV-2 variants (like omicron) are emerging due to vaccine equity issues, and they are particularly harmful to nations with low vaccination, high poverty, and high tuberculosis rates. More research is required to completely understand COVID-19's abilities to stimulate the reactivation of an existing TB infection. Because COVID-19 and TB have similar signs and symptoms, getting imaging services (chest radiography or computed tomography) may be simpler to uncover evidence of pre-existing TB. There is insufficient information to establish the probable impact of COVID-19 on TB patients' treatment because most of these patients are still receiving treatments in existing series. New SARS-CoV-2 variants like omicron are emerging due to vaccine equity issues, and they are particularly harmful to nations with low vaccination, high poverty, and high tuberculosis rates (Dhama et al. 2022).

Moreover, Crisan-Dabija et al. (2020) suggested that influenza pandemics, seasonal outbreaks, coronavirus epidemics, and other pandemics negatively influence individuals with tuberculosis. A global patient research project is underway to improve the description of communication between the two illnesses (WHO) conducted by the Global Tuberculosis Network and funded by WHO on TB and COVID. These studies mainly describe the features of COVID-19 patients, including diagnostic trials and recommended treatments, and TB patients (current or former). The secondary goal of these types of projects is to (i) evaluate the logistical and organizational viability of a global repository for COVID-19 and TB patients and (ii) explain the clinical outcomes (COVID-19 disease outcomes and TB patients' intermediate and final treatment results). With this global study and others, the GTN has recommended several priority research issues, which included (i) how COVID-19 would affect TB services in the next few years, considering the growing impacts of its third wave?, (ii) is COVID-19 associated with an increased risk of TB illness in those with TB?, (iii) does the BCG vaccine offer COVID-19 protection?, (iv) What additional factors influence mortality in patients with TB and COVID-19?, (v) Is there a difference in treatment for TB & COVID-19 co-infected patients? (Or, to put it another way, what additional services do these patients require?), and (vi) what effect does COVID-19 have on TB mortality?

Compared to COVID-19, tuberculosis care and management have been neglected, while the high infection rates, the emergence of new variants, and the absence of the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine in tuberculosis-endemic countries will continue to feed

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on tuberculosis management in India

the global pandemic. The simultaneous epidemics of tuberculosis and COVID-19 exacerbate the vicious cycle of poverty and mortality (Dheda et al. 2022). Disruptions to HIV diagnosis and treatment programs may also contribute to the tuberculosis pandemic in some circumstances (Hogan et al. 2020). Maintaining the most important HIV and tuberculosis prevention programs and medical services could significantly lessen the overall effect of the COVID-19 pandemic (Hogan et al. 2020). Therefore, it is essential to support and refocus HIV and tuberculosis programs.

Conclusion and Future Prospects

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the limitations of lockdowns significantly impact the national and worldwide implementation and monitoring of TB surveillance initiatives. Delays in treating people with TB would aggravate their condition and require more comprehensive management. Individuals with TB may also acquire antibiotic resistance; these patients are susceptible to coronavirus superinfection. It is suggested that an effective and timely response, including monitoring and therapy, should be given to COVID-19 and TB patients. Despite the rapidly rising number of cases, there is still a long way to go before we know to evaluate how the COVID-19 pandemic will affect patients with latent TB and TB sequelae and suggest management in this situation. COVID-19 can strike at any time during a patient's TB journey, with the worst outcomes occurring in individuals with active pulmonary TB disease. According to the research available, death because of TB is significantly affected by various other important factors like malnutrition, diabetes, poverty, HIV coinfection and COVID-19. We need higherquality prospective studies to address the research's most pressing concerns. Meanwhile, anyone with or without active TB, particularly those with HIV coinfection, must do all possible to prevent the growth of COVID-19 and, when possible, should be vaccinated appropriately.

Competing interest

The authors have no potential conflict of interest to declare.

Acknowledgement

The authors thank Ms Rasanpreet Kaur, Dr Nitin Bhatnagar and Dr Shoor Vir Singh for providing the necessary facilities for data collection and revisions.

References

Ahn, D. G., Shin, H. J., Kim, M. H., Lee, S., et al. (2020). Current status of epidemiology, diagnosis, therapeutics, and vaccines for novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Journal of microbiology and Biotechnology*, *30*(3), 313-324.

Anderson, R. M., Heesterbeek, H., Klinkenberg, D., & Hollingsworth, T. D. (2020). How will country-based mitigation measures influence the course of the COVID-19 epidemic? *The lancet*, 395(10228), 931-934.

Arinaminpathy, N., & Dye, C. (2010). Health in financial crises: economic recession and tuberculosis in Central and Eastern Europe. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 7(52), 1559-1569.

Budinger, G. R. S., Misharin, A. V., Ridge, K. M., Singer, B. D., & Wunderink, R. G. (2021). Distinctive features of severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *131*(14), e149412. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI149412.

Buonsenso, D., Iodice, F., Biala, J. S., & Goletti, D. (2021). COVID-19 effects on tuberculosis care in Sierra Leone. *Pulmonology*, 27(1), 67.

Cantini, F., Goletti, D., Petrone, L., Najafi Fard, S., Niccoli, L., & Foti, R. (2020). Immune therapy, or antiviral therapy, or both for COVID-19: a systematic review. *Drugs*, *80*, 1929-1946.

Chen, N., Zhou, M., Dong, X., Qu, J., et al. (2020). Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *The lancet*, *395*(10223), 507-513.

Coker, R. J. (2004). Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: public health challenges. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 9(1), 25-40.

Crisan-Dabija, R., Grigorescu, C., Pavel, C. A., Artene, B., Popa, I. V., Cernomaz, A., & Burlacu, A. (2020). Tuberculosis and COVID-19: lessons from the past viral outbreaks and possible future outcomes. *Canadian respiratory journal*, 2020, 1401053.

Curtis, N., Sparrow, A., Ghebreyesus, T. A., & Netea, M. G. (2020). Considering BCG vaccination to reduce the impact of COVID-19. *The Lancet*, *395*(10236), 1545-1546.

Dhama, K., Chandran, D., Chopra, H., Islam, M. A., et al. (2022). SARS-CoV-2 emerging Omicron subvariants with a special focus on BF. 7 and XBB. 1.5 recently posing fears of rising cases amid ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, 10, 1215-1221.

Dhama, K., Khan, S., Tiwari, R., Sircar, S., et al. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019–COVID-19. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, *33*(4), pp.e00028-20.

Dhamnetiya, D., Patel, P., Jha, R. P., Shri, N., Singh, M., & Bhattacharyya, K. (2021). Trends in incidence and mortality of tuberculosis in India over past three decades: a joinpoint and age–period–cohort analysis. *BMC pulmonary medicine*, *21*(1), 1-14.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

540

Dheda, K., Perumal, T., Moultrie, H., Perumal, R., et al. (2022). The intersecting pandemics of tuberculosis and COVID-19: population-level and patient-level impact, clinical presentation, and corrective interventions. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, *10*(6), 603-622.

Flaxman, S., Mishra, S., Gandy, A., Unwin, H., et al. (2020). Report 13: Estimating the number of infections and the impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in 11 European countries. *Nature*, 584(7820):257-261.

Garg, R., Khurana, A. K., & Khadanga, S. (2022). The Monster Tuberculosis in India, Impending Epidemic in COVID-19 Era. *Journal of Laboratory Physicians*, *14*(01), 099-100.

Golli, A. L., Niţu, M. F., Turcu, F., Popescu, M., Ciobanu-Mitrache, L., & Olteanu, M. (2019). Tuberculosis remains a public health problem in Romania. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 23(2), 226-231.

Guidelines for Programmatic Management of Tuberculosis Preventive Treatment in India, 2021. https://tbcindia.gov.in.

Hogan, A.B., Jewell, B.L., Sherrard-Smith, E., Vesga, J.F., et al. (2020). Potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria in low-income and middle-income countries: a modelling study. *The Lancet global health*, 8(9), e1132-e1141.

Jain, V. K., Iyengar, K. P., Samy, D. A., & Vaishya, R. (2020). Tuberculosis in the era of COVID-19 in India. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, *14*(5), 1439-1443.

Lancet, T. (2020). India under COVID-19 lockdown. *Lancet* (London, England), 395(10233), 1315.

Lobo, N., Brooks, N. A., Zlotta, A. R., Cirillo, J. D., et al. (2021). 100 years of Bacillus Calmette–Guerin immunotherapy: from cattle to COVID-19. *Nature Reviews Urology*, *18*(10), 611-622.

Migliori, G. B., Thong, P. M., Akkerman, O., Alffenaar, J. W., et al. (2020). Worldwide effects of coronavirus disease pandemic on tuberculosis services. *Emerging infectious diseases*, *26*(11), 2709.

Mina, M. J., Parker, R., & Larremore, D. B. (2020). Rethinking Covid-19 test sensitivity—a strategy for containment. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 383(22), e120.

Motta, I., Centis, R., D'Ambrosio, L., García-García, J. M., et al. (2020). Tuberculosis, COVID-19 and migrants: preliminary analysis of deaths occurring in 69 patients from two cohorts. *Pulmonology*, *26*(4), 233-240.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Murugesan, K., Jagannathan, P., Pham, T. D., Pandey, S., et al. (2021). Interferon- γ release assay for accurate detection of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 T-cell response. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 73(9), e3130-e3132.

Narayanan, D.K.L., Djearamane, S., Fuloria, S., Kayarohanam, S., et al. (2022). A review on DNA vaccines in pre-clinical trials against SARS-CoV-2. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences*, *10*(3), 487-493.

Noymer, A. (2011). The 1918 influenza pandemic hastened the decline of tuberculosis in the United States: an age, period, cohort analysis. *Vaccine*, *29*, B38-B41.

Oliva, J., & Terrier, O. (2021). Viral and bacterial coinfections in the lungs: dangerous liaisons. *Viruses*, *13*(9), 1725.

Pai, M., Kasaeva, T., & Swaminathan, S. (2022). Covid-19's devastating effect on tuberculosis care-A path to recovery. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *386*(16), 1490-1493.

Parpia, A. S., Ndeffo-Mbah, M. L., Wenzel, N. S., & Galvani, A. P. (2016). Effects of response to 2014–2015 Ebola outbreak on deaths from malaria, HIV/AIDS, and tuberculosis, West Africa. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 22(3), 433.

Petrone, L., Petruccioli, E., Vanini, V., Cuzzi, G., et al. (2021). A whole blood test to measure SARS-CoV-2-specific response in COVID-19 patients. *Clinical microbiology and infection*, 27(2), 286-e7.

Prem, K., Liu, Y., Russell, T. W., Kucharski, A. J., et al. (2020). The effect of control strategies to reduce social mixing on outcomes of the COVID-19 epidemic in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. *The Lancet Public Health*, *5*(5), e261-e270.

Redford, P. S., Mayer-Barber, K. D., McNab, F. W., Stavropoulos, E., Wack, A., Sher, A., & O'Garra, A. (2014). Influenza A virus impairs control of Mycobacterium tuberculosis coinfection through a type I interferon Receptor–Dependent pathway. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 209(2), 270-274.

Santosh Kumar, R., & Pushp, D. (2022). Tuberculosis: Stop It with Effective Treatment. *Asian Journal of Medicine and Health*, 20(5), 34-45.

Sharma, S., Basu, S., Shetti, N. P., & Aminabhavi, T. M. (2020). Current treatment protocol for COVID-19 in India. *Sensors International*, *1*, 100013.

Simoes, D., Ehsani, S., Stanojevic, M., Shubladze, N., et al. (2022). Integrated use of laboratory services for multiple infectious diseases in the WHO European Region during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Eurosurveillance*, *27*(29), 2100930.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on tuberculosis management in India

Small, C. L., Shaler, C. R., McCormick, S., Jeyanathan, M., et al. (2010). Influenza infection leads to increased susceptibility to subsequent bacterial superinfection by impairing NK cell responses in the lung. *The Journal of Immunology*, *184*(4), 2048-2056.

Suarez, I., Fünger, S. M., Kröger, S., Rademacher, J., Fätkenheuer, G., & Rybniker, J. (2019). The diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis. *Deutsches Aerzteblatt International*, *116*(43), 729-735.

Tadolini, M., Codecasa, L. R., García-García, J. M., Blanc, F. X., Borisov, S., Alffenaar, J. W., & Migliori, G. B. (2020). Active tuberculosis, sequelae and COVID-19 coinfection: first cohort of 49 cases. *European Respiratory Journal*, *56*(1), 2001398.

Visca, D., Ong, C.W.M., Tiberi, S., Centis, R., et al. (2021). Tuberculosis and COVID-19 interaction: A review of biological, clinical and public health effects. *Pulmonology*, *27*(2), 151-165.

Walaza, S., Cohen, C., Tempia, S., Moyes, J., et al. (2020). Influenza and tuberculosis coinfection: A systematic review. *Influenza and other respiratory viruses*, *14*(1), 77-91.

Walker, P. G., White, M. T., Griffin, J. T., Reynolds, A., Ferguson, N. M., & Ghani, A. C. (2015). Malaria morbidity and mortality in

Ebola-affected countries caused by decreased healthcare capacity, and the potential effect of mitigation strategies: a modelling analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *15*(7), 825-832.

WHO Solidarity Trial Consortium. (2021). Repurposed antiviral drugs for Covid-19-interim WHO solidarity trial results. *New England journal of medicine*, *384*(6), 497-511.

Wu, Z., & McGoogan, J. M. (2020). Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *Jama*, *323*(13), 1239-1242.

Xu, Y., Wu, J., Liao, S., & Sun, Z. (2017). Treating tuberculosis with high doses of anti-TB drugs: mechanisms and outcomes. *Annals of clinical microbiology and antimicrobials*, *16*(1), 1-13.

Zignol, M., Gemert, W. V., Falzon, D., Sismanidis, C., Glaziou, P., Floyd, K., & Raviglione, M. (2012). Surveillance of anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in the world: an updated analysis, 2007-2010. *Bulletin of the world Health Organization*, *90*, 111-119.





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Allelopathic effects of the invasive plant Wedelia (*Sphagneticola trilobata* L.) aqueous extract on common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.)

K.R.S. Perera¹, R.M.C.S. Ratnayake², U.P.K. Epa^{1*}

¹Department of Zoology and Environmental Management, University of Kelaniya 11600, Dalugama, Kelaniya, Sri Lanka
²Department of Plant and Molecular Biology, University of Kelaniya 11600, Dalugama, Kelaniya, Sri Lanka

Received – April 07, 2023; Revision – June 11, 2023; Accepted – June 20, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).542.549

KEYWORDS

Allelopathy

Germination

Growth

Seed

Yield

Weeds

Sphagneticola trilobata

Phaseolus vulgaris

ABSTRACT

Sphagneticola trilobata (L.) Pruski is an alien invasive weed with aggressive growth habits, environmental stress tolerance, and the ability to synthesize allelochemicals. However, in many parts of the world, this plant is still recommended for use in composting, phytoremediation, and as an ornamental ground cover in gardens. The present study investigated the allelopathic effect of S. trilobata on the seed germination, growth and yield of Phaseolus vulgaris L. To analyze the allelopathic effects of S. trilobata on P. vulgaris seed germination, hundred seeds of P. vulgaris were exposed to different concentrations of the aqueous extracts of fresh and dry S. trilobata $(2.5 \times 10^2, 5.0 \times 10^2 \text{ and } 7.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L})$ in Petri dishes for five days. The impact of S. trilobata aqueous extract on the growth and yield of P. vulgaris was also studied with seedlings planted in a compost soil mixture. Results of the study suggested negative impacts of S. trilobata extracts on P. vulgaris seed germination, growth and yield. P. vulgaris seed germination was significantly lower in the treatments than in the control (p<0.05). Further, *P. vulgaris* plants treated with fresh plant extracts at 5.0×10^2 and 7.5×10^2 g/L concentrations had significantly lower shoot height, growth rate, leaf area, fresh shoot weight, dry shoot weight, root length, pod length and yield (p<0.05) than controls. From the results of the study, it can be concluded that S. trilobata aqueous extracts have a dose-dependent allelopathic effect on P. vulgaris seed germination, growth, and yield and among the dry and fresh plant extracts, fresh plant aqueous extracts have a more significant allelopathic impact. As S. trilobata contains water-soluble allelochemical, it should not be used in biofertilizer production, phytoremediation, or as live mulch.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: epa@kln.ac.lk (U.P.K. Epa)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

Sphagnaticola trilobata (L.) Pruski, formerly known as Wedelia trilobata, is one of the world's top 100 most environmentally destructive invasive alien species (Lowe et al. 2000). S. trilobata belongs to the Asteraceae family and is found in Asia, South America, and the Pacific. S. trilobata is a creeping and climbing perennial herb that grows up to 30 cm high and 4 m long. This mat-forming plant frequently creates a dense ground cover (Figure 1) and may short-climb trees or other vegetation. Sphagnaticola species have antimicrobial, insecticidal, larvicidal and trypanosomicidal properties and are used for medicinal purposes (Huang et al. 2006; Maldini et al. 2009; Toppo et al. 2013) and as a decorative ground cover in many parts of the world (Wagner et al. 1990; Macanawai 2013). It is also used as a cover crop in rubber and tea plantations to control soil erosion in Asia (Nayanakantha 2007). Furthermore, it is used for ground cover in Middle Eastern countries, which helps stabilize the soil and prevent it from moving due to wind. The use of S. trilobata as a ground cover is getting increasingly popular in various countries, including the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Swaefy and Basuny 2011).

However, *S. trilobata* has become a noxious weed in many countries, covering vast areas in agricultural lands, along coastal areas, rail and roadsides, garbage dumps, open grounds and other disturbed habitats (Wu et al. 2008; Macanawai 2013; Hossen et al. 2020; Gao et al. 2022). It has also been found on the recently developed volcanic islands, atolls, limestone, continental, and even small uninhabited offshore islands in most Pacific Island countries and territories (Wagner et al. 1990). The aggressive growth pattern of *S. trilobata* is attributed to its tolerance to environmental stresses and ability to synthesize allelochemicals (Zeng et al. 1994; Wu et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2012). Allelochemicals have biological effects on other organisms, many of which are still unknown (Waller 2003; Ferguson et al. 2013). Because of its significant

impact on plant development and yield reduction in natural and agricultural settings, allelopathy of invasive species has gained increased attention (Waller 2003; Wang et al. 2012; Shahena et al. 2021; Gao et al. 2022). Aqueous plant extract is one of the most commonly utilized ways to assess plant species' allelopathic effects (Zeng et al. 1994; Nie et al. 2004; Ilori et al. 2010; Ullah et al. 2021).

As *S. trilobata* invades agricultural fields and is used as a ground cover, compost production (Setyowati et al. 2014a,b; Hussain et al. 2020; Setyowati et al. 2021) and phytoremediation (Dissanayake et al. 2002), it is a necessity to study its allelopathic effects on cultivated crop varieties. *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. is a popular herbaceous annual crop grown worldwide for its edible beans as dry seed and unripe fruits. It was hypothesized that the allelopathic biomolecules of *S. trilobata* aqueous extract negatively affect the seed germination, growth and yield of *P. vulgaris*. Therefore, the present study was conducted to investigate the allelopathic effect of *S. trilobata* on the seed germination, growth and yield of *P. vulgaris*.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Preparation of aqueous extracts from wet and dry plant parts of *S. trilobata*

Aerial parts of *S. trilobata* were collected from the home gardens of the Gampaha district, Western Province, Sri Lanka, from November to December 2020. A voucher specimen of *S. trilobata* was deposited at the Department of Zoology and Environmental Management, University of Kelaniya, Sri Lanka. The flowers, dried yellow leaves, and dead stems were removed, and fresh *S. trilobata* parts were chosen, washed, and cut into 1cm pieces. Seventy-five grams of plant parts were mixed with 100 mL of distilled water and ground well. The resulting solution was filtered and centrifuged, and a stock solution of 7.5×10^2 g/L



Figure 1 S. trilobata (a- Densely grown S. trilobata in a home garden in Sri Lanka, b- Flower of S. trilobata)

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

of aqueous extract of fresh plant parts was prepared. Fresh pieces of *S. trilobata* were also air-dried for seven days at room temperature (28°C), and a stock solution of $7.5 \times 10^2 \text{g/L}$ of aqueous extract was prepared. Another two test solutions were prepared using these stock solutions with concentrations of $2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}$ and $5.0 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}$.

2.2 Effect of fresh and dry *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts on *P. vulgaris* seed germination

The experiment was conducted using four sets of Petri dishes; three sets were used as treatments and one as a control. Three replications were used for each treatment and control. *P. vulgaris* seeds (Sanjaya variety-bush bean type) were surface sterilized with 5% sodium hypochlorite for 20 minutes before being washed with distilled water several times. A Whatman No.1 filter paper and one hundred *P. vulgaris* seeds were placed on each 70 mm Petri dish. Thirty mL of test solutions $(2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}, 5.0 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L} \text{ and } 7.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L})$ and distilled water were added daily into complementary treatments and controls, respectively. The remaining solution added the previous day was removed using an injection cylinder. All Petri dishes were arranged in a completely randomized design. The germination of *P. vulgaris* seeds was recorded upon the emergence of radicle every 24 h for five days.

2.3 Effect of fresh *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts on *P. vulgaris* growth and yield

Four sets of pots filled with the topsoil compost mixture (1:1) were prepared in triplicates to estimate the effect of different *S. trilobata* fresh aqueous extract concentrations $(2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}, 5.0 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}, \text{ and}$ $7.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}$) on the growth and yield of *P. vulgaris* plants. Five germinated *P. vulgaris* seeds were planted in each pot $(1.98 \times 10^{-2} \text{ m}^2)$, and pots were arranged in a completely randomized block design. One hundred mL of the test solutions and distilled water were added into three complementary treatments and to the controls on each other day, respectively. As a fertilizer, 100 g of compost was added to each experimental pot once a week. The shoot height of plants was measured, and a digital image (Sony Cyber-shot DSC-H300 20.1 MP, Digital Camera) of the second leaf of each plant was taken weekly. ImageJ software was used to calculate the leaf area in cm² (Schneider et al. 2012). Also, pods produced in the plants were harvested, and the lengths of the pods were measured using a thread and meter ruler. The weights of pods were measured using an electric balance (Sartorius CP224S), and the yield of *P. vulgaris* was calculated. All plants were removed after 50 days, and the above and below-ground parts were weighed to calculate each replicate's fresh shoot and root weight. The shoot and root were air-dried in an oven at 70°C for three days before their dry weights were measured. Soil pH (HACH - HQ 40d), organic matter content (Schulte and Hopkins 1996) and total nitrogen (Bremner 1996) in each experimental pot were measured biweekly.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted using MINITAB (version 14) software to compare seed germination, growth and yield of *P. vulgaris* exposed to different concentrations of aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* and the significance of the variation was tested at 0.05 level using Tukey's pairwise comparison. Pearson correlation test was carried out to assess the dose dependency of impacts observed in *P. vulgaris* growth and yield to aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata*.

3 Results and discussion

In this study, the invasive *S. trilobata* had negative allelopathic effects on the seed germination, growth and yield of *P. vulgaris*.

3.1 Effect of fresh and dry *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts on *P. vulgaris* seed germination

Aqueous extracts of fresh and dry *S. trilobata* significantly inhibited the germination of *P. vulgaris* seeds. The number of germinated seeds and the seeds germination ratio in seeds treated with aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* was substantially lower (P<0.05, one-way ANOVA) than in the control (Table 1). These findings suggest the presence of phytotoxic germination inhibitory substances in the aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata*.

Table 1 Effect of S. trilobata aqueous extracts on P. vulgaris seeds germination and seed germination ratio after five days of exposure

$C_{\text{opposition}}$ (α/I)	Fresh plant parts aqueous extract of S. trilobata		Dry plant parts aqueous extract of S. trilobata	
Concentration (g/L)	Number of germinated seeds	Germination ratio	Number of germinated seeds	Germination ratio
Control	84±0.3ª	100±0.0 ^a	80 ± 0.7^{a}	100±0.0 ^a
2.5×10^{2}	55±0.3 ^b	65 ± 0.4^{b}	53±0.3 ^b	66±0.4 ^b
5.0×10^{2}	31±1.3°	37±1.6°	33±0.9°	41±1.1°
7.5×10 ²	$9{\pm}0.6^{d}$	10 ± 0.4^{d}	8 ± 0.3^{d}	$10{\pm}0.4^{d}$

Data are the mean of three replicates; \pm Standard Error of mean; mean \pm SE value followed by the different letter in the same vertical column are significantly different as per Tukey's pairwise significant difference test (P<0.05)
The dry and fresh aqueous extract at the concentration of 7.5×10^2 g/L had the highest negative impact on the seed germination of *P*. *vulgaris*, while the lowest effect was reported at a concentration of 2.5×10^2 g/L. This may be attributed to the higher sensitivity of plants to phytotoxic biomolecules during seed germination and the initial stages of development. Results agree with the findings of Kwembeya et al. (2013), who reported that *Lantana camara* L. negatively affected the germination and growth of Blackjack, *Bidens pilosa* L. when added to the soil under glasshouse conditions. According to Nie et al. (2004), dissolved biomolecules of *S. trilobata* reduced the protective enzyme activities of plant seeds. When exposed to phytotoxic compounds, plants cannot successfully protect the cell membrane from the active oxygen, damaging the membrane and decreasing seed vitality.

In this study, as shown by the results of the Pearson correlation test, the allelopathic effect of *S. trilobata* was dose-dependent, and the number of germinated seeds decreased with increasing concentrations of both types of aqueous extracts. The percentage germination of *P. vulgaris* seeds exposed to aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* and control gradually increased with time. However, seed germination of *P. vulgaris* in control was always higher than in the treatments. The inhibition of seed germination was higher in seeds treated with an aqueous extract of fresh *S. trilobata* than the dry *S. trilobata*. Drying plant leaves may have reduced the concentrations or effects of allelochemicals in the *S. trilobata*.

The concentration-dependent inhibitory effects of *S. trilobata* extracts on *P. vulgaris* seed germination demonstrated the allelopathic potential of this plant. These results contradict the findings of Krishnan and Rajalakshmi (2021), who exposed cowpea seeds to *S. trilobata* extract (2 – 10 %) and did not find

any negative impact on the seed germination. These findings suggest that the phytotoxic effects of *S. trilobata* extracts varied among the tested plants.

3.2 Effect of fresh aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* on *P. vulgaris* growth and yield

Results of the seed germination study revealed that maximum inhibition in the seed germination was reported in the seed treated with the highest dose $(7.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L})$ of fresh aqueous extract of S. trilobata. Based on its effectiveness, this dose was selected for the pot study under natural conditions, and P. vulgaris seedlings were treated with 7.5×10^2 g/L of fresh aqueous extract of S. trilobata and found that treated seedlings started to die from the third week and out of 15, only nine plants survived. In contrast, none of the control plants died until the end of the experiment. The shoot heights of the plants treated with the aqueous extracts were significantly lower than that of the control (p<0.05). Like seed germination, the fresh extracts at concentrations of 7.5×10^2 g/L and 2.5×10^2 g/L had the strongest and weakest adverse effects on the shoot height of P. vulgaris, respectively. A comparison of the P. vulgaris plant's height at the end of the experiment is given in Table 2.

The changes in the surface area of the second leaf of *P. vulgaris* treated with aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* with time are shown in Figure 2. Initially, the size of the second leaf of *P. vulgaris* was comparatively smaller, and later on, it gradually increased until it slowed down in the sixth and seventh weeks. The lowest leaf area was recorded in the plants exposed to 7.5×10^2 g/L of aqueous extract. In contrast, the concentration of 2.5×10^2 g/L had the lowest impact on the leaf area.



Figure 2 Variation in the surface area (Mean±SEM) of the second leaf of P. vulgaris exposed to aqueous extracts of S. trilobata with time

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Table 2 Effect of fresh aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* exposure on the *P. vulgaris* plant height

Concentration of <i>S. trilobata</i> aqueous extract (g/L)	Height (cm)
Control	73.3±0.9 ^a
2.5×10^{2}	67.7 ± 1.2^{b}
5.0×10 ²	46.6±1.2°
7.5×10^2	$37.7{\pm}1.3^{d}$

Data are the mean of three replicates; \pm Standard Error of mean; mean \pm SE value followed by the different letter in the same vertical column are significantly different as per Tukey's pairwise significant difference test (P<0.05) Table 3 The second leaf surface area of P. vulgaris plants after

the seventh wee	k
-----------------	---

Concentration of aqueous extract of <i>S. trilobata</i> (g/L)	Leaf area (cm ²)
Control	102.11±4.23 ^a
2.5×10^{2}	95.70±0.33ª
5.0×10^{2}	$68.40{\pm}2.63^{b}$
7.5×10^{2}	47.78±5.16 ^c

Data are the mean of three replicates; \pm Standard Error of mean; mean \pm SE value followed by the different letters in the same vertical column are significantly different as per Tukey's pairwise significant difference test (P<0.05)

Table 4 Effect of fresh aqueous extracts of S. trilobata on the various growth parameters of P. vulgaris within seven
weeks of the experimental period

S. trilobata aqueous extract concentration (g/L)	Fresh shoot weight (g)	Dry shoot weight (g)	Root length (cm)	Fresh root weight (g)	Dry root weight (g)	Length of pods (cm)	Yield (g)
Control	8.43±0.27 ^a	$1.67{\pm}0.02^{a}$	14.7±0.39 ^a	$0.44{\pm}0.02^{a}$	$0.14{\pm}0.01^{a}$	11.5±0.27 ^a	20.31 ± 2.17 ^a
2.5×10^{2}	7.86±0.25 ^a	$1.57{\pm}0.03^{a}$	13.2±0.44 ^a	$0.41{\pm}0.01^{a}$	$0.13{\pm}0.01^{a}$	10.8±0.16 ^a	$17.71{\pm}1.04^{a}$
5.0×10 ²	5.12±0.35 ^b	$1.17{\pm}0.05^{b}$	11.3±0.50 ^b	$0.32{\pm}0.01^{b}$	0.11 ± 0.06^{b}	8.0±0.13 ^b	$8.05{\pm}0.72^{b}$
7.5×10^{2}	$3.44{\pm}0.36^{c}$	0.87±0.11°	8.5±0.66°	$0.25{\pm}0.02^{\circ}$	$0.08{\pm}0.01^{\circ}$	4.6±0.25°	1.79±1.20 ^c

Data are the mean of three replicates; \pm Standard Error of mean; mean \pm SE value followed by the different letter in the same vertical column are significantly different as per Tukey's pairwise significant difference test (P<0.05)

Exposure to the higher concentrations of aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata* significantly reduced the leaf area of *P. vulgaris* compared to the control (P<0.05). Although 2.5×10^2 g/L of *S. trilobata* aqueous solution reduced the leaf area compared to the control, this difference is insignificant (Table 3). The allelopathic effect of *S. trilobata* aqueous extract affects plant cell structure, division and elongation, growth regulation systems, metabolism, photosynthesis, mineral ion uptake, amino acid, and nucleic acid synthesis (Cheng and Cheng 2015).

The *P. vulgaris* plants in the control pots began to flower at the beginning of the fourth week. While the plants treated with 2.5×10^2 g/L *S. trilobata* aqueous extract reached the flowering stage at the end of the fourth week and was followed by plants treated with 5.0×10^2 g/L and 7.5×10^2 g/L which were showing flowering at the end of the fifth week. The effect of aqueous extract of fresh *S. trilobata* on growth parameters of *P. vulgaris* plants, such as fresh shoot weight, dry shoot weight, root length, fresh root weight, dry root weight, length of the pod and yield, are presented in Table 4.

All the concentrations of *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts have an inhibitory effect on the *P. vulgaris* shoot growth, which was indicated by lower weights of fresh and dry shoots in the plants treated with *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts compared to the control. Although 2.5×10^2 g/L aqueous extract of *S. trilobata* reduced the fresh and dry shoot weights of *P. vulgaris*, this was not significantly different from the controls. Furthermore, *P. vulgaris*

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org root growth was significantly reduced by the application of the *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts at 5.0×10^2 g/L and 7.5×10^2 g/L concentrations, as evidenced by shorter root lengths and lower fresh and dry root weights compared to controls (P<0.05). The lowest dose of *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts (2.5×10^2 g/L) showed no significant differences from the control plants regarding root length, fresh root weight and dry root weight.

Higher concentrations of *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts $(5.0 \times 10^2 \text{ and } 7.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L})$ also reduced the length of the pods and the yield of *P. vulgaris* as compared to the $2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}$ aqueous extract and control plants (P<0.05). No statistically significant difference (P>0.05) was reported in the average yield of *P. vulgaris* seedlings exposed to $2.5 \times 10^2 \text{ g/L}$ aqueous extract and control plants. The lower primary productivity due to lower shoot and root development may reduce the yield of *S. trilobata*.

All the measured growth parameters of *P. vulgaris* had a strong significant negative correlation with different concentrations of *S. trilobata* fresh aqueous extracts (P<0.05). The growth parameters of *P. vulgaris* exposed to *S. trilobata* aqueous extracts decreased as the concentrations of aqueous extracts increased (Table 5). Similarly, the aqueous extract of *Wedelia* also significantly inhibited the growth of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.), and green gram (*V. radiata* L.) seedlings with a more pronounced effect at higher concentrations (Shahena et al. 2021).

Perera et al.

Allelopathic effects of Sphagneticola trilobata aqueous extract on common beans

Table 5 Correlation between the various concentrations of *S. trilobata* fresh aqueous extracts and various growth parameters of *P. vulgaris* within seven weeks experimental period

Growth parameter	Correlations (r) between concentration and growth parameters*	P value
Shoot height	-0.976	0.024
Leaf area	-0.976	0.024
Fresh shoot weight	-0.975	0.025
Dry shoot weight	-0.978	0.022
Root length	-0.990	0.010
Fresh root weight	-0.984	0.016
Dry root weight	-0.976	0.024
Length of the pod	-0.967	0.033
Yield	-0.980	0.020

*According to the Pearson correlation test, all the growth parameters are significantly (P<0.05) negatively correlated to the concentrations of aqueous extract of fresh S. trilobata.

rucie o various prijsteoenennear parameters of som concerced from i various growing po	Table 6 Various	physicochemical	parameters	of soil	collected	from <i>I</i>	P. vulgaris	growing	pot
--	-----------------	-----------------	------------	---------	-----------	---------------	-------------	---------	-----

S. trilobata aqueous extract concentration (g/L)	pH	Organic matter content (%)	Total nitrogen (%)
Control	7.06±0.04	6.27±0.10	1.86±0.35
2.5×10^{2}	7.08 ± 0.07	6.56±0.14	1.88±0.15
5.0×10^{2}	7.09 ± 0.02	6.84±0.11	1.84 ± 0.24
7.5×10^{2}	7.11±0.01	7.04±0.29	1.93±0.21

Values in the columns are not significantly different as per Tukey's pairwise significant difference test (P<0.05)

Significantly low seed germination, poor growth and yield were recorded in the P. vulgaris plant treated with the S. trilobata aqueous extracts; this might be attributed to the presence of the allelopathic biomolecules such as coumarin derivatives, diterpene, sesterpenes and sesquiterpene lactones that are present in S. trilobata aqueous extracts (Shahena et al. 2021). Hossen et al. (2020) indicated the presence of two phenolic compounds, i.e. vanillic acid and gallic acid, from the Wedelia chinensis(Osbeck) Merr aqueous extract, which are the main constituents of the allelopathic effects. Allelochemicals present in the aqueous extracts of S. trilobata could disrupt the photosynthetic activities, mineral absorption, cell division, and energy metabolism of the P. vulgaris plants (Pasiecznik 1999; Cheng and Cheng 2015). Due to the disturbance in the plant, as mentioned earlier, weak development of the root system and reduction of the leaf area was reported and this could have a significant effect on the overall growth, fruiting time and yield of the P. vulgaris. Pu et al. (2022) have observed a low growth rate and yield of tomatoes in the presence of S. trilobata. Similar results were observed when rice (Oryza sativa L.) was fertilized with green manure manufactured using W. trilobata (Nie et al. 2004). Extracts of W. chinensis also affected the shoot growth of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.), alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.), and rapeseed (Brassica napus L.) (Hossen et al. 2020).

3.3 Physicochemical parameters of soil

There were no significant changes in the various physicochemical parameters such as pH, total nitrogen and organic matter content of the soil collected from *P. vulgaris* growing pots (Table 6).

According to the results, soil quality has not changed by adding different concentrations of *S. trilobata* extracts. This suggests that the toxic effects of *S. trilobata* extracts are mainly because of the allelochemicals in the extract.

Conclusion

This study indicates the presence of water-soluble phytotoxic substances in the aqueous extracts of *S. trilobata*, which show allelopathic effects on the seed germination, root and shoot development and final yield of *P. vulgaris*. Fresh plant aqueous extracts had a more significant allelopathic effect than the dry plant extracts of *S. trilobata*. As *S. trilobata* contains water-soluble allelochemicals, it should not be recommended in biofertilizer production, phytoremediation, or live mulch.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org 547

548

References

Bremner, J. M. (1996). Nitrogen-total. Methods of soil analysis: Part 3. *Chemical methods*, *5*, 1085–1121.

Cheng, F., & Cheng, Z. (2015). Research progress on the use of plant allelopathy in agriculture and the physiological and ecological mechanisms of allelopathy. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *6*, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.01020

Dissanayake, U.S., Tennakoon, K.U., & Priyantha, N. (2002). The potential of two invasive plant species, *Lantana camara* L. and *Wedelia trilobata* L., for selective heavy metal uptake. *Ceylon Journal of Science*, *29*(1), 11–17.

Ferguson, J.J., Rathinasabapathi, B., & Chase, C.A. (2013). Allelopathy: How Plants Supress Other Plants, University of Florida for protected area practitioners' future course. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, *90*, 67–76.

Gao, L, C.M., Zeng, L., Zhang, Q., Zhu, H., Gu, X., & Peng, C. (2022). Adaptation of the invasive plant (*Sphagneticola trilobata* L. Pruski) to a high cadmium environment by hybridizing with native relatives. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 28(13), 905577. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.905577.

Hossen, K., Das, K. R., Okada, S., Iwasaki, A., Suenaga, K., & Kato-Noguchi, H. (2020). Allelopathic potential and active substances from *Wedelia chinensis* (Osbeck). *Foods*, *9* (11), 1591.https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9111591

Huang, X., Ou, S., Tang, S., Fu, L., & Wu, J. (2006). Simultaneous determination of trilobolide-6-O-isobutyrates A and B in *Wedelia trilobata* by gas chromatography. *Chinese Journal of Chromatography*, *24*(5), 499–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1872-2059(06)60021-7

Hussain, N., Abbasi, T., & Abbasi, S.A. (2020). Evaluating the fertilizer and pesticidal value of vermicompost generated from a toxic and allelopathic weed ipomoea. *Journal of Saudi Society of Agricultural Science*, *19*, 43-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2018.05.005

Ilori, O.J., Otusanya, O.O., Adelusi, A.A., & Sanni, R.O. (2010). Allelopathic Activities of Some Weeds in the Asteraceae Family. *International Journal of Botany*, *6*, 161-163. https://doi.org/ 10.3923/ijb.2010.161.163

Krishnan, L.S., & Rajalakshmi, R. (2021). Effect of *Wedelia trilobata* on the germination and seedling growth of Cowpea. *International Journal of Creative Research Thoughts*, *9*, 4298-4303.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Kwembeya, A., Rugare, J. T., & Mabasa, S. (2013). Allelopathic Effects of Lantana (*Lantana camara*) on Blackjack (*Bidens pilosa*) and Pearl Millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*). Asian Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development, 3(8), 2013: 543-553.

Lowe S., Browne M., Boudjelas S., & De Poorter, M. (2000). 100 of the World's Worst Invasive Alien Species A selection from the Global Invasive Species Database. The Invasive Species Specialist Group (ISSG), Species Survival Commission (SSC) of the World Conservation Union (IUCN).

Macanawai, A.R. (2013). Impact of *Sphagneticola trilobata* on Plant Diversity in Soils in South-East Viti Levu, Fiji. *Journal of Life Science*, 7(6), 635-642.

Maldini, M., Sosa, S., & Montoro, P.(2009). Screening of the topical anti-inflammatory activity of the bark of *Acacia cornigera* Willdenow, *Byrsonima crassifolia* Kunth, *Sweetia panamensis* Yakovlev and the leaves of *Sphagneticola trilobata* Hitchcock. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *122*(3), 430-433 pp.

Nayanakantha, N.M.C. (2007). Alien invasive plants and their potential threat to biodiversity in rubber plantations. *Bulletin of the Rubber Research Institute of Sri Lanka, 48*, 61-66.

Nie, C.R., Zeng, R.S., Luo, S.M., Li, H.S., Hong, M.Q., & Cheng, L.Q. (2004). Allelopathic potentials of *Wedelia trilobata* L. on rice. *Acta Agronomica Sinica*, *30*, 942-946.

Pasiecznik, N.M. (1999). Prosopis-pest or providence, weed or wonder tree? *European Tropical Forest Research Network Newsletter*, 28, 12-14.

Pu, L., Cheng, L. Li A., Liang, S., Wei, Q., Wu, S., He, L., Xu, X., Lei, N., & Chen, J. (2022). Effects of clonal integration on allelopathy of invasive plant *Wedelia trilobata* under heterogeneous light conditions. *Plant Ecology*, *15*(3), 663–671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtab028

Schneider, C.A., Rasband, W.S., & Eliceiri, K.W. (2012). "NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis". *Nature Methods*, *9*, 671-675.

Schulte, E. E., & Hopkins, B. G. (1996). Estimation of soil organic matter by weight loss-on-ignition. *Soil organic matter: Analysis and interpretation*, *46*, 21–31. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaspecpub46.c3

Setyowati, N., Muktamar Z., & Wiyanti E. (2021). Compost of yellow creeping daisy (*Wedelia trilobata*, L.) weed to increase organic tomato yield. *International Journal of Current Research*, *4*, 980-983. https://doi.org/10.47191/ijcsrr/V4-i8-15

Allelopathic effects of Sphagneticola trilobata aqueous extract on common beans

Setyowati, N., Muktamar Z., Oktiasa S., & Ganefianti, D.W. (2014b). Growth and yield of chili pepper under different time application of wedelia (*Wedelia trilobata*) and siam weed (*Chromolaena odorata*) organic fertilizers. *International Journal on Advanced Science, Engineering and Information Technology*, 4(6), 13-16.

Setyowati, N., Muktamar, Z., Suriyanti, B., & Simarmata M. (2014a). Growth and yield of chili pepper as affected by weed based organic compost and nitrogen fertilizer. *International Journal on Advanced Science, Engineering and Information Technology*, 4(2), 84-87.

Shahena, S., Rajan, M., Chandran, V., & Mathew, L. (2021). Allelopathic effect of *Wedelia trilobata* L., on the germination and growth of *Cicer arietinum*, *Vigna unguiculata*, and *Vigna radiata* seedlings. *Journal of Applied Biology and Biotechnology*,9(2), 93-114.https://doi.org/10.7324/JABB.2021.9209

Swaefy, H. M. F., &Basuny, A. M. (2011). Effect of Biofertilization on *Wedelia trilobata* L. Plant Resistance to Salinity. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*,5(11), 571-578.

Toppo, K.I., Guptha, S., Karkun, D., Agrawal, S., & Kumar, A.(2013). Antimicrobial activity of *Sphagneticola trilobata* (L.) *pruski, against some human pathogenic bacteria and fungi, International Quarterly of Life Sciences*, 8(2), 695-700 pp.

Ullah, M. S., Sun, J., Rutherford, S., Ullah, I., Javed, Q., Rasool, G., Ajmal, M., & Du, D. (2021). Evaluation of the allelopathic effects of leachate from an invasive species (*Wedelia triobata*) on its own growth and performance and those of a native congener (*W. chinensis*). *Biological Invasions*, 23(10), 3135-3149.

Wagner, W., Herbst, D., & Sohmer, S. (1990). *Manual of the flowering plants of Hawai'i*. (1st ed., p. 1952). University of Hawaii Press and Bishop Museum Press, Honolulu.

Waller, G.R. (2003). Introduction-reality and future of allelopathy. In F.A. Macias, J.C.G. Galindo, J.M.G. Molinillo, & H.G. Culter (Eds.), *Allelopathy, Chemistry and Mode of Action of Allelochemicals* (pp. 1-12), CRC Press, New York..

Wang, R., Rehman, S.U., Liang, X., Song, Y., Su, Y., Baerson, S., & Zeng, R. (2012). Effects of simulated acid rain on the allelopathic potential of invasive weed *Wedelia trilobata*, *Allelopathy Journal*, *30*(1), 23-32.

Wu, J. R., Peng, S.L., Zhao, H.B., & Xiao, H.L. (2008). Allelopathic effects of *Wedelia trilobata* residues on lettuce germination and seedling growth. *Allelopathy Journal*, 22 (1), 197-204.

Zeng, R.S., Lin, X.L., &Luo, S.M. (1994). Studies on the allelopathic effects of *Wedelia chinensis* aqueous extraction. *Journal of South China Agricultural University*, *15*, 26-30.





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Agro-morphological characterization of selected varieties of vegetable cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.] in Burkina Faso

Antoine BARRO^{1*}, Benoit Joseph BATIENO², Joseph NANAMA³, ZinmanKé COULIBALY³, Mahamadou Sawadogo³

¹Université de Dédougou, BP 176, Dédougou, Burkina Faso
 ²Institut de l'Environnement et de Recherches Agricoles, BP 476, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso
 ³Université Joseph KI-ZERBO, BP 7021, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

Received – February 23, 2023; Revision – May 27, 2023; Accepted – June 14, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).550.562

KEYWORDS

Vegetable cowpea

Variety

Agro-morphological characterization

Burkina Faso

ABSTRACT

Vegetable Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) is one of the neglected legumes in Burkina Faso, and as a result, its genetic diversity remains poorly known. The main aim of this study was to know its genetic variability through an agro-morphological characterization. Twenty vegetable cowpea varieties were evaluated at the Kamboinsé Environmental, Agricultural and Training Research Center following a three-replication Fischer block design under rainfed conditions. Fifteen quantitative and nine qualitative variables were collected and subjected to various statistical analyses. Analysis of variance was significant for the variables 50% flowering, vegetable cowpea date, number of pods obtained per plant, number of seeds per pod, fresh pod weight, fresh pod yield, pod length, plant height, seed length and chlorophyll content. Strong correlations were also reported between the various variables. The observed diversity is structured in three morphological groups viz., Group 1 consists of individuals with early flowering, high chlorophyll content and the number of pods obtained per plant. Group 2 brings together the varieties of average agronomic performance for pod length, the number of pods per plant, number of days at 95% maturity, fresh pod weight, yield of fresh pods and group 3 of varieties with long pods, early green date, high pod weight and good fresh pod yield. Among the tested varieties, the varieties IT83S-872 (30 pods), IT84S-2246 (27 pods), Baguette (25 pods), IT83S-818 (26 pods), and IT85F-2682 (24 pods) stood out for their high pod production. In addition, the varieties of vegetable cowpea baguette, baguette grimpant, Telma, and IT83S-911 showed the best performance in terms of early

* Corresponding author

E-mail: antoine.barro@yahoo.fr (Antoine BARRO)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



vegetable cowpea date stage, longest pods, highest pod weight and best yield of fresh pods. The high genetic variability level within the tested varieties could be exploited in future green cowpea breeding programmes.

1 Introduction

Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata), a seed legume, is commonly grown and used as a source of diet plant protein in developing countries (Ibrahim et al. 2010). About 10% of this cowpea is cultivated for its fresh pods in East Asia and Africa (Boukar et al. 2015). In Burkina Faso, cowpea is an important staple food and much prized by the local populations. Indeed, it occupies the first place in seed legumes grown in the country and fourth in the national food crops after sorghum (1.929.835 tons), maize (1.700.127 tons) and millet (1.189.079 tons) (DSS/DGESS/MAAH 2019). However, this production only concerns dry-seed cowpea, as Common bean production is poorly developed in Burkina Faso. Vegetable cowpea has been cultivated for their long, soft, succulent and immature tender pods with fewer seeds and ripening late over a long period (Pandey et al. 2006). Like the vegetable cowpea (Phaseolus vulgaris L.), the vegetable cowpea is also eaten at the fresh immature pod stage. As a result, it is a subsistence food during the lean season and a source of monetary income by selling pods. Thus, it is an excellent alternative vegetable that is more resilient than bean vegetables and other crops (Peksen and Peksen 2012). However, there is little research on this variant of cowpea in Burkina Faso (Udealor 2002; Ano 2006) because generally, the majority of research on cowpeas is more focused on cowpea with dry seeds considering the green cowpea as a "neglected legume" (Ndukwe et al. 2012). Although there are varieties of vegetable cowpea in the germplasm of the Kamboinsé experimental station, Burkina Faso, very little work has been done on improving its adaptation and production conditions in the country. Nevertheless, some studies have already been undertaken on resistance to Cowpea Aphid-Borne Mosaic Virus and evaluating agronomic and forage performance (Nanama et al. 2020; Coulibaly et al. 2020). Thus, research on vegetable cowpea would allow us to know this variety better and to develop interesting and adapted varieties with agronomic and nutritional performances meeting the expectations of producers and consumers. With this in mind, this study was initiated with the general objective of knowing the agro-morphological variability of a collection of vegetable cowpea varieties to select promising varieties for use in a varietal selection program in Burkina Faso. The specific objectives of this study are (i) to establish the level of variability of the varieties studied through the measured or observed traits; (ii) to establish the relationship between the various characters, and (iii) to identify varieties of agronomic and nutritional interest.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Experimental site

The study was done at the cowpea breeding unit of the Agricultural Research and Formation Center (CREAF), Kamboinsé, Burkina Faso, from July to September 2019. The center is located at 12°28' North latitude, 1°32' West longitude and 296 m altitude on the Ouagadougou-Kongoussi axis. During the study periods (2019-2020 agricultural season), cumulative rainfall was 782.5 mm, spread over 8 months, and August was the wettest month (MétéoInera 2019). Due to their topographical location, Kamboinsé soils are increasingly poor in organic matter and very sensitive to erosion (Zougmore et al. 2004).

2.2 Plant material

Twenty (20) vegetable cowpea varieties obtained from China and Taiwan constituted the plant material used in this study. Some specific characteristics of the selected varieties are mentioned in Table 1.

N°	Variety	Color Seeds	Texture	N°	Variety	Color Seeds	Texture
1	IT83S-872	Cream	Smooth	11	IT83S-911	Red	Smooth
2	Ex-Iseke	Cream	Smooth	12	Niébé baguette grimpant	Red	Smooth
3	TZA 2344	Cream	Smooth	13	IT85F-2805-5	Cream	Smooth
4	RW-CP-2	Cream	Smooth	14	RW-CP-5	Red	Smooth
5	IT83S-818	White	Wrinkled	15	TUMAINI	Cream	Smooth
6	UG-CP-8	Cream	Smooth	16	LBR7	Red	Smooth
7	UG-CP-6	Cream (spotted black)	Smooth	17	Baguette	Cream	Smooth
8	IT84S-2246	Cream	Smooth	18	IT85F-867-5	Red	Smooth
9	UG-CP-3	Black	Smooth	19	Telma	Red	Smooth
10	IT85F-2682	Cream	Smooth	20	IT86F-2089-5	Red	Smooth

Table 1 Specific characteristics of interest of the twenty (20) varieties of vegetable cowpea used

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Experimental setup

This study was carried out in a randomized complete block design with three (03) replications. Each repetition comprised twenty (20) elementary plots of each corresponding variety. On each elementary plot, a variety was sown on four (04) lines of 3 m, with a spacing of 0.8 m between the lines to the line and 0.4 m between clusters, i.e. 8 clusters per line. This arrangement gives a plant population of 64 plants per elementary plot. The area of the elementary plot was 7.2 m² (3 m x 2.4 m), the spacing between elementary plots was 1 m, and the spacing between replicates was two meters. The total area of the trial was 871 m² (67 m x 13 m).

2.3.2 Conduct of the study

The soil was prepared through motorized flat ploughing followed by harrowing. Compost (organova: organic matter>30%) at a rate of 2.5 t/ha and NPK fertilizer (14-23-14-6S-1B) at a rate of 100 kg per hectare were applied to the plot before ploughing as a bottom dressing. Manual striping was done according to the spacing to obtain the seed lines. Semi-seeding was done manually on the lines on July 22, 2019, at two seeds per packet.

Maintenance operations consisted of weeding, application of NPK fertilizer (14-23-14-6S-1B), and insecticide applications. Two weeding seasons were made; the first was fourteen (14) days after sowing, during which fertilizer was applied, and the other thirty-five (35) days after sowing. Similarly, two insecticide application seasons were made. The first application was carried out at the time of flower bud formation, while the second was at the time of pod formation. Treatments were done with Deltacal 12.5 EC insecticide (12.5 g Deltametrine Concentrated Emulsion) with the recommendation of two (2) ml per liter of water.

2.3.3 Data collection

The different variables were collected according to the recommendations in the cowpea descriptors (IBPGR 1983; UPOV 2009). Sixteen (16) plants from the central rows were selected to measure quantitative and qualitative variables' observations. The studied quantitative variables are plant height, date of 50% flowering, the number of days corresponding to the ripening of fresh pods, number of pods obtained per plant, the weight of fresh pods in kilograms, date of 95% dry maturity expressed after sowing (DAS), number of seeds per pod, length and width of seeds, the weight of one hundred (100) seeds in grams, seed weight expressed in kilograms, the number of seeds per pod, the fresh pod yield calculated from the formula Yield = [(Fresh pod weight x 62500 plants/ha) \div (Number of plants per unit plot x 1000)] and the seed yield calculated from the formula Yield = [(Seed weight x

62500 plants/ha) ÷ (Number of plants per unit plot x 1000)]. The studied qualitative characteristics are Plant type or stem habit (Creeping, Erect, Semi-erect), Leaf texture (Membranous, leathery), Leaf color (Dark green, Light green), Leaf shape (Hastate, Sub-hastate, Globular and Sub-globular), Flower color (White, Purple), Pod position on peduncles (Erect, curved), green pod shape, pod color, seed color (Cream, Black, White, Red) and seed size as described by Ebong (1970).

2.3.4 Statistical analysis of the collected data

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Pearson's correlation test were performed to determine the varieties' discriminating characteristics and the relationships between the variables. An estimate of the degrees of association between the different quantitative traits studied was made through a Principal Component Analysis (PCA). Thus, using the STATISTICA software, well-represented and poorly correlated variables were analyzed in hierarchical ascending classification (HAC) to structure the studied varieties. The different groups from the hierarchical ascending classification (CAH) were characterized by discriminant factor analysis (DFA). The ANOVA, PCA, and DFA were performed with XLSTAT 2016 software.

3 Results

3.1 Variation in quality characteristics of vegetable cowpea

The results of the qualitative characteristics analysis showed the existence of significant variability (Table 2). Thus, four modalities, namely erect, semi-erect, climbing, and creeping, were observed in terms of plant habit type (Figure 1). Thirty-five percent (35%) of the varieties studied showed a semi-erect habit corresponding to most of the collection. On the other hand, the upright varieties (30% of the collection) are characterized by an erect main stem from which secondary branches emerge. While 30% of varieties are creeping, and the rest 5% are climbing type.

Flower color is highly variable among the studied varieties and is classified into two broad categories (Figure 2). Among the studied varieties, about 15% of the varieties produced white flowers, while the rest 85% had purple flowers.

Further, in the case of pod positions, two types of pod positions on the peduncle were observed (Figure 3). In most varieties (85%), the pods are curved at $30-60^\circ$ while the rest (15%) are erect. Regarding pod shape, 90% of the varieties had linear pods, and only 10% had curved pods (Figure 4).

The selected variants were also identified based on the predominance of pod color, and it found that 70% of the pods are dark green color while the rest 30% are light green pods color characteristics (Figure 5).

	1 1 . 1	1 1 1 1	C 1 / 1	• .• .	. 11	' D 1' E
Agro-mor	nnological	characterization of	it selected	varienes of	vegetable cow	nea in Burkina Faso
1 - 510 - 1101	photogreat	enderer neuron o	. bereeted	raneeres or	regetatore eo m	peu in Durning I uso

Table 2 Variation in quality characteristics in the selected cowpea varieties						
Parameters	Modalities	Number of variety	%			
	Erected	6	30			
Wassing of the stam	Semi-dry	7	35			
wearing of the stem	Climbing	1	5			
	Rampant	6	30			
	Hasté	1	5			
	Subhasted	8	40			
Lear snape	Subglobular	8	40			
	Globular	3	15			
I and to the second	Membrane machine	8	40			
Lear texture	Tough	12	60			
Color of the flavour	White	3	15			
Color of the flower	Violet	17	85			
	Curved	17	85			
Position of the pod on the stark	Dressed	3	15			
Color frack mode	Light green	10	50			
Color fresh pods	Dark green	10	50			
Fresh and share	Linear	2	10			
Fresh pod snape	Curved	18	90			
	Cream (mottled black)	1	5			
	Cream	10	50			
Color of the seeds	Black	1	5			
	White	1	5			
	Red	7	35			
	Great	1	5			
Seed size	Average	18	90			
	Small	1	5			



Figure 1 Different types of bearing observed in the varieties studied A: Climbing type, B: Erect type, C: Creeping type, and D: Semi-erect type.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

BARRO et al.



Figure 2 Flower color A: Violet color, B: White color



Figure 3 Position of pods on stalk A: upright position. B: curved position



Figure 4 Pod shape. A: linear pods. B: curved pods

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Agro-morphological characterization of selected varieties of vegetable cowpea in Burkina Faso



Figure 5 Fresh Pod color A: Light green. B: Dark green

Table 3 Results of analysis of variance of phenological parameters of 20 vegetable cowpea varieties.

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Average	CV (%)	P-Value (5%)
Plant height (cm)	31.67	265	113.92±34.6	58	0.000**
50% Flowering (DAS)	45	51	47±1.37	5	0.000**
Date vegetable cowpea (DAS)	54	57	55±0.79	2	0.005*
95%Maturity (DAS)	65	73	70±1.96	4	0.006*

*Analysis of variance significant at the 5% level; **Analysis of variance highly significant at the 1% level; CV: Coefficient of variation; P-value - Probability value at 5%; DAS - Day After Sowing

3.2 Variation in quantitative characteristics

3.2.1 Phenological stages

The analysis of variance (Table 3) shows that plant height and date 50% flowering discriminate significantly between varieties at the 1% threshold and the vegetable cowpea date and date 95% maturity significantly from varieties at the 5% threshold. Thus, the height of the plants varied from 31.66 cm (IT86F-2089-5) to 265 cm (baguette grimpant), with an average of 113.917 cm. With an average number of days to 50% flowering of 47 days, the varieties Ex-Iseke; IT85F-2682; IT83S-911 and UG-CP-8 (45 days to 50% flowering) were the first to flower, and varieties UG-CP-6 and TZA 2344 bloomed at 50 JAS. On average, vegetable cowpea varieties reached their vegetable cowpea dates and 95% maturity at 55 JAS and 70 JAS. Thus, the baguette grimpant vegetable cowpea varieties, IT83S-872, IT84S-2246, Telma, IT85F-2805-5, IT83S-911, LBR7, IT85F-867-5, UG-CP-8 reached their vegetable cowpea date as early as the 54th JAS and the TZA 2344 variety at the 57th JAS. Vegetable cowpea varieties IT83S-911 and UG-CP-8 were the earliest (64 and 65 days to maturity) compared with cowpea varieties RW-CP-5,

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org TZA -2344 and baguette grimpant (72 days to maturity). The coefficient of variation was high (CV > 30%) for plant height (58%) but low (CV < 30%) for 50% flowering (CV= 5%), vegetable cowpea date (CV= 2%) and 95% maturity (CV= 4%).

3.2.2 Yields and their components in fresh pods and seeds

The analysis of variance for the parameters of fresh pod yield and its components (Table 4), showed that all the variables discriminate very highly between varieties at the 1% level except for the variable fresh pod yield, which discriminates significantly between varieties at the 5% level.

The average pod length was reported to be 17.07 cm (Figure 6), while the number of pods per plant varied from 9 to 30 pods, with an overall average of 18 pods. Among the tested 20 varieties, the cowpea variety Baguette climber produced the longest pods (28.88 cm), followed by Telma (23.11 cm) and Baguette (21.72 cm). In contrast, the shortest pods (12.51 cm) were recorded in IT83S-818. The highest number of pods (30) was produced by IT84S-2246 (27), and the lowest number was observed in variety TZA 2344 (9 pods).

BARRO et al.

Table 4 Decults of	analysis of vo	miamaa of mod a	nd and vomishing of 2	O vegeteble coveres	monistics
1 able 4 Kesults of	analysis of va	mance of pou a	nu seeu variables ol 2	U vegetable cowpea	varieties

Tuble + Results of unarysis of variance of pod and seed variables of 20 vegetable competivationes							
Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Average	CV (%)	P-Value (5%)		
Pod length (cm)	12.51	28.88	17.07±0.78	23	0.000**		
Number of pods/plants	9	30	18±3.78	41	0.000**		
Weight of fresh pods (kg)	0.01	0.54	0.29±0.11	67	0.000**		
Fresh pod yield (t/ha)	0.72	13.16	3.94±2.51	99	0.002*		
Number of Seeds/Pod	14	59	29±7.2	43	0.000**		
Weight Seeds (kg)	0.08	0.48	0.25±0.21	52	0.008*		
Weight 100 Seeds (g)	11.03	19.5	15.1±0.99	16	0.000**		
Grain yield (t/ha)	1.67	5.1	3.05±1.12	51	0.056ns		

**Analysis of variance highly significant at 1%; *Analysis of variance significant at 5%; ns - Analysis of variance not significant at the 5% level; CV - Coefficient of variation; P-value - Probability value at 5%.



Figure 6 Variability in pod length of vegetable cowpea

For the tested varieties, the average pod yield (t/ha) was 3.94 tons/hectare, with 0.30 kg as the average fresh pod weight. The maximum pod yield was recorded in the baguette variety (13.16 t/ha), followed by Ex-Iseke (8.56 t/ha) and climbing baguette (7.12 t/ha). The variety TZA 2344 produced the lowest yield of fresh pods (0.72 t/ha). While the baguette variety had the highest pod weight (0.54 kg), while the lowest was recorded in the TZA 2344 variety (0.06 kg). Apart from pod length with a 23% coefficient of variation, the other variables had a coefficient of variation greater than 30%. Analysis of variance of seed length, seed width, number of seeds per pod and weight of 100 seeds was highly significant (p = 0.0001) and significant (P = 0.008) for seed weight (Table 4). The average number of seeds per pod ranged from 14 to 59, with 0.25 g as the average seed weight per elementary plot. The high number of seeds per pod was recorded in varieties IT83S-818, with 59 seeds per pod, while the lowest number of seeds was reported for the variety RW-CP-5 (14 seeds per pod). Variety IT83S-872 stood out with the highest seed weight with a value of 0.47 kg, and

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org RW-CP-5 obtained the lowest seed weight of 0.07 kg. Regarding the weight of 100 seeds, the average weight was 15.10g, and it was reported highest (19.5 and 18.067 g) for the varieties UG-CP-6 and RW-CP-5, respectively, while for the varieties UG-CP-8, IT86F-2089-5 lowest 100-seed weights were recorded with 11.03 g and 11.43 g respectively. Coefficients of variation were high for the number of seeds per pod (CV = 43%), seed weight (CV = 52%) and seed yield (CV = 51%).

3.3 Relationships between quantitative Characteristics

The relationships between the studied traits revealed various correlations (Table 5). Strong and positive correlations were obtained between fresh pod yield, pod length (r = 0.37) and fresh pod weight (r = 0.51). Further, a negative correlation was observed between fresh pod yield and the number of days to 50% flowering (r = -0.37). Also, the number of days to 50% flowering was strongly and positively correlated with the date of vegetable cowpea (r = 0.7)

Agro-morphological characterization of selected varieties of vegetable cowpea in Burkina Faso

Table 5 Correlation matrix between the different variables studied												
Variables	PL	PH	50%Flo	DNV	95%Mat	NGP	NGG	PGr	PGFr	RoWGr	CCP	Rdt Gr
PL	1											
PH	0.562**	1										
50%Flo	-0.183	-0.049	1									
DNV	-0.322*	-0.159	0.669**	1								
95%Mat	0.079	0.039	0.445**	0.238	1							
NGP	-0.222	-0.346*	-0.459**	-0.289	-0.136	1						
NGG	-0.166	0.091	-0.472**	-0.192	-0.071	0.413**	1					
PGr	-0.126	-0.16	-0.298**	-0.234	0.043	0.243	0.399*	1				
PGFr	0.455**	0.11	-0.488**	-0.421*	-0.106	0.303*	0.152	0.397*	1			
RoWGr	0.366*	0.318*	-0.369*	-0.186	-0.048	0.302*	0.341*	-0.197	0.511**	1		
ССР	0.117	0.362*	-0.091	-0.165	0.056	0.089	0.11	-0.196	0.113	0.358*	1	
Rdt Gr	-0.052	0.246	-0.393*	-0.247	0.051	0.418*	0.734**	0.191	0,055	0.505**	0.268*	1

*significant, **highly significant, PL - Pod length (cm), PH - Plant height (cm), 50 % Flo - 50 % Flowering (JAS), DNV - Green cowpea date (JAS), 95 % Mat - 95 % Maturity (JAS), NGP - number of seedlings pods, NGG - number of seeds per pod, PGr (kg) - seed weight, PGFr (kg) - fresh pod weight, PCG (g) - hundred seed weight, RdtGFr - fresh pod yield(t/ha), RdtGr - grain yield (t/ha)

Table 6 Eigen values and contribution of the characters expressed by the first two (02) axes of the principal component analysis

Main Components	F1	F2
Eigen value	3.785	2.917
Total variance (%)	25.233	19.448
Total cumulative variance (%)	25.233	44.68
Characters defining the az	xes and their eigenvalues	
LG	-0.145	0.49
HP	-0.113	0.401
LGr	-0.121	0.392
LaGr	-0.118	0.227
50% Flo	0.415	0.061
SPAD	-0.182	0.392
DNV	0.338	-0.103
95%Mat	0.116	0.063
NGP	-0.31	-0.308
NGG	-0.335	-0.247
Weight Gr	-0.188	-0.17
PGFr	-0.341	0.146
RoWGr	-0.326	0.117
Weight 100 Gr	-0.177	0.18
Rdt Gr	-0.328	-0.129

LG - pod length (cm), HP - plant height (cm), LGr - Grain length (mm), LaGr - Grain width (mm), 50% Flo - 50% Flowering (JAS), SPAD - Chlorophyll content, DNV - Vegetable cowpea date (JAS), 95% Mat - 95% Maturity (JAS), NGP - Number of pods plants, NGG - number of seeds per pod, PGr (kg) - seed weight, PGFr (kg) - fresh pod weight, PCG (g) - hundred seed weight, RdtGFr - fresh pod yield(t/ha), RdtGr - seed yield (t/ha), F1 and F2 are axes

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org 557

and the number of days to 95 % maturity (r = 0.45). However, the number of days to 50% flowering was negatively correlated with fresh pod weight (r = -0.49) and the number of pods per plant (r = -0.46). The strong correlation between vegetable cowpea date and fresh pod weight is negative (r = -0.42). In addition, a positive and strong correlation was obtained between seed yield and the number of seeds per pod (r = 0.73). A strong and positive correlation was observed between the number of seeds per pod and seed weight (r = 0.4).

3.4 Structuring diversity

Principal component analysis (PCA) yields two axes (F1 and F2), explaining 25.23% and 19.44% of the total variability, respectively. The first two components, which absorb 44.68% of the variance, were selected to analyze the agro-morphological variability of the varieties, with an eigenvalue ranging from 2.92 to 3.79 (Table 6). Axis 1 positively associates the number of days to 50% flowering (r = 0.42), vegetable cowpea date (r = 0.34), while it negatively associates the number of pods obtained per plant (r = -0.31), number of seeds per pod (r = -0.34), the weight of fresh pods (r = -0.34), the yield of fresh pods (r = -(0.33) and the yield of seeds (r = -0.33). This axis can be defined as the vegetable cowpea cycle and fresh pod yield axis. Axis 2 positively associates pod length (r = 0.49), plant height (r = 0.40) and seed length (r = 0.39). It can be defined as the axis of plant, pod and seed size. F1 and F2 are the two axes of the principal component analysis benchmark.

3.5 Organization of the diversity of vegetable cowpea varieties

The hierarchical ascending classification (HAC) carried out based on the quantitative discriminant variables made it possible to divide the varieties studied into three (3) distinct groups (Figure 7). Among these, Group 1 consisting of three (3) individuals, includes varieties IT84S-2246, IT83S-872 and IT83S-818 while group 2 consisting of five (5) individuals including the varieties TZA 2344, RW-CP-5, Tumaini, UG-CP-5 and RW-CP-2 and the group 3 is made up of twelve (12) individuals and is composed of the varieties Baguette, Ex-Iseke, IT83S-911, Niébé baguette grimpant, IT83S-867-5, IT85F-2682, IT85F-2805-5, IT86F-2089-5, LBR7, Telma, UG-CP-3 and UG-CP-8.

3.6 Characteristics of the groups formed by the HAC

The results of the differentiations factor analysis (Figure 8) were used to characterize the three groups based on traits related to the vegetable cowpea cycle (the date at 50% flowering of plants and vegetable cowpea date), pod yield and its components and plant size. Group 1 includes varieties characterized by early flowering (46 days) and the high number of pods obtained per plant (28 pods). Group 2 includes varieties with average agronomic performance for pod length, number of pods obtained per plant, date at 95% maturity of the pods, fresh pod weight and fresh pod yield. Group 3 includes the best-performing varieties. These varieties are characterized by a high pod length (28.88 cm), an early vegetable cowpea date (55 JAS), a high pod weight (0.54 kg) and a high fresh pod yield (13.16 t/ha).



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org





Figure 8 Representation in the 1/2 plane of the SFM of the variety groups from the HAC

4 Discussion

The results of analyses highlighted a high variability within the studied varieties at the qualitative and quantitative levels. Indeed, the high values of the coefficient of variation for several characters and the number of modalities per qualitative character would indicate a high heterogeneity within the studied material (Boyé et al. 2016). This heterogeneity between varieties is apparent in the principal component analysis with its two components to reflect the diversity within cowpea varieties. The principal component analysis makes it possible to retain the relevant parameters for the realization of a study and thus save time (Abe et al. 2015). This variability resulted in the existence of several discriminating traits and provided opportunities for selection.

The high proportions of the qualitative variables were obtained in the different plant organs' color, shape and type. However, a difference was observed in flower color compared to those observed by Cobbinah et al. (2011), who obtained white-purple flowers in their work in Ghana. This difference is explained by low variability within the material tested for this character. Since the pigmentation of flowers, pods and seed coats in cowpeas is expressed by a single gene, the relationship between flower color and other traits may be useful in selecting important or economic traits (Egbadzor et al. 2014). The type of semi-erect habit within the studied material indicates that these varieties can be retained in a breeding program. Indeed, according to Animasaun et al. (2015),

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org erect plants with the advantage of being less attacked by rodents could also be harvested using mechanical harvesters. Plant habit types are also important in the choice of seeding spacing and the choice of cropping system. Hall et al. (1997) state that climbing and erect plant types are used in monoculture or intercropping production systems. Pod color is an important characteristic in consumer choice (Manju 2006). Indeed, of the observed pod colors, there is a general preference for greener pods in vegetable cowpea (Peksen and Peksen 2012). The dark green color of the pods could therefore have high photosynthetic activity of the plant. Thus, the varieties with green-dark pods may offer the preferred color to the producers and consumers.

Lovely and Radhadevi (2017) observed significant differences in quantitative variables with vegetable cowpea varieties in Kerala, India. The mean flowering cycle (47 JAS) and that of vegetable cowpea date (55 JAS) show that the studied varieties have an early cycle. This early cycle indicates that these varieties could be grown in Burkina Faso, as it is a criterion of choice. Indeed, according to Doumbia et al. (2013), early-flowering varieties are a solution to adapt to the effects of climate change. In addition, according to Vural et al. (2000), the harvest date of vegetable cowpea pods is between 5 and 9 weeks, depending on the environment. Therefore, the average date for harvesting fresh pods would be reached from the seventh (07) week after sowing for semi-early varieties. These flowering cycles and vegetable cowpea stages of the studied varieties differ from those obtained on vegetable cowpea varieties

(Coulibaly et al. 2020). These differences in the number of flowering days and vegetable cowpea dates between varieties would depend on their genotypes. According to Pandey et al. (2006), the difference in the vegetable cowpea cycle is due to the growing environment or the genetic makeup of the varieties. Harvest time is very important to avoid the presence of fiber in fresh pods, which consumers do not appreciate (Peksen 2004). Pandey et al. (2006) indicate that the optimal harvest stage is also important for the vegetable market. Therefore, the pod harvesting period is an important parameter for selecting high-yielding vegetable cowpea cultivars (Kutty et al. 2003). Indeed, this harvest period could be predicted from the dates of flowering or maturity of the pods (Cobbinah et al. 2011), and the strong and positive correlation between flowering and vegetable cowpea date reveals this. Thus, plants that reach their flowering date and vegetable cowpea date very early are precocious. Coulibaly (2018) also mentioned a similar correlation between flowering date, and vegetable cowpea date with varieties grown in Burkina Faso. The mean value of 70 JAS of the 95 % pod maturity date indicates that all the study varieties are early maturing. Early cycle varieties have a maturity between 67 and 70 days, and those with a long cycle have a maturity between 74 and 77 days (N'gbesso et al. 2013). These results are close to those of Coulibaly (2018), who in his work on 12 varieties of vegetable cowpea, observed a maturity between 60 and 70 days. The earliness of vegetable cowpea varieties could help to cope with the constraints of scarce rainfall at the end of the season.

Differences in varietal performance related to fresh pod yield and yield components are thought to be explained by the growing environment or by the genetic makeup of the varieties. These differences are reflected in the structuring into three groups of varieties given by the hierarchical ascending classification. Indeed, according to Pandey et al. (2006), the yield in fresh pods is the determining variable for selecting a particular variety for marketing. Thus, Telma (5.37 t/ha), IT85F-2805-5 (6.03 t/ha), baguette grimpant (7.12 t/ha), Ex-Iseke (8.56 t/ha), and Baguette (13.16 t/ha), were distinguished by their high pod yield. The results of the present study are superior to those of Nwofia (2012), who found fresh pod yield which ranged from 4.5 to 9.57 t/ha in cultivars IT 93k -915, IT86F- 2062-5 and IT81D-1228-14 on vegetable cowpea cultivars in Nigeria. In addition, for Peksen and Peksen (2012), the most important yield components for vegetable cowpea are pod length, pod count per plant, and pod weight. Pandey et al. (2006) identified pod length as one of the key factors in selecting vegetable cowpea varieties. According to Kutty et al. (2003), the number of pods per plant exerts the most important direct effect on fresh pod yield. These effects are reflected in the strong positive correlations between fresh pod yield and pod length, number of pods per plant and fresh pod weight. These correlations corroborate with Peksen (2004), who found that fresh pod yield was correlated with pod length, number of pods obtained per plant and average pod weight. Thus, direct selection is possible for different selected traits. For this purpose, the varieties baguette grimpant, Telma, Baguette, IT83S-911, IT83S-872, IT84S-2246, IT83S-818, IT85F-2682, and LBR7 respond better to the agronomic characteristics expected from vegetable cowpea. Thus, varieties from group 3 of the hierarchical ascending classification with long pods, early vegetable cowpea date, high pod weight and high fresh pod yield in the cross with individuals from group 1 have early flowering, and the high number of pods obtained per plant would allow the creation of early and high yielding varieties. To create vegetable cowpea varieties with high fresh pod yield, it is important to consider pod harvesting time, pod length, number of pods obtained per plant and average pod weight.

The number of seeds per pod, ranging from 14 to 59 seeds, is higher than that obtained by Egbadzor et al. (2014), which varied from 9 to 21 seeds. According to Boyé et al. (2016), the variability observed within varieties concerning the number of seeds per pod reflects their ability to mobilize assimilates to reserve structures. Concerning the weight of 100 seeds, Khan et al. (2010) showed that the variability obtained between varieties depends on genotype and climatic factors. According to Khan et al. (2010) a very significant variation was reported in the 24 cowpea genotypes, and in this, the climatic adaptation factor could also play a role in the increase of seed weight. As a result, vegetable cowpea varieties with the highest number of seeds per pod and weight of 100 seeds could be produced as both seed cowpea and vegetable cowpea. The strong negative correlations between flowering date, the number of pods obtained per plant and fresh pod weight mean that late flowering plants have fewer pods per plant and a lower pod weight, as confirmed in the varieties TZA 2344, RW-CP-2, RW-CP-5, TUMAINI.

Conclusion

The agro-morphological characterization study revealed the existence of significant variability within the studied varieties, which could be exploited and used in a cowpea breeding program for traits of interest. The current study showed that out of all the studied 20 varieties, 12 varieties were identified for their morphological and agronomic performance, which could constitute a base of varieties of interest. The flowering cycle and date of vegetable cowpea, pod length, the number of pods obtained per plant, pod weight and the yield of fresh pods were identified as expected traits of interest for vegetable cowpea in the climatic and economic context of Burkina Faso. Among the tested varieties, IT83S-872 (30), IT84S-2246 (27), Baguette (25), IT83S-818 (26), and IT85F-2682 (24) were thus identified for their high number of pods per plant. The varieties Baguette, baguette grimpant, Telma, and IT83S-911, which reached their vegetable cowpea stage early, have the longest pods and a high fresh pod yield. These varieties

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Agro-morphological characterization of selected varieties of vegetable cowpea in Burkina Faso

are, therefore, potential parents that meet growers' selection criteria. After genetic improvement and multi-local testing, they could be recommended for the extension. Strong correlations were reported between various quantitative traits, which could facilitate the selection of traits of interest to producers and consumers by reducing the number of parameters to be collected. In addition, this study made it possible to classify the varieties into three groups according to their performance.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors expressed no conflicts of interest in this study.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the researchers of the CREAF Plant Genetics and Biotechnology Laboratory for their support with equipment and to the members of the Plant Genetics and Improvement team (UJKZ) for their contribution to the manuscript.

References

Abe, S. G., Patrick, O. A., Willem, S. J., & Sunette, M. L. (2015). Genetic variability in cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp] genotypes. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, *32*(3), 165-174.

Animasaun, D. A., Oyedeji, S., Azeez, Y. K., Mustapha, O. T., et al. (2015). Genetic Variability Study among Ten Cultivars of Cowpea [(*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp)] Using Morphoagronomic Traits and Nutritional Composition. *The Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, *10* (2), 119-130p.

Ano, A. O. (2006). Effect of vegetable cowpea population on component crop yields and productivity of yam, minisett based system. *Nigerian Journal of Agriculture*, *37*, 81-84.

Boukar, O., Fatokun, C. A., Roberts, P. A., Abberton, M., et al. (2015). "Cowpea". In A. M. De Ron (ed.) Grain Legumes, Series Handbook of Plant Breeding (pp. 219- 250), Springer-Verlag, New York,

Boyé, M. A. D., Yapo, S. E. S., Koffi N'dodo, B. C., Kouassi N'dri, J., et al. (2016). Étude de la qualité agronomique et biochimique de quelques variétés de niébé [*Vigna unguiculata* (L) Walp] (*Fabaceae*) provenant de la Côte d'Ivoire. *European Scientific Journal*, *12*, 24.

Cobbinah, F. A., Addo-quaye, M. O., & Asante, I. K. (2011). Characterization, evaluation and selection of cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp] accessions with desirable traits from eight regions of Ghana. *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Science*,6, 21-31.

Coulibaly, Z. (2018). Évaluation des performances agronomiques et fourragères de douze (12) variétés de niébé vert [Vigna *unguiculata* (L.) Walp] à Kamboinsé, Burkina Faso. Mémoire de fin de cycle en vue de l'obtention du diplôme d'ingénieur des sciences de l'environnement et du développement rural Option : agronomie/Université Ouaga 1 Pr Joseph Ki-Zerbo/Centre Universitaire Polytechnique de Dédougou, Pp 1-49.

Coulibaly, Z., Barro, A., Tignegre, J. B., Kiebre, Z., et al. (2020). Évaluation des performances agronomiques de douze (12) variétés de niébé vert [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) walp.] au Burkina Faso. *Journal of Applied Biosciences*, 153, 15745 – 15755

Doumbia, I. Z., Akromah R., & Asibuo, J. Y. (2013). Comparative study of cowpea germplasms diversity from Ghana and Mali using morphological characteristics. *Journal of Plant Breeding Genetics*, 01(03), 139-147

DSS/DGESS/MAAH. (2019). Résultats définitifs Enquête Permanente Agricole 2018/2019.

Ebong, U. U. (1970). A classification of cowpea varieties (*Vigna sinensis* Endl.) in Nigeria into subspecies and groups. *Nigerian agricultural Journal*, *7*, 5-18

Egbadzor, K. F., Danquah, E. Y., Ofori, K., Yeboah, M., & Offei, S. K. (2014). Diversity in 118 Cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp] Accessions Assessed with 16 Morphological Traits. *International Journal of Plant Breeding and Genetics*, 8 (1), 13-24.

Hall, A. E., Singh, B. B. & Ehlers, J. D. (1997). Cowpea breeding. *Plant Breeding Reviews*, 15: 215–275.

IBPGR. (1983). Descriptors for Cowpea. IBPGR: Rome

Ibrahim, U., Auwalu, B. M., & Udom, G. N. (2010). Effect of stage and intensity of defoliation on the performance of vegetable cowpea [(*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp)]. *World Journal of Agricultural*, 6 (4): 460-465.

Khan, A., Bari, A., Khan, S., Shan, N. H., & Zada, I. (2010). Performance of cowpea genotypes at higher altitude of NWFP. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 42 (4), 2291-2296.

Kutty, C. N., Mili, R., & Jaikumaran, U. (2003). Correlation and path coefficient analysis in vegetable cowpea [(*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp)]. *Indian Journal Horticulture*, *60*, 257-261.

Lovely, B., & Radhadevi, D. S. (2017). Estimates of genetic variability, heritability and genetic advance for yield and yield component traits in vegetable cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* ssp. *sesquipedalis* (L.) Verdc.] Genotypes. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 6 (5), 1165-1169.

Manju, P. R. (2006). Characterization of vegetable cowpea [Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.]. Doctoral Thesis submitted to the Faculty of

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Agriculture, Kerala Agricultural University, Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, India pp. 202.

MeteoInera. (2019). Relevé des quantités d'eau tombées et des températures au cours de la campagne 2018/2019.

N'gbesso, F.D. P. M., Fondio, L., Dibi, B. E. K., Djidji, H. A., & Kouame, C. N. (2013). Étude des composantes du rendement de six variétés améliorées de niébé [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp]. *Journal of Applied Biosciences*, *63*, 4754-4762.

Nanama, J., Barro, A., Batieno, B. J, Dieni, Z., et al. (2020). Genetic Study of the Resistance of Twelve (12) Varieties of Vegetable Cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.] to Cowpea Aphid Borne Mosaic Virus, Burkina FASO. *International Journal Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 9 (11), 2032-2043.

Ndukwe, O. O., Muoneke, C. O., Umana, P. E., Okpara, D. A., & Asawalam, D. O. (2012). Productivity of Vegetable Cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.] and Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Intercropping System as Influenced by Component Density in a Humid Tropical Zone of South-eastern Nigeria. *International Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development*, *15* (1), 835-847.

Nwofia, G. E., Ogbonna, N. D., Agbo, C. U., & Mbah, E. U. (2015). Growth and Yield of Some Vegetable Cowpea Genotypes as Influenced by Planting Season. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, *5*(3), 205-210

Pandey, Y. R., Pun, A. B., & Mishra, R. C. (2006). Evaluation of

Vegetable Type Cowpea Varieties for Commercial Production in the River Basin and Low Hill Areas. *Nepal Agricultures Resources Journal*, 7, 16-20.

Peksen, A. (2004). Fresh pod yield and some pod characteristics of cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp.] genotypes from Turkey. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences*, 3: 269-273.

Peksen, E., & Peksen, A. (2012). Evaluation of vegetable cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp] breeding lines for cultivar development. *Igdir University Journal of the Institute Science and Technology*, 2 (4), 9-18.

Udealor, A. (2002). Studies on growth, yield, organic matter turnover and soil nutrient changes in cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) vegetable cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) mixtures. PhD Thesis submitted to the Department of Crop Science, University of Nigeria, Nsukka. Pp. 169.

UPOV. (2009). Guidelines for the Conduct of tests for distinctness, uniformity and stability [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp. subsp. sesquipedalis (L.) Verdc.].

Vural, H., Esiyok, D., & Duman, I. (2000). The culture vegetables (vegetable growing). Izmir, Turkey. 440 p. (In Turkish.)

Zougmore, R., Mando, A., & Stroosnijder L., (2004). Effect of soil and water conservation and nutrient management on the soil-plant water balance in semi-arid Burkina Faso. *Agricultural Water Management*, 65, 103-12.

562





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Isolation and characterization of chlorpyrifos-degrading bacteria in tea-growing soils

Lam Thanh Nguyen^{1,2}, Tam Bang Kieu Nguyen², Thanh Huu Luong³, Huyen Thi Dam², Phuong Minh Nguyen^{2*}

¹Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, 10 Ton That Thuyet, Nam Tu Liem district, Hanoi, Vietnam ²Faculty of Environmental Sciences, University of Science, Vietnam National University, Hanoi, 334 Nguyen Trai, Thanh Xuan, Hanoi, Vietnam ³Department of Environmental Biology, Institute for Agricultural Environment, Hanoi, Vietnam

Received – April 13, 2023; Revision – June 18, 2023; Accepted – June 25, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).563.571

KEYWORDS

CPF

Degradation

E. adhaerens VNN3

M. populi CNN2

Remediation

ABSTRACT

The excess use of pesticides in the agricultural sector has caused environmental pollution and affected the complete ecosystem. Among the various commonly used pesticides, chlorpyrifos (CPF) is widely used against multiple agrarian pests due to its effectiveness and higher insecticidal activities. However, along with its beneficial usage, CPF has various residual effects on the environment, causing multiple negative impacts on aquatic organisms and human health. Consequently, methods for eliminating CPF in the background are essential. Among the currently available approaches to CPF remediation, biological methods using microorganisms are eco-friendly and cost-effective. Therefore, this study was conducted to isolate and characterize chlorpyrifos-degrading bacteria from the tea-growing soil of Vietnam. For this, soil samples were collected from the 20 tea-growing areas of Vietnam. From the collected samples, three bacterial strains viz., Methylobacterium populi CNN2, Ensifer adhaerens VNN3, and Acinetobacter pittii CNN4 have been isolated by using streak plate method and identified based on 16S rRNA gene analysis. The study results showed that under laboratory conditions, E. adhaerens VNN3 had the highest CPF degradation ability and was followed by the strain M. populi CNN2. In liquid medium, CPF concentration (100 mg/L) was reduced by 95.2% and 81.4% by E.adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2, respectively, after 72 h. Further, under in-vitro conditions, the concentration of CPF was reduced from 500 mg/kg to 112 \pm 1.73 (77.6%) and 197 \pm 2.08 mg/kg (60.6%) by *E. adhaerens* VNN3 and *M. populi* CNN2, respectively. Based on the obtained results, it can be concluded that E. adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2 can be used for CPF-contaminated agricultural soil remediation.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: nmphuong.hn@hus.edu.vn (Phuong Minh Nguyen)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

Organophosphorus (CPF) pesticides have been widely used in agriculture to control pests and insects. However, their extensive usage has caused serious environmental pollution and ecological risks (Huang et al. 2021). Chlorpyrifos (o,o-diethyl-o-3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinyl phosphorothionate) (CPF) is an organophosphate pesticide that has been widely used for pest control (Bose et al. 2021). It has been reported that the half-life of CPF in the soil was 60 - 120 days, depending on the soil types and environmental conditions (Elshikh et al. 2022; Huang et al. 2021). Further, 3,5,6-trichloro-2pyridinol (TCP), a major metabolite of CPF, is also persistent in the environment with a half-life of 65 - 350 days in soil (Bose et al. 2021). Due to the wide application of CPF in agriculture, CPF and its residues have been detected in surface water, groundwater, soils, sediments, crops and even human breast milk (Huang et al. 2021; Oltramare et al. 2022; Sishu et al. 2022; Takayasu et al. 2017). The CPF concentration range from 239 to 675.4 µg/kg was determined in agricultural soils (Bhandari et al. 2020; Tan et al. 2020). The adverse effects of CPF on organisms and human health have also been welldocumented (Jin et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2021; Cheng et al. 2023). Bioaccumulation of CPF affects the human endocrine and cardiovascular systems (Bose et al. 2021); furthermore, CPF and its metabolites can disrupt normal pregnancy, induce the occurrence of obesity and breast cancer (Blanco et al. 2020; Hazarika et al. 2020; Moyano et al. 2020). Underexposure to CPF, oxidative stress and disruption of neurotransmitter metabolism were observed in zebrafish (Sud et al. 2020). In addition, the genotoxicity effects of CPF have also been recorded in various aquatic organisms (Huang et al. 2020). Due to the ecological risks that CPF poses to the environment, the elimination of CPF is necessary. Current methods such as ultrasonication, photocatalytic degradation, and biochar adsorption have been used for CPF removal; however, these physicochemical methods are costly and technically challenging (Soltani-Nezhad et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2021). Biological methods using microorganisms that degrade organic compounds and complex xenobiotics are considered environmental-friendly and efficient approaches to detoxify CPF (Bose et al. 2021; Elshikh et al. 2022; Hadibarata et al. 2023). The CPF-degrading potential of various bacterial (Pseudomonas, Stenotrophomonas, Bacillus, Klebsiella) and fungal species (Aspergillus terreus, Trichoderma harzianum, Ganoderma sp. JAS4) have been well documented (Ishag et al. 2016; Khalid et al. 2018; Bose et al. 2021). Phosphoric triester hydrolases, lignolytic laccases, and carboxypeptidase (CPD) are some enzymes involved in the microbial degradation of CPF (Bose et al. 2021; Huang et al. 2021). Biodegradation of CPF is of great importance in eliminating CPF and reducing its toxicity in the environment; therefore, studies on microbial CPF degradation are highly significant. The present study aimed to isolate and characterize CPF-degrading bacteria in tea-growing soils and evaluate the potential of CPF degradation by the isolated strains.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Isolation of CPF-degrading bacteria

The isolation of CPF-degrading bacteria was performed as per the method of Hossain et al. (2015) and Elshikh et al. (2022) with some modifications. For the bacterial isolation, 20 soil samples were collected from a depth of 20 cm of the tea-growing areas of Phu Thinh commune, Dai Tu district, Thai Nguyen province and Anh Son commune, Hung Son district, Nghe An province of Vietnam. Each soil sample was prepared by properly mixing the five diagonally taken from the selected field. The bacterial isolation was performed using the mineral salt medium (MSM) containing (g/L) K₂HPO₄ (1.8), NH₄Cl (4.0), MgSO₄.7H₂O (0.5), FeSO₄.7H₂O (0.1) and trace solution (1 ml/L). From this, a 5 g soil sample was added to 95 mL of the mineral salt medium (MSM) containing 50 mg/L CPF and the cultured flasks were incubated at 28 - 30°C in an incubator for five days. After the incubation period completion, 5 mL was taken out and reinoculated in the fresh MSM medium containing CPF at 50 mg/L. The procedure was repeated three times, and the culture was diluted at a concentration of 10⁻³ to 10⁻⁵. 50 µl of the diluted culture was spread on agar plates containing MSM medium supplemented with 100 mg/L CPF. The plates were incubated for five days at 28 - 30°C, and the isolated strains were purified by streaking on the agar plates supplemented with 100 mg/L CPF.

2.2 Growth of the isolated strains and microbial density determination

The growth characteristics of the isolated strains were determined by using LB medium containing (g/L): peptone (10), yeast extract (5), NaCl (5) and 100 mg/L of CPF. After 24, 48, 72 and 96 h, the measurement of optical density (OD) at 620 nm was carried out. The bacterial density was determined by using agar plates and sample dilution at 10^{-7} - 10^{-9} concentrations.

2.3 Identification of the isolated strains using 16S rRNA analysis

According to Ausubel et al. (1994), DNA isolation was carried out. The 16S rRNA gene amplification was carried out by using the primers 27F (5'-AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG-3') and 1492R (3'-TACGGTTACCTTGTTACCGACTT-5'). The PCR was performed with a total volume of 25 μ l per sample having total DNA (1 μ l), Pr16F (1 μ l), Pr16R (1 μ l), 10 mM dNTPs (2 μ l), Taq polymerase (0.25 μ l), Buffer Taq polymerase 10 X (5 μ l) and deionized water. The carried out thermal cycle was as follows: (1) initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, (2) denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, (3) annealing at 55°C for 1 min, (4) extension at 72°C for 2 min. Steps 2-4 were repeated in 30 cycles, and the final extension was conducted at 72°C for 7 min. The PCR product was qualitychecked via agarose gel electrophoresis (0.8% agarose) at 100V for

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

565

30 minutes. The 16S rRNA gene sequences were submitted to the Genbank database.

2.4 Evaluation of CPF degradation by the isolated bacterial strains

The isolates were cultured in MSM medium supplemented with 100 mg/L CPF until the OD_{620} value of 0.6 was reached. After 24, 48 and 72 h, the CPF concentration of the samples was determined, and the CPF degradation ability of the isolated strains in the cultured medium was determined.

The CPF degradation capability of the isolated strains was also evaluated under *in-vitro* conditions. For this, 20 soil substrates were collected, and 500 mg/kg CPF was added. The soil substrate was inoculated with selected isolated strains in MSM solution $(OD_{620} \sim 0.6)$ (10 mL/kg soil sample). The samples were incubated at $30^{\circ}C$ for 10 days. The degradation of the residual CPF in soil samples after 3, 7 and 10 days were determined.

2.5 Determination of CPF concentration

CPF in liquid samples was extracted by using petroleum ether for 1 minute. The supernatant containing CPF was measured at 294 nm by spectrophotometric method. The CPF samples were shaken with 5 mL of acetonitrile and filtered using a 0.22 μ m syringe filter. CPF concentration was measured using HPLC at 300 nm (Elshikh et al. 2022). The column used was the XDB-C18 (5 Mm,

4.6x250 mm). The mobile phase was a mixture of acetonitrile and buffer containing acetic acid and water. The retention time of CPF was 9.5 min. The residual CPF concentration in soil samples was determined by GC/MS (EPA 1996).

2.6 Statistical analysis

Data were presented as the mean values of three replicates \pm standard deviation using Microsoft Excel version 2108.

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Isolation of CPF-degrading bacteria

From the collected 20 soil samples, a total of 51 bacterial strains were isolated, and among these, four CPF-degrading bacterial strains were isolated, namely CNN1, CNN2, VNN3 and CNN4. Figure 1 shows the colonies of the four isolated strains. Figure 2 shows the morphologies of the bacterial cells under an optical microscope with 100x magnification, respectively. All four strains had rod shape, single stand cells. CNN1 and CNN4 were approximately 0.5 x 1.0 μ m, whereas CNN2 and VNN3 were 0.8 x 1.0 μ m and 1.0 x 1.5 μ m in size, respectively. The colonies of CNN1 were round, glossy, ivory-yellow, and non-pigmented (diameter: 1 - 3 mm). The colonies of CNN2 were pale pink, uniformly round, smooth, round, convex, glossy and non-pigmented (diameter: 0.5 mm). The colonies of VNN3 were white, round, small, regular, smooth surfaces, and non-pigmented



Figure 1 Colonies of the strains (a) CNN1, (b) CNN2, (c) VNN3 and (d) CNN4

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 2 Morphological characteristics of the strains (a) CNN1,(b) CNN2,(c) VNN3 and(d) CNN4



Figure 3 OD_{620} of the four isolated strains growing in CPF-supplemented LB medium

(diameter: 1.5 mm). The colonies of CNN4 were ivory white, round and small, smooth surface and non-pigmentated (diameter: 1.5 mm). In a previous study, Asamba et al. (2022) found that colonies of six CPF-degrading bacterial strains isolated from contaminated soils in Kenya were rod-shaped and pigmented.

The isolates were cultured on LB medium supplemented with the corresponding CPF substrate (100 mg/L) to determine the best growth time. The results from the measurement of OD₆₂₀ of the four isolates are shown in Figure 3. The bacterial density of the four strains is shown in Table 1.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Nguyen et al.

Table 1 Bacterial density of the four strains (CFU/mL)							
<u>.</u>		Bacterial density (CFU/mL)					
Strains	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h			
CNN1	3.5x10 ⁷	2.1×10^{8}	3.8x10 ⁸	2.3×10^7			
CNN2	2.6x10 ⁸	3.2x10 ⁹	8.8x10 ⁹	2.8x10 ⁸			
VNN3	3.9x10 ⁸	4.8x10 ⁹	9.2x10 ⁹	$4.4 \mathrm{x} 10^8$			
CNN4	4.3×10^{8}	5.8x10 ⁹	9.0x10 ⁹	5.7x10 ⁸			

 Table 2 Similarities of the 16S rRNA genes of CNN2, VNN3 and CNN4 with sequences published in GenBank

 Strain
 Code
 Name
 Similarity (%)

 AP014809.1
 Methylobacterium populi
 99.80

-	AP014809.1	Methylobacterium populi	99.80
	MF171057.1	Methylobacterium populi H1.3	99.80
	MK850375.1	Methylorubrum thiocyanatum TA1	99.80
CNN2	AB900974.1	Methylobacterium rhodesianum P-15S	99.80
	GU294335.1	Methylobacterium zatmanii 6012	99.80
-	GQ281065.1	Methylobacterium zatmanii NBCS25	99.80
-	CP039546.1	Methylorubrum populi YC-XJ5	99.71
-	MN094857.1	Methylorubrum sp.TH1	99.71
-	MG190781.1	Methylorubrum pseudosasae IMB16-188	99.71
	KX507144.1	Ensifer adhaerensJS1020	98.11
	KY992904.1	Ensifer sp.PZS_S05	98.11
	KY660614.1	Ensifer adhaerens PZG_S19	98.11
VININ3 -	KY660602.1	Ensifer adhaerens PZG_S11	98.11
_	KY660583.1	Ensifer adhaerens PZS_S05	98.11
	KX673850.1	Ensifer sp.P16P1	98.01
	CP033530.1	Acinetobacter pittii 2014S07-126	99.24
-	CP040903.1	Acinetobacter pittii AP007	99.15
CNN4	MN049561.1	Acinetobacter calcoaceticus GCPIR7	99.15
	LC485224.1	Acinetobacter pittii SN6-2	99.15
	MK954115.1	Acinetobacter sp. A4	99.15
-	MK834827.1	Acinetobacter calcoaceticus Bi	99.15
	MH890513.1	Acinetobacter sp. Ap6	99.15

The results showed that after 96 h, the OD₆₂₀ of the strain VNN3 was highest (0.45), followed by CNN2 and CNN4 (0.41). The bacterial density after 96 h for these three strains was also high $(2.8 - 5.6 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU/mL})$. Among the four strains, CNN1 had the lowest OD₆₂₀ value, and it was reported at 0.14 after 48 h and 0.25 after 96 h. Based on the results, the strains CNN2, VNN3 and CNN4 were selected for further experiment and analysis. The results based on the OD₆₂₀ value are comparable to those recorded by Asamba et al. (2022) who reported that OD₆₀₀ value

of the six isolated CPF degrading bacterial strains was from 0.05 to 0.25 after five days. The values of bacterial density in the present study were lower than the previous research, which reported that the density of the bacterial CPF-degrading strain *Hortaea* sp. B15 was from 0.5×10^{16} CFU/mL to 4.5×10^{16} CFU/mL after 30h of incubation (Hadibarata et al. 2023). These authors found that the highest bacterial count of 3.8×10^{16} CFU/mL after 20 h enhanced the 91% CPF degradation (Hadibarata et al. 2023).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

3.2 Identification of selected strains using 16S rRNA gene analysis

Isolated strains CNN2, VNN3, and CNN4 were identified using 16S rRNA gene analysis. The similarities of the 16S rRNA genes of the strains CNN2, VNN3 and CNN4 with sequences published on GenBank are shown in Table 2.

From the obtained results, it can be concluded that the three identified Methylobacterium isolated strains were as populi(CNN2), Ensifer adhaerens(VNN3) and Acinetobacter pittii(CNN4). Bacterial members of the genera Methylobacterium, Ensifer and Acinetobacter have been reported to be able to degrade CPF (Zhao et al. 2014; Li et al. 2020; McDonald et al. 2021). The strain Acinetobacter sp. MemCl₄ isolated from agricultural soil in India has been demonstrated to degrade 98% of CPF within 144 h of incubation (Pailan et al. 2016). The removal rate of CPF was found to be 89.5% to 91.1% by the bacterium Hortaea sp. B15 within 30 h of incubation (Hadibarata et al. 2023). In another study, 23% of CPF can be removed by Enterobacter sp. SWLC2 after 30 minutes (Jha et al. 2022). It has been reported that M. populi YC-XJ1 possesses important genes that encode enzymes responsible for degrading various exogenous compounds, including CPF (Li et al. 2020).

3.3 CPF degradation in liquid medium by the isolated bacterial strains

The isolated strains *M. populi* CNN2, *E. adhaerens* VNN3, and *A. pittii* CNN4 were selected to test their CPF degradation ability by

culturing the strains in MSM medium supplemented with 100 mg/L CPF. The CPF concentration in control (without inoculation) and inoculated sample with the strain M. populi CNN2, E. adhaerens VNN3 and A. pittii CNN4 after 24, 48 and 72h are shown in Figure 4. The study results showed that the strain M. populi CNN2, E. adhaerens VNN3 and A. pittii CNN4 could degrade CPF. E. adhaerens VNN3 showed the highest CPF degradation rate among the three strains, followed by M. populi CNN2 and A. pittii CNN4. After 24 hrs, the CPF concentration decreased by 41.1% and 34.2% by the strain E. adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2, respectively. After 72 hrs, the CPF concentrations in the samples inoculated with the E. adhaerens VNN3, M. populi CNN2, and A. pittii CNN4 were 4.95 ± 0.02, 19.06 ± 0.03 and 39.96 ± 0.01 mg/L, respectively; whereas the CPF concentration in the control sample was 94.34 ± 0.98 mg/L. The decrease of CPF concentration by the strain E. adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2 after 72 hrs reached about 95.2% and 81.4%, respectively.

The ability of CPF degrading by the selected three strains in this study was higher than reported in the previous studies. Zhao et al. (2014) reported a 60.2% CPF degradation ability of the bacterial strain *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* D10 isolated from the chives' rhizosphere after 18 days. In another study, the strain *Methylobacterium populi* YC-XJ1 isolated from desert soil has a capacity of CPF degrading by 27.3% after 72 h incubation (Li et al. 2020). Furthermore, Elshikh et al. (2022) reported that the strains *Bacillus cereus* CP6 and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* CP19 degraded about 70% CPF at 200 – 300 mg/L concentrations after 10 days.



Figure 4 Changes in the CPF concentrations with different time duration by the selected strains

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 5 CPF concentration in the soil samples after inoculation of the strain M. populi CNN2 and E. adhaerens VNN3

3.4 CPF degradation ability in soil under in-vitro conditions by selected isolated strains

The changes in CPF concentration in the soil samples inoculated with the best results given bacterial strain *M. populi* CNN2 and *E. adhaerens* VNN3 after 3, 7 and 10 days of incubation are shown in Figure 5.

The results showed that the CPF concentration gradually decreased up to 3 days of incubation and sharply decreased after 10 days. The strain E. adhaerens VNN3 exhibited more vital CPF degradation ability than the strain M. populi CNN2. After 7 days, the CPF concentration was reduced from 500 mg/kg to 225 \pm 1.73 and 349 \pm 0.59 mg/kg by the strain E. adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2, respectively, whereas in the control sample, this reduction in the CPF concentration was reported only 438 ± 2.65 mg/kg. After 10 days, the CPF concentration were reduced by 77.6 and 60.6% (equivalent to 112 \pm 1.73 and 197 \pm 2.08 mg/kg, respectively) by the strain E. adhaerens VNN3 and M. populi CNN2, respectively. The results of the current study are superior to the findings of Li et al. (2020) those, who reported only a 27.3% reduction in initial CPF concentration after 3 days by the strain M. populi YC-XJ1 isolated from desert soil. In another study, the strains Achromobacter xylosoxidans (JCp4) and Ochrobactrum sp. (FCp1) isolated from pesticide-contaminated soil could degrade CPF concentration by 40 and 60% after 7 and 10 days of incubation, respectively (initial CPF concentration of 200 mg/kg) (Akbar and Sultan 2016). As a result, compared to other reports, the results in this study indicate that the strain *E. adhaerens* VNN3 and *M. populi* CNN2 has a higher potential of CPF-bioremediation from the CPF contaminant agricultural sites.

Conclusion

Among 20 soil samples from tea-growing sites in Vietnam, four bacterial strains that could degrade CPF were isolated. Among them, three potential strains *M. populi* CNN2, *E. adhaerens* VNN3, and *A. pittii* CNN4, have been selected for mass culturing and to identify their bioremediation potential. Among the selected bacterial strains, *E. adhaerens* VNN3 showed the highest CPF degradation ability in both cultured MSM medium and in-vitro soil experiments, followed by the strain *M. populi* CNN2. The study highlights the potential application of the isolated strains *E. adhaerens* VNN3 and *M. populi* CNN2 in CPF treatment and soil bioremediation in agricultural areas, contributing to pollution elimination and sustainable development.

Conflict of interest

The authors of this article declare no competing financial and personal interest.

References

Akbar, S., & Sultan, S. (2016). Soil bacteria showing a potential of chlorpyrifos degradation and plant growth enhancement. *Brazilian*

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Journal of Microbiology, *47*, 563-570. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bjm.2016.04.009

Asamba, M. N., Mugendi, E. N., Oshule, P. S., Essuman, S., Chimbevo, L. M., & Atego, N. A. (2022). Molecular characterization of chlorpyrifos degrading bacteria isolated from contaminated dairy farm soils in Nakuru County, Kenya. *Heliyon*, *8*, e09176. https://doi.org./10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09176

Ausubel, F. M., Brent, R., Kingston, R. E., Moore, D. D., Seidman, J. G., Smith, J. A., & Struhl, K. (1994). *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*. New York: Wiley.

Bhandari, G., Atreya, K., Scheepers, P. T. J., & Geissen, V. (2020). Concentration and distribution of pesticide residues in soil: Non-dietary human health risk assessment. *Chemosphere*,253, 126594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126594

Blanco, J., Guardia-Escote, L., Mulero, M., Basaure, P., Biosca-Brull, J., Cabré, M., Colomina, M. T., Domingo, J. L., & Sánchez, D. J. (2020). Obesogenic effects of chlorpyrifos and its metabolites during the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *137*, 111171. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.fct.2020.111171

Bose, S., Kumar, P. S., & Vo, D.V. N. (2021). A review on the microbial degradation of chlorpyrifos and its metabolite TCP. *Chemosphere*, 283, 131447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131447

Cheng, C., Liu, W., Hou, K., Zhang, J., Du, Z., Li, B., & Zhu, L. (2023). Ecological safety evaluation of chlorpyrifos on agricultural soil: Effects on soil microbes. *Applied Soil Ecology, 189*, 104954.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2023.104954

Elshikh, M. S., Alarjani, K. M., Huessien, D. S., Elnahas, H. A. M., & Esther, A. R. (2022). Enhanced Biodegradation of Chlorpyrifos by *Bacillus cereus* CP6 and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* CP19 from municipal waste water. *Environmental Research*, 205, 112438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112438

EPA. (1996). SW-846 Test Method 3540C: Soxhlet Extraction. *Part of Test methods for Evaluating Solid Waste*. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-12/documents/3540c.pdf.

Hadibarata, T., Kristanti, R. A., Bilal, M., Yilmaz, M., & Sathishkumar, P. (2023). Biodegradation mechanism of chlorpyrifos by halophilic bacterium *Hortaea* sp. B15. *Chemosphere*, *312*, 137260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.137260

Hazarika, J., Ganguly, M., & Mahanta, R. (2020). A computational insight into the molecular interactions of chlorpyrifos and its

degradation products with the human progesterone receptor leading to endocrine disruption. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 40, 434-443.https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3916

Hossain, M. S., Chowdhury, M. A. Z., Pramanik, M. K., Rahman, M. A., Fakhruddin, A. N. M., & Alam, M. K. (2015). Determination of selected pesticides in water samples adjacent to agricultural fields and removal of organophosphorus insecticide chlorpyrifos using soil bacterial isolates. *Applied Water Science*, *5*, 171-179.https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-014-0178-6

Huang, X., Cui, H., & Duan, W. (2020). Ecotoxicity of chlorpyrifos to aquatic organisms: A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 200, 110731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110731

Huang, Y., Zhang, W., Pang, S., Chen, J., Bhatt, P., Mishra, S., & Chen, S. (2021). Insights into the microbial degradation and catalytic mechanisms of chlorpyrifos. *Environmental Research*, *194*, 110660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110660

Ishag, S. A., Abdelbagi, A. O., Hammad, A. M. A., Elsheikh, E. A. E., Elsaid, O. E., Hur, J. H., & Laing, M. D. (2016). Biodegradation of Chlorpyrifos, Malathion, and Dimethoate by Three Strains of Bacteria Isolated from Pesticide-Polluted Soils in Sudan. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *64*, 8491-8498. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b03334

Jha, S. K., Chishti, Z., Ahmad, Z., & Arshad, K. R. (2022). *Enterobacter* sp. SWLC2 for biodegradation of chlorpyrifos in the aqueous medium: Modeling of the process using artificial neural network approaches. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *193*, 106680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2021.106680

Jin, Y., Liu, Z., Peng, T., & Fu, Z. (2015). The toxicity of chlorpyrifos on the early life stage of zebrafish: A survey on the endpoints at development, locomotor behavior, oxidative stress and immunotoxicity. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *43*, 405-414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2018.12.004

Khalid, S., Han, J. I., Hashmi, I., Hasnain, G., Ahmed, M. A., Khan, S. J., & Arshad, M. (2018). Strengthening calcium alginate microspheres using polysulfone and its performance evaluation: Preparation, characterization and application for enhanced biodegradation of chlorpyrifos. *Science of the Total Environment*, 631-632, 1046-1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.101

Li, X., Wang, J., Jia, Y., Reheman, A., & Yan, Y. (2020). The Genome Analysis of *Methylobacterium populi* YC-XJ1 with Diverse Xenobiotics Biodegrading Capacity and Degradation Characteristics of Related Hydrolase. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21124436

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

571

McDonald, N. D., Love, C. E., & Gibbons, H. S. (2021). The ChpR transcriptional regulator of Sinorhizobium meliloti senses 3,5,6-trichloropyridinol, a degradation product of the organophosphate pesticide chlorpyrifos. *Access Microbiology, 3*, 000297-000297. https://doi.org/10.1099/acmi.0.000297

Moyano, P., García, J., García, J. M., Pelayo, A., Muñoz-Calero, P., Frejo, M. T., Anadon, M. J., Lobo, M., & Del Pino, J. (2020). Chlorpyrifos-induced cell proliferation in human breast cancer cell lines differentially mediated by estrogen and aryl hydrocarbon receptors and KIAA1363 enzyme after 24 h and 14 days exposure. *Chemosphere*, 251, 126426. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2020.126426

Oltramare, C., Weiss, F. T., Staudacher, P., Kibirango, O., Atuhaire, A., & Stamm, C. (2022). Pesticides monitoring in surface water of a subsistence agricultural catchment in Uganda using passive samplers. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *30*, 10312–10328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-22717-2

Pailan, S., Sengupta, K., Ganguly, U., & Saha, P. (2016). Evidenceof biodegradation of chlorpyrifos by a newly isolated heavy metal-tolerantbacteriumAcinetobactersp. strainMemCl4.EnvironmentalEarthSciences, 75,1019.https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-016-5834-8

Sishu, F. K., Tilahun, S. A., Schmitter, P., Assefa, G., & Steenhuis,
T. S. (2022). Pesticide Contamination of Surface and Groundwater
in an Ethiopian Highlands' Watershed. *Water*,14,
3446.https://doi.org/10.3390/w14213446

Soltani-Nezhad, F., Saljooqi, A., Mostafavi, A., & Shamspur, T. (2020). Synthesis of Fe(3)O(4)/CdS-ZnS nanostructure and its application for photocatalytic degradation of chlorpyrifos pesticide and brilliant green dye from aqueous solutions. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *189*, 109886.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109886

Sud, D., Kumar, J. V., Kaur, P., & Bansal, P. (2020). Toxicity, natural and induced degradation of chlorpyrifos. *Journal of The Chilean Chemical Society*, 65, 4807-4816. http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0717-97072020000204807

Takayasu, T., Yamamoto, H., Ishida, Y., Nosaka, M., Kawaguchi, M., Kuninaka, Y., Kimura, A., & Kondo, T. (2017). Postmortem distribution of chlorpyrifos-methyl, fenitrothion, and their metabolites in body fluids and organ tissues of an intoxication case. *Legal medicine(Tokyo),29,* 44-50.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.legalmed.2017.10.002

Tan, H., Li, Q., Zhang, H., Wu, C., Zhao, S., Deng, X., & Li, Y. (2020). Pesticide residues in agricultural topsoil from the Hainan tropical riverside basin: Determination, distribution, and relationships with planting patterns and surface water. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137856.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137856

Zhao, L., Wang, F., & Zhao, J. (2014). Identification and functional characteristics of chlorpyrifos-degrading and plant growth promoting bacterium *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*, *54*, 457-63. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200639





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

The Impact of Elicitation on Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Production, Enzymatic and Antioxidant Activity in Nuevo León, Mexico

Mario James Forest^{1*}, Ma. Del Carmen Ojeda Zacarías¹, Héctor Lozoya Saldaña², Rigoberto E. Vázquez Alvarado¹, Emilio Olivares Sáenz¹, Alhagie K. Cham¹

¹Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad Autónoma de Nuevo León. Calle Francisco Villa S/N, Col. Ex Hacienda El Canadá, Gral. Escobedo, N.L. C.P. 66054. Méx. Tel. (81) 1340 4399

²Departamento de Fitotecnia, Universidad Autónoma de Chapingo, Carretera México-Texcoco Km 38.5, 56230 Chapingo, CP 56230. México. Tel. (595) 9521500

Received – March 14, 2023; Revision – June 03, 2023; Accepted – June 27, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).572.580

KEYWORDS

Defense responses

Elicitors

Fianna

Physiological

Tuber

ABSTRACT

Many compounds available in the market act as elicitors and can be incorporated into agronomic management. But the focus is on elicitors frequently used for the induction of different responses related to the systemic resistance of plants to increase the production of bioactive metabolites, biomass accumulation, and yield. For that case, this work aimed to evaluate the effects of three elicitors on potato crops under field conditions. The potato cultivar "Fianna" was used, and a completely randomized design with four treatments and four repetitions. The effect of three elicitors at a dose of 2.5 g. L⁻¹ for Activane[®], 2.5 ml. L⁻¹ for Micobiol[®] and 2.5 g. L⁻¹ for Stemicol[®] was evaluated on growth, yield, enzymatic and antioxidant activity. Generally, the elicitors had a positive effect on the enzymes and antioxidant capacity of the potato plant. It was concluded that the application of elicitors Stemicol[®] (T4) had the most significant result on the number of tubers and weight per plant at harvest while allowing a more substantial number of tubers to be obtained. In comparison, Activane[®] (T2) influenced the growth variables of stem length and number of leaves per plant.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: maria.ojedazc@uanl.edu.mx (Ma. Del Carmen Ojeda Zacarías)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

The potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) occupies the fifth place of the crops with the highest production worldwide, followed by corn, rice, wheat and beans. In the world, 385 million tons of potatoes are produced, with China as the leading producer, followed by India, the United States, Russia, and Germany (INTAGRI 2017). Potato cultivation in Mexico is important for everything it generates because it is an economical food, a source of low-cost energy to the human diet and a reasonable basis for feeding the population. Though Mexico occupies the 31st place in the world production of this vital tuber, around 68,000 hectares of land are cultivated in Mexico, from which a total of 1.8 million tons are obtained with a production value of \$11,300 million (SIAP 2022). Potato is grown in 23 states of the Mexican Republic, and among these, Sonora is the primary potato-producing state at the national level with 24.5% of the total production, followed by Sinaloa with 17%, Puebla with 9.85%, Veracruz with 8.30% and there are other important producing states such as the State of Mexico, Nuevo León, Chihuahua, and Baja California Sur (Haro 2019; SIAP 2022).

The use of pesticides in potato production to prevent and eliminate insect pests, pathogens, and weeds, is closely related to the degree of knowledge and responsibility in the application procedures, which generates the risk of intoxication of producers and deterioration of the environment. However, some insects in the population are naturally resistant to certain types of chemicals, making it difficult for them to control (Mandal et al. 2009: Niks et al. 2021). Recently, much focus has been directed to biological products capable of inducing defences response or induced systemic resistance in plants (Nasir et al. 2014). Elicitors are molecules capable of stimulating any defence in the plant. These elicitors are prepared to promote different modes of plant defence such as Systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (related to salicylic acid and PR proteins), Induced Systemic Resistance (ISR) (activated by bacterial strains of saprophytic rhizobacteria) and localized acquired resistance (LAR) (triggered by the plant hypersensitive response and phytoalexins production) (Choudhary et al. 2007; INTAGRI 2017).

Using elicitors has shown a high priority as an alternative to producing bioactive compounds, enzymes and secondary metabolites for growth, development, and defence in different crop cultivars (Serrano-Cervantes et al. 2016; Cham et al. 2022). Enzymes are protein molecules that speed up the chemical reactions in the plant, reducing the activation energy so that the roots can absorb nutrients more quickly and easily (Ramírez and Aceves 2014). Previously, only a few studies have reported using elicitors to improve growth and production and trigger different plant defences (Mandal et al. 2013; Garcia and Zavala-Garcia 2018: Cham et al. 2021; Cham et al. 2022). Research carried out

in butterhead lettuce showed that the effect of elicitation depended on several factors, including the time of application and type of elicitor, and that the main effect was observed on polyphenols and carotenoid concentration (Moreno-Escamilla et al. 2020; Giri and Giri 2022). Very few research has been carried out on the effect of elicitors on the production of potatoes to increase their vigour, metabolites, and yield and activate disease resistance pathways in plants, acting against a wide range of pathogens. Therefore, the objective of our research focuses on evaluating the effects of three major elicitors (Activane[®], Micobiol[®] and Stemicol[®]) on the growth, yield, and production of bioactive compounds and polyphenol oxidase defence enzyme as a new alternative that permits their use in potato crop production.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Geographic Location and Plant Material

This research was carried out at the Autonomous University of Nuevo León (UANL) experimental station in Marín. The study area is located at 25° 53' North latitude and 100° 03' West longitude; the average annual rainfall was of 573 mm, an average annual temperature of 22° C, and an elevation of 375 above sea level (García et al. 2018). The plant material used was the "Fianna" Cultivar from southeastern Mexico, Perote Veracruz. The planting was carried out on April 21, 2020, in polyethene bags of 20 cm (height) by 20 cm (width) with a substrate consisting of a mixture of 2/3 parts of soil from the region and 1/3 part of sheep manure.

2.2 Description of the experimental design and treatments

This experiment was established under a completely randomized design with four treatments and four repetitions. The four treatments evaluated are Treatment T1: (Control) with plants without application of elicitors; T2 (Activane[®]), T3 (Micobiol[®]) and T4 (Stemicol[®]) with application of elicitors (Figure 1). We realized four applications of the elicitors, first on planting day and then on days 21, 43 and 65, respectively. The said elicitors were prepared in solution and sprayed on the leaves of the plants at a dose of 2.5 g. L⁻¹ for each selected elicitor.

2.3 Evaluation of Variables

2.3.1 Agronomic Variables

The evaluation of the variables of interest, such as height, number of stems per plant, length of stems per plant and number of leaves, was carried out at different dates of plant development. Once the fruits were harvested, they were counted and weighed to calculate the gram (g) yield and number of tubers per plant.

The studied variables were evaluated in the following ways: the height of the plant was measured from the base of the plant to the

Forest et al.



Figure 1 Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) cultivar "Fianna" with four applications of elicitors at 21 days after planting A) T1, (Control) with plants without application of elicitors; B) T2, (Activane[®]), C) T3, (Micobiol[®]) and D) T4, (Stemicol[®]) with application of elicitors

apex, and the number of leaves and the number of stems per plant were counted for each of these variables; this was followed by the estimation of the number of tubers per plant, and the count was made for all the harvested plants and the average weight per tuber was measured in grams. Data collections were carried out on days one, 21, 43 and 65 days after transplantation, randomly taking data from each experimental unit from the plants.

2.3.2 Enzyme Obtention

The leave samples collected from each treatment were used to evaluate enzymatic and antioxidant activity in the potato plant at 21, 43 and 65 days, respectively. Cham et al. (2021) procedure was used to obtain the leave extracts. For this, a total of 1.0 g of leaves from each sample collected was weighed on an electronic balance, followed by homogenization with 5 mL of 0.1 M phosphate buffer, and the pH was 7.0. The samples were centrifugated at 5000 x g for 5 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was collected and placed in 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes wrapped in aluminium foil and stored at -20 °C for further use.

2.3.3 evaluation of polyphenol oxidase enzymatic activity

The activity of polyphenol oxidase (PPO) (EC 1.14.18.1 or EC 1.10.3.2) was determined by a change in colour as evidence of a chemical reaction, using a phosphate buffer pH 7.0 and 500 ppm gallic acid as substrates. Subsequently, the sample was incubated at 40 °C for 2 min in a laboratory water bath and the final sample mixture at 40 °C for 1 hour. The absorbance was recorded at 420 nm for the reaction; a UV spectrophotometer was used to measure the absorbance. The polyphenol oxidase activity was expressed in units per g⁻¹ of fresh tissue (U g⁻¹fw) (Gasull and Becerra 2006; Cham et al. 2021).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

2.3.4 Inhibition of the DPPH radical

The inhibitory activity of the DPPH (2,2-diphenyl1-picrylhydrazil) radical was determined using the methodology established by Cham et al. (2021), with some modifications, for which 100 μ L of solution was taken of extract (100 μ g/mL of ethanol) and transferred to a 96-well microplate, where they were mixed with an equal volume of DPPH reagent (300 μ mol). The solution is homogenized for 10 sec and incubated for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. Subsequently, the absorbance was measured at 517 nm in a spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The inhibition percentage was calculated using the following equation:

DPPH Inhibition (%) = $[1-Abs(S)/Abs(0)] \times 100$

Abs(S) is the absorbance of the antioxidant at 30 min whereas Abs (0) is the absorbance of the control at time 0 min

The antioxidant capacity of DPPH in samples was expressed as the mill equivalent of gallic acid per g^{-1} of fresh tissue (mEqGA g^{-1} fw) (Cham et al. 2021).

2.4 Statistical Analysis

To perform the statical analysis with the data obtained, we carried out the analysis of variance (ANOVA) to determine the statistical differences, and tests were determined by comparison of means by Tukey (P ≤ 0.05). The analyses were conducted using the statistical software SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences), IBM.

3 Results and Discussion

This research work was carried out at the experimental station of the Autonomous University of Nuevo León (UANL) in Marín



Figure 2 Comparison of the number of stems during the four applications of elicitors in crop development



Figure 3 Comparison of mean length of stems during the four applications of study elicitors

during the period from April 2020 to January 2021, to evaluate the effect of elicitors on the growth, development and production of the potato crop, cultivar "Fianna". The results of the study are described in the subsequent section of the study.

3.1 Number of stems per plant

The application of the elicitors did not show any significant difference between the various treatments (Sig.=0.05), and the highest average stem was reported from the control, and these results were followed by the T2, T4 and T3 treatments (Figure 2).

These results contradict the findings of Contreras-Liza et al. (2017), who observed significant differences between the doses

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org and their interaction with the cultivars for the number of stems per plant at 30 days. Likewise, salicylic acid (SA) treatments between 0.2 and 0.4 mM significantly affected the number of potato stems per plant. On the other hand, Jerez-Mompié et al. (2017) reported the average number of stems per plant was slightly higher in the treated plants, presenting significant differences between the treatments evaluated.

3.2 Stem length per plant

The stem length showed a significant difference between treatments, and among the tested treatments, Activane® (T2) has the highest stem length, followed by the T1, T4 and T3 treatments (Figure 3).

According to the results obtained by Larqué-Saavedra et al. (2010), salicylic acid (SA) positively affected the length of potato stems and increased by 43% with a concentration of 1.0 mM and 18% with 0.01 mM. In addition, García et al. (2018) reported an increase in plant height from natural elicitors in plants inoculated with *Fusarium*. This height increase was only observed for the plants treated with elicitors. Jerez-Mompié et al. (2017) also reported that the height of the potato plants had a rise in growth, and there was a strong correlation between stem number and leaf area in those treatments where QuitoMax[®] was applied twice during the crop cycle (Lemaga and Caesar 1990).

3.3 Number of leaves per plant

The numbers of leaves have shown highly significant differences in the elicitor treatment, and the highest leaves number were recorded from the treatment Activane[®] (T2). For this reason, the statistical analysis showed a significant positive effect of these elicitors on the number of leaves (Figure 4). Based on the result obtained from the number of leaves evaluated, treatment Activane[®] (T2) tends to have great potential to increase potato plant biomass. According to the results obtained by Jerez Mompié et al. (2017), the leaf surface was higher in the plants sprayed with QuitoMax, but without significant differences between treatments, although more elevated numbers of leaves were observed in treated plants with respect to the control. While the finding of Vallad and Goodman (2004) did not show any significant difference between various doses in the number of leaves per plant.

3.4 Crop Yield

3.4.1 Harvested tubers per plant

The harvested number of tubers in this investigation showed significant differences (Sig.=0.05) between the treatment Stemicol[®] (T4) and the rest, but there was no significant difference between T2, T3 and T1(Figure 5).



Figure 4 Comparison of means of the number of leaves during the four study applications



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

The Activane[®] (T2) and Micobiol[®] (T3) did not show any significant differences in the application in the total production of potato tubers with the control; however, the elicitors Stemicol[®] (T4) showed a significant difference. The results obtained by Jerez-Mompié et al. (2017) suggested that the number of tubers per plant increased compared to the control when the bio-stimulant Pectimorf[®] was applied under different environmental conditions. On the other hand, Fu et al. (2022) reported the positive effects of the elicitor Riclinoctaose (RiOc) in the induction of different responses related to the SA-mediated pathway as well as changes in root metabolism and transcription for more significant plant growth and production.

3.4.2 Tuber production (grams per plant)

The harvested tuber weight per plant showed significant differences between various treatments, and the highest tuber weight was reported in the plant treated with $\text{Stemicol}^{\textcircled{0}}(\text{T4})$ and $\text{Activane}^{\textcircled{0}}(\text{T2})$ (Figure 6).

These results from the findings of Jerez-Mompié et al. (2017) reported that the average weight of potato yield per plant of two years was higher with the application of the elicitor QuitoMax[®] in potato crop production. Other results showed a contradictory finding, where the control showed the most increased total production, implying that elicitor application affects crop production. The potato plants that received the application of AS and glucosamine were the ones with the lowest production (28.6 and 15.8 % less than the control, respectively), which may be attributed to the fact that the two elicitors promote greater allocation of resources to the defence of the plant than to the production (Burgos-Avila et al. 2021).

3.4.3 Average weight per tuber (gram)

The average weight per tuber in this investigation showed the effect of the elicitors; amongst the tested treatments, the Activane[®] (T2) treatment has the highest average weight per tuber. While the untreated plants have the lowest average tuber weight (Figure 7).



Figure 6 Effect of the elicitors application on harvested tuber weight per plant of the production during the crop cycle



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 8 Comparison of means tests for the a) enzymatic activity of polyphenol-oxidase and b) DPPH antioxidant in potato leaves (*S. tuberosum* L.) of the "Fianna" cultivar as a result of elicitation.

The results obtained by Vallad and Goodman (2004) in different salicylic acid (SA) doses in potato crops did not significantly affect tuber weights, so they can be considered favourable for field application. It has been assumed that the plant uses part of the energy in the systemic resistance, and there could be problems of decreased production due to overdosage of SA Results suggest that the elicitors Activane[®], Micobiol[®] and Stemicol[®] have the potential to increase potato tuber weight per gram in plant treated.

3.5 Enzymatic activity of polyphenol-oxidase and DPPH antioxidant activity

The evaluation of the analysis of variance showed a significant difference (p=0.000) for the enzymatic activity of polyphenoloxidase in the leaves. However, the comparison of means of the samplings indicated that treatment $\text{Stemicol}^{\textcircled{0}}$ (T4) had the highest concentration of polyphenols, and treatment T1 had the lowest concentration of polyphenols. The interaction between the treatments and the samples was insignificant (p=0.804), so the difference between the samples was similar in all the treatments (Figure 8(a).

On the other hand, the analysis of variance of DPPH antioxidant activity at 65 days showed significant differences (P=0.489) between the treatments in the leaves. However, the treatment T3 resulted in a lower amount of DPPH. The interaction between treatments and samples was insignificant (p=0.483), so the difference between samples was similar in all treatments (Figure 8b).

The polyphenol-oxidase (PPOs) in vegetables is vital for growth and resistance, and enzymatic activity showed a significant difference between the treatments, with the treatment with Stemicol® (T4) showing more significant enzymatic activity in different applications stages than the other treatments, followed by

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org the Activane® (T2), and Micobiol® (T3), while the control had less enzyme activity. Similar results obtained by Cham et al. (2021) reported an increase in PPO activity with a reduction in pathogen incidence because of elicitation in tomato production under greenhouse conditions. Rodríguez-Guzmán et al. (2019) reported an increase in polyphenol oxidase (PPO) activity because of the application of elicitor chitosan compared to the negative control. Likewise, Soliva et al. (2000) reported the ability of polyphenoloxidase to catalyze the oxidation of phenolic compounds to quinones (antimicrobial), which are toxic to pathogens. In addition, polyphenol-oxidase is also reported to play a vital role in plant cell lignification and promoting plant resistance against phytopathogens (Chen et al. 2014).

Furthermore, Mejfa-Lotero et al. (2018) evaluated the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity in *Tropaeolum tuberosum* and *Ullucus tuberosus*, where a high percentage of antioxidant activity was found in all parts of the plants (leaves, stem, and tuber), mainly in plants treated with elicitors. On the other hand, Cham et al. (2021) reported a significant difference (P \leq 0.05) between the treatments in the tomato "Saladette" Cultivar elicitors Activane[®] (T2) and Micobiol[®] (T3) with the highest of the DPPH scavenging activity in tomato fruits. In addition, Fu et al. (2022) observed an improved effect of elicitors Riclinoctaose (RiOc) on efficiency in production and allocation of defence and growth-related metabolites in potato plants.

Conclusions

The application of elicitors positively affected the number of leaves per plant, tuber production, and enzyme activities. Elicitors applied to the leaves of potato plants increased yield compared to control plants; the elicitor Stemicol® (T4) with the most significant result on the number of tubers and weight per plant at harvest while allowing a more substantial number of tubers to be

obtained. Similarly, the growth variables were favoured with the applications of these elicitors, specifically Activane[®] (T2).

Acknowledgement

I want to express my special thanks to all the personnel of the laboratories of Plant Biotechnology (Marín unit) and the Plant Tissue Culture of the FAUANL as well as my advisers who gave me the golden opportunity to do this wonderful project. Special thanks to Conacyt for the financial support and to LIDA de México, de SA de CV for the donation of the elicitors.

References

Burgos-Avila, Y.E., Álvarez-Herrera, J.G., & Pinto-Acero, Y.L. (2021). Efecto fisiológico de elicitores en el crecimiento y desarrollo de papa (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) variedad Diacol Capiro. Revista U Revista UDC.A Actualidad & Divulgación Científica, *D.C.A Actualidad & Divulgación Científica*, *24*(2): e1337.

Cham, A.K., Ojeda-Zacarías, M.C., Lozoya-Saldaña, H., Olivares Sáenz, E., Alvarado-Gómez, O.G., & Vázquez-Alvarado, R.E. (2022). Effects of Elicitors on the Growth, Productivity and Health of Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) under Greenhouse Conditions. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*, 24(5), 1129–1142.

Cham, A. K., Zacarías, M. del C. O., Saldaña, H. L., Vázquez Alvarado, R. E., Olivares Sáenz, E., Martínez-Ávila, G. C., & Alvarado Gómez, O. G. (2021). Potential elicitors on secondary metabolite production and antioxidant defence activity of two tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) Cultivars. *Italian Journal of Agronomy*, *16*(3), 1833.

Chen, J., Zou, X., Liu, Q., Wang, F., Feng, W., & Wan, N. (2014). Combination effect of chitosan and methyl jasmonate on controlling *Alternaria alternata* and enhancing activity of cherry tomato fruit defense mechanisms. *Crop Protection*, *56*, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2013.10.007.

Choudhary, D.K., Prakash, A. & Johri, B.N. (2007). Induced systemic resistance (ISR) in plants: mechanism of action. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 47, 289–297.

Contreras-Liza, S.E., Huamán-Tasa, D., & Noriega-Cordova, H.W. (2017). Efecto del ácido acetil salicílico sobre el comportamiento agronómico de la papa (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Revista Latinoamericana de la Papa*, 21(1): 15-24.

Fu, R., Meng, D., Song, B., Wang, H., Zhang, J., & Li, J. (2022). The carbohydrate elicitor Riclinoctaose facilitates defense and growth of potato roots by inducing changes in transcriptional and metabolic profiles. *Plant Science*, *322*, 111-349.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org García, Enciso, E.L., Robledo, Olivo., Benavides Mendoza, A.A., Solís Gaona, S., & González Morales, S. (2018). Efecto de elicitores de origen natural sobre plantas de tomate sometidas a estrés biótico. *Revista Mexicana de Ciencias Agrícolas, 20* (01), 4211-4221.

Garcia, J.J. & Zavala-Garcia, F. (2018). Composición florística y diversidad de la regeneración leñosa del matorral en Marín, Nuevo León. *CIENCIA UANL / AÑO*, 21, No.91.

Gasull, E., & Becerra, D. (2006). Caracterización de Polifenoloxidasa Extraída de Pera (cv. Packam's Triumph) y Manzana (cv. Red Delicious). *Información tecnológica, 17* (6), 69-74. http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0718-07642006000600012.

Giri, A., & Giri, C.C. (2022). Recent Trends in Elicitation and Secondary Metabolic Pathway Analysis in Medicinal Plants: An Integrated Transcriptomics and Proteomics Approach. In Máthé, Á., & Khan, I.A. (eds) *Medicinal and Aromatic Plants of India Vol. 1. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants of the World, vol 8.* Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-98701-5_15.

Haro, L. F. (2019) Importancia de la producción de Papa en México. Revised :https://www.elsoldemexico.com.m x/analisis/ importancia-de-la-produccion-de-papa-en-mexico-3433659.html.

INTAGRI. (2017). La Inducción de Defensa en las Plantas a través de Elicitores. Serie Fitosanidad Núm. 92. Artículos Técnicos de INTAGRI. México. 6 p.

Jerez Mompié, E., Martín, R.M. & Guevara, D.M. (2017). Evaluación del crecimiento y composición por tamaño de tubérculos de plantas de papa para semilla. *Cultivos Tropicales*, *38* (4), 102-110.

Larqué-Saavedra, A., Martín-Mex, R., Nexticapan-Garcéz, A., Vergara-Yoisura, S., & Gutiérrez-Rendón, M. (2010). Efecto del ácido salicílico en el crecimiento de plántulas de Tomate (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.). *Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura*, 16(3),183-187.

Lemaga, B., & Caesar, K. (1990). Relationships between numbers of main stems and yield components of potato (Solanum tuberosum L. cv. Erntestolz) as influenced by different daylengths. *Potato Research*, *33*, 257-267..

Mandal, S., Kar, I., Mukherjee, A. K., & Acharya, P. (2013). Elicitor-induced defense responses in *Solanum lycopersicum* against *Ralstonia solanacearum. The Scientific World Journal*, 2013, 561056. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/561056

Mandal, S., Mallick, N., & Mitra, A. (2009). Salicylic acid-induced resistance to *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. lycopersici in tomato. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, *47*(7), 642-649.

Mejía-Lotero, F.M., Salcedo-Gil, J.E., Vargas-Londoño, S., Serna Jiménez, J.A., & Torres-Valenzuela, L.S. (2018). Antimicrobial and antioxidant capacity of andean tubers (*Tropaeolum tuberosum* Y Ullucus tuberosus). Revista UDC.A Actualidad & Divulgación Científica, 21(2): 449456. https://doi.org/10.31910/rudca.v21.n2.2018.1083.

Moreno-Escamilla, J.O, Jimeńez-Hernández, F.E, Alvarez-Parrilla, E, De la Rosa, LA., Martínez-Ruiz, N., González-Fernández, R., Orozco-Lucero, E., González-Aguilar, GA., García-Fajardo, JA., & Rodrigo-García, J. (2020). Effect of elicitation on polyphenol and carotenoid metabolism in Butterhead Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* var. capitata). *ACS Omega*, 5(20), 11535–11546

Nasir, M. N., Polo, L. D., Luzuriaga, L. W., Deleu, M., Lins, L., Ongena, M., & Fauconnier, M. L. (2014). New alternatives to chemical pesticides: deciphering the action mechanisms of lipidbased plant elicitors via complementary biophysical and biological approaches. In *19th National Symposium on Applied Biological Sciences. Gembloux, Bélgica* retrived from https://orbi.uliege.be/ handle/2268/165417.

Niks, R.E., Parlevliet, J.E., Lindhout, P., & Bai, Y. (2021). *Mejora genética de cultivos para la resistencia a plagas y enfermedades*. Wageningen Academic Publishers. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-914-5.

Ramírez, R.J. & Aceves, M.A. (2014). *Enzimas: aceleradores de reacciones químicas en las células y en la industria, Vol.15, No.12*. Revista Digital Universitaria ISSN: 1607 – 6079.

Rodríguez-Guzmán, C.A., González-Estrada, R.R., Bautista-Baños, Y., & Gutiérrez Martíne, P. (2019). Efecto del quitosano en el control de Alternaria sp. En plantas de jitomate en invernadero. *TIP Revista Especializada en Ciencias Químico-Biológicas*, *22*, 1-7, DOI: 10.22201/fesz.23958723e.

Serrano-Cervantes, R., Lozoya-Saldaña, H., María-Teresa, B. C. & León, S., Leyva-Mir, G. (2016). Algunas alteraciones enzimáticas en papa causadas por fungicidas. *Revista fitotecnia Mexicana, 39* (1), 25-31.

SIAP (Servicio de Información Agroalimentaria y Pesquera). (2022). Retrived from http://www.siap.gob.mx/cierre-de-laproduccion-agricola-por-estado/

Soliva, R. C., Elez, P., Sebastián, M., & Martín, O. (2000). evaluation of browning effect on avocado purée preserved by combined methods. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 1, 261–268.

Vallad, G.E. & Goodman, R.M. (2004). Systemic Acquired Resistance and Induced Systemic Resistance in Conventional Agriculture. *Crop Science Society of America*, *44*, 1920–1934.




Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Impact of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Bacillus subtilis*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Escherichia coli* Oral Infusions on Cognitive Memory Decline in Mild Cognitive Impairment

Murugan Mukilan^{1,#*}

¹Post-Doctoral Fellow, Advanced Technology Development Centre, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur 721 302, West Bengal, India [#]Assistant Professor, Department of Biotechnology, Sri Ramakrishna College of Arts & Science, Coimbatore 641 006, Tamil Nadu, India

Received – March 07, 2023; Revision – May 29, 2023; Accepted – June 07, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).581.592

KEYWORDS

Learning

Memory

Bacillus subtilis

Staphylococcus aureus

Escherichia coli

Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Cognitive decline

ABSTRACT

Synaptic plasticity is a result of changes in the neuronal circuits which may result in the formation of protein-dependent (long-term memory (LTM) formation) and protein-independent (short-term memory (STM) formation) memories. This STM formation is based on existing proteins, but LTM formation depends on RNA and protein synthesis within the neuronal cells. This RNA and protein synthesis may depend on stimulus exposure like odour, taste, and other environmental stimuli. The present study is aimed to show the impact of oral bacterial infusions on cognitive memory formation through pre and post-infusive behavioural analysis. The results of the study revealed that oral infusions of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Bacillus subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli result in impaired cognitive learning and memory formation. This impaired cognitive memory formation is shown with the help of two-step (pre and post-infusive) behavioural analysis. Pre-infusive behavioural study shows no decline in cognitive learning and memory formation before oral microbial infusions in a serene habituated environment. After oral microbial infusions, a post-infusive behavioural analysis may reveal a memory decline in the treated group. Comparative two-step behavioural analysis indicates that P. aeruginosa infusions strongly impact cognitive memory decline compared to the other three groups. This cognitive memory decline may happen due to the production of primary/secondary metabolites within the animal gut and their transportation to the CNS through the blood-brain barrier. The outcome of the present study states that poor oral hygiene plays a significant role in cognitive memory decline concerning mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

* Corresponding author

E-mail: mukilan@srcas.ac.in (Murugan Mukilan)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

In brain cognition, long-term memory (LTM) formation plays a pivotal role in the survival of any organism (Kandel 2001; Bisaz et al. 2014). This LTM is formed by continuous exposure to any environmental and physiological stimulus for a limited/unlimited period. LTM formation is based on the RNA-dependent protein synthesis mechanism and is initiated by releasing neurotransmitters from the presynaptic neuron into the synaptic cleft. Released neurotransmitters may bind with their respective receptors present on the surface of postsynaptic neurons at the synaptic cleft (Davis and Squire 1984; Schafe and LeDoux 2000; Jones et al. 2001; Scharf et al. 2002; Abraham and Robins 2005; Igaz et al. 2006; Fonseca et al. 2006; Abraham and Williams 2008; Alberini 2008; Alberini 2009; Smart and Paoletti 2012; Evans et al. 2021; Lin et al. 2021). As a result of binding of neurotransmitters with the specific postsynaptic membrane receptors may result in the upregulation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). Increased level of cAMP further activates several downstream molecules like protein kinase A (PKA), enzyme-regulated kinase - 1/2 (ERK- 1/2), cAMP response element binding protein - 1 (CREB-1), Immediate early genes (IEG's), and postsynaptic density (PSD) proteins (Jones et al. 2001; Mohamed et al. 2005; Abraham and Williams 2008; Ganesh et al. 2010; Besnard et al. 2011; Ganesh et al. 2012; Philips et al. 2013; Nelson et al. 2013; Miyashita et al. 2018; Mukilan et al. 2018a, 2018b; Wang et al. 2019; Sharma and Singh 2020; Mukilan 2022). The Collective expression of these molecules will result in the formation of LTM in a stress-free environment (Ganesh et al. 2010; Besnard et al. 2011; Ganesh et al. 2012; Nelson et al. 2013; Miyashita et al. 2018; Mukilan et al. 2018a, 2018b; Wang et al. 2019; Sharma and Singh 2020; Karen et al. 2021; Mukilan 2022).

Recent reports show that gut microbiota (GM) is essential for the synthesis of brain precursor neurotransmitter components, which will affect the synthesis and concentration of related neurotransmitter production in the brain (Gao et al. 2018; Ticinesi et al. 2018; Gao et al. 2019; Jameson et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021; Dicks 2022). It is also reported that intestinal precursor neurotransmitter transportation pathways are involved either directly or indirectly with the cognitive functions of the brain (Ticinesi et al. 2018; Caspani and Swann 2019; Jameson et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021; Dicks 2022). Neurotransmitters like serotonin (5-HT), dopamine (DA), and norepinephrine (NE) are converted from amino acid precursors, and it is released from presynaptic neuron into the synaptic cleft and binds with postsynaptic neuronal receptors (Yano et al. 2015; Agus et al. 2018; Luqman et al. 2018; Strandwitz 2018; van de Wouw et al. 2018; Sadagat et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2021; Dicks 2022). One of the precursor molecules, short-chain fatty acids (SCFA), regulates this process.

These SCFA molecules act as a crucial molecules for the signal transport between gut microorganisms and the brain (Franco-Robles and López 2015; van de Wouw et al. 2018; Heyck and Ibarra 2019; Hu et al. 2020; Markowiak-Kopeć and Ślízewska 2020; Verhaar et al. 2022; Neto et al. 2023). Recent studies showed gut microorganisms have an impact on the gut-brain axis (GBA) through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Murciano-Brea et al. 2021; Rosin et al. 2021). Some of the gut bacterial species may also regulate neurotransmitters like 5-HT, DA, noradrenaline (NA), and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) (Chen et al. 2017; Wong et al. 2018; O'Donnell et al. 2020).

In a normal/non-infected state, synthesized precursor neurochemical substances are transported from the enteric nervous system (ENS) to the central nervous system (CNS) through the vagus nerve for the synthesis of neurotransmitters in the brain (Cryan and Dinan 2012; Bauer et al. 2016; Baj et al. 2019; Giuffré et al. 2020; Orr et al. 2020; Sadaqat et al. 2021). Any imbalance in GM may result in impaired neurochemical signal transmission to the CNS and further results in the altered expression of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) receptor subunits in the hippocampus, which may lead to impaired cognition (Ganesh et al. 2010; Zhang and Stackman Jr 2015; Mukilan et al. 2018a: Bo et al. 2020: Liu et al. 2021: Roux et al. 2021: Li et al. 2022). The present study has made an initial attempt to show the impact of P. aeruginosa, B. subtilis, S. aureus, and E. coli oral infusions in cognitive memory formation with the help of rewardbased learning based on pre and post-infusive training strategies in the naïve goldfish Carassius auratus.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Experimental Animals and Apparatus

Naïve goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) with a body length of 6.5 - 8 cm and 6 - 15 g weight were purchased from a local aquarium. Purchased fish were housed in rectangular tanks (serving as a home tank) having a length of 42 inches, breadth of 30 inches, and height of 21 inches. Fish were housed in groups of 8 (n = 8/group) at the home tank with sufficient continuous aeration at a standard temperature of $28 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and 12 hours of light and dark cycle for maintaining a regular circadian rhythm. Commercially available round food pellets were purchased from the local market and used as a food source for the experimental fish. Fish were given enough food pellets twice daily to maintain their energy budget (6 g/fish). The home tank was minimized to debris free environment by cleaning and replacing the water available in the home tank on alternative days. Experimental protocols followed as per the institutional ethical guidelines of Sri Ramakrishna Institutions, Coimbatore.

2.2 Experimental Apparatus

An experimental glass tank of 42 X 30 X 21 inches was selected for the *C. auratus* experiment. The experimental glass tank was

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

divided into three compartments: one central chamber (CC) and two feeding chambers (one on the right side of CC and another on the left side). The central chamber was 30 X 30 X 21 inches and the feeding chamber (FC) was 6 X 30 X 21 inches.

2.3 Oral Infusion Mixture Preparation and its Infusion

All four isolates *P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, *E. coli* were availed from PSG Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Coimbatore. All microorganisms were streaked on nutrient agar for their pure isolation. After confirming purity, colonies were selected from quadrant-streaked plates overnight in four 5 ml nutrient broth test tubes. The grown overnight culture was used to prepare an infusion mixture with saline/PBS for the oral route infusions in the *C. auratus* experimental groups. The formulated infused blend was orally infused into the experimental animal with 500 ml as a single dose. After infusions, experimental animals were maintained in a separate tank for their recovery and habituation for 24 hrs.

2.4 Behavioural Study

Behavioural analysis was carried out for all formulated five groups of experimental animals, i.e. Control (CON), *P. aeruginosa* infused group (T_1), *B. subtilis* infused group (T_2), *S. aureus* infused group (T_3), and *E. coli* infused group (T_4) through pre and post infusive behavioural studies.

2.4.1 Pre-infusive Behavioural studies

To examine the role of *P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus* and *E. coli* infusions on cognitive learning and memory formation, uninfused animal groups (n = 8/group) underwent behavioural analysis through exploration, learning and memory behavioural paradigms. Pre-infusive studies showed the normal behavioural responses of experimental groups in a habituated/ stress-free environment concerning positive/negative reward mechanisms.

2.4.1.1 Exploration

After habituation, animals were allowed to explore the experimental setup for three days to avoid stress during behavioural analysis.

2.4.1.2 Training

Animals were trained in an experimental setup with two feeding chambers. In each feeding chamber, one blue and red colored light was placed. The blue-light chamber acted as a positive reward place with a food pellet, and the red-light chamber acted as a negative reward place without a food pellet. Animals were introduced in the centre chamber at 0 minutes of the training phase. Further, animal movements were watched to know the time to reach the feeding chambers after introduction in the central chamber to know the learning state of each group. The positive reward was confirmed by the intake of food pellets by the animal.

2.4.1.3 Testing

Testing was done after three days of training, and this interval time was given to all experimental groups after pre and post-infusive training for proper memory consolidation in the brain. Both preinfused and post-infused animal groups were tested for retrieving learned information through the reward mechanism used during the training paradigm.

2.4.2 Post-infusive Behavioural studies

After 24 hrs of infusions, the animal groups were trained to the positive/negative reward mechanism. Different experimental groups were tested for the retrieval of memory formation after 72 hrs of training in the experimental setup.

2.5 Data analysis

Behavioural scores of all experimental groups (exploration, training and testing) are plotted with KyPlot (version 1.0) for graphical representation.

3 Results

3.1 Effect of pre-infusive behavioural studies on cognitive memory formation

3.1.1 Exploration

Exploration data showed that, initially, all groups of animals spent more time in the CC during the exploration period of three days. On Day 1, animals spent more time in the central chamber due to the new environment/stress while the group 2 and 3 spent less time in either feeding chamber, but group 1 still needs to be exposed to the FC. Later on days 2 & 3, the time spent on CC is reduced, and a visit to both feeding chambers is increased due to the increased exploration skills acquired by the animal in the CC. These exploratory behavioural scores were plotted as a graph (Figure 1).

3.1.2 Training

Followed by the exploration studies, training was carried out for all experimental groups with the help of positive/negative reward mechanisms through red/blue visual cues. The training was given between days 4 - 6. During the period of training, animals came to know about food rewards-based learning by their entry into both of the feeding chambers. From their exploratory behaviour, animals learned about their visit to FC with blue color light having a reward and FC with red color light not having a reward. The behavioural scores of training showed that group 3 animals had more visits to the right chamber than groups 2 and 1 (Figure 2).





Figure 1 Exploration phase of pre-infusive analysis showed that animals were active and explored all the regions of the experimental setup in a stress-free manner



Figure 2 The Training phase of pre-infusive analysis showed that animals learned the task on subsequent experimental days (Days 4 – 6). The number of attempts was increased from the first day of training till the third day. Time spent in the central, right, and left chamber is given in the bar diagram, which shows an increased response in reward-based learning, and experimental animals learned about reward-based colour cues.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Mukilan



Figure 3 The testing phase of pre-infusive analysis showed that animals learned about the task and retrieved the learned information. The number of correct choices was high compared number of wrong choices.



Figure 4 Representative photographs showing the quality of pure culture used in the study. All four microorganisms *P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, and *E. coli* were grown in the nutrient agar medium to check the purity of the culture with the help of the quadrant streaking method.

3.1.3 Testing

After three days of intervals, memory was tested for the three groups between days 10 - 12, with the same experimental setup having red and blue visual cues. Behavioural scores showed that memory retrieval was responsible for making the correct choice. Blotted behavioural scores showed that all trained individuals have an increased number of correct and fewer incorrect visits. It showed that stored information was retrieved from the brain during training. The behavioural scores of testing's showed that there was a greater number of correct responses in all the groups.

It was also reported that group - 1 retrieved stored information efficiently through neuronal plasticity development to groups 2 and 3 (Figure 3).

3.2 Impact of oral infusions on cognitive memory formation

Pure culture of all four microorganisms (*P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus* and *E. coli*) were grown overnight in 5 ml of nutrient broth and mixed with saline/PBS in an appropriate ratio, and these were infused into the oral passage of the animal with an oral gauge (Figure 4). After oral infusions, animals were given three days

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

(Days 13 - 15) for proper movement of infusion towards the gut of the experimental animals. From Day 16, post-infusive behavioural analysis was done with the help of training and retention behavioural scores. setup to understand whether infusions impact cognitive memory formation. During post-infusive behavioural training, there was an enhanced impact on correct decision-making in all experimental groups between 16 - 19 days. After training, testing was done at three different time intervals (Days 23 - 26). Observed behavioural scores showed a gradual decrease in making correct decisions (Figure -5 a, b). After 17 days of oral infusion, post-infusion analysis

To understand the impact of infusions on cognitive memory formation, infused animal groups were trained in the experimental



Figure 5 Post-infusive analysis showed that oral infusions did not impair its homeostasis mechanism. Scores of the training phase (5 a) provoked no hindrance in the learning abilities compared to the testing phase (5 b).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org was done again to check whether these microorganisms have a more prolonged impact on cognitive memory formation. Surprisingly, obtained results showed that there might be a recovery in the testing phase, which offers a gradual increase in memory formation after pre-infusive analysis (Figure 6 a, b). Obtained results strongly concluded that cognitive decline might happen due to the infused microorganisms' production of primary or secondary metabolite for a limited time in the experimental groups. This study reports that increased *P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, and *E. coli* in the gut impact brain cognition.



Figure 6 Post-infusive analysis showed that oral infusions do not have a prolonged impact on memory formation. Scores of the training phase (Fig. 6 a) proved that microbial colonization does not impact cognitive learning and memory formation. Obtained scores state that *P. aeruginosa, B. subtilis, S. aureus*, and *E. coli* oral infusions may impact cognitive memory formation for a short period.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

4 Discussion

In brain cognition, oral hygiene, and the GBA will play a major role in the formation of LTM through the enteric nervous system (ENS) by its interconnection (Ribeiro et al. 2012; Martande et al. 2014; Shoemark and Allens 2015; Orr et al. 2020; Sadaqat et al. 2021). The ENS transports gut-secreted precursor chemical components to the central nervous system (CNS) for the synthesis of neurotransmitters like 5-HT, DA, NE, etc. (Strandwitz 2018; van de Wouw et al. 2018; Agus et al. 2018; Sadaqat et al. 2021; Dicks 2022). Synthesized neurotransmitters are released into the synaptic cleft by the presynaptic neuron, and it binds to the specific receptors of the postsynaptic neuron and resulting in the activation of molecules like adenyl cyclase (AC), extracellular regulated kinase-1/2 (ERK-1/2), protein kinase A (PKA), cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), immediate early gene (IEG) cascade and postsynaptic density proteins (PSD). Apart from these molecules, some microRNAs (miR) like miR-132/148a may also critically regulate LTM formation through the activation of downstream molecules (Ganesh et al. 2010; Ganesh et al. 2012; Mukilan et al. 2018a, 2018b; Mukilan 2022). These signalling molecules will be expressed in a required balanced state during stimulus exposure in the development of LTM through extracellular regulated kinase neuronal signalling pathway (ERK-NSP) (Ganesh et al. 2010; Ganesh et al. 2012; Mukilan et al. 2018a, 2018b; Rajan 2021; Mukilan 2022). Formed LTM may be affected by environmental pollution, lifestyle, microbial colonization, pathogenic infection, etc (Byzitter et al. 2012; Zhang et al., 2020; Vinay et al. 2021; Da et al. 2023).

Recently, it was reported that pathogenic bacterial infections might contribute to neurodegenerative disorders, and these reports showed that there is an interlink between oral/gut dysbiosis and cognitive decline (Balin et al. 1998; Gérard et al. 2006; Lahner et al. 2009; Huang et al. 2018; McGee et al. 2018; Lotz et al. 2021; Gao et al. 2020; Orr et al. 2020; Da et al. 2023). Other than gut dysbiosis, increased pathogenic bacterial infections in the oral cavity may also lead to reduced cognitive memory formation in neurodegenerative disorders like AD, PD, and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (Balin et al. 1998; Gérard et al. 2006; Lahner et al. 2009; Jahn 2013; Huang et al. 2018; McGee et al. 2018; Lotz et al. 2021; Ryder 2022; Da et al. 2023). Compared to PD, and MCI, decreased learning and memory formation were more prevalent in AD patients. This may happen due to high colonization of Porphyromonas gingivalis and other periodontitic bacteria in the oral cavity (Murman 2015; Dominy et al. 2019; Olsen 2021; Seymour and Zhang 2022; Cammann et al. 2023; Liu et al. 2023). Increased P. gingivalis further travelled from the oral cavity to the gut, resulting in gut dysbiosis. As a result of gut dysbiosis, a reduced amount of neurotransmitter precursor chemical components were

Conclusion

The present study showed the impact of P. aeruginosa, B. subtilis, S. aureus, and E. coli oral infusions on cognitive memory formation. The study's outcome proved that poor oral hygiene caused by microbial colonization plays a significant role in cognitive memory decline in MCI. Experimental results demonstrated that proper oral hygiene is important in cognitive memory development, supported by the pre-infusive analysis. Compared to the pre-infusive analysis, the post-infusive analysis showed that oral microbial infections result in cognitive memory decline. From the post-infusive analysis, it is validated that poor oral hygiene results in cognitive memory impairment. This impaired cognitive memory may develop due to the transport of microbial primary or secondary metabolites from the gut to the brain through the blood-brain barrier. Thus, the current research finding stated the impact of oral and gut dysbiosis was pivotal for cognitive memory decline in MCI.

Acknowledgements

Author thanks the reviewers for the revision comments and suggestions for improving the manuscript. MM sincerely thank the Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India, for the Institutional Post-Doctoral Fellowship. This research work is also supported by the SEED MONEY grant sanctioned to MM by the Sri Ramakrishna College of Arts & Science (SRCAS), Coimbatore. Department of Biotechnology, Sri Ramakrishna College of Arts & Science (SRCAS), Coimbatore was supported by the DST-FIST PG College Level – A Program (SR/FST/COLLEGE-/2022/1203).

Author Contributions

MM contributed to developing the research idea and its design, prosecution, manuscript preparation, and manuscript revision. The author agrees with the data presented in this research manuscript.

transported from ENS to CNS (Dominy et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2021; Narengaowa et al. 2021; Cammann et al. 2023). Transported precursor components were responsible for synthesizing and releasing fewer neurotransmitters in the synaptic cleft. Later on, decreased amount of neurotransmitter released results in reduced expression of neuronal signalling molecules involved in LTM formation (Ganesh et al. 2012; Mukilan et al. 2018a, 2018b; Rajan 2021; Vinay et al. 2021; Mukilan 2022). For the first time, it was shown that other than periodontic microorganisms, *P. aeruginosa*, *B. subtilis*, *S. aureus*, and *E. coli* may also involve in the formation of impaired cognitive memory. Future studies may address the role of specific microbial components responsible for short-term memory decline in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

Conflicts of Interest

The author declares no conflict of interest to express.

References

Abraham, W.C., & Robins, A. (2005). Memory retention – the synaptic stability versus plasticity dilemma. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 28, 73-78.

Abraham, W.C., & Williams, J.M., (2008). LTP maintenance and its protein synthesis-dependence. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89, 260-268.

Agus, A., Planchais, J., & Sokol, H. (2018). Gut Microbiota Regulation of Tryptophan Metabolism in Health and Disease. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *23*, 716-724.

Alberini, C.M. (2008). The role of protein synthesis during the labile phases of memory: Revisitig the skepticism. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 89, 234 – 246.

Alberini, C.M. (2009). Transcription factors in long-term memory and synaptic plasticity. *Physiological Reviews*, 89, 121-145.

Baj, A., Moro, E., Bistoletti, M., Orlandi, V., et al. (2019). Glutamatergic Signaling Along The Microbiota-Gut-Brain-Axis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20, 1482.

Balin, B.J., Gérard, H.C., Arking, E.J., Appelt, D.M., et al. (1998). Identification and localization of *Chlamydia pneumoniae* in the Alzheimer's brain. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology 187*, 23-42.

Bauer, K.C., Huus, K.E., & Finlay, B.B. (2016). Microbes and the mind: emerging hallmarks of the gut microbiota-brain axis. *Cellular microbiology*, *18*, 632 – 644.

Besnard, A., Galan-Rodriguez, B., Vanhoutte, P., & Caboche, J. (2011). Elk-1a transcription factor with multiple facets in the brain. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *5*, 35.

Bisaz, R., Travaglia, A., & Alberini, C.M. (2014). The neurobiological bases of memory formation: from physiological conditions to psychopathology. *Psychopathology*, *47*, 347-356.

Bo, T.B., Zhang, X.Y., Kohl, K.D., Wen, J., et al. (2020). Coprophagy prevention alters microbiome, metabolism, neurochemistry, and cognitive behavior in a small mammal. *ISME Journal*, *14*, 2625-2645.

Byzitter, J., Lukowiak, K., Karnik, V., & Dalesman, S. (2012). Acute combined exposure to heavy metals (Zn, Cd) blocks memory formation in a freshwater snail. *Ecotoxicology*, *21*, 860-868.

Caspani, G., & Swann, J. (2019). Microbial metabolites involved in the signalling from microbiota to brain. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 48, 99-106.

Chen, D., Yang, X., Yang, J., Lai, G., et al. (2017). Prebiotic effect of fructooligosaccharides from *Morinda officinalis* on alzheimer's disease inrodent models by targeting the microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *9*, 403.

Chen, Y., Xu, J., & Chen, Y. (2021). Regulation of Neurotransmitters by the Gut Microbiota and Effects on Cognition in Neurological Disorders. *Nutrients*, *13*, 2099.

Cryan, J.F., & Dinan, T.G., (2012). Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*, 701-712.

Da, D., Zhao, Q., Zhang, H., Wu, W., et al. (2023). Oral microbiome in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Oral Microbiology*, *15*, 2173544.

Davis, H.P., & Squire, L.R. (1984). Protein synthesis and memory: A review. *Psychological bulletin*, *96*, 518-559.

Dicks, L.M. (2022). Gut Bacteria and Neurotransmitters. *Microorganisms*, 10, 1838.

Dominy, S.D., Lynch, C., Ermini, F., Benedyk, M., et al. (2019). *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in Alzheimer's disease brains: Evidence for disease causation and treatment with small-molecule inhibitors. *Science Advances, 5*, eaau3333.

Evans, H.T., Blackmore, D., Götz, J., & Bodea, L. (2021). *De novo* proteomic methods for examining the molecular mechanisms underpinning long-term memory. *Brain Research Bulletin, 169,* 94-103.

Fonseca, R., Vabulas, R.M., Hartl, F.U., Bonhoeffer, T., et al. (2006). A Balance of Protein Synthesis and Proteasome-Dependent Degradation Determines the Maintenance of LTP. *Neuron*, *52*, 239-245.

Franco-Robles, E., & López, M. (2015). Implication of fructans in health: Immunomodulatory and antioxidant mechanisms. *Scientific World Journal*, 2015, 289267.

Ganesh, A., Bogdanowicz, W., Balamurugan, K., Varman, D.R., & Rajan, K.E. (2012). Egr-1 antisense oligodeoxynucleotide administration into the olfactory bulb impairs olfactory learning in

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

the greater short-nosed fruit bat *Cynopterus sphinx*. Brain Research, 1471, 33-45.

Ganesh, A., Bogdanowicz, W., Haupt, M., Marimuthu, G., & Rajan, K.E. (2010). Role of olfactory bulb serotonin in olfactory learning in the greater short-nosed fruit bat *Cynopterus sphinx*. *Brain Research*, *1352*, 108-117.

Gao, K., Pi, Y., Mu, C.L., Farzi, A., et al. (2019). Increasing carbohydrate availability in the hindgut promotes hypothalamic neurotransmitter synthesis: Aromatic amino acids linking the microbiota-brain axis. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *149*, 641–659.

Gao, K., Pi, Y., Mu, C.L., Peng, Y., et al. (2018). Antibioticsinduced modulation of large intestinal microbiota altered aromatic amino acid profile and expression of neurotransmitters in the hypothalamus of piglets. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *146*, 219-234.

Gao, S.S., Chu, C.H., & Young, F.Y.F. (2020). Oral Health and Care for Elderly People with Alzheimer's Disease. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*, 5713.

Gérard, H.C., Dreses-Werringloer, U., Wildt, K.S., Deka, S., et al. (2006). Chlamydophila (Chlamydia) pneumoniae in the Alzheimer's brain. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology, 48*, 355-366.

Giuffré, M., Moretti, R., Campisciano, G., da Silveria, M., et al. (2020). You Talking to Me? Says the Enteric Nervous System (ENS) to the Microbe. How Intestinal Microbes Interact with the ENS. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *9*, 3705.

Heyck, M., & Ibarra, A., (2019). Microbiota and memory: a symbiotic therapy to counter cognitive decline? *Brain Circulation*, *5*, 124-129.

Hu, L., Zhu, S., Peng, X., Li, K., et al. (2020). High Salt Elicits Brain Inflammation and Cognitive Dysfunction, Accompanied by Alternations in the Gut Microbiota and Decreased SCFA production. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *77*, 629-640.

Huang, H.K., Wang, J.H., Lei, W.Y., Chen, C.L., et al. (2018). Helicobacter pylori infection is associated with an increased risk of Parkinson's disease: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, *47*, 26-31.

Igaz, L.M., Winograd, M., Cammarota, M., Izquierdo, L.A., et al. (2006). Early activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling pathway in the hippocampus is required for short-term memory formation of a fear-motivated learning. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, *26*, 989-1002.

Jahn, H. (2013). Memory loss in Alzheimer's disease. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *15*, 445 – 454.

Jameson, K.G., Olson, C.A., Kazmi, S.A., & Hsiao, E.Y. (2020). Toward Understanding Microbiome-Neuronal Signaling. *Molecular Cell*, 78, 577-583.

Jones, M.W., Errington, M.L., French, P.J., Bliss, T.V., et al. (2001). A requirement for the immediate early gene Zif268 in the expression of late LTP and long-term memories. *Nature Neuroscience*, *4*, 289 – 296.

Kandel, E.R. (2001). The molecular biology of memory storage: A dialogue between genes and synapses. *Science*, *294*, 1030-1038.

Karen, C., Shyu, D.J.H., & Rajan, K.E. (2021). *Lactobacillus paracasei* Supplementation Prevents Early Life Stress-Induced Anxiety and Depressive-Like Behavior in Maternal Separation Model-Possible Involvement of Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis in Differential Regulation of MicroRNA124a/132 and Glutamate Receptors. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *15*, 719933.

Lahner, E., Annibale, B., & DelleFave, G. (2009). Systematic review: *Helicobacter pylori* infection and impaired drug absorption. *Alimentary pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *29*, *379-386*.

Li, H., Wang, P., Zhou, Y., Zhao, F., et al. (2022). Correlation between intestinal microbiotal imbalance and 5-HT metabolism, immune inflammation in chronic unpredictable mild stress male rats. *Genes, Brain and Behavior, 21*, e12806.

Lin, H., Chen, C., de Belle, J.S., Tully, T., & Chiang, A. (2021). CREB A and CREB B in two identified neurons gate long-term memory formation in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118, e2100624118.

Liu, N., Sun, S., Wang, P., Sun, Y., et al. (2021). The mechanism of Secretion and Metabolism of Gut-Derived 5-Hydroxytryptamine. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 7931.

Liu, S., Butler, C.A., Ayton, S., Reynolds, E.C., et al. (2023). *Porphyromonas gingivalis* and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Critical Reveiws in Microbiology*, *4*, 1-11.

Lotz, S.K., Blackhurst, B.M., Reagin, K.L., & Funk, K.E. (2021). Microbial Infections Are a Risk Factor for Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *15*, 691136.

Luqman, A., Nega, M., Nguyen, M.T., Ebner, P., et al. (2018). SadA-Expressing *Staphylococci* in the Human Gut Show Increased Cell Adherence and Internalization. *Cell Reports*, *22*, 535-545.

Markowiak-Kopeć, P., & Slizewska, K. (2020). The Effect of Probiotics on the Production of Short-Chain Fatty Acids by Human Internal Microbiome. *Nutrients*, *12*, 1107.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

591

Martande, S.S., Pradeep, A.R., Singh, S.P., Kumari, M., et al. (2014). Periodontal health condition in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementias*, 29, 498-502.

McGee, D.J, Lu, X.H., & Disbrow, E.A. (2018). Stomaching the possibility of a pathogenic role for *Helicobacter pylori* in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease*, *8*, 367-374.

Miyashita, T., Kikuchi, E., Horiuchi, J., & Saitoe, M. (2018). Long-Term Memory Engram Cells Are Established b c-Fos/CREB Transcriptional Cycling. *Cell Reports*, *25*, 2716-2728.

Mohamed, H.A., Yao, W., Fioravante, D., Smolen, P.D., et al. (2005). cAMP-response Elements in *Aplysia creb 1, creb2*, and *Ap-uch* Promoters: IMPLICATIONS FOR FEEDBACK LOOPS MODULATING LONG TERM MEMORY. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *29*, 27035-27043.

Mukilan, M. (2022). Effect of probiotics, Prebiotics and Synbiotic Supplementation on Cognitive Impairment: A Review. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences, 10,* 1-11.

Mukilan, M., Bogdanowicz, W., Marimuthu, G., & Rajan, K.E. (2018a). Odour discrimination learning in the Indian greater shortnosed fruit bat (*Cynopterus sphinx*): differential expression of Egr-1, C-fos and PP-1 in the olfactory bulb, amygdala and hippocampus. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 221, jeb175364.

Mukilan, M., Rajathei, D.M., Jeyaraj, E., Kayalvizhi, N., & Rajan, K.E., (2018b). MiR-132 regulated olfactory bulb proteins linked to olfactory learning in greater short-nosed fruit bat *Cynopterus sphinx. Gene*, *671*, 10-20.

Murciano-Brea, J., Garcia-Montes, M., Geuna, S., Herrera-Rincon, C. (2021). Gut Microbiota and Neuroplasticity. *Cells, 10*, 2084.

Murman, D.L. (2015). The impact of Age on Cognition (2015). *Seminars in Hearing*, *36*, 111-121.

Narengaowa, Kong, W., Lan, F., Awan, U.F., Qing, H., et al. (2021). The Oral-Gut-Brain AXIS: The Influence of Microbes in Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *15*, 633735.

Nelson, C.D., Kim, M.J., Hsin, H., Chen, Y., et al. (2013). Phosphorylation of threonine-19 of PSD-95 by GSK-3β is required for PSD-95 mobilization and long-term depression. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*, 12122-12135.

Neto, J., Jantsch, J., Rodrigues, F., Squizani, S., et al. (2023). Impact of cafeteria diet and n3 supplementation on the intestinal microbiota, fatty acids levels, neuroinflammatory markers and social memory in male rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 260, 114068.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org O'Donnell, M.P., Fox, B.W., Chao, P., Schroedr, F.C., et al. (2020). A neurotransmitter produced by gut bacteria modulates host sensory behaviour. *Nature*, *583*, 415-420.

Olsen, I. (2021) *Porphyromonas gingivalis*-Induced Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *15*, 691016.

Orr, M.E., Reveles, K.R., Yeh, C., Young, E.H., et al. (2020). Can oral health and oral-derived biospecimens predict progression of dementia? *Oral Diseases, 26,* 249-258.

Philips, G.T., Ye, X., Kopec, A.M., & Carew, T.J. (2013). MAPK establishes a molecular context that defines effective training patterns for long-term memory formation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*, 7565-7573.

Rajan, K.E. (2021). Olfactory learning and memory in the greater short-nosed fruit bat Cynopterus sphinx: the influence of conspecifics distress calls. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 207, 667-679.

Ribeiro, G.R., Costa, J.L., Ambrosano, G.M., & Garcia, R.C. (2012). Oral health of elderly with Alzheimer's disease. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology and Oral Radiology, 114,* 338-343.

Rosin, S., Xia, K., Andrea Azcarate-Peril, M., Carlson, A.L., et al. (2021). A preliminary study of Gut Microbiome Variation and HPA Axis Reactivity in Healthy Infants. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *124*, 105046.

Roux, C.M., Leger, M., & Freret, T. (2021). Memory Disorders Related to Hippocampal Function: The interest of 5-HT₄ Rs Targeting. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *22*, 12082.

Ryder, M.I. (2022). The Link Between Periodontitis and Alzheimer's Disease: Reality or Yet Another Association. *Current Oral Health Reports*, *9*, 157–166.

Sadaqat, Z., Kaushik, S., & Kain, P. (2021). Gut Feeding the Brain: Drosophila Gut an Animal Model for Medicine to Understand Mechanisms Mediating Food Preferences. *Preclinical Animal Modeling in Medicine*, Intech Open doi: 10.5772/intechopen.96503.

Schafe, G.E., & LeDoux, J.E. (2000) Memory consolidation of auditory pavlovian fear conditioning requires protein synthesis and protein kinase A in the amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *20*, RC96.

Scharf, M.T., Woo, N.H., Lattal, K.M., Young, J.Z., Nguyen, P.V., & Abel, T. (2002). Protein synthesis is required for the

Impact of Bacterial Oral Infusions on Cognitive Memory Decline in Mild Cognitive Impairment

enhancement of long-term potentiation and long-term memory by space training. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 87, 2770-2777.

Seymour, T., & Zhang, J. (2022). *Porphyromonas Gingivalis* in the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease and Its Therapeutic Target. *Journal of Exploratory Research in Pharmacology*, *7*, 45-53.

Sharma, V.K., & Singh, T.G. (2020). CREB: A Multifaceted Target for Alzheimer's Disease. *Current Alzheimer Research*, *17*, 1280-1293.

Shoemark, D.K., & Allen, S.J. (2015). The microbiome and disease: Reviewing the links between the oral microbiome, aging and alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *43*, 725-738.

Smart, T.G., & Paoletti P. (2012). Synaptic Neurotransmitter-Gated Receptors. *Cold Spring Harbor Prespectives in Biology*, *4*, a009662.

Strandwitz, P. (2018). Neurotransmitter modulation by the gut microbiota. *Brain Research*, *1693*, 128-133.

Ticinesi, A., Tana, C., Nouvenne, A., Prati B., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota, cognitive fraility and dementia in older individuals: A systematic review. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, *13*, 1497-1511.

van de Wouw, M., Boehme, M., Lyte, J.M., Wiley, N., Strain, C., et al. (2018). Short-chain fatty acids: Microbial metabolites that alleviate stress-induced brain-gut axis alterations. *The Journal of Physiology*, *596*, 4923-4944.

Verhaar, B.J.H., Hendriksen, H.M.A., Leeuw, F.A. de, Doorduijn,

A.S., et al. (2022). Gut Microbiota Composition Is Related to AD Pathology. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*, 794519.

Vinay, P., Karen, C., Balamurugan, K., & Rajan, K.E. (2021). *Cronobacter sakazakii* infection in Early Postnatal Rats Impaired Contextual-Associated Learning: a Putative Role of C5a-Mediated NF-κβ and ASK1 Pathways. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, *71*, 28-41.

Wang, X., Pan, W., Xu, N., Zhou, Z., et al. (2019). Environmental enrichment improves long-term memory impairment and aberrant synaptic plasticity by BDNF/TrkB signaling in nerve-injured mice. *Neuroscience Letters* 694, 93-98.

Wong, C.B., Kobayashi, Y., & Xiao, J. (2018). Probiotics for preventing cognitive impairment in alzheimer's disease. In A. Evrensel, & B.O., Ünsalver (eds), Gut Microbiota, *Intech Open*. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.79088.

Yano, J.M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G.P., Shastri, G.G., et al. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell*, *161*, 264-276.

Zhang, G., & Stackman Jr, RW, (2015). The role of serotonin 5- HT_{2A} receptors in memory and cognition. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *6*, 225.

Zhang, Y., Zhu, M., Sun, Y., Tang, B., et al. (2020). Environmental noise degrades hippocampus-related learning and memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*, e2017841117.





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Ovarian Gene Transcriptional Responses To Antidepressant Drugs (Imipramine And Fluoxetine) In Female Wistar Rats

Oyedeji K.O.*, Uwadiale D.

Physiology Department, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Afe Babalola University, Ado-Ekiti, Nigeria

Received – December 03, 2022; Revision – March 30, 2023; Accepted – May 03, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).593.597

KEYWORDS Imipramine Fluoxetine Gene RT-PCR Bcl-2 Rats

ABSTRACT

This study was designed to investigate ovarian gene transcriptional responses to selected antidepressant drugs (imipramine and fluoxetine) in female rats. Fifteen female rats (120 - 140 g) were used for this study. Imipramine (0.71 mg/kg) and fluoxetine (0.57 mg/kg) were given orally for 50 days. The method of RT-PCR was employed to investigate the expressions of FSH-R, p53 and Bcl-2 genes. Graphics were generated as mean +/- SEM using GraphPad Prism version 8.0. Results of the study revealed that the FSH-R, p53 and Bcl-2 expressions were significantly (p<0.05) up-regulated in the imipramine-treated rats relative to their controls. Conclusively, it can be suggested that imipramine induced follicular growth and apoptosis in female Wistar rats.

* Corresponding author E-mail: sinaoyedeji@yahoo.com (Oyedeji K.O.)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

Antidepressants are a group of drugs used to cure depression, anxiety, pain, and to treat addictions (Jennings, 2018). Their side effects are xerostomia, obesity, sexual impairment (Healy et al. 2018) and emotional disorder (Sansone and Sansone 2010). Taking these drugs can lead to a higher chance of suicide thought by people of different age categories. Stoppage of antidepressant medication may lead to discontinuation syndrome (Gabriel and Sharma 2017).

Some research that has been carried out previously revealed the efficacy of antidepressant agents in adults (Barth et al. 2016), while some other researchers have given contrary results (Jakobsen et al. 2020); however, the evidence of their usefulness in children and adolescents has not been proven (Cipriani et al. 2016). In Nigeria, the most often prescribed antidepressant agents are twenty-one in number, and they give better results than a placebo for short-term treatment of mature patients suffering from depressive ailment (Cipriani et al. 2018). Investigation concerning the efficacy of antidepressant agents is carried out on people suffering from severe symptoms; this group of people show lower responses to placebo, which indicates that the outcome cannot be generalized to the whole people suffering from this ailment (Cipriani et al. 2018).

The effects of antidepressant drugs on rats' neurogenic regions (Nasrallah et al. 2010), trained rats to discriminate centrally given isoproterenol (Alicia and James 2002), sexually induced side effects (Dimitry et al. 2017), rats prenatally stressed (Jordan et al. 2014), mice hippocampus (Filiou et al. 2014), genetics of mice (Kazuko et al. 2013), pregnant mice (Rahn et al. 2019), DNA damage (Eduardo et al. 2022) as well as on cognition and cardiovascular system (Ali, 2022) have been well studied. But, as a result of limited information obtained from the literature concerning the effects of antidepressant drugs (imipramine and fluoxetine) on ovarian gene expression in female rats, this research intends to bridge this gap.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Experimental Animals

Fifteen female rodents of weight range 120 - 140 g raised in the Animal Holding of ABUAD were used in the current study. These rodents were accommodated in a conducive laboratory atmosphere with an unlimited feed and water supply for two weeks before starting the experiments. The Helsinki Declaration on animal experimentation was used for animal experiments.

2.2 Drugs

Antidepressant drugs Imipramine (Dellwich Healthcare Ltd) and fluoxetine (MedreichPlc, UK) were purchased from Danax

Pharmacy, Ibadan, Nigeria. Among these, imipramine (25 mg) and fluoxetine (20 mg) were liquefied in 10 ml of distilled water to produce concentrations of 2.5 mg/ml and 2.0 mg/ml, respectively. The dosages of the antidepressant drugs considered in this research were as per the suggestions of the manufacturing industries.

2.3 Experimental Design

Fifteen matured female rats (five per group) used in this study received the oral doses of the antidepressant drugs and distilled water (control) for 50 days as per the predefined group as follows (i) Group I rodents (control group) were given 5 mL/100 g of water (distilled), (ii) Group II rodents were given 0.71 mg/kg of imipramine, and (iii) Group III rodents were given 0.57 mg/kg of fluoxetine.

On the next day after the last treatment (day 51), the rodents were euthanized by overdosing with diethyl ether; ovaries were harvested with the fatty tissue removed and quickly transferred into TRIzol reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific) for total isolation of RNA.

2.4 Isolation of RNA

RNA was isolated from whole tissues as described by Omotuyi et al. (2018). In summary, the ovaries were homogenized in TRI reagent at cold 4 °C. Partitioning Total RNA in chloroform was done by centrifuging at 15,000 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatant containing RNA was removed from the solution with isopropanol of the same volume. Ethanol (70%) was used to wash the extracted RNA twice, which was then dehydrated for 5 minutes before being re-suspended in the buffer.

2.5 Conversion of cDNA

Spectrophotometer was used to determine the purity and quantity of total RNA at an absorbance of A_{260}/A_{280} , as described by Omotuyi et al. (2018).

2.6 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)/Electrophoresis

FSHR, p53 and Bcl-2 genes were amplified by PCR targeting primers highlighted in the table below. A software called Primer3 was used to design the primers. The PCR amplification process was carried out as described by Omotuyi et al. (2018).

Amplification products were Electrophoresis in agarose gel (1.5%) using 0.5X TBE (Tris-borate EDTA, JHD chemicals, China) containing ethidium bromide at 100V for 60 minutes. The gel was visualized with UV light with a photo documentation system fitted with a camera. Gel images were analyzed using the keynote platform described by Omotuyi et al. (2020), and Image J software was used to quantify them. Graph-pad prism version 8.0 was used to plot the graphs as average +/- SEM.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Table 1 List of used primers					
Primers	Sequence	Product length	Annealing temperature		
FSHR	F:ATTCTTGGGCACGGGATCTG R:TGGTGAGCACAAACCTCAGTT	140	55.09 °C		
P53	F: TCTCCAGATTCGGCAGCAAG R: GGCCCGTCAGAGCTTTCAT	126	55.10 °C		
BCL-2	F:GCGTCAACAGGGAGATGTCA R:TTCCACAAAGGCATCCCAGC	119	55.47 °C		



Figure 1 Comparative expression of (1a) FSH-R, (1b) p53, (1c) Bcl-2 in the ovary of rats treated with fluoxetine (FL) and imipramine (IM) 1a as well as gel image expression patterns of FSH-R and β -actin for fluoxetine (FL) and imipramine (IM) treated rats (β -actin served as the internal control). The band density (image J) was plotted as a bar graph (n=5 p<0.05).

3 Results

Results presented in Figure 1a revealed that FSH-R expression was significantly up-regulated (p<0.05) in the imipramine-treated rats relative to the control. Furthermore, the results presented in Figure 1b suggested that the expression of p53 was significantly up-regulated (p<0.05) in the imipramine-treated rats relative to the control. Similarly, figure 1c also suggested that Bcl-2 expression was up-regulated significantly (p<0.05) in the imipramine-treated rats relative to the control.

In addition, results presented in Figures 1a and 1b revealed that FSH-R and p53 expressions were nonsignificantly (p>0.05) upregulated in the fluoxetine-treated rats compared to the control. In contrast, Bcl-2 expression was significantly (p<0.05) downregulated in the fluoxetine-treated rats as compared to the control (Figure 1c).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

4 Discussion

The FSH-R expression was significantly up-regulated in the imipramine-treated rats, which probably indicates that the imipramine induced follicular growth and these results were corroborated with the findings of Dewailly et al. (2016) and Jamnongji and Hammes (2006) while the findings of Jue et al. (2014) in Pacific Oyster treated rats are contrary to the findings of the present study. Similarly, the p53 expression was significantly up-regulated in the imipramine-treated rats, which suggests that imipramine induced apoptosis and these results are validated by the assertion of Fridman and Lowe (2003). Ukwade et al. (2020) reported a similar effect in the *Byrsocarpus coccineus* treated ovarian cancer cell line. In addition, Bcl-2 expression was also significantly up-regulated in the imipramine-treated rats, which probably indicates that imipramine stimulated or induced apoptosis in ovarian tissue, and these results were corroborated by the

Ovarian Gene Transcriptional Responses To Antidepressant Drugs (Imipramine And Fluoxetine) In Female Wistar Rats

assertions of Boise et al. (1993), Oltvai et al. (1993), and Choudhuri et al. (2002) while the findings of Majid et al. (2019) in *Olea europaea* are contrary to the present study.

Unlike imipramine, the expression of FSH-R was insignificantly down-regulated in the fluoxetine-treated rats, which probably indicates that fluoxetine inhibits follicle growth, and these results corroborated with the findings of Dewailly et al. (2016), Jamnongji and Hammes (2006), and Seyedeh-Roza et al. (2021). Similarly, the Bcl-2 expression was significantly down-regulated in the fluoxetine-treated rats, which probably indicates that fluoxetine prevented apoptosis in ovarian tissue, and these findings are supported by the previous study of Boise et al. (1993), Oltvai et al. (1993), Ebrahim et al. (2016), and Choudhuri et al. (2002) while contrary to the result reported by Mohammad et al. (2022) in minocycline treated rats. Further, the expression of p53 was nonsignificantly up-regulated in the fluoxetine-treated rats, suggesting that fluoxetine induced apoptosis. Similar results were reported by Fridman and Lowe (2003), while the findings of Nori-Garavand et al. (2020) in selenium-treated mice contradict the results of this study.

Conclusively, it can be suggested that imipramine induced follicular growth and apoptosis in female rats, while fluoxetine probably inhibited follicular growth and apoptosis in female rats.

Conflict of Interest

There is an absence of conflicting interests in this research work.

References

Ali, H.S.N. (2022). Antidepressant's long-term effect on cognitive performance and cardiovascular system. *Cardiometry*, 23, 76-88.

Alicia, M.C., & James, M.O. (2002). Effects of antidepressants in rats trained to discriminate centrally administered isoproterenol. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 302 (2), 606-611.

Barth, M., Kriston L., Klostermann, S., Barbui, C., et al. (2016). Efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and adverse events: meta-regression and mediation analysis of placebocontrolled trials. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 208 (2), 114–119.

Boise, L.H., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Postema, C.E., Ding, L., et al. (1993). Bcl-x, a bcl₂-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell*, *74*, 597–608.

Choudhuri, T., Pal, S., Agwarwal, M.L., Das, T., et al. (2002) Curcumin induces apoptosis in human breast cancer cells through

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org p53-dependent Bax induction. *Federation of European Biochemical Societies Letters*, 512, 334–340.

Cipriani, A., Furukawa, T.A., Salanti, G., Chaimani, A., et al. (2018). Comparative efficacy and acceptability of twenty-one antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet*, *391* (10128), 1357–1366.

Cipriani, A., Zhou, X., Del Giovane, C., Hetrick, S.E., et al. (2016). Comparative efficacy and tolerability of antidepressants for major depressive disorder in children and adolescents: a network meta-analysis. *Lancet*, *388* (10047), 881–890.

Dewailly, D., Robin, G., Peigne, M., Decanter, C., et al. (2016). Interactions between androgens, FSH, anti-Mullerian hormone and estradiol during folliculogenesis in the human normal and polycystic ovary. *Human Reproduction Update*, *22*, 709–724.

Dimitry, F., Ariana, M.L., Eric, J.K., & Babatunde A. (2017). Antidepressant-induced sexual side effects: incidence, assessment, clinical implications, and management. *Psychiatric Annals*, *47*, 3.

Ebrahim, A.S., Sabbagh, H., Liddane, A., Raufi, A., et al. (2016). Hematologic malignancies: newer strategies to counter the BCL-2 protein. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, *142*, 2013–2022.

Eduardo, M.B., Rogelio, P., Michael, J.R., José, A.M., et al. (2022). Investigation of the DNA Damage and Oxidative Effect Induced by Venlafaxine in Mouse Brain and Liver Cells. *Toxics*, *10* (12), 737.

Filiou, M.D., Moy, J., Wang, M., Guillermier, C., et al. (2014). Effect of an antidepressant on mouse hippocampus protein turnover using MIMS. *Surface and Interface Analysis*, *46* (Suppl 1): 144-146.

Fridman, J. S., & Lowe, S. W. (2003). Control of apoptosis by p53. *Oncogene*, 22(56), 9030–9040. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1207116.

Gabriel, M., & Sharma, V. (2017). Antidepressant discontinuation syndrome. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 189 (21), E747.

Healy, D., Noury, L.J., & Manginb, D. (2018). Enduring sexual dysfunction after treatment with antidepressants, 5α -reductase inhibitors and isotretinoin: 300 cases. *International Journal of Risk & Safety in Medicine*, 29 (3), 125–134.

Jakobsen, J.C., Gluud, C., & Kirsch, I. (2020). Should antidepressants be used for major depressive disorder?*British Medical Journal Evidence-Based Medicine*, 25 (4), 130.

Jamnongjit, M., & Hammes, S.R. (2006). Ovarian steroids: the good, the bad, and the signals that raise them. *Cell Cycle*, *5*, 1178–83.

Jennings, L. (2018). Antidepressants. In G., Grossberg, & L. Kinsella, (eds.). *Clinical psychopharmacology for neurologists: a practical guide* (pp. 45–71), Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74604-3_4.

Jordan, M., Marie-Line, R., Eleonora, G., Cecilia, G., et al. (2014). The effects of antidepressant treatment in prenatally stressed rats support the glutamatergic hypothesis of stress-related disorders. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34* (6), 2015-2024.

Jue, Z., Fan, Q., Yue, J., & Dong-Xia, Y. (2014). The Extracts of Pacific Oyster (*CrassostreaGigas*) Alleviate Ovarian Functional Disorders of Female Rats with Exposure to Bisphenol a Through Decreasing FSHR Expression in Ovarian Tissues. *African Journal of Traditional and Complementary Alternative Medicine*, *11* (5), 1–7.

Kazuko, S., Joshua, R.M., Sean, M.D., Meghan, G.V., et al. (2013). Effects of antidepressant treatment on mice lacking brainderived neurotrophic factor expression through promoter IV. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *37* (11), 1863-1874.

Majid, S., Malihe, S., Seyed-Hosein, A., Vahid, N., et al. (2019). Effect of hydro-alcoholic extract of Oleaeuropaea on apoptosisrelated genes and oxidative stress in a rat model of torsion/detorsion-induced ovarian damage. *Asian Pacific Journal of Reproduction*, 8 (4), 148-156.

Mohammad K.R, Seyed-Hosein A., Majid S., Masoumeh F., et al. (2022). Protective effect of minocycline on Bax and Bcl-2 gene expression, histological damages and oxidative stress induced by ovarian torsion in adult rats. *International Journal of Fertility and Sterility*, *16*(1), 30–35.

Nasrallah, H.A., Tracy, H., & Sarah, K.P. (2010). Differential effects of antipsychotic and antidepressant drugs on neurogenic regions in rats. *Brain Research*, *1354*, 23-29.

Nori-Garavand, R., Hormozi, M., Narimani, L., BeigiBoroujeni, N., et al. (2020). Effect of selenium on expression of apoptosisrelated genes in cryomedia of mice ovary after vitrification. *Biomedical Research International*, 2020, 5389731.

Oltvai, Z.N., Milliman, C.L., & Korsmeyer, S.J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell*, *74*, 609–619.

Omotuyi, O.I., Nash, O., Enejoh, O.A., Oribamise, E.I., et al. (2020). Chromolaena odorata flavonoids attenuate experimental nephropathy: Involvement of pro-inflammatory genes downregulation. *Toxicological Report*, *7*, 1421-1427.

Omotuyi, O.I., Nash, O., Inyang, O.K., Ogidigo, J., et al. (2018). Flavonoid-rich extract of chromolaena odorata modulate circulating glp-1 in wistar rats: Computational evaluation of tgr5 involvement. *3 Biotech*, 8(2), 124.

Rahn, R. M., Maloney, S. E., Brier, L. M., Dougherty, J. D., & Culver, J. P. (2019). Maternal Fluoxetine Exposure Alters Cortical Hemodynamic and Calcium Response of Offspring to Somatosensory Stimuli. *eNeuro*, *6*(6), ENEURO.0238-19.2019. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0238-19.2019

Sansone, R. A., & Sansone, L. A. (2010). Gratitude and well being: the benefits of appreciation. *Psychiatry (Edgmont (Pa. : Township))*, 7(11), 18–22.

Seyedeh-Roza, T.N., Arash, K., Shamci, A., Majid S., et al. (2021). Protective effect of hydroalcoholic extract of orange peel on PCNA and FSH-R gene expression in histological damage and oxidative stress due to ovarian torsion in adult rats. *International Journal of Women's Health and Reproduction Sciences*, 9 (3), 205–211.

Ukwade, C. E., Ebuehi, O. A. T., Adisa, R. A., Singh, S. K., & Singh, R. (2020). Anti-proliferative activities of Byrsocarpus coccineus Schum. and Thonn. (Connaraceae) using ovarian cancer cell lines. *Journal of ovarian research*, *13*(1), 83. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13048-020-00679-8

597





Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences

http://www.jebas.org

ISSN No. 2320 - 8694

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

Pangesti Ayu Wandari Febriyani, Entin Daningsih*, Asriah Nurdini Mardiyyaningsih

Faculty of Teachers Training and Education, Biology Education Study Program, Tanjungpura University, Pontianak, Jl. Prof Dr. H. Hadari Nawawi, Pontianak, West Kalimantan 78124, Indonesia

Received – January 27, 2023; Revision – May 12, 2023; Accepted – June 27, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).598.611

KEYWORDS

Transpiration

Leaf anatomy thickness

Palisade

Spongy

Shrinkage

ABSTRACT

Transpiration refers to the loss of water from leaves, and increased levels can lead to changes in leaf morphology and anatomy, affecting the total thickness. This study aims to determine the effect of transpiration on leaf anatomy, particularly thickness, in six types of monocots ornamental plants, namely Rhoeo discolor (L'Her.) Hance ex Walp., Hymenocallis littoralis (Jacq.) Salisb., Cordyline fruticosa (L.) A. Chev., Chlorophytum laxum R. Br, Dracaena reflexa Lam, and Aglaonema commutatum Schott. The study procedures were conducted using a Factorial Completely Randomized Design (Factorial CRD) with an experimental approach. The first factor was the type of plant, while the second was the condition before and after transpiration. The data obtained were analyzed using ANOVA, followed by LSD and Pearson correlation tests. The results showed that the plant type factor significantly affected the thickness of leaf tissues. The conditions before and after transpiration also significantly impacted all leaf tissues except for the lower epidermis. Furthermore, this finding was supported by the positive correlation between the thickness shrinkage of the upper epidermis-mesophyll and transpiration. The results also revealed that the mesophyll of R. discolor, C. laxum, D. reflexa, and A. commutatum differentiated into palisade and spongy layers, but there was no differentiation in the other two species. The transpiration rate was observed to change along with the specific anatomical structure of the leaf tissues. The lowest rate was found in R. discolor with thicker hypodermis tissue, while the highest was in C. laxum with thinner mesophyll.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: entin.daningsih@fkip.untan.ac.id (Entin Daningsih)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



1 Introduction

Urban vegetation plays a crucial role in reducing the adverse effects of heat on the environment (Hsieh 2017; Rahman et al. 2020). Among the various vegetation types, ornamental plants are often found in urban areas due to their aesthetic appeal, which can positively impact people's minds. Furthermore, these plants produce oxygen-rich air and absorb CO2, thereby improving air quality (Widyastuti 2018). These processes are greatly influenced by various physiological activities, such as transpiration (Williams et al. 2021; Thom et al. 2022), which is essential for growth, as it helps to regulate leaf and environmental temperatures (Salisbury and Ross 1995; Sundberg 1985; Gao et al. 2020). However, excessive transpiration can lead to issues such as wilting, drought, and death (Beckman, 1964), which diminishes the beauty of ornamental plants (Toscano et al. 2019) and change leaf anatomy (Boughalleb et al. 2014). This indicates that leaf anatomy can serve as a crucial indicator for assessing the water requirement of plants (Carr 2013) and determining the level of resistance to drought conditions.

Water loss from leaf tissue has been identified as the primary factor leading to changes in its thickness, as reported by Bachman (Burquez 1987). In a more recent study, Ningsih and Daningsih (2022) investigated the effect of transpiration on six monocot ornamental plants. The results showed alterations in the total leaf thickness of various species, including Rhoeo discolor (L'Her.) Hance ex Walp., Hymenocallis littoralis H. littoralis (Jacq.) Salisb., Cordyline fruticosa (L.) A. Chev., Chlorophytum laxum R. Br, Dracaena reflexa Lam, and Aglaonema commutatum Schott. Kutlu et al. (2009) also reported a similar finding in Ctenanthe setos, where the mesophyll thickness decreased under drought conditions. However, contradictory results have been reported by several studies. Such as Burnett et al. (2005) found that the leaf tissue of Salvia splendens remained unaffected by water shortage conditions. This suggests that different plants often develop distinct leaf anatomical adaptations to water shortages (Boughalleb et al. 2014). Meidner (1975) reported that the water from the leaves was sourced from the epidermis around the stomata, considering the proximity of the epidermal cells to the substomata cavity. However, Fahn (1995) and Onoda et al. (2015) reported that the epidermis consistently exhibited higher density and rigidity to form a compact layer without intercellular spaces. Epidermal cell walls tend to be thick, accounting for 10-20% of the total volume of leaf cells (Crang et al., 2018). The cuticle, which exists in the outer and inner layers of the epidermis, plays a vital role in preventing water loss (Wullschlenger and Oosterhius 1989). It primarily consists of cutin, an insoluble substance that acts as a barrier to water passage (Beck 2010). As an alternative adaptive mechanism, the epidermis can also thicken its walls to prevent water loss (Nawazish et al. 2006; Hameed et al. 2012; Boughalleb et al. 2014).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org According to Taiz et al. (2018), most vapour leaving the leaves originates from the mesophyll tissue. This finding is consistent with Kutlu et al. (2009) and Kapchina-Toteva et al. (2014), who reported that water shortage could be affected by the mesophyll cell shrinking and reducing the number of layers. The flexibility of this tissue and the absence of cuticles can also increase the rate of water loss (Onoda et al. 2015; Crang et al. 2018). The flexibility of the mesophyll is attributed to its elastic properties, which allow it to adjust its thickness. This property is also closely related to the plant cell wall, which regulates thickness. In drought conditions, a decrease in cell size often leads to an increase in elasticity, as Martinez et al. (2007) and Xing et al. (2022) reported.

Several studies have shown that the mesophyll tissue in some plants is differentiated into two layers: palisade and spongy (Hidayat and Niksololihin 1995). The palisades contain a higher number of chloroplasts compared to the spongy cells. Therefore, previous studies have inferred that they have a higher water content due to their association with photosynthesis (Outlaw et al. 1976; Cutler et al. 2007). Further, Boughalleb et al. (2014) and Han et al. (2016) also suggested that mesophyll often experiences shrinkage under drought conditions. According to Canny et al. (2012) and Xing et al. (2022), water loss is more pronounced in the spongy part compared to the palisade.

Ningsih and Daningsih (2022) conducted a study on six types of monocot ornamental plants, and the results showed an association between leaf thickness and transpiration, but the role of shrinking tissues was unknown. The anatomical arrangement and thickness of the six types of plants provided by Daningsih et al. (2022) served as a foundation for further studies. Therefore, this study aims to examine the effect of transpiration on the leaves' anatomy.

2 Materials and Method

2.1 Time and Place

This study was conducted in a simple plant house at the Biology Education Laboratory, Faculty of Teacher Training and Education, Tanjungpura University, Indonesia, from February to September 2022.

2.2 Tools and Materials

The tools used in this study included Olympus-CX 21 microscope, C-1 objective micrometer, Optilab Advance SN: MTN004210791, vials, Euromax rotary microtome, thermometer, lux meter AS803, GM816 anemometer, HTC-2 hygrometer, measuring cup, Ohaus analytical balance, Nikon D5200 DLSR camera, *ImageJ* software, and *Image Raster 3* software. Meanwhile, the materials were vaseline, FAA solution, alcohol, safranin 2%, tert-Butyl alcohol, paraffin oil, fast green 0.5%, xylol, paraffin, Haupt's adhesive,

600

formalin 3%, and distilled water. A total of six selected monocot ornamental plants samples were utilized for slide preparation, including Boat Lily (*Rhoeo discolor*), Spider Lily (*Hymenocallis littoralis*), Cabbage Palm (*Cordyline fruticosa*), Bichetti Grass (*Chlorophytum laxum*), Song of India (*Dracaena reflexa*), and Philippine Evergreen (*Aglaonema commutatum*).

2.3 Method and Research Design

This study used a quantitative experimental method with a Completely Randomized Design Factorial (CRD-Factorial) approach. Furthermore, it determined the effect of various treatments on the thickness of leaf tissue. The first factor was the types of ornamental plants, while the second was the condition before and after transpiration. The combination factor was the interaction of species type and conditions with three replications. In this study, the sample population consisted of 36 plant samples.

2.4 Plant Preparation

The plants used in this study had the same size and almost the same number of leaves. The samples were transferred to a homogeneous planting medium consisting of burnt soil and poor sand in a ratio of 2:1, which were placed in polybags measuring 30 x 35 cm. The plants were watered daily, and the NPK fertilizer was given once every two weeks. After two weeks of adaptation, samples were taken from the planting medium for further analysis.

2.5 Transpiration Measurement

Transpiration rate were measured using modified gravimetric method refered to Ningsih and Daningsih (2020). Meanwhile, the leaf area was measured using the *ImageJ* program proposed by Reinking (2007). The transpiration rate was calculated using the formula below:

 $Transpiration Rate = \frac{initial weight (gr) - final weight (gr)}{time (hours)x leaf area(cm²)}$

2.6 Leaf Transverse Incision Preparations

Transverse leaf incisions were made using a modified Johansen (1940) paraffin method. The modification was made in several steps, including the thickness of the incision (Sass 1951), the treatment of the paraffin tape after cutting, the adhesive preparations (Berlyn and Miksche 1976), and the use of fabric softener (containing *Diethylester Dimethyl Ammonium Chloride*) on hard paraffin blocks (Orchard et al. 2008). Samples were taken in the basal position under two conditions: before and after transpiration. Although the leaves selected for the pre and posttranspiration measurements differed, they were close to each other. It was assumed the leaves were of the same age and had received comparable amounts of nutrients, light, and water.

Febriyani et al.

During the investigation, the leaf samples were sliced into 1 x 1 cm sections using a razor, following the direction of the main veins, without including them. The monocot samples were taken at 9 AM (Jakarta time) before transpiration, followed by sampling after measurements. The leaves obtained before and after transpiration were soaked in FAA fixative solution for 24 hours. The process was continued with preparation, which consisted of washing, clearing, infiltration, and embedding. Subsequently, the samples were cut into a thickness of 12 μ m using a microtome. The incisions were glued to the slide using Haupt's adhesive, placed in an oven at 38°C for 12 hours, and stained using safranin-fast green double stain.

2.7 Measurement of leaf anatomical thickness

Leaf anatomy was observed under an Olympus C-X 21 microscope with 100x magnification, and the images observed were captured with Optilab Advance. Furthermore, the leaf anatomy thickness was measured using Image Raster 3 Software, focusing on the upper epidermis and hypodermis, mesophyll (palisade & spongy), lower epidermis, and total thickness.

2.8 Measurement of External Factor

The external factors of this study were measured using various tools. For example, a thermometer measured the temperature, while air humidity was assessed using the HTC-2 hygrometer. Furthermore, the wind speed was calculated using the GM816 anemometer, and light intensity was measured with the AS803 lux meter.

2.9 Statistical Analysis

Data on the thickness of leaf tissue anatomy were analyzed using an ANOVA test, which determined the effect of the treatment. Subsequently, further analysis was carried out using the Least Significance Different (LSD) test at the 5% level to determine the difference among all treatments. The process was then continued with the Pearson correlation test to determine the relationship between the transpiration rate and the difference in leaf tissue anatomy before and after transpiration. The classification of the correlation coefficient was carried out based on the method proposed by Amruddin et al. (2022).

3 Result

3.1 Transpiration Rate of Six Monocot Ornamental Plants

The transpiration rate data obtained in this study were subjected to normality and homogeneity tests. The results showed that the data had normal distribution (p>0.05) and homogeneity (p>0.05). Based on the ANOVA results, the transpiration rate differed significantly from one plant to another (p<0.05). The highest rate was obtained

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

Tuble 1 The average difference in the transpiration faces of six types of monoeot of numerical plants					
Plant Types	Average of Transpiration Rate (gr.cm ⁻² hour ⁻¹)				
Bichetii Grass (C. laxum)	0.00963ª				
Philippine Evergreen (A. commutatum)	0.00484 ^b				
Cabbage Palm (C. fruticosa)	0.00374 ^{bc}				
Spider Lily (H. littoralis)	0.00262^{cd}				
Song of India (D. reflexa)	0.00259^{d}				
Boat Lily (R. discolor)	0.00187^{d}				

Table 1 The average difference in the transpiration rates of six types of monocot ornamental plants

Note: The difference in letters behind the numbers shows a significant difference in the LSD test (α =0.05).

in the Bichetii Grass (C. laxum), while the lowest was found in Boat Lily (R. discolor). The results of various plants' transpiration rates recorded in this study are presented in Table 1.

Based on Table 1, the transpiration rates of Bichetii Grass were significantly different from other plants. Meanwhile, the Philippine Evergreen and Cabbage Palm had no significant difference. Similarly, Cabbage Palm and Spider Lily do not show any significant difference. The results showed that Spider Lily exhibited high similarity with the song of India and Boat Lily. These measurements were carried out at an average temperature of 35°C, with air humidity level, wind velocity, and light intensity of 49%, 0.367 m.s⁻¹, and 103.5901 watts.m⁻², respectively.

The leaf anatomy of six types of monocot ornamental plants consisted of the upper epidermis and hypodermis, mesophyll (palisade and spongy), and lower epidermis, as shown in Figure 1.

3.2 Leaf Anatomy of Six Monocot Ornamental Plants

The current study documented that the upper and lower epidermis of the six monocot ornamental plants consisted of one-layer tissue with a rectangular and tight arrangement. However, the Boat Lily had an additional tissue under the upper epidermis, known as the hypodermis. The observation showed that the upper epidermis tended to be thicker than the lower epidermis. In some plants, such as Spider Lily and Cabbage Palm, these tissues were almost the same







Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

601

602

Febriyani et al.



Figure 1 Leaf anatomy of six types of monocot ornamental plants, before transpiration (1), after transpiration (2), Boat Lily (*R. discolor*) (A), Spider Lily (*H. littoralis*) (B), Cabbage Palm (*C. fruticosa*) (C), Bichetii Grass (*C. fruticosa*) (D), Song of India (*D. reflexa*) (E), Philippine Evergreen (*A. commutatum*) (F).

size. This study also found that the mesophyll in Spider Lily and Cabbage Palm leaves were similar (homogeneous) in terms of the palisade and spongy segment. The undifferentiated mesophyll was due to the chlorenchymatous cells containing several chloroplasts. Meanwhile, the four other plants' mesophyll showed significant structure, shape, and arrangement differences. The palisade leaves of Boat Lily and Bichetii Grass were composed of one dense layer with a tubular shape. In Philippine Evergreen, one loosely arranged layer was observed. The palisade of Song of India was composed of two layers, which tended to be dense. The spongy tissue of Song of India, Boat Lily, and Philippine Evergreen showed larger and denser intercellular spaces compared to Bichetii Grass.

3.3 ANOVA Test Results for Leaf Tissue Anatomical Thickness

The normality test showed that all data were normally distributed (p>0.05). However, data on the total, mesophyll, and palisade thickness (p<0.05) were not homogeneous. The Factorial-CRD results using the ANOVA test showed that the plant type factor had a significant effect (p<0.05) on all leaf tissue. Furthermore, the condition factor had a significant effect (p<0.05), except in the lower epidermis. The results showed that the interaction between plant species and conditions has a significant impact (p<0.05) on the upper epidermis. All the leaf tissue responded differently after transpiration except the lower epidermis. Before and after

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Table 2 ANOVA results of leaf thickness of six monocot ornamental plants						
Factor	Average of leaf thickness (µm)					
Factor	TT	UE	LE	ME	PL	SP
Plant Types	*	*	*	*	*	*
Boat Lily (R. discolor)	535.171ª	234.087 ^a	118.800 ^a	182.204 ^d	58.762 ^b	123.425 ^c
Spider Lily (H. littoralis)	431.266 ^b	39.154 ^c	38.594 ^b	343.518 ^a	-	-
Cabbage Palm (C. fruticosa)	182.152 ^e	14.254 ^e	12.527 ^c	155.371 ^e	-	-
Bichetii Grass (C. laxum)	174.900 ^e	47.276 ^b	39.274 ^b	88.455 ^f	39.337°	47.835 ^d
Song of India (D. reflexa)	321.342 ^c	24.892 ^d	17.841°	278.609 ^b	97.694ª	180.916 ^a
Philippine Evergreen (A. commutatum)	255.211 ^d	28.662 ^d	27.114 ^{bc}	199.435 ^c	61.279 ^b	138.156 ^b
Condition	*	*	ns	*	*	*
BeforeTanspirasi (BT)	327.727 ^a	66.658 ^a	42.810	218.290 ^a	68.097ª	129.341 ^a
After Transpirasi (AT)	305.620 ^b	62.784 ^b	41.933	200.903 ^b	60.439 ^b	116.469 ^b
Combination of plant types and condition	ns	*	ns	ns	ns	ns
BT- Boat Lily (R. discolor)	552.259	243.047 ^a	119.360	189.887	61.159	128.692
AT- Boat Lily (R. discolor)	518.047	225.127 ^b	118.399	174.521	56.364	118.157
BT- Spider Lily (H. littoralis)	437.076	38.811 ^e	39.965	358.299	-	-
AT- Spider Lily (H. littoralis)	425.457	39.497 ^d	37.223	348.737	-	-
BT- Cabbage Palm (C. fruticosa)	189.564	14.360 ^g	13.516	161.688	-	-
AT- Cabbage Palm (C.fruticosa)	174.739	14.148 ^g	11.537	149.053	-	-
BT- Bichetii Grass (C. laxum)	181.514	48.114 ^c	38.855	94.754	42.679	52.087
AT- Bichetii Grass (C. laxum)	165.286	46.437 ^c	39.693	82.155	35.996	43.583
BT- Song of India (D. reflexa)	342.839	26.778 ^{ef}	26.692	297.589	105.762	191.826
AT- Song of India (D. reflexa)	299.846	23.006^{f}	27.536	259.630	89.626	170.004
BT- Philippine Evergreen (A. commutatum)	263.078	28.837°	18.472	207.546	62.788	144.758
AT- Philippine Evergreen (A. commutatum)	247.348	28.488 ^e	17.209	191.323	59.770	131.553

Note: *= Significant on (α =0.05), ns= Non-significant, TT= Total Thickness, UE= Upper Epidermis, LE= Lower Epidermis, ME= Mesophyll, PL= Palisade, SP= Spongy, BT= Before Transpiration, and AT= After Transpiration. The difference in letters behind the numbers indicates a significant difference in the LSD test (α =0,05).

transpiration, the interaction factor between species and condition only influenced the upper epidermis, as shown in Table 2.

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

3.4 Correlation Between Anatomical Shrinkage Thickness of Leave and the Transpiration Rate

This study examined the shrinkage in leaf thickness, encompassing the upper epidermis, mesophyll, palisade, spongy tissue, and total anatomical thickness of the six monocot ornamental plants. Table 3 presents a range of results, varying from no correlation to strong correlation.

The result showed that each plant had different anatomical thicknesses due to the varying response to transpiration. This

served as a criterion for selecting plants more resistant to drought. Furthermore, the correlation coefficient showed a mixed relationship between the shrinkage of leaf anatomical thickness and the transpiration rate. This indicated the tendency that the response was caused by plant genetic characteristics rather than transpiration.

3.5 The Potential Relationship of Transpiration Rate and Thickness Shrinkage of Leaf Tissue

The data explained in the previous section were used for mapping the relationship between the shrinkage of anatomical tissue thickness and the transpiration rate. Table 4 shows the pattern of specific anatomical shrinkage with the transpiration rate (from high to low).

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Febriyani et al.

Table 3 Correlation between the shrinkage of leaf tissue anatomical thickness and the transpiration rate on six types of monocot ornamental plants

Diant Tunca	T	Leaf Anatomical Thickness Correlation Coefficient Value				
Plant Types	Transpiration	TT	UE	ME	PL	SP
Boat Lily (R. discolor)	2.00929 x 10 ⁻³	0.711	0.935	0.596	0.005	0.680
		strong	very strong	moderate	uncorrelated	strong
Spider Lily (H. littoralis)	2.62796 x 10 ⁻³	0.166	0.613	0.993	-	-
		very weak	strong	very strong		
Cabbage Palm (C. fruticosa)	3.74401 x 10 ⁻³	0.924	0.672	0.936	-	-
		very strong	strong	very strong		
Bichetti Grass (C. laxum)	9.63219 x 10 ⁻³	0.999	0.695	0.998	0.705	0.932
		very strong	strong	very strong	strong	very strong
Song of India (D. reflexa)	2.59619 x 10 ⁻³	0.999	0.256	0.806	0.875	0.245
		very strong	very strong	strong	strong	Very weak
Philippine Evergreen (A. commutatum)	4.84362 x 10 ⁻³	0.949	0.458	0.942	0.057	
		very strong	weak	very strong	uncorrelated	very strong

Note: TT= Total Thickness, UE= Upper Epidermis, ME= Mesophyll, PL= Palisade, and SP= Spongy.

Table 4 Potential relationship between transpiration rate and shrinkage of leaf tissue thickness on six types of monocot ornamental plants.

Transpiration Rate	High			Low
Loof Tissue Shrinkage	SP (I)	SP (I)	SP (II)	SP (I)
Lear Tissue Shrinkage	PL (I)	PL (II)	PL (I)	PL (II)
The thickness of UE&LE	Medium	Thin	Thin	Thick
Species	Chlorophytum laxum	Aglaonema commutatum	Dracaena reflexa	Rhoeo discolor

Note: PL=Palisade, SP= Spongy, UE= Upper Epidermis, LE=Lower Epidermis. I= very strong-strong, II= uncorrelation-moderate.

Based on Table 4, the palisade's and spongy tissue's thickness impacted leaf shrinkage due to transpiration. The results showed that the transpiration rate increased following a decrease in the thickness of the spongy and palisade tissue, as observed in Bichetti Grass. In this study, Bichetti Grass strongly correlated with the shrinkage of the upper epidermis, palisade, and spongy. This characteristic indicated that its tissue could not withstand the transpiration rate, leading to massive water loss. Based on these findings, it was concluded that the species cannot live in water shortage conditions. However, lower transpiration occurred when only one of the tissues experienced high shrinkage, such as in the Philippine Evergreen and Song of India. The transpiration rate was also lower when the upper and lower epidermis was thick, such as in Boat Lily.

Discussion

Transpiration involves the process of releasing water from leaves into the air in the form of vapour. In plants, this process was often controlled by stomata cells and was aimed at achieving energy

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org (Hopkins and Huner 2009; Kocchar and Gujral 2020). Furthermore, the plants with the highest and lowest transpiration rates among the six types of monocot ornamental plants had the same sequence pattern as the findings of Ningsih and Daningsih (2022). The highest rate was found in Bichetti Grass, while the Boat Lily had the lowest (Table 1). The four other plants showed varying veining patterns compared to Ningsih and Daningsih (2022). This difference was influenced by internal and external factors (Salisbury and Rose 1995). The internal factors included plant variations (Wang et al. 2022) and leaf thickness (Giulani et al. 2013), while the external were temperature (Yang et al. 2012; Sugiarto et al. 2020), wind speed (Kuiper 1961; Schymanski and Or 2015), humidity (Tullus et al. 2012), and light intensity (Park et al. 2020).

Ningsih and Daningsih (2022) measured the transpiration rate at a temperature of 32° C, with 20.30 watts.m⁻² light intensity, 42% humidity, and 1 m.s⁻¹ wind speed. Furthermore, the external factors' value was lower than the current study, except for the wind speeds. The transpiration rate obtained in this study was lower than

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

that of Ningsih and Daningsih (2022). This difference was caused by the high temperature, which led to the closure of the stomata (Schulze et al. 1973). This finding was consistent with Slot and Winter (2017) that the stomata often closed at an average temperature of 30°C. Lugassi et al. (2015) also reported that high light intensity could lead to the closure of the organ, thereby causing a decrease in transpiration. This phenomenon occurs in citrus plants which are expressed with *Arabidopsis* hexokinase. The closing of the stomata has long been known as a plant's adaptation strategy to reduce excessive transpiration (Agurla et al. 2018). Therefore, it could be assumed that the transpiration rate depended on the environmental conditions. In this study, Bhicetti Grass had the highest rate, followed by Philippine Evergreen, Cabbage Palm, Spider Lily, Song of India, and Boat Lily.

Several studies reported transpiration's association with leaf anatomy (Giulani et al. 2013; Da Costa and Daningsih 2022; Daningsih et al. 2022; Ningsih and Daningsih 2022). According to Cutler et al. (2007), the anatomical structure of leaves was generally the same, consisting of the epidermis, mesophyll, and vascular tissue. However, each species had distinctive features despite belonging to the same group (Budel et al. 2017). These variations were dominantly influenced by genetics (Olsen et al. 2013), leaf position, and leaf age (Xie and Luo 2003). Environmental factors (Cassola et al. 2019), including light intensity (Coble and Cavelari 2017), temperature (Von Caemmerer and Evans 2014), humidity, and water content affecting stomata (Fanourakis et al. 2013) have been reported to also contribute to these variations. The differences in leaf anatomical structure could be used as a basis for species identification (Mabel et al. 2014; Budel et al. 2017; Ozcan et al. 2015; Bahadur et al. 2018; Chatri et al. 2020; Da Costa Santos et al. 2020), as well as an essential indicator for determining plant adaptation to different habitats (Carr 2013; Bertel et al. 2016; Oguchi et al. 2018).

The six types of monocot ornamental plants showed varying leaf characteristics, consistent with Wang et al. (2022), that each species had distinctive features. According to Wang et al. (2022) the 6 test plants were unique, as exemplified by Boat Lily with hypodermis tissue. The observation results showed that the mesophyll of Boat Lily, Bichtti Grass, Song of India, and Philippine Evergreen differentiated into palisades and spongy layers. Meanwhile, mesophyll was not differentiated in the Spider Lily and Cabbage Palm, as shown in Figure 1. The variation in leaf features was likely influenced by the genetics of each species (Coneva and Chitwood 2018).

Six monocot ornamental plants' upper and lower epidermis comprised a single layer of dense tissue. They were typically rectangular, except for the upper epidermis of Boat Lily, which was equipped with a hypodermis (Figure 1). The result presented in Table 2 indicated that the samples' upper epidermis was thicker

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org than the lower epidermis. According to Tihurua et al. (2020), a thick epidermis could reduce the transpiration rate, thereby preventing changes in thickness. Boughalleb et al. (2014) also found that the thickness in the *Astragalus gombiformis* Pomel plant did not change due to water outflow (Fahn 1995; Becraft 1999; Cutler et al. 2007; Kutschera 2008; Crang et al. 2018).

This study showed a significant difference in the epidermal thickness of six monocot ornamental plants between the pre and post-transpiration conditions (Table 2). Based on the results, there were no changes in the thickness of the upper epidermis of Cabbage Palm, Bichetti Grass, Song of India, and Philippine Evergreen due to the rigidity of the cells. However, the differences in this parameter and the effects of transpiration were more visible in Boat Lily and Cabbage Palm. These variations were indicated by the combined LSD shown in Table 2. The difference in the thickness of the upper epidermis was probably caused by the different adaptations in some plants, specifically Cabbage Palms, which experienced thicknesing due to transpiration. The observation results showed that the Boat Lily experienced shrinkage due to the reduction in the thickness of the hypodermis.

The hypodermis was typically a colourless tissue with the primary function of storing water and was located in the upper (adaxial) or lower (abaxial) epidermis (Das 1999; Nurida et al. 2012). It was often found in plants inhabiting aqueous or halophyte habitats (Cutler 2007; Rashid et al. 2020; Tihurua et al. 2020), as well as minimal water areas (xerophytes) (Cutler 2007; Griffiths and Male 2017; Hafiz et al. 2013). Although the hypodermis served as a storage area, its water content could still diffuse out, leading to a decrease in thickness. In this current study, the thickness of the hypodermis caused by transpiration (Table 2). Kutlu et al. (2009) found that the hypodermis, located under the upper epidermis of *Ctenanthe setosa*, had the flexibility to reduce its size under minimal water conditions, leading to the curling of the leaves in some cases.

The measurement of the upper epidermis thickness of the Boat Lily was not carried out separately in this study. Future studies should perform separate measurements of the upper epidermis and hypodermis tissue to determine the reduction level. The upper epidermis of the Boat Lily did not change significantly after transpiration, except for the hypodermis layer. Furthermore, the hypodermis experienced a reduction in size due to transpiration. Under these conditions, the shrinkage could lead to a decrease in the upper epidermis of Bichetti Grass. The bottom epidermal tissue of the six types of monocot ornamental plants was visually thin compared to the upper epidermis. The results also showed nonsignificant differences between the conditions before and after transpiration, as shown in Table 2. The absence of differences revealed that the epidermal tissue was composed of rigid and stiff

606

cells. Therefore, the lower epidermis only experienced a slight reduction and did not differ much between both conditions. Several studies have also reported that this tissue layer could protect the component above it (Beck 2010).

Table 2 shows some significant changes in the mesophyll of the six monocot ornamental plants before and after transpiration. Galmes et al. (2013) stated that changes in mesophyll were some of the strategies of plants to adapt to water availability. Based on morphology, the leaves of Bichetii Grass were curved after exposure to high temperatures and light with a lack of water. This indicated that the plant could not adapt well to water drought conditions. According to Boughalleb et al. (2014) and Han et al. (2016), mesophyll could experience shrinkage due to the occurrence of transpiration. Zhang et al. (2014) and Vastag et al. (2020), changes in the thickness of the tissue were caused mainly by the accumulation of water. Consequently, the mesophyll became thicker compared to others (Table 2). The tissue also had an elastic ability that caused changes in its size due to the cellular component and a shift in the balance between the evaporation rate and water supply (Canny and Huang 2005; Xing et al. 2022). A previous study reported that a size reduction could also occur due to decreased intercellular space (Canny and Huang 2005; Kutlu et al. 2009).

Four monocot ornamental plants, including Boat Lily, Bichetti Grass, song of India, and Philippine evergreen had mesophylls that differentiated into palisades and spongy tissues. Meanwhile, the other two plants, spider lily and Cabbage Palm, were undifferentiated. Monocots commonly had undifferentiated mesophylls, and this was consistent with the finding of El-Gawad and El-Amier (2017) on three species, including Arundo donax, Pennisetum setaceum, and Saccharum Spontaneum. However, some of the plants could have differentiated mesophylls palisade. According to Sumardi and Wulandari (2010), Musa spp., a monocot plant, had a leaf anatomy consisting of palisade and spongy tissues with numerous chloroplasts. Similar results were also obtained by Kocyigit et al. (2023) in Allium sphaeronixum. Cutler et al. (2007) highlighted that undifferentiated mesophyll was commonly found in the monocot species, with few exceptions.

The results showed a relationship between the size or the number of mesophylls layer and the transpiration rate (Table 3). The Boat Lily had the lowest transpiration rate among the six plants due to its unique anatomical structure. The hypodermis, located between the upper epidermis and the palisade, was only found in Boat Lily, suggesting that this extra layer was the cause of the low rate (Figure 1). The results showed that the thicker the mesophylls, the lower the level of transpiration, as observed in undifferentiated and differentiated plants. The spider lily had the thickest mesophylls (343.518 μ m, Table 2) and showed the lowest rate. Febriyani et al.

Species with differentiated mesophylls consisting of two palisade layers, including Bichetti Grass and Song of India showed lower transpiration rates than those with one layer, such as Philippine evergreen, as shown in Figure 1. Palisade was usually composed of compact and dense cells and appeared as the densest part of the mesophyll tissue on visual observation (Cutler et al. 2007). Several studies have shown that this tissue's thickness could help prevent water loss (Ashton and Berlyn 1992; Oliveira et al. 2018), leading to resistance to environmental changes. In this study, the palisade tissue in the Song of India was composed of two thicker layers, leading to lower transpiration rates (Figure 1; Table 1). Meanwhile, its looseness in the Philippine evergreen caused a higher transpiration rate than India's song. These phenomena indicated that thick palisade tissue played a role in resisting evaporation, but transpiration could also occur due to the spacing between the palisade cells, as shown in Figure 1 and Table 1. This was evidenced by the significant shrinkage experienced after transpiration in four types of monocot ornamental plants. According to Kapchina-Toteva et al. (2014), environmental differences could affect the number of palisade layers. In this study, the four monocot ornamental plants did not show any change in the number of palisade layers because they grew in the same environment.

Four of the six monocot ornamental plant types showed irregular spongy tissue forms (Figure 1). Spongy tissue had a wide extracellular space, accommodating more H_2O and CO_2 (Xing et al. 2022), which played an important role in the physiological processes in leaves (Salisbury and Ross 1995). According to Canny et al. (2012), it experienced higher water loss levels than Palisades. Furthermore, Kapchina-Toteva et al. (2014) found a reduction in spongy thickness in *Lamium album* L. plants, which were grown under different conditions, but the structure did not change. In this study, the spongy thickness of the four types of monocot ornamental plants before and after transpiration showed a significant decrease, indicating the loss of water (Table 2). Canny et al. (2012) stated that the shrinkage of this tissue could occur due to a reduction in the spaces between the cells.

Bichetti Grass visually had the thinnest spongy thickness, with denser inter-cell spaces compared to Boat Lily, song of India, and Philippine evergreen (Figure 1). Although the spaces between the spongy cells in Bichetti Grass were denser, the transpiration rate was significantly higher than in other plants (Table 1). Bichetti Grass contained water in its palisade tissue and spongy cells. Consequently, the water discharge from the leaves caused shrinkage of the two tissues, as indicated by the total mesophyll thickness, which was thinner than other species. Bichetti Grass had the thinnest total thickness compared to other plants (Table 2).

According to Buckley et al. (2015), reducing the leaves' total thickness could increase the hydraulic conductivity outside the

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

xylem. Similar results were reported by Rahman et al. (2020) in species with thin leaves and simple shapes. The shape indicated the presence of higher water loss compared to species with thicker or more compound leaves. This study also found a similar condition, specifically in Bichetti Grass, where the plants had a high transpiration rate due to thinner leaves. A total of types of monocot ornamental plants, namely spider lily and Cabbage Palm, had mesophyll that was not differentiated into palisades and spongy (Figure 1). Spider lily have thicker and denser mesophyll than Cabbage Palm, which has dense but thin tissue. Consequently, the transpiration rate was lower than Cabbage Palm, as shown in Figure 1. According to Bosabalidis and Kofidis (2002), denser mesophyll cells could reduce the transpiration rate.

The leaf anatomy thickness changes significantly impacted by reducing the total thickness (Figure 1; Table 2). According to Osakabe et al. (2013), a reduction in leaf thickness indicated the loss of water from the cells, leading to a decrease in turgor pressure, softening, and a decrease in size. The correlation test results showed a mixed relationship between shrinkage in leaf anatomical thickness and transpiration (Table 3).

Each plant had various leaf anatomical characteristics and could adapt to different environmental habitats (Bertel et al. 2016). Plants with thick leaves could adapt better in environments exposed to sunlight than compared to others (Zwieniecki and Boyce 2014). Based on previous studies, plants with narrow and thick leaves, such as Boat Lily adapted to their habitat by forming a thicker epidermis. The leaves were also equipped with a hypodermis below the upper epidermis, leading to low transpiration rates. This indicated that the Boat Lily was more drought-resistant. Furthermore, the presence of the hypodermis played a role in storing water when the Boat Lily experienced drought. Boat Lily and Song of India also had the potential to resist environmental changes, as indicated by the two layers of palisade and low transpiration rate.

Conclusion

Transpiration caused leaf anatomy shrinkage in six monocot ornamental plants, specifically in the mesophyll tissue. The upper epidermis generally did not experience changes, but shrinkage occurred in the hypodermis of Boat Lily. The results showed that transpiration increased along with shrinkage of the palisade and spongy, such as in Bichetti Grass. However, lower rates were observed when only one of the tissues between the palisades or spongy experienced reduction, as shown in the song of India, Philippine evergreen, and Boat Lily, which experienced a decrease in the hypodermis. Among the six monocotyledon ornamental plants, the leaves of Boat Lily were more adaptive and resistant to growing in sunlight and water-deficient conditions than Bichetti Grass.

Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to the Faculty of Teacher Training and Education, Tanjungpura University, for providing financial support for this study.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest in this study.

References

Agurla, S., Gahir, S., Munemasa, S., Murata., & Y., Raghavendra, A.S. (2018). Mechanism of Stomatal Closure in Plants Exposed to Drought and Cold Stress. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *1081*, 215-232. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-13-1244-1_12.

Amruddin, Priyanda, R., Agustina, T.S., Ariantini, N.S., et al. (2022). *Metode Penelitian Kuantitatif*. Pradina Pustaka.

Asthon, P.M.S., & Berlyn, G.P. (1992). Leaf Adaptation of Some *Shorea* Species to Sun and Shade. *New Phytologist Foundation*, *121*(4), 587-596. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1992.tb01130.x.

Bahadur, S., Ahmad, M., Zafar, M., Sultana, S., et al. (2018). Palyno-Anatomical Studies of Monocot Taxa and its Taxonomic Implications Using Light and Scanning Electron Microscopy. *Microscopy Research Technique*, 82(4), 1-21. DOI: 10.1002/jemt.23179.

Beck, C. B. (2010). An Introduction to Plant Structure and Development Plant Anatomy for the Twenty-First (2nd ed). Cambridge University Press.

Beckman, C. H. (1964). Host Responses to Vascular Infection. *Annual Review of Pgytopathology*, 2, 231-252. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.py.02.090164.001311.

Becraft, P.W. (1999). Development of the Leaf Epidermis. *Developmental Biology*, 45, 1-40. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(08)60313-0.

Berlyn, J. P., & Miksche, J.P. (1976). *Microtechnique Cytochemishtry*. Lowa State University Press.

Bertel, C., Schönswetter, P., Frajman, B., & Holzinger, A. (2016). Leaf Anatomy of Two Reciprocally non-monophyletic Mountain Plant (*Heliosperma* spp.): does heritable adaptaions to divergent growing sites accompany the onset of Speciation?. *Protoplasma*, 254(3), 1411–1420. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-016-1032-5.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

608

Bosabalidis, A. M., & Kofidis, G. (2002). Comparative Effects of Drought Stress on Leaf Anatomy of Two Olive Cultivars. *Plant Science*, *163*(2), 375-379. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9452(02)00135-8.

Boughalleb, F., Abdellaoui, R., Ben-Brahim, N., & Neffati, M. (2014). Anatomical adaptations of *Astragalus gombiformis* Pomel. under drought stress. *Central European Journal of Biology*, *9*(12), 1215-1225. DOI: 10.2478/s11535-014-0353-7.

Buckley, T. N., John, G.P., Scoffoni, C., Lawren, T. (2015). How Does Leaf Anatomy Influence Water Transport Outside The Xylem?. *Plant Physiology*, *168*(4), 1616-1635. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.00731.

Budel, J. M., Raman, J., Monteiro, L. M., Almeida, V. P., et al. (2017). Foliar anatomy and microscopy of six Brazilian species of *Baccharis* (Asteraceae). *Miscrocopy Research and Techenique*, 81(8), 832-842. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.23045.

Burnett, S., Pennisi, S., Thomas, P.A., & Iersel, M.W. (2005). Controlled Drought Affects Morphology and Anatomy of *Salvia splendens*. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, *130*(5), 775-781. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21273/ JASHS.130.5.775.

Burquez, A. (1987). Leaf Thickness and Water Deficit in Plants: A Tool for Field Studies. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *38*(186), 109-114, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/38.1.109.

Canny, M., Wong, S.C., Huang, C., & Miller, C. (2012). Differential Shrinkage of Mesophyll Cells in Transpiring Cooton Leaves: Implications for Static and Dynamic Polls of Water, and for Water Transport Pathways. *Functional Plant Biology*, *39*(2), 91-102. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/FP11172.

Canny, M.J., & Huang, C. X. (2005). Leaf Water Content and Palisade Cell Size. *New Phytologist Foundation*, *170*(1), 75-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01633.x.

Carr, M.K.V. (2013). The Water Relations and Irrigation Requirements of Olive (*Olea europaea* L.): a Review. *Experimental Agriculture*, 49(04), 1-43. DOI: 10.1017/S0014479713000276.

Cassola, F., Silva, M.H.R., Borghi, A.A., Lusa, M.G., Sawaya, A.C.H.F., Garcia, V.L., & Mayer, J.L.S. (2019). Morphoanatomical Characteristics, Chemical Profiles, and Antioxidant Activity of Three Species of *Justicia* L. (Acanthaceae) Under Different Growth Conditions. *Industrial Crops & Products*, *131*, 257-265. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.01.053.

Chatri, M., Mella, C. E., & Des, M. (2020). Characteristics of Leaves Anatomy of Some Syzigium (*Myrtaceae*). International

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org *Conference on Biology, Sciences and Education* (ICoBioSE 2019). DOI: 10.2991/absr.k.200807.005.

Coble, A.P., & Cavaleri, M. A. (2017). Vertical leaf mass per area gradient of mature sugar maple reflects both height-driven increases in vascular tissue and light-driven increases in palisade layer thickness. *Tree Physiology*, *37*(10), 1337-1551. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpx016.

Coneva, V., & Chitwood, D. H. (2018). Genetic and Developmental Basis for Increased Leaf Thickness in the Arabidopsis Cvi Ecotype. *Frontiers in plant science*, *9*, 322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00322.

Crang, R., Lyons-Sobaski, S., & Wise, R. (2018). *Plant Anatomy:* A Concept-Based Approach to the Structure of Seed Plants. Springer, Cham. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77315-5.

Cutler, D. F., Botha, T., & Stevenson, D. W. (2007). *Plant Anatomy an Applied Approach*. Blackwell Publishing.

Da Costa Santos, J. V., De Oliveira, M. F. V., Santos Filho, F. S., Dos Santos Silva, L. N.N., & Silva Araujo, J. S. (2020). The Taxonomic Value of Leaf Anatomy for Species *Byrsonima:* a Difficult *genus* of *Malpighiaceae* Juss. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*, 34(3), 570-579. DOI: 10.1590/0102-33062020abb0144.

Da Costa, Y.O., & Daningsih, E. (2022). Ketebalan Daun dan Laju Transpirasi pada Tanaman Hias Dikotil. *Jurnal Ilmu Pertanian Indonesia*, 27(1). 40-47. DOI: 0.18343/jipi.27.1.40.

Daningsih E., Mardiyyaningsih, A. N., Da Costa, Y. O., Primawati, R., & Karlina, S. (2022). Changes of stomatal distribution and leaf thickness in response to transpiration rate in six dicot plant species. *IOP Conference. Series: Earth and Environmental Science*. DOI: 10.1088/1755-1315/976/1/012060

Das, S., (1999). An adaptive feature of some mangroves of Sundarbans, West Bengal. *Journal of Plant Biology*. 42(2), 109-116. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03031018.

EL-Gawad, A. M. A., & El-Amier, Y. (2017). Anatomical features of three perennial swampy plants of Poaceae, grown on the water stream banks in Nile Delta, Egypt. *Journal of Medicional Botanny*, *1*, 58-64. DOI: https://doi.org/10.25081/jmb.2017.v1.863.

Fahn, A. (1995). *Anatomi Tumbuhan. Edisi Ketiga*. Terjemahan: Ahmad Soediarto, Trenggono Koesoemaningrat, Machmud Natasaputra dan Hilda Akmal. Gadjah Mada University Press.

Fanourakis, D., Heuveluink. EP., & Carvalho, S.M.P. (2013). A Comprehensive Analysis of The Physiological and Anatomical Components Involved in Higher Water Loss Rates After Leaf

Effect of Transpiration on the Monocot Ornamental Plants Leave Anatomy

Development at High Humidity. *Journal of Plant Physiology*. 170(10), 890–898. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2013.01.013.

Galmes, J., Ochogavia, J. M., Gago, J., Roldan, E, J., Cifre, J., & Conesa, M.A. (2013). Leaf Responses to Drought Stress in Mediterranean Accesions of *Solanum lycopersicum*: Anatomical Adaptations in Relation to Gas Exchange Parameters. *Plant, Cell, & Environtment, 36*, 920-935. DOI: 10.1111/pce.12022.

Gao, K., Santamaouris, M., & Feng, J. (2020) On the Efficiency of Using Transpiration Cooling to Mitigate Urban Heat. *Climate*, 8(69), 2-16. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/cli8060069.

Giulani, R., Koteyeva, N., Voznesenskaya, E., Evans, M. A., Cousins, A. B., & Edwards, G. E. (2013). Coordination of Leaf Photosynthesis, Transpiration, and Structural Traits in Rice and Wild Relatives (Genus Oryza). *Plant Physiology*, *162*(2), 1632-1651. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.217497.

Griffiths H., & Males J. (2017). Succulent Plants. *Current Biology*, 27(17), R890-R896. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.03.021.

Hafiz, P., Dorly., & Rahayu, S. (2013). Karakteristik Anatomi Daun dari Sepuluh Spesies *Hoya* Sukulen Serta Analisis Hubungan Kekerabatannya. *Buletin Kebun Raya*, *16*(1), 58-73. DOI: 10.14203/bkr.v16i1.27.

Hameed, M., Batool, S., Nas, N., Nawaz, T., Ashraf, M. (2012). Leaf Structural Modification for drought tolerance in some differentially adapted ecotype of blue panic (*Panicumantidotale* Retz.). *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 34*(4), 1479-1491. DOI: 0.1007/s11738-012-0946-6.

Han, Ji-Mei., Meng, Hao-Feng., Wang, Sai-Yu., Jiang, Chuang-Dao., Li, F., Zhang, Wang-Feng., & Zhang, Ya-Li. (2016). Variability of mesophyll conductance and its relationship with water loss use efficiency in cotton leaves under drought pretreatment. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *194*, 61-71. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2016.03.014.

Hidayat, E. B., & Niksololihin, S. (1995). Anatomi Tumbuhan Berbiji. Penerbit ITB

Hopkins, W. G., &Huner, N. P. A. (2009). *Introduction to Plant Physiology Fourth Edition*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Hsieh, C. (2017). Effects Of Tree Shading and Transpiration on Building Cooling Energy Use. *Energy and Buildings*, *159*, 382-397. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2017.10.045.

Johansen, D.A. (1940). *Plant Microtechnique*. McGraw-Hill Book Company Incorporation

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Kapchina-Toteva, V., Dimitrovaa, M. A., Stefanova, M., Koleva, D., Kostov, K., Yordanova, Z.P. (2014). Adaptive changes in photosynthetic performance and secondary metabolites during white dead nettle micropropagation. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *171*, 1344-1353. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2014.05.010.

Kocchar, S.L & Gujral, S. K. (2020). *Plant Physiology Second Edition*. Cambridge University Press

Kocyigit, M., Salmeri, C., Ozhatay, N., Kaya, E., & Brullo, S. (2023). *Allium sphaeronixum* (Amaryllidaceae), *A New Species from Turkey. Plants, 12*(11), 1-19 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12112074

Kuiper, P. J. C. (1961). *The Effect of Environmental Factors on The Transpiration of Leaves, With Special Reference to Stomatal Light Response.* PhD thesis submitted to the Wageningen University, Veenman. https://edepot.wur.nl/184838.

Kutlu, N., Terzi, R., Tekeli, C., Senel, K., Battal, P., & Kadiogli, A. (2009). Changes in Anatomical Structure and Levels of Endogenous Phytohormones during Leaf Rolling in *Ctenanthe setosa* Under Drought Stress. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, *33*(2), 115-122. DOI: 10.3906/biy-0806-6.

Kutschera, U. (2008). The Growing Outer Epidermal Wall: Design and Physiological Role of a Composite Structure. *Annals of Botany*, *101*(5), 615-621. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcn015.

Lugassi, N., Kelly, G., Fidel, L., Yaniv, Y., Attia, Z., et al. (2015). Expression of *Arabidopsis* Hexokinase in Citrus Guard Cells Controls Stomatal Aperture and Reduce Transpiration. *Original Research*, 6(1114), DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.01114.

Mabel, A. F., Johnson, A. K., Olufemi, O. O., Ayomipo, A. A. T. (2014). Foliar anatomy of some species of *Asteraceae* in South Western Nigeria. *African Journal of Plant Sciences*, 8(9), 426-440. DOI: 10.5897/AJPS2014.1196.

Martinez, J.P., Silva, H., Ladent, J.F., & Pinto, M. (2007). Effect of Drought Stress on the Osmotic Adjustment, Cell Wall Elasticity and Cell Volume of Six Cultivars of Common Beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *European Journal of Agronomy*, *26*(1), 30-38. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2006.08.003.

Meidner, H. (1975). Water Supply, Evaporation, and Vapour Diffusion in Leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 26(5), 666-672. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/26.5.666.

Nawazish, S., Hameed, M., & Naurin, S. (2006). Leaf Anatomical Adaptation of *Cenchrus ciliaris* L. from the Salt Range, Pakistan Against. *Pakistan Journal Botany*, *38*(5), 1723-1730.

Febriyani et al.

Ningsih, C., & Daningsih, E. (2022). Ketebalan Daun dan Laju Transpirasi Tanaman Hias Monokotil. *Jurnal Ilmu Pertanian Indonesia*, 27(4), 514-520. DOI: 10.18343/jipi.27.4.514

Nurida, M.K, Talip, N., & Ruzi, A.R. (2012). Nilai Taksonomi Ciri Anatomi Lamina Daun dan Adaptasi Kepada Persekitaran Spesies Hutan Paya Bakau (*Rhizophoracea*). *Jurnal of Tropical Marine Ecosystem*, 2(2), 37-44.

Oguchi, R., Onoad, Y., Terashima, I., & Tholen, D. (2018). Leaf Anatomy and Function. In Adams III, W., Terashima, I. (eds). *The Leaf: A Platform for Performing Photosynthesis* 44, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93594-2_5.

Oliveira, I., Meyer, A., Afonso, S., & Goncalves, B. (2018). Compared Leaf Anatomy and Water Relations of Commercial and Traditional *Prunus dulcis* (Mill.) Cultivars Under Rain-Fed Conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 229, 226-232. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2017.11.015

Olsen, J. T., Caudle, K.L., Johnson, L, C., Baer, S,G., & Maricle, B. R. (2013). Environmental an Genetic Variation in Leaf Anatomy Among Populations of *Andropogon gerardii* (Poaceae) Along a Precipitation Gradient. *American Journal of Botany*, *100*(10), 1957-1968. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1200628

Onoda, Y., Schieving, F., & Anten, N.P.R. (2015). A Novel Method of Measuring Leaf Epidermis and Mesophyll Stiffness Shows The Ubiquitous Nature of The Sandwich Structure of Leaf Laminas in Broad-Leaved Angiosperm Species. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 66(9), 2487-2499. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv024

Orchard, G. E., Torres, P. & Sounthararajah, R. (2008). Use Of Softening Agents to Improve the Production of Formalin-Fixed. Paraffin-Embedded Sections of Nail Tissue: An Assessment. *British Journal of Biomedia Science*,65 (2), 68-70. DOI: 10.1080/09674845.2008.11732799.

Osakabe, Y., Shinozaki-Yamaguchi, K., Shinozaki, K., & Trans, L. P. (2013). ABA Control of Plant Macroelement Membrane Transport Systems in Response to Water Deficit and High Salinity. *New Phytologist*, *2*(1), 35-49. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12613.

Outlaw, W. H., Schmuck, C. L., & Tolbert, N. E. (1976). Photosynthetic Carbon Metabolism in the Palisade Parenchyma and Spongy Parenchyma of *Vicia faba* L. *Plant Physiology*, *58*(2), 186-189. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.58.2.186.

Ozcan, M., Demiralay, M., & Kahriman, A. (2015). Leaf Anatomical Notes on Cirsium Miller (Asteraceae, Carduoideae) from Turkey. *Plant Systematic and Evolution*, *301*, 1995-2012. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00606-015-1209-y.

Park, S.W., An, S., & Kwack, Y. (2020). Changes in Transpiration Rates and Growth of Cucumber and Tomato Scions and Rootstocks Grown Under Different Light Intensity Conditions in a Closed Transplant Production System. *Journal of Bio-Environment Control*, 29(4), 339-405. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12791/ KSBEC.2020.29.4.399.

Rahman, M. A., Stratopoulos, Laura, M.F., Moser-Reischl, A., Zolch, T., Haberle, K., Rotzer, T., Pretzcah, H, & Pauleit, S. (2019). Traits of Trees for Cooling Urban Heat Islands: A Metaanalysis. *Building and Environment, 170*, 1-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106606.

Rashid, P., Shethi, K. J., & Ahmed A. (2020). Leaf Anatomical Adaptation of Eighteen Mangrove Plant Species from The Sundarbans in Bangladesh. *Bangladesh Journal of Botany*, *49*(4), 903-911. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3329/bjb.v49i4.52496.

Reinking, L. (2007). *Examples of Image Analysis Using ImageJ*. Retrieved from https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/docs/pdfs/examples.pdf

Salisbury, F. B., & Ross, C. W. (1995). *Fisiologi Tumbuhan* (Eds. 1)). Penerbit ITB Bandung.

Sass, J. E. (1951). *Botanical Microtechnique Second Edition*. The Lowa State College Press.

Schulze, E.D., Lange., O.L., Kappen, L., Buschbom, U., & Evenari, M. (1973). Stomatal Responses to Changes in Temperature at Increasing Water Stress. *Planta*, *110*, 29-42.DOI: 10.1007/BF00386920.

Schymanski, S.J & Or, D. (2015). Wind Effects on Leaf Transpiration Challenge the Concept of "Potential Evaporation". *Proceeding of IAHS*, *371*, 99-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5194/ piahs-371-99-2015, 2015.

Slot, M., & Winter, K. (2017). *In Situ* Temperature Relationships of Biochemical and Stomatal Controls of Photosynthesis in Four Lowland Tropical Tree Species. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 40(2), 3055-3068. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13071.

Sugiarto, A., Marisa, H., & Sarno, S. (2020). Pemodelan Pengaruh Peningkatan Suhu Udara Terhadap Laju Transpirasi Bibit *Lansium domesticum* Corr Menggunakan Metode Potometer yang Dimodifikasi. *Sriwijaya Bioscientia*, 1(2), 31-34. DOI: https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.24233/sribios.1.1.2020.165.

Sumardi, I., & Wulandari, M. (2010). Anatomy and morphology character of five Indonesian banana cultivars (*Musa* spp.) of

610

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

different ploidy level. *Biodiversitas*, 11 (4), 167-175. DOI: 10.13057/biodiv/d110401.

Sundberg, M. D. (1985). Trends in Distribution and Size of Stomata in Desert Plants. *Desert Plants*, 7(3), 154-157.

Taiz, L., Zeiger, E., Moller, I. M., & Murphy, A. (2018). *Fundamentals of Plant Physiology*. Oxford University Press.

Thom, J. K., Fltcher, T.D., Lisvesley, S. J., Grey, V., & Szota, C. (2022). Supporting Growth and Transpiration of Newly Planted Street with Passive Irrigation Systems. *Water Resources Research*, 58, e2020WR029526. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1029/2020WR029526.

Tihurua, E. F., Agustiani, E. L., & Rahmawati, K. (2020). Karakter Anatomi Daun sebagai Bentuk Adaptasi Tumbuhan Penyusun Zonasi *Mangrove* di Banggai Kepulauan, Provinsip Sulawesi Tengah. *Jurnal Kelautan Tropis*, 23(2), 255-264. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14710/jkt.v23i2.7048.

Toscano, S., Ferrante, A., & Romano, D. (2019). Respons of Mediterranean Ornamental Plants to Drought Stress. *Horticulturae*, *5*(6), 1-20. DOI: 10.3390/horticulturae5010006.

Tullus, A., Kupper, P., Sellin, A., Parts, L., Sober, J., Tullus, T., Lohmus, K., Sober, A., & Tullus, H. (2012). Climate Change at Northern Latitudes: Rising Atmospheric Humidity Decreases Transpiration, N-Uptake and Growth Rate of Hybrid Aspen. *Plos One*, 7(8), 1-11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042648.

Vastag, E., Cocozza, C., Orlovic, S., Kesic, L., Kresoja, M., & Stojnic, S. (2020). Half-Sib Lines of Pedunculate Oak (*Quercus robur* L.) Respond Differently to Drought Through Biometrical, Anatomical and Physiological Traits. *Forests*, *11*(153), 1-21. DOI: 10.3390/f11020153.

Von Caemmerer, S., & Evans, J.R. (2014). Temperature Responses of Mesophyll Conductance Differ Greatly Between Species. *Plant, Cells & Environment, 38*(4), 629-637. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12449.

Wang, Z., Liu, S., Xu, Y., Zhu, W., & Du, A. (2022). Differences in Transpiration Characteristics among Eucalyptus Plantations of

Three Species on the Leizhou Peninsula, Southern China. *Forest*, *13*(10), 1-20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/f13101544.

Widyastuti, T. (2018). *Teknologi Budidaya Tanaman Hias* Agribisnis. CV Mine.

Williams, N. S. G., Bathgate, R. S., Farrell, C., Lee, K. F., et al. (2021). Ten years of greening a wide brown land: A synthesis of Australian green roof research and roadmap forward. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 62, 1-10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127179.

Wullschleger, S.D., & Oostherhuis, D. M. (1989). The Occurrence of an Internal Cuticle in Cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) Leaf Stomates. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 29(2), 229-235. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0098-8472(89)90054-3.

Xie, S. & Luo, X. (2003). Effect of Leaf Position and Age on Anatomical Structure, Photosynthesis, Stomatal Conductance and Transpiration of Asian Pear. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica*, 44, 297-303. DOI: 10.7016/BBAS.200310.0297.

Xing, D., Wang, W., Wu, Y., Qin, X., Li, M., Chen, X, &Yu, R.
(2022). Translocation and Utilization Mechanisms of Leaf Intracellular Water in Karst Plant *Orychophragmus violaceus* (L.)
O. E. Schulz and *Brassica napus* L. *Holticulturae*, 8(1082), 2-13.
DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae8111082.

Yang, Z., Sinclair, T. R., Zhu, M., Messina, C. D., Cooper, M., & Hammer, G. L. (2012). Temperature Effect on Transpiration Response of Maize Plants to Vapour Pressure Deficit. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 78, 157-162, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.12.034.

Zhang, J., Jiang, X.D., & Cao, X.J. (2014). Photosynthesis and Ultrastructure of Photosynthetic Apparatus in Tomato Leaves under Elevated Temperature. *Photosynthetica*, *52*(3), 430-436. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-014-0051-8.

Zwieniecki, M., & Boyce, C.K. (2014). Evolution of a Unique Precision in Angiosperm Leaf Venation Lifts Constraints on Vascular Plant Ecology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 281, 1-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2829.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org





Pluronic F-127 hydrogel for stem cell research: a bibliometric analysis using Scopus database

Khan Sharun^{1*†}, S. Amitha Banu^{1†}, Laith Abualigah^{2,3,4,5,6,7}, Rohit Kumar¹, A. M. Pawde¹, Kuldeep Dhama^{8*}, Amarpal¹

¹Division of Surgery, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh, India

²Computer Science Department, Prince Hussein Bin Abdullah Faculty for Information Technology, Al al-Bayt University, Mafraq 25113, Jordan.

³Hourani Center for Applied Scientific Research, Al-Ahliyya Amman University, Amman 19328, Jordan.

⁵Applied Science Research Center, Applied Science Private University, Amman 11931, Jordan.

⁶School of Computer Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Pulau Pinang 11800, Malaysia.

⁷School of Engineering and Technology, Sunway University Malaysia, Petaling Jaya 27500, Malaysia

⁸Division of Pathology, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar, Bareilly, Uttar Pradesh, India

[†]Both authors contributed equally and should be considered as co-first authors

Received – May 28, 2023; Revision – June 25, 2023; Accepted – April 29, 2023 Available Online – June 30, 2023

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18006/2023.11(3).612.624

KEYWORDS Pluronic F-127

Tissue engineering

Encapsulation

Thermoresponsive hydrogel

Mesenchymal stem cells

Regenerative medicine

ABSTRACT

Stem cell research holds immense promise in regenerative medicine. However, the successful utilization of stem cells relies on their inherent properties and the appropriate support matrix that provides an optimal environment for growth and differentiation. Optimizing their delivery and retention at the target site is crucial to enhance stem cell-based therapies' effectiveness. In recent years, hydrogels have emerged as a popular choice for culturing and delivering stem cells due to their unique properties, including biocompatibility, tunable physical and chemical characteristics, and mimicking the native extracellular matrix. Among the various hydrogels available, Pluronic F-127 (PF-127) has gained significant attention in stem cell research. This paper aims to study the publication trends of research that discuss the utilization of PF-127 hydrogel for stem cell research. The analysis is based on data extracted from the Scopus database using bibliometric methods. The results revealed the publication trends, collaboration patterns among authors and institutions, research areas, influential journals, funding agencies, and thematic connections in this field. By understanding the current state of research and identifying key areas of focus, this analysis provides valuable insights for researchers and practitioners interested in harnessing the potential of PF-127 hydrogel in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering.

* Corresponding author

E-mail: sharunkhansk@gmail.com, info@sharunkhan.com (Khan Sharun); kdhama@rediffmail.com (Kuldeep Dhama)

Peer review under responsibility of Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences.

Production and Hosting by Horizon Publisher India [HPI] (http://www.horizonpublisherindia.in/). All rights reserved. All the articles published by Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License Based on a work at www.jebas.org.



⁴MEU Research Unit, Middle East University, Amman 11831, Jordan.

1 Introduction

Stem cell research holds immense potential in regenerative medicine (Sharun et al. 2020; Bist et al. 2021; Sharun et al. 2021; Peer et al. 2022; Sharun et al. 2022a; Sivanarayanan et al. 2023). However, the successful utilization of stem cells relies not only on their inherent properties but also on the appropriate support matrix that provides an optimal environment for their growth and differentiation (Bist et al. 2021; Peer et al. 2022; Sivanarayanan et al. 2023). In recent years, hydrogels have emerged as a popular choice for culturing and delivering stem cells due to their unique properties, including biocompatibility, tunable physical and chemical characteristics, and ability to mimic the native extracellular matrix (Tsou et al. 2016; Mantha et al. 2019). Among the various hydrogels available, PF-127 has gained significant attention in stem cell research (Sharun et al. 2023).

PF-127 is a thermosensitive and biocompatible hydrogel that exhibits a sol-gel transition at physiological temperatures, making it suitable for various biomedical applications (Sharun et al. 2023). Its unique thermoresponsive behaviour allows for easy gelation and subsequent encapsulation of stem cells, providing them with a supportive 3D microenvironment (Tsou et al. 2016; Mantha et al. 2019). Additionally, PF-127 hydrogel possesses excellent biodegradability and controllable release properties, making it an ideal candidate for controlled drug delivery and tissue engineering (Diniz et al. 2015). The use of PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research offers numerous advantages. Its non-toxic nature and high-water content facilitate cell viability, proliferation, and differentiation. The hydrogel's porous structure facilitates efficient nutrient and oxygen exchange, promoting cell survival and functionality (Youn et al. 2021; García-Couce et al. 2022). Moreover, PF-127 can be easily modified to incorporate bioactive molecules, growth factors, and therapeutic agents, enhancing the bio functionality of the hydrogel and promoting specific cellular responses (Zhou et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2014).

It is necessary to explore the recent advancements and promising outcomes achieved using PF-127 hydrogel in regenerative medicine (Sharun et al. 2023). By understanding the capabilities and limitations of PF-127 hydrogel for stem cell research, we can unlock its full potential in harnessing the power of stem cells for therapeutic interventions. This knowledge will contribute to developing novel strategies for improving stem cell-based therapies and advancing regenerative medicine, bringing us closer to realizing effective clinical applications.

This paper aims to study the publication trends of research that discuss the utilization of PF-127 hydrogel for stem cell research. We will also address the challenges and future directions in the field, such as improving long-term cell viability, achieving controlled release kinetics, and enhancing tissue regeneration.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Data extraction

The data extraction was performed on June 21, 2023, using the Scopus database (Elsevier B.V) to identify the works of literature that use PF-127 in stem cell research. The search strategy aimed to collect the journal articles (research articles) data published to date while certain publication types such as reviews, editorials, conference papers, book chapters, letters, books, notes, short surveys, retracted papers, erratum, and reports are excluded (Sharun et al. 2022a; Sharun et al. 2022b). Articles published in any language were included in the analysis. The following search query was employed: TITLE-ABS-KEY [(poloxamer 407 OR "Pluronic F-127" OR pf-127 OR pluronic-f-127 OR "Pluronic™ F-127" OR "Plutonic F127" OR pf127 OR "Pluronic® F-127" OR "Pluronic® F127") AND ("stem cell" * OR "stromal cell" *) and (LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "ar")) AND (LIMIT-TO (SRCTYPE, "j")].

2.2 Analysis of variables

The extracted data file was further analyzed using R Studio and the bibliometrix package, a powerful open-source tool specifically designed for science mapping analysis within the R statistical programming language (Aria and Cuccurullo 2017). The extracted data were further analyzed, and interpretation was made based on the findings.

2.3 Visualization

The data was visualized using VOS viewer software (version 1.6.17) (van Eck and Waltman 2010). In addition, Biblioshiny, a web application framework that integrates with the R programming language, was also used for creating interactive and dynamic bibliographic data visualization tools (Aria and Cuccurullo 2017).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Overview of publication trends

The data presented encompasses the timespan from 2010 to 2020 and includes information from 17 documents. The annual growth rate for these documents is 0%, indicating a stable publication output over the specified period. The average age of the papers is 7.29 years, suggesting that the data primarily includes relatively recent research. On average, each document has been cited 33.86 times, indicating moderate impact and recognition within the scholarly community. Regarding document contents, the data includes 496 keywords identified as "Keywords Plus" and 63 author-provided keywords. The data involves 98 authors, with no single-authored documents among the 17 analyzed. The collaboration among authors is evident, with an average of 7.14 coauthors per document, indicating a high level of cooperation in the field. Additionally, 28.57% of the co-authorships are international, reflecting a global perspective and collaboration within the research community. The document types included in the dataset are solely articles, indicating a focus on original research and scientific analysis.

3.2 Research areas

The subject areas in the Scopus database that have been published on PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research vary in terms of the number of documents (Figure 1). Engineering appears to be the most prominent subject area, with 11 articles indicating a significant focus on the engineering aspects of using PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research. The fields of Biochemistry, Genetics, Molecular Biology, Materials Science, and Medicine are equally represented with seven documents each, highlighting the interdisciplinary nature of this research topic. Additionally, Pharmacology, Toxicology, and Pharmaceutics have contributed three articles, indicating the interest in exploring the potential therapeutic applications of PF-127 hydrogel. Chemical Engineering has published two articles focusing on this hydrogel's engineering and manufacturing aspects. Lastly, Physics and Astronomy have contributed 1 document. This data reflects the multidisciplinary nature of PF-127 hydrogel research in stem cell studies involving various scientific disciplines and their collaborative efforts.

3.3 Analysis of keywords

The WordCloud illustrating the top 50 most frequent Keywords Plus is given in Figure 2a. Poloxamer (38), article (16), hydrogel (13), rats (13), cell survival (12), mesenchymal stromal cells (12), nonhuman (12), animal (11), animals (11), cell differentiation (11), chemistry (11), hydrogels (11), male (11), mesenchymal stem cell (11), and mesenchymal stroma cell (11) were some of the most frequently used Keywords Plus identified in this study. Similarly, Figure 2b presents the WordCloud of the top 50 authors' keywords used in their publications. Hydrogel (3), cell therapy (2), alginate/poloxamer systems (1), biocompatibility/soft tissue (1), bioprinting (1), biphilic (1), bmscs (1), bone (1), bone graft (1), and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell (1) were some of the most frequently used authors keywords identified in this study.

3.4 Identification of top institutes and countries

Sun Yat-Sen University is the leading affiliation in productivity, with four publications dedicated to this subject. Université Paris Descartes follows closely behind with three publications, demonstrating its significant contributions to the scientific community's understanding of the intersection between PF-127 hydrogel and stem cell research. Several affiliations, including the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, Saarland University Medical Center, Technical Institute of Physics and Chemistry, Universidade de Santiago de



Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org



Figure 2 (a) Word Cloud illustrating the top 50 most frequent Keywords Plus (b) and 50 most frequent words by authors keywords.

Compostela, Trinity College Dublin, University of Iowa, and the University of Southern California, have all made notable contributions with two publications each. These affiliations represent a diverse range of research institutions from different countries, indicating the global interest in exploring the potential of PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research. The collective efforts of these affiliations have enriched the scientific literature and furthered our understanding of the applications and implications of this hydrogel in the context of stem cells.

Among the countries, China is the most prolific, with 12 publications dedicated to this topic (Figure 3). China's strong presence in the field of PF-127 hydrogel research demonstrates its commitment to advancing stem cell studies and exploring the potential applications of this hydrogel in regenerative medicine.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

France and South Korea are closely behind China, contributing significantly with nine publications each. These countries have shown a substantial interest in the intersection of stem cell research and PF-127 hydrogel, contributing valuable insights to the scientific community. The United States, a leading hub of scientific research, has also made notable contributions with seven publications. Ireland and Spain demonstrate a commendable presence in the field, with five publications each indicating their active involvement in stem cell research involving PF-127 hydrogel. Other countries such as Belgium, Germany, the United Kingdom, Brazil, and Mexico have also made contributions with smaller numbers of publications. The collective efforts of these countries reflect the global interest in exploring the potential of PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research and highlight the collaborative nature of scientific exploration in this field.



Figure 3 Map representing Country Scientific Production on Pluronic F-127 hydrogel for stem cell research across the globe.

3.5 Most cited countries

The data highlights the most cited countries and their corresponding total citations (TC) and average article citations. The United States (USA) leads the list with a total citation count of 172, indicating a high impact and recognition of research originating from the country. The average article citation for the USA is 57.30, suggesting that publications from the US receive a significant number of citations on average. Korea follows closely behind with a total citation count of 129 and an average article citation of 32.20, indicating a strong impact and influence of Korean research within the scholarly community. With a total citation count of 76 and an average article citation of 38.00, China demonstrates significant recognition and impact in the field. France has a total citation count of 49, with an average article citation of 49.00, reflecting a high average citation rate for publications originating from the country. Germany, the United Kingdom, Spain, and Ireland have lower total citation counts and average article citations, indicating a relatively lesser impact in citation numbers. Nevertheless, it is important to note that these values can vary depending on the specific research field and the time frame considered.

3.6 Identification of influential journals

The data provided showcases the most relevant journals publishing articles on PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research and the corresponding number of published articles. Acta Biomaterialia, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, Chinese Journal of Tissue Engineering Research, and Journal of Biomedical Materials Research - Part B Applied Biomaterials emerge as the leading

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org journals in this field, each publishing two articles on PF-127 hydrogel and its applications in stem cell research. These journals have established themselves as prominent platforms for disseminating research. Additionally, ACS Nano, Journal of Controlled Release, Cell Transplantation, CIOS Clinics in Orthopedic Surgery, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research -Part A, Stem Cell Research and Therapy, Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine, West China Journal of Stomatology, and Tissue Engineering - Part C: Methods are also recognized as contributors to this field, each publishing one article on PF-127 hydrogel and its role in stem cell research. These journals serve as important outlets for researchers to share their findings and advancements, highlighting the diverse range of journals contributing to the body of knowledge in this area. Collectively, these publications contribute to the growing understanding of the applications and potential of PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research.

Bradford's law is a bibliometric concept that suggests that scientific literature can be divided into zones based on the frequency of publication in certain journals. Zone 1, according to Bradford's law, represents the core journals that publish a significant portion of the articles in a particular field. In the given data, three journals, namely Acta Biomaterialia, Chinese Journal of Tissue Engineering Research, and International Journal of Pharmaceutics belong to zone 1 of Bradford's law. Overall, including Acta Biomaterialia, Chinese Journal of Tissue Engineering Research, and International Journal of Pharmaceutics in zone 1 of Bradford's law indicates their significance as core journals in their respective fields. These journals serve as important platforms for researchers to publish their findings related to PF-127 hydrogel and its applications, contributing to
advancing knowledge in biomaterials, tissue engineering, and pharmaceutical sciences.

3.7 Funding agencies

The data provided highlights the sponsorship of articles by various funding agencies. Among the mentioned agencies, most articles were sponsored by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, with three publications. The European Regional Development Fund and the National Research Foundation of Korea follow closely, each sponsoring two articles.

Several other funding agencies have sponsored one article each, including the Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission, Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council, Fundación Pedro Barrié de la Maza, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, Korea Institute of Science and Technology, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, National Key Research and Development Program of China, Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte, Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Ministry of Knowledge Economy, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, National Institutes of Health, Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, Sun Yat-sen University, Université Paris Descartes, and Xunta de Galicia. This diverse range of funding agencies reflects the international nature of the research and the importance of financial support from various organizations in advancing scientific knowledge and innovation.

3.8 Thematic map

In bibliometric analysis, a thematic map containing development degree and relevance degree provides valuable insights into the distribution and characteristics of research topics within a specific field (Figure 4). The development degree indicates the research activity and output level in a particular research area or region. It reflects the quantity and growth of publications related to specific themes. A higher development degree suggests greater research output in that area. On the other hand, the relevance degree in a thematic map indicates the degree of interconnectedness or similarity between different research topics or areas. It helps identify clusters or groups of closely related research themes. A higher relevance degree indicates stronger thematic connections or shared characteristics among the topics.

The thematic map on PF-127 hydrogel in stem cell research is inserted in Figure 4. Researchers can gain a comprehensive understanding of the research landscape by considering both the development degree and relevance degree in a thematic map. They can identify hotspots of research activity, detect emerging trends, and uncover areas of high significance and potential for collaboration. This information can guide decision-making, resource allocation, and strategic planning in bibliometric analysis and research evaluation.



Figure 4 The thematic map on Pluronic F-127 hydrogel in stem cell research.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Sharun et al.

3.9 Network visualization map

The map indicates the connections between authors. Specifically, authors with at least one document were selected for inclusion in the map. Although 111 authors met this threshold, some were not connected; therefore, the most extensive set of connected items constituting 16 authors were illustrated (Figure 5a). Similarly, 4 countries of the 11 countries that met the threshold were illustrated since they formed the largest network (Fig. 5b).

3.10 Research on PF-127 hydrogel for stem cell research

The salient findings of the 17 papers published on the use of PF-127 hydrogel for stem cell research are presented in Table 1. Diniz et al. (2015) investigated the potential of dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) to undergo differentiation into bone and fat tissues when encapsulated in a PF127 hydrogel scaffold. The viability, proliferation, and differentiation of DPSCs were assessed, and the results revealed that PF-127 hydrogel is a promising and safe scaffold for encapsulating DPSCs. These findings suggest that PF-127 hydrogel can be considered a potential candidate for delivering DPSCs in tissue engineering applications. Similarly, Kang et al. (2016) study describes the synthesis of F127/COS/KGNDCF nanospheres, which are composed of outer cross-linked PEO chains of dicarboxylate PF127 and chitosan oligosaccharide (COS) conjugated with kartogenin (KGN) and inner PPO chains of diclofenac (DCF) loaded PF127. Furthermore, the F127/COS/KGNDCF nanospheres were found to promote chondrogenic differentiation of human BMSCs, with enhanced effects observed upon cold shock treatment.



Figure 5 (a) The network visualization map indicating the connecting link between authors and (b) countries.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Total TC per Normalized Paper DOI Citations Year TC Diniz IM et al. Pluronic F-127 hydrogel as a promising scaffold for encapsulation of dental-derived mesenchymal stem cells. 10.1007/s10856-015-5493-4 13.78 124 1.65 J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2015 Mar;26(3):153. PMID: 25773231; PMCID: PMC4477746. Kang ML et al. Thermoresponsive nanospheres with independent dual drug release profiles for the treatment of osteoarthritis. 10.1016/j.actbio.2016.05.005 79 9.88 1.84 Acta Biomater. 2016 Jul 15:39:65-78. PMID: 27155347. Silva AKA, et al. Thermoresponsive Gel Embedded with Adipose Stem-Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Promotes Esophageal Fistula Healing in a Thermo-Actuated Delivery Strategy. ACS Nano. 2018 Oct 23;12(10):9800-9814. PMID: 10.1021/acsnano.8b00117 49 8.17 1.69 30231208. Yang H, et al. Vitamin C plus hydrogel facilitates bone marrow stromal cell-mediated endometrium regeneration in rats. 10.1186/s13287-017-0718-8 46 6.57 1.89 Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017 Nov 21;8(1):267. PMID: 29157289; PMCID: PMC5697119. Hou Y, et al. Soft liquid metal nanoparticles achieve reduced crystal nucleation and ultrarapid rewarming for human bone 10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.023 30 7.50 1.00 marrow stromal cell and blood vessel cryopreservation. Acta Biomater. 2020 Jan 15;102:403-415. PMID: 31734413. Seol D, et al. Biocompatibility and preclinical feasibility tests of a temperature-sensitive hydrogel for the purpose of surgical 10.1002/jbm.b.32981 27 2.45 1.86 wound pain control and cartilage repair. J Biomed Mater Res B ApplBiomater. 2013 Nov;101(8):1508-15. PMID: 24591226. Díaz-Rodríguez P, et al. Effective genetic modification and differentiation of hMSCs upon controlled release of rAAV vectors 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.11.008 26 2.89 0.35 using alginate/poloxamer composite systems. Int J Pharm. 2015 Dec 30:496(2):614-26. PMID: 26556623. Bae SE, et al. Effect of temporally controlled release of dexamethasone on in vivo chondrogenic differentiation of 10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.12.024 25 1.79 1.00 mesenchymal stromal cells. J Control Release. 2010 Apr 2;143(1):23-30. PMID: 20056124. Gettler BC, et al. Formation of Adipose Stromal Vascular Fraction Cell-Laden Spheroids Using a Three-Dimensional 10.1089/ten.tec.2017.0056 21 3.00 0.86 Bioprinter and Superhydrophobic Surfaces. Tissue Eng Part C Methods. 2017 Sep;23(9):516-524. PMID: 28665236. Kim TH, et al. Bone morphogenetic proteins-immobilized polydioxanone porous particles as an artificial bone graft. J Biomed 10.1002/jbm.a.34803 14 1.40 1.12 Mater Res A. 2014 May;102(5):1264-74. PMID: 23703875. Lee JH, et al. The effect of poloxamer 407-based hydrogel on the osteoinductivity of demineralized bone matrix. Clin Orthop 10.4055/cios.2014.6.4.455 11 1.10 0.88 Surg. 2014 Dec;6(4):455-61. PMID: 25436071; PMCID: PMC4233226. Outachi O, et al. Improved delivery of PLGA microparticles and microparticle-cell scaffolds in clinical needle gauges using 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.05.025 9 1.50 0.31 modified viscosity formulations. Int J Pharm. 2018 Jul 30;546(1-2):272-278. PMID: 29753905. Argibay B, et al. Easy and Efficient Cell Tagging with Block Copolymer-Based Contrast Agents for Sensitive MRI Detection 10.3727/096368916X691303 7 0.88 0.16 in Vivo. Cell Transplant. 2016 Oct;25(10):1787-1800. PMID: 27093950. Curley CJ, et al. An in vitro investigation to assess procedure parameters for injecting therapeutic hydrogels into the myocardium. J Biomed Mater Res B ApplBiomater. 2017 Nov;105(8):2618-2629. doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.33802. Epub 2016 Oct 10.1002/jbm.b.33802 6 0.86 0.25 20. PMID: 27764526. Zhou N, et al. [Experimental study on transplantation of bone morphogenetic protein-2 gene transfected bone mesenchymal stem cells compounded with Pluronic F-127 for promoting bone regeneration in rabbit mandibular distraction]. Hua Xi Kou NA 2 0.18 0.14 Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2013 Jun;31(3):247-52. Chinese. PMID: 23841294. Dong C, Xin J. Effect of kartogenin/pluronic f127 micelles on osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem 10.12307/2021.241 0 0.00 0.00 cells. Chin J Tissue Eng Res. 2021;25(34):5473-7. Yan L, et al. Hydrogel combined with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of damaged endometrium in rats. 10.12307/2022.776 0 0.00 0.00

Table 1 Characteristics of the research articles that use Pluronic F-127 hydrogel in stem cell research.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Chin J Tissue Eng Res. 2022;26(31):4940-5.

Silva et al. (2018) explore the potential therapeutic application of allogenic extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from ASCs for fistula healing. A local minimally invasive delivery strategy was employed, where the EVs were administered in a porcine fistula model using PF-127 gel. The gel was injected locally at 4 °C and gelled at body temperature, effectively retaining the EVs in the entire fistula tract. The results demonstrate the successful induction of a therapeutic effect in the swine fistula model through ASC-EV delivery within the PF-127 gel, highlighting its potential as a local minimally invasive approach. Yang et al. (2017) investigated the feasibility of using a combination of hydrogel PF-127, Vitamin C (Vc), and a mixture of BMSCs to enhance endometrial regeneration in a rat model of intrauterine adhesion (IUA) caused by mechanical damage. In vitro experiments showed that Vc improved the survival and health of PF-127-encapsulated BMSCs, counteracting the cytotoxic effects of PF-127 and promoting cell survival and growth. Therefore, a cell therapy approach combining a biomaterial scaffold, BMSCs, and Vc as modulatory factors were found to promote damaged IUA endometrium restoration.

Hou et al. (2020) reported that the PF-127-liquid metal nanoparticles (PLM NPs) demonstrated excellent characteristics, including uniform particle size, high photothermal conversion efficiency (52%), stable photothermal performance, and low cytotoxicity. The viability of human BMSCs after cryopreservation using PLM NPs reached 78±3%, three times higher than conventional warming methods (25±6%). Seol et al. (2013) investigated the safety and efficacy of a novel PF127 and hyaluronic acid-based hydrogel (HG) for therapeutic delivery. Standard in vitro cytotoxicity and drug release tests were performed, and in-vivo biocompatibility tests were conducted in a rat model. Additionally, the effectiveness of the HG as a stem cell carrier in a rat cartilage defect model was determined. The HG exhibited comparable levels of viability and biocompatibility to those reported for PF127 or hyaluronic acid individually. Stem cells encapsulated within the hydrogel remained in their original position and promoted cartilage regeneration in experimental defects.

Díaz-Rodríguez et al. (2015) developed hydrogel structures using alginate (AlgPH155) and poloxamer PF127 for encapsulating and releasing recombinant adeno-associated viral (rAAV) vectors. The different hydrogel systems exhibited high transduction efficiencies and gene expression levels in human mesenchymal stem cells, comparable to direct vector application. AlgPH155+PF127 demonstrated the most favourable results. Furthermore, no negative impact was observed on cell viability or chondrogenic differentiation potential. These findings suggest the potential of AlgPH155+PF127 hydrogel for the effective and safe delivery of rAAV vectors in stem cell applications. Bae et al. (2010) examined how the release of dexamethasone (Dex) from two groups of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres influenced the chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs in an in vivo setting. Each

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org group of microspheres was incorporated into a composite hydrogel comprising hyaluronic acid (HA) and PF127, along with rabbit MSCs. The release profiles of Dex from each group of microspheres exhibited significant differences over time. The composite hydrogel underwent a sol-gel transition, forming a gel at body temperature. The hydrogel-containing nanoparticle microspheres (NPMS) demonstrated better in vitro cell viability than those with plain microspheres (PMS).

Gettler et al. (2017) utilized three-dimensional bioprinting technology, and this study successfully generated SVF cell-laden spheroids embedded in a collagen I biomatrix. The findings demonstrate that a biphilic surface can create a uniform and viable SVF-laden spheroids. By incorporating automation through a 3D bioprinter, the process becomes high throughput and suitable for point-of-care clinical applications. Additionally, using a watersoluble hydrophilic spot and the phase transition properties of PF-127 enable minimally disruptive spheroid removal, facilitating manipulation for various applications. These collagen-based SVF spheroids offer a potential strategy to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of cellular infusions in regenerative medicine by improving cellular localization and retention.

According to Kim et al. (2014) BMPs were immobilized onto polydioxanone (PDO)/PF127 porous particles to create a bone graft. Heparin and BMPs (BMP-2 and BMP-7, single or dual) were sequentially bound to the porous particles. The BMPs were successfully immobilized onto the particle surfaces via heparin binding and exhibited sustained release for up to 21 days, regardless of the BMP type. The BMP-immobilized particles effectively promoted in vitro osteogenesis of BMSCs. These BMPimmobilized PDO/PF-127 porous particles, whether containing BMP-2 alone or a combination of BMP-2 and BMP-7, hold promise as a bone graft option for clinical applications involving delayed or insufficient bone healing.

Further, Lee et al. (2014) suggested that demineralized bone matrix (DBM) possesses osteoinductivity that relies on an appropriate carrier for clinical use. This study evaluated the impact of using a poloxamer 407-based hydrogel as a carrier for DBM compared to sterile water. The findings indicate that the poloxamer 407-based hydrogel demonstrates potential as a DBM carrier, as it promotes ectopic bone formation. However, it negatively affects the osteoblastic differentiation in rat abdominal ectopic bone and MSCs.

Qutachi et al. (2018) investigated the impact of needle diameter on the delivery yield, and a modified viscosity formulation was developed to enhance microparticle delivery through clinically relevant needle diameters. A biocompatible formulation consisting of 0.25% PF-127 and 0.25% carboxymethyl cellulose was identified as optimal, leading to a 520% increase in delivery payload across needle gauges 21-30G. This optimized formulation was utilized to improve the delivery yield of PLGA microparticles and PLGA-cell scaffolds that support viable MSCs. Notably, this study presents the first in vitro delivery of the PLGA-cell scaffold system.

Argibay et al. (2016) suggested that superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (MNPs) are widely used with MRI to track stem cells. However, commercial MNPs often require transfection agents and lengthy incubation periods for adequate cell labelling and subsequent in vivo cell detection. This study synthesized MNPs coated with PF-127 and tetronic 908 and was evaluated as contrast agents for MRI-based cell detection for MSCs and a micederived multipotent neural progenitor cell line (C17.2). These MNPs offer several advantages, including easy preparation, efficient cell labelling, and high sensitivity for in vivo cell detection. Curley et al. (2017) focus on optimizing parameters to effectively retain cell-loaded hydrogels after intramyocardial injection while maintaining cell viability. The research investigates the impact of mechanical factors on hydrogel retention and compares different needle designs. Results indicate that smallerdiameter needles have greater hydrogel retention. When human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) embedded in fibrin hydrogel were injected using helical and 26G bevel needles, no significant difference in cell viability was observed at 48 hours. However, the helical group exhibited lower metabolic activity and decreased cell viability compared to the 26G bevel group over time. These findings emphasize the importance of considering biological and mechanical factors in localized stem cell delivery for myocardial regeneration. Zhou et al. (2013) evaluated the effectiveness of transplanting BMSCs transfected with the BMP-2 gene, combined with PF-127, for promoting bone regeneration in the mandibular distraction osteogenesis (DO) rabbit model. The findings indicate that the transplantation of BMP-2 gene transfected BMSCs combined with PF-127 effectively enhances bone regeneration in rabbit mandibular DO.

Chen and Jiang (2021) investigate the effect of Kartogenin/PF-127 micelles on the directional osteogenic differentiation of BMSCs. Kartogenin is known for its ability to activate the Smad4/Smad5 pathway and promote bone differentiation. However, its drug effect is limited. The study found that the Kartogenin/PF-127 micelles enhanced the osteogenic differentiation of BMSCs. Similarly, Yan et al. (2022) investigated the effect of combining hydrogel with BMSCs on endometrial reproduction in rats. The study results indicate that combining PF-127 hydrogel with BMSCs is feasible for treating endometrial injury. This finding provides new insights and potential strategies for endometrial repair.

Conclusion and Future Prospects

In conclusion, PF-127 hydrogel has shown great potential in various biomedical applications, particularly in regenerative medicine. Several studies have investigated its effectiveness as a scaffold material for encapsulating different types of stem cells, including DPSCs, BMSCs, and ASCs. The findings from these studies consistently indicate that PF-127 hydrogel provides a favourable environment for cell viability, proliferation, and differentiation. It has been demonstrated to support the differentiation of DPSCs into bone and fat tissues, BMSCs into chondrogenic and osteogenic lineages, and MSCs into various lineages such as osteoblasts and adipocytes.

Moreover, the hydrogel has been successfully utilized as a carrier for delivering therapeutic factors and gene vectors, enhancing their effectiveness in promoting tissue regeneration and healing. The thermoresponsive nature of PF-127 hydrogel, which undergoes solgel transition upon reaching body temperature, enables minimally invasive and localized delivery of cells and therapeutic agents. This property has been exploited in studies involving the local administration of hydrogel-encapsulated stem cells or extracellular vesicles, demonstrating its potential to improve therapeutic outcomes in tissue repair and regeneration models. Furthermore, PF-127 hydrogel has been combined with other biomaterials, such as alginate, hyaluronic acid, and PLGA, to enhance its properties and functionality. These composite hydrogels have shown improved cell viability, sustained release of therapeutic agents, and enhanced osteogenic or chondrogenic differentiation.

In addition to its applications in tissue engineering, PF-127 hydrogel has been investigated for its use in cell tracking and imaging studies. This advancement can significantly contribute to stem cell therapy by allowing non-invasive cell fate and distribution monitoring. Stem cells have garnered significant attention in regenerative medicine due to their remarkable potential to differentiate into different cell types and promote tissue regeneration. However, efficient and controlled delivery of stem cells to the target site is crucial for successful clinical translation. PF-127 hydrogel provides an ideal platform for stem cell encapsulation, offering numerous advantages that make it a favourable choice for researchers and clinicians.

One of the key features of PF-127 hydrogel is its thermoreversible property. This hydrogel transitions from a liquid state at low temperatures to a gel state at body temperature. This unique characteristic allows for easy handling and minimally invasive delivery. The liquid form facilitates cell encapsulation and homogeneous distribution, while the gel form provides a threedimensional (3D) scaffold that supports cell proliferation and differentiation. The ability to encapsulate stem cells within the hydrogel matrix ensures their spatial confinement and protection from harsh external environments during transplantation.

Furthermore, PF-127 hydrogel exhibits excellent biocompatibility and biodegradability. It has been extensively studied and proven to be non-toxic to cells and tissues, minimizing the risk of adverse

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

reactions or inflammation. The hydrogel gradually degrades over time, allowing for the release of encapsulated stem cells and their secreted factors, which play a crucial role in tissue regeneration. This controlled release mechanism ensures sustained and localized delivery of stem cells, maximizing their therapeutic potential. The tunable mechanical properties of PF-127 hydrogel make it highly versatile for different tissue engineering applications. By adjusting the concentration of the hydrogel, the stiffness and elasticity can be modulated to match target tissue requirements. The ability of PF-127 hydrogel to mimic the native tissue properties enhances cell adhesion, migration, and integration into the host tissue, facilitating successful tissue regeneration. Moreover, PF-127 hydrogel can be easily functionalized and modified to incorporate bioactive molecules, growth factors, or extracellular matrix components. These modifications can further enhance the stem cell response and guide specific cellular behaviours. The hydrogel can release growth factors in a controlled manner, promoting stem cell differentiation towards desired lineages and facilitating tissuespecific regeneration. Additionally, incorporating bioactive molecules or ECM components can provide signalling cues that mimic the natural tissue microenvironment and improve the overall efficacy of stem cell therapy.

Overall, the studies reviewed demonstrate the promising potential of PF-127 hydrogel as a scaffold material in various stem cellbased applications. Its biocompatibility, thermoresponsive behaviour, and ability to support cell viability, proliferation, and differentiation make it an attractive choice for regenerative medicine applications and drug delivery. However, further research and optimization are still required to exploit its capabilities fully and address potential limitations in different clinical scenarios. Further research and development efforts are needed to optimize the formulation, design, and application of PF-127 hydrogel-based systems to harness the full therapeutic potential of stem cells in regenerative medicine. Overall, PF-127 hydrogel represents a valuable tool in stem cell research, offering a supportive and customizable microenvironment for stem cell growth, differentiation, and delivery. Its versatile properties and compatibility with various cell types make it a promising candidate for future biomedical applications.

Ethical approval

Not applicable.

Data statement

The authors confirm that the data supporting the findings of this study are available within the article.

Funding

No substantial funding is to be stated.

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org

Declaration of Interest

All authors declare that there exist no commercial or financial relationships that could, in any way, lead to a potential conflict of interest.

Authors' contribution

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Director, ICAR-Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Izatnagar, Bareilly, India, and the All-India Network Program on Diagnostic Imaging and Management of Surgical Conditions in Animals (AINP-DIMSCA) for providing the necessary research facilities to carry out this work.

References

Argibay, B., Trekker, J., Himmelreich, U., Beiras, A., Topete, A., Taboada, P., Pérez-Mato, M., Iglesias-Rey, R., Sobrino, T., Rivas, J., Campos, F., & Castillo, J. (2016). Easy and Efficient Cell Tagging with Block Copolymer-Based Contrast Agents for Sensitive MRI Detection in Vivo. *Cell Transplantation*, *25*(10), 1787–1800. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368916X691303

Aria, M., & Cuccurullo, C. (2017). bibliometrix: an R-tool for comprehensive science mapping analysis. *Journal of Informetrics*, *11*(4): 959–975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joi.2017.08.007

Bae, S. E., Choi, D. H., Han, D. K., & Park, K. (2010). Effect of temporally controlled release of dexamethasone on in vivo chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Journal of Controlled Release*, *143*(1), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.12.024

Bist, D., Pawde, A. M., Amarpal, Kinjavdekar, P., Mukherjee, R., Singh, K. P., Verma, M. R., Sharun, K., Kumar, A., Dubey, P. K., Mohan, D., Verma, A., & Sharma, G. T. (2021). Evaluation of canine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for experimental full-thickness cutaneous wounds in a diabetic rat model. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, *21*(12), 1655–1664. https://doi.org/10.1080/14712598.2022.1990260

Chen, D., & Jiang, X. (2021). Effect of Kartogenin/Pluronic F127 micelles on osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Chinese Journal of Tissue Engineering Research*, 25(34), 5473.

Curley, C. J., Dolan, E. B., Cavanagh, B., O'Sullivan, J., Duffy, G. P., & Murphy, B. P. (2017). An in vitro investigation to assess procedure parameters for injecting therapeutic hydrogels into the

myocardium. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part B, Applied biomaterials, 105(8), 2618–2629. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.33802

Díaz-Rodríguez, P., Rey-Rico, A., Madry, H., Landin, M., & Cucchiarini, M. (2015). Effective genetic modification and differentiation of hMSCs upon controlled release of rAAV vectors using alginate/poloxamer composite systems. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 496(2), 614–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.11.008

Diniz, I. M., Chen, C., Xu, X., Ansari, S., Zadeh, H. H., Marques, M. M., Shi, S., & Moshaverinia, A. (2015). Pluronic F-127 hydrogel as a promising scaffold for encapsulation of dentalderived mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, *26*(3), 153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-015-5493-4

García-Couce, J., Tomás, M., Fuentes, G., Que, I., Almirall, A., & Cruz, L. J. (2022). Chitosan/Pluronic F127 Thermosensitive Hydrogel as an Injectable Dexamethasone Delivery Carrier. *Gels*, 8(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.3390/gels8010044

Gettler, B. C., Zakhari, J. S., Gandhi, P. S., & Williams, S. K. (2017). Formation of Adipose Stromal Vascular Fraction Cell-Laden Spheroids Using a Three-Dimensional Bioprinter and Superhydrophobic Surfaces. *Tissue Engineering: Part C, Methods*, 23(9), 516–524. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEC.2017.0056

Hou, Y., Lu, C., Dou, M., Zhang, C., Chang, H., Liu, J., & Rao, W. (2020). Soft liquid metal nanoparticles achieve reduced crystal nucleation and ultrarapid rewarming for human bone marrow stromal cell and blood vessel cryopreservation. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *102*, 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.11.023

Kang, M. L., Kim, J. E., & Im, G. I. (2016). Thermoresponsive nanospheres with independent dual drug release profiles for the treatment of osteoarthritis. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *39*, 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.05.005

Kim, T. H., Oh, S. H., Chun, S. Y., & Lee, J. H. (2014). Bone morphogenetic proteins-immobilized polydioxanone porous particles as an artificial bone graft. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research: Part A*, *102*(5), 1264–1274. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34803

Lee, J. H., Baek, H. R., Lee, K. M., Lee, H. K., Im, S. B., Kim, Y. S., Lee, J. H., Chang, B. S., & Lee, C. K. (2014). The effect of poloxamer 407-based hydrogel on the osteoinductivity of demineralized bone matrix. *Clinics in Orthopedic Surgery*, *6*(4), 455–461. https://doi.org/10.4055/cios.2014.6.4.455

Mantha, S., Pillai, S., Khayambashi, P., Upadhyay, A., Zhang, Y., Tao, O., Pham, H. M., & Tran, S. D. (2019). Smart Hydrogels in

Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences http://www.jebas.org Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. *Materials*, *12*(20), 3323. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12203323

Peer, B. A., Bhat, A. R., Shabir, U., Bharti, M. K., Bhat, I. A., Pandey, S., Sharun, K., Kumar, R., Mathesh, K., Saikumar, G., Chandra, V., Amarpal, & Sharma, G. T. (2022). Comparative evaluation of fracture healing potential of differentiated and undifferentiated guinea pig and canine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a guinea pig model. *Tissue & Cell*, *76*, 101768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2022.101768

Qutachi, O., Wright, E. J., Bray, G., Hamid, O. A., Rose, F. R. A. J., Shakesheff, K. M., & Delcassian, D. (2018). Improved delivery of PLGA microparticles and microparticle-cell scaffolds in clinical needle gauges using modified viscosity formulations. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 546(1-2), 272–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.05.025

Seol, D., Magnetta, M. J., Ramakrishnan, P. S., Kurriger, G. L., Choe, H., Jang, K., Martin, J. A., & Lim, T. H. (2013). Biocompatibility and preclinical feasibility tests of a temperaturesensitive hydrogel for the purpose of surgical wound pain control and cartilage repair. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research: Part B, Applied Biomaterials, 101*(8), 1508–1515. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.32981

Sharun, K., Chandran, D., Jambagi, K., Kumar, R., & Pawde, A.
M. (2022b). Mapping Global Trends in Canine Platelet-Rich
Plasma Research: A Bibliometric Analysis Using Scopus
Database. *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, 99(05), 27-35.

Sharun, K., Kumar, R., Chandra, V., Saxena, A. C., Pawde, A. M., Kinjavdekar, P., Dhama, K., Amarpal, & Sharma, G. T. (2021). Percutaneous transplantation of allogenic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the management of paraplegia secondary to Hansen type I intervertebral disc herniation in a Beagle dog. *Iranian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 22(2), 161– 166. https://doi.org/10.22099/ijvr.2021.38613.5620

Sharun, K., Musa, T. H., Musa, H. H., Kumar, R., Pawde, A. M., Chandra, V., Tuli, H. S., Dhama, K., Amarpal, & Sharma, G. T. (2022a). Mapping global trends in adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell research: A bibliometric analysis using scopus database. *Annals of Medicine and Surgery*, 77, 103542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2022.103542

Sharun, K., Nair, S. S., Banu, S. A., Manjusha, K. M., Jayakumar, V., Saini, S., & Pal, A. (2023). In vitro Antimicrobial Properties of Pluronic F-127 Injectable Thermoresponsive Hydrogel. *Journal of Pure & Applied Microbiology*, *17*(2),1231-1237.

Sharun, K., Rawat, T., Kumar, R., Chandra, V., Saxena, A. C., Pawde, A. M., Kinjavdekar, P., Amarpal, & Sharma, G. T. (2020).

624

Clinical evaluation following the percutaneous transplantation of allogenic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (aBM-MSC) in dogs affected by vertebral compression fracture. *Veterinary and Animal Science*, *10*, 100152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vas.2020.100152

Silva, A. K. A., Perretta, S., Perrod, G., Pidial, L., Lindner, V., Carn, F., Lemieux, S., Alloyeau, D., Boucenna, I., Menasché, P., Dallemagne, B., Gazeau, F., Wilhelm, C., Cellier, C., Clément, O., & Rahmi, G. (2018). Thermoresponsive Gel Embedded with Adipose Stem-Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Promotes Esophageal Fistula Healing in a Thermo-Actuated Delivery Strategy. ACS Nano, 12(10), 9800–9814. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.8b00117

Sivanarayanan, T. B., Bhat, I. A., Sharun, K., Palakkara, S., Singh, R., Remya, Parmar, M. S., Bhardwaj, R., Chandra, V., Munuswamy, P., Kinjavdekar, P., Pawde, A. M., Amarpal, & Sharma, G. T. (2023). Allogenic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and its conditioned media for repairing acute and sub-acute peripheral nerve injuries in a rabbit model. *Tissue & Cell*, 82, 102053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2023.102053

Tsou, Y. H., Khoneisser, J., Huang, P. C., & Xu, X. (2016). Hydrogel as a bioactive material to regulate stem cell fate. *Bioactive Materials*, *1*(1), 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bioactmat.2016.05.001 Van Eck, N. J., & Waltman, L. (2010). Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. *Scientometrics*, *84*(2), 523–538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-009-0146-3

Yan, L., Yongge, G., Yang, S., Yue, L. (2022). Hydrogel combined with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of damaged endometrium in rats. *Chinese Journal of Tissue Engineering Research*, 26(31): 4940-4945.doi: https://doi.org/10.12307/2022.776

Yang, H., Wu, S., Feng, R., Huang, J., Liu, L., Liu, F., & Chen, Y. (2017). Vitamin C plus hydrogel facilitates bone marrow stromal cell-mediated endometrium regeneration in rats. *Stem Cell Research &Therapy*, 8(1), 267. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0718-8

Youn, J., Choi, J. H., Lee, S., Lee, S. W., Moon, B. K., Song, J. E., & Khang, G. (2021). Pluronic F-127/Silk Fibroin for Enhanced Mechanical Property and Sustained Release Drug for Tissue Engineering Biomaterial. *Materials*, *14*(5), 1287. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma14051287

Zhou, N., Huang, X., Jiang, X., Song, J., Li, H., & Xie, Q. (2013). Experimental study on transplantation of bone morphogenetic protein-2 gene transfected bone mesenchymal stem cells compounded with Pluronic F-127 for promoting bone regeneration in rabbit mandibular distraction.*West China Journal of Stomatology*, *31*(3), 247–252.